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ooooood
( )
2022 12
1,025,207 176,668 1,201,875
22,606 40,205 62,811
2021 12
922,314 219,426 1,141,740
26,181 81,886 108,067
( )
2022 12
151,739 872,810 280 222 156 1,025,207
- (62,410)  (280) - - (62,690)
(31,987) (733,376) - - - (765,363)
(427) (41,489) - - - (41,916)
(118,212) (14,319) - (101) - (132,632)
1,113 21,216 - 121 156 22,606
2021 12
178,279 742,238 399 398 1,000 922,314
- (94,498)  (399) - - (94,897)
(25,179) (563,180) - 107) - (588,466)
- (40,420) - - - (40,420)
(151,339) (21,011) - - - (172,350)
1,761 23,129 - 291 1,000 26,181
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( ) 2022 12 2021 12
AAA 7,266 19,446
AA 83,822 75,942
A 767,372 616,425
BBB 69,742 74,945
BB 33,666 40,032
62,690 94,897
649 627
1,025,207 922,314
2022 12 649
2021 12 627
2022 12 31
(6) 28
2022 12 2021 12
2022 12 2021 12
ECL
( ) 2022 12 2021 12

AAA 1,879 2,214

AA 18,222 60,627

A 118,772 113,605

BBB 15,189 16,646

BB 20,844 24,479

1,762 1,855

176,668 219,426
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GS

( 2022 12 2021 12
8,220 8,221
36,349 35,408
9,099 52,436
4,034 6,209
839 641
4,270 5,152
62,811 108,067
EMEA 39,796 83,531
15,729 16,403
7,286 8,133
62,811 108,067

GS

GS
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(2022 12 31 )
598,182,053
598,182,053
(2022 12 31 )
598,182,053
100
598,182,053
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( )
( ))
2018 11 30 - | 581,964,161 . - 562.0 67 )
2019 11 30 7,643,885 | 589,608,046 8 ar ) 590.0 s )
2020 12 31 8,574,007 | 598,182,053 8 ar ) 598.0 788 )
2021 12 31 - | 598,182,053 - - 598.0 788 )
2022 12 31 - | 598,182,053 - - 598.0 788 )
2020 24 8,574,007 UK
44.32 371,425,993
380,000,000
2022 12 31
ECAA 4AU
K 25 598,182,053 100
2022 12 2021 12
PRA PRA FCA
PRA FCA
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2022 12 31

GSI
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GS
GS

FRC

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 2021

12 31
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©
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®
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2022
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234

2019 10 16

661(4)
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1157
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2006
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2023 23
J 2006 10 23
0
(1960 )
2023
0
(1965 )
2022 18
0
1977 )
2022 16
0
(1969 )
2016 12 16
0
(1959 )
L 2018 31
0
@91 11 )
2019
0
(1965 12 )
2020 11
0
(1976 )
M 2023
0
(1958 )
GSI Gsl
44.44
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2006 10 GSI GSI 2003
EMEA
SE 1987
2023 2 GSI
GSI GSI
2018 2012 2022
2016 2018
2010
2023 4
MBA
1988
2022 GSI
EMEA
1999

1999
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2022 GSI
EMEA
SE
2016 12 GSI GSI
KPMG
OBE
2018 GSI GSI
GSI
LOCOG
LOCOG
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GSI

ooooood
EMEA
EMEA
2000
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2019

UK
2022
2022

2020 11

2010

2016

GSI

GSI

2019

2018

CEO
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M
2023
GSI GSI
2014 2018
2011 2014
1981 1999

() 27
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oOoOooodn

GSI
34
2007 10 1985 386
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
5.4 (712 ) 5.6 (738 )
0 (0 ) 0 (0 )
3.3 (435 ) 4.7 (619 )
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
2.1 277 ) 2.1 277 )
1.2 (158 ) 2.5 (329 )
0 (0 ) 0.1 (13 )
0 (0 ) 0 (0 )
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IFRS
38 59
131
2022 12 31 2021 12 31
193
2022 2021
134
2023 UFJ

131.78
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OoOoOoOoOodno
2022 12 31
€))
12
2022 2021
$10,372  \1,366,822 $7,711  \1,016,156
2,058 271,203 3,703 487,981
12,430 1,638,025 11,414 1,504,137
4,013 528,833 2,211 291,366
3,968 522,903 1,237 163,012
(4,834) (637,025) (2,062) (271,730)
(4,775) (629,250) (1,881) (247,878)
(1,628) (214,538) (495) (65,231)
5 10,802 1,423,488 10,919 1,438,906
6 (5,828) (768,014) (7,367) (970,823)
4,974 655,474 3,552 468,083
9 (946) (124,664) (615) (81,045)
$4,028 \ 530,810 $2,937 \ 387,038
@
12
2022 2021
$4,028 \530, 810 $2,937 \387,038
15 (246) (32,418) 113 14,891
20 301 39,666 54 7,116
16 (19) (2,504) (51) (6,721)
()] (132) 13 1,713
35 4,612 129 17,000
$4,063 \535,422 $3,066 \404,037
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EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OOooOoOoOoo
@A)
12
2022 2021
24§ 11,707 \ 1,542,748 $ 52,422 \ 6,908,171
10 235,796 31,073,197  257.366 33,915,601
11 78,967 10,406,271 86,135 11,350,870
20,708

34,271 12 872,810 115,018,902 742,238 97,812,124
13 13 280 36,808 399 52,580
222 29,255 308 52,448
14 3,259 429,471 4,462 588,002

$1,203,041 \158,536,743 $1,143,420 \150,679,888

18 $ 124,735 \16,437,578 $ 204,539 \ 26,954,149

19 110,983 14,625,340 119,883 15,798,182
12 844,313 111,263,567 694,982 91,584,728
20 76,205 10,042,295 79,813 10,517,757
21 4,596 605,661 5,308 699,488

1,160,832 152,974,441 1,104,525 145,554,305

22 598 78,804 598 78,804
5,568 733,751 5,568 733,751

23 8,300 1,003,774 8,300 1,093,774
27,870 3,672,709 24,500 3,240,470

1270 (16,736) (161) (21,217)

42,209 5,562,302 38,805 5,125,583

$1,203,041 \158,536,743 $1,143,420 \150,679,888

2023 14
/(?ﬂ£§i (ﬁfiﬂﬁﬁﬁé?éf

L.A.

2023 27

02263951
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OooooOodd
©)
12
2022 2021
$ 508 \ 78,804 $ 598 \ 78,804
598 78,804 598 78,804
5,568 733,751 5,568 733,751
5,568 733,751 5,568 733, 751
8,300 1,093,774 8,300 1,003,774
8,300 1,093,774 8,300 1,093,774
24,590 3,240,470 22,437 2,956,748
4,028 530,810 2,937 387,038
20 1 132 (35) (4,612)
Tierl 23 (749) (98,703) (749) (98,703)
650 85,657 482 63,518
(650) (85,657) (482) (63,518)
27,870 3,672,709 24,500 3,240,470
(161) (21,217) (325) (42,829)
35 4,612 129 17,000
20 @ (132) 35 4,612
(127) (16,736) (161) (21,217)
$42,209  \5,562,302 $38,895  \5,125,583

2022 12

2021 12
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OoOoOoOoOodno
®)
12
2022 2021
24 $(31,721) \(4,180,193) $11,320  \1,491,750
4 527 7 922
(700) (92,378) (528) (69,580)
(32,418)  (4,272,044) 10,799 1,423,002
(249) (32,813) (291) (38,348)
(26) (3,426) (1,309)  (172,500)
136 17,922 1,903 250,777
(139) (18,317) 303 39,929
MREL 24 - - 1,500 197,670
MREL 24 (1,500)  (197,670) ; ;
Tier 1 9y 19 (96,703) (749) (98,703)
MREL
24 (693) (91,324) (451) (59,433)
(€Y (132) (O)) (527)
(2,943)  (387,829) 296 39,007
(35,500)  (4,678,190) 11,398 1,502,028
52,408 6,906,326 43,718 5,761,158
(5,269)  (694,349) (2,708)  (356,860)
24 $ 11,639 \ 1,533,787 $52,408  \6,906,326
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EC4A 4AU
UK GSG UK
10-Q
GS
200

www .goldmansachs.com/investor-relations

GSG UK 2022 12
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures

2013
GSG UK 2022 12
www.goldmansachs.com/disclosures

EU
EU IFRS

2022 12
IFRS
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25
GSG UK GSG UK
10-K
GS
10282
GSG UK
GSG UK
2023 12 31
2006
1606/2002 IFRS
EU
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IFRS
ECL 2022 12 2021 12

ECL 12

ECL

ECL

90
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ECL

ECL
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ECL

IAS 39
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80%
80% 125%

IAS 38
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IBR
IFRS 16 3.5%

1BR

Tier 1 AT1
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29

15
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oOoOooodn

12
2022 2021
$2,948 $6,648
7,424 1,063
2,058 3,703
12,430 11,414
4,013 2,211
3,968 1,237
7,981 3,448
(4,834) (2,062)
(4,775) (1,881)
(9,609) (3,943)
(1,628) (495)
$10,802 $10,919
FICC
12
2022 2021
EMEA $7,451 $7,002
1,712 1,745
1,639 2,082
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Ooooooog
$10,802 $10,919
IFRS 15
12

2022 2021
$1,111 $2,775
521 553
426 375
$2,058 $3,703

12

2022 2021
$1,906 $3,185
1,689 2,053
61 36
147 141
248 210
154 163

GS
1,090 1,118
724 804
6,019 7,710
GS

191) (343)
$5,828 $7,367

IFRS

GS

15
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0oooood
12

2022 2021
$5.4 $5.6
2.1 2.1
1.2 2.5
- 0.1
3.3 4.7
$8.7 $10.3

GS
GS 2021 12
12

2022 2021
750 704
FICC 773 741
851 899
566 732
902 862
3,842 3,938

2022 12 3,882 2021 12 3,844
12

2022 2021
$1,638 $2,741
222 397
42 45
4 2
$1,906 $3,185

2022 12 103 2021 12 634
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30

2021

2021 12

SIP

RSU

2021

2021

RSU

SIP
2021

482

SIP
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oOoOooodn
2021
2021 29
SIP 1999
GS
2022 12 650
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU

150%
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oooooog
RSU
2022 12
756,025 3,725,700 $243.70 $223.32
869,222 1,417,779 $301.06 $311.74
(132,657) (68,209) $274.34 $249.43
- (2,006,662) $ - $229.13
(632,062) 632,062 $267.03 $267.03
11,926 (64) $248.53 $235.56
872,454 3,700,126 $277.97 $261.02
2021 12
922,129 3,594,376 $205.09 $203.12
708,757 1,320,804 $258.90 $261.67
(85,503) (63,735) $228.06 $205.29
- (1,838,383) $ - $207.94
(706,957) 706,957 $213.31 $213.31
(82,401) 5,681 $215.18 $202.78
756,025 3,725,700 $243.70 $223.32
RSU 2022 12 307.68 2021 12
260.71 RSU
2022 12 5.6% 2021 12
8.0%
2022 12 638 2021 12
584
RSU 2022 12 65,942
RSU 2022 12 98,914
2021 12 RSU
RSU 2022 12 223,150
2021 12 58,948 RSU 2022
12 334,726 2021 12 88,421
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ooooooo
12
2022 2021
$532 $587
©) 3
232 224
758 814
147 (141)
49 (55)
® (©)
188 (199)
$946 $615
2022 12 27.0%
2021 12 27.0%
12
2022 2021
$4,974 $3,552
27.0% 1,343 959
6) 2
AT1 (202) (202)
(239) 92)
14 1
2 _
9 2
a9 -
49 (55)
$ 946 $ 615
2021 2023 19.0% 25.0% 2021
2021 55
2022 2023 8.0% 3.0% 2022
2022 49
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0oooood
10
12
2022 2021
$129,433 $156,844
106,363 100,522
$235,796 $257,366
1
12
2022 2021
$19,200 $17,102
59,767 69,033
$78,967 $86,135
2022 12 170 2021
12 228
12

28
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oOoOooodn

12

2022 2021
$ 20 $ 6
18,301 28,256
198 478
20,092 22,326
33,670 55,505
148 21
72,429 106,592
599,737 422,209
19,782 27,761
111,249 91,010
19,647 25,805
49,966 68,861
800,381 635,646
$872,810 $742,238

12

2022 2021
$14,109 $31,558
5,532 5,703
37,037 35,497
16 14
56,694 72,772
585,621 408,017
17,453 24,749
114,335 92,707
20,207 25,626
50,003 71,111
787,619 622,210
$844,313 $694,982
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13
28
12

2022 2021
$45 $161
235 238
$280 $399

14
12

2022 2021
$ 683 $2,083
136 -
1,274 699
2,093 2,782
5 9
560 553
8 5
15 40 311
16 385 592
43 20
121 177
4 13
1,166 1,680
$3,259 $4,462

IFRS
GS GS
GS
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oOoOooodn

2020 12 $9 $5 $14
1 8

2021 12 16 6 22
Q) - @

2022 12 12 6 18
2020 12 9 3 12
- 1 1

2021 12 9 4 13
1 - 1

@ - (O

2022 12 9 4 13
2022 12 $3 $2 $5
2021 12 $7 $2 $9
2020 12 $ 612 $230 $ 842
260 23 283

(29 - 29

2021 12 843 253 1,096
245 7 252

@ - @

2022 12 1,087 260 1,347
2020 12 352 - 352
206 - 206

(15) - (15)

2021 12 543 - 543
245 - 245

@ - @

2022 12 787 - 787
2022 12 $ 300 $260 $ 560
2021 12 $ 300 $253 $ 553
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2008
31

UK

2022 12 31

IFRIC 14 1AS

19
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65

2016

2022 31
2022 12 92%
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12
% 2022 2021
4.89 1.91
RPI 3.35 3.38
CPI 2.85 2.88
1996 11 30 3.15 3.18
1996 11 30 2.85 2.88
2009 4 5 2.50 2.50
65 65
24.3 24.2
25.6 25.5
45 65
25.5 25.4
26.9 26.9
2022 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2021
1.25% 0.50%
2022 12
2022 $3,249 $(2,938) $ 311
- @ @
57 6D 6
(1,733) - 1,733)
- () arn2)
_ 1,657 1,657
- 2 2
@2 22 -
(318) 289 (29)
2022 12 31 $1,233 $(1,193) $ 40
2021 12
2021 $3,216 $(3,014) $ 202
- (©) (©)]
49 (46) 3
48 - 48
_ 2 2
- 60 60
_ 3 3
(34) 34 -
(30) 27 ®)
2021 12 31 $3,249 $(2,938) $ 311
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oooooog
41%
59%
2022 12
$ 199 $ - $ 199
850 (285) 565
- (334) (334)
517 - 517
154 132 286
$1,720 $(487) $1,233
2021 12
$ 892 $ - $ 892
1,219 - 1,219
- 193 193
287 - 287
564 94 658
$2,962 $ 287 $3,249
12
2022 2021
$ 2 $ 4
® (©)]
(O] 1
1,733 48)
172 0
(1,657) (60)
@ (©)]
246 (113)
$ 242 $(112)

151/415
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% %
2022 12
0.25% $(71) (6.0) $ 76 6.4
0.25% $ 59 4.9 $(55) (4.6)
$ 31 2.6 $(33) (2.8)
2021 12
0.25% $(218) (7.4) $240 8.2
0.25% $178 6.1 $(165) (5.6)
$115 3.9 $(116) (3.9)
2016 31
2021 12 31
383 2022 10
2021 12 383 2022 12
60
2022 12
2024 12 31
22
2022 12 26

GS

oOoOooodn
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oOoOooodn

12
2022 2021
$576 $816
[€1)) (103)
(149) (161)
(3D 55
1 12)
@ 3)
$385 $592
12
2022 2021
$816 $551
(240) 265
$576 $816
$(103) $ (54)
25 (21)
67 (28)
$QD $(103)
$(161) $(129)
12 (32)
$(149) $(161)
$ 55 $ 78
(86) (23)
$ (3D $ 55
$(12) $ —
13 12)
$ 1 $(12)
$ ® $ (2
2 1)
$ D $ 3
$592 $ 444
(188) 199
(19) (51)
$385 $592

153/415
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17

2022 12

100% 250
*
KY1-1104 PO Box 309
2196
12
2022 2021
$4,106 $6,038
$ 527 $ 315
$ @9 $ @8
$3,835 $3,399

154/415
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18
12
2022 2021
$80,172 $139,284
31,019 51,080
7,027 4,205
2,393 4,540
4,124 5,430
$124,735 $204,539
19
12
2022 2021
$ 3,133 $ 2,781
107,850 117,102
$110,983 $119,883

155/415
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20
12
2022 2021
$ 100 $ -
68 14
—  WREL 19,519 16,179
—MREL 16,774 18,215
26,929 35,179
5,407 5,387
7,408 4,839
$76,205 $79,813
2022 12 54.1 2021 12 53.9 GSG UK
53.8
GS
PRA
PRA
2029 12 26 2030
GS
DVA
12
2022 2021
$(188) $(290)
301 54
® 48
$111 $(188)
2022 12
2021 12 48 35
EURIBOR

156/415
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Oooooooo
12
2022 2021
$ 3 $12
$ - $ -
12
2022 2021
- $ - $ -
- 1,519 1,708
1,810 1,566
$3,329 $3,274
2022 12 2.05% 2021 12 1.07%
2022 12
$ 8 $ -
$2,866 $ (291)
2021 12
$3,202 $ 63
2022 12 2021 12
12
2022 2021
$(363) $(130)
341 110
$(22) $ (20)
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0oooood
21
12
2022 2021
$2,000 $2,649
240 450
9 5
1,949 1,717
4,198 4,821
3 4
395 482
- 1
398 487
$4,596 $5,308
2022 12 2021 12
2020 12 $1
1
@
2021 12 $1
8
©
2022 12 $
22
1
2020 12 598,182,053 $598
2021 12 598,182,053 $598
2022 12 598,182,053 $598

158/415
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23
AT1
AT1

2017 5,800 $5,800 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2022 12 8,300 $8,300

AT1 GSG UK

GSG UK CET1 % AT1
AT1 2022 12 2021 12 749
2023 28 AT1

Tier 2 15

159/415
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Oooooooo
24
12
2022 2021
$11,707 $52,422
20 (68) 14
$11,639 $52,408
2022 12 28.2
2021 12 25.2
12
2022 2021
$ 4,974 $ 3,552
248 210
- 14
15 0) 1
5,243 2,698
282 1,225
21 8 1
MREL 772 436
8 (104)
— (1)
11,531 8,032
21,570 (116,684)
7,168 4,245
(130,572) 240,681
176 169
697 4,436
(100,961) 132,847
(79,804) 91,412
(8.900) 19,364
149,331 (237,432)
(1,940) (1,868)
978) (1,035)
57,709 (129,559)
$(31,720) $ 11,320
2022 12
64.7 2021 12 28.1 2022 12
75.7 2021 12 30.5

160/415
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MREL MREL AT1

MREL

2020 12 $30,367 $ 50 $30,417
MREL 1,500 - 1,500
AT1 - 749 749
MREL - 436 436
AT1 - (749) (749)
MREL - (451) (451)
2021 12 $31,867 $ 35 $31,902
MREL (1,500) - (1,500)
AT1 - 749 749
MREL - 772 772
AT1 - (749) (749)
MREL - (693) (693)
2022 12 $30,367 $ 114 $30,481
25
12

2022 2021

$119, 659 $141,020

72,086 30,111

4,821 4,861

$196,566 $175,992

161/415



S.A.
BoP
S.A. BES
835
2015 2015 12
BoP
2018 BES
54
2018 10
104
2016
2013 2016
2019
2017 15
2013

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

S.A. 2015
2018
BES
50
BES 222
2015 11
2018
2018 11 20
2019 13 2008
2013
2019 22
2014 11 25
2020 29
2023 27

162/415
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S.A.
BES
BoP 2014 12
2012
2016

2016 12
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oOoOooodn
2019 27
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17
2021 14
2022 31
2021 30
2021 11 15
2022
2022
GS
GS
26

2022 12
163/415
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oOoOooodn
$ - $ 11,707 $ 11,707
1,200 234,596 235,796
- 78,967 78,967
- 872,810 872,810
269 1 280
220 2 222
1,251 2,008 3,259
$ 2,940 $1,200,101 $1,203,041
$ 38,521 $ 86,214 $ 124,735
— 110,983 110,983
- 844,313 844,313
56,180 20,025 76,205
1,097 3,499 4,596
$ 95,798 $1,065,034 $1,160,832

2021 12

$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
1,114 256,252 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
— 742,238 742,238
334 65 399
143 255 398
1,876 2,586 4,462
$ 3,467 $1,139,953 $1,143,420
$61,398 $ 143,141 $ 204,539
- 119,883 119,883
- 694,982 694,982
54,196 25,617 79,813
1,345 3,963 5,308
$116,939 $ 987,586 $1,104,525

164/415
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12
12
27
GS
GS
EMC PRA
12
2022 2021

$158 $172

2 1

68 564

$228 $737

11 2021 12 187

165/415

FCA

oOoOooodn

2022 12
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oOoOooodn
2006
2008 410
12
2022 2021
$7 $8
$7 $8
12
2022 2021
$3 $5
2022 12
2021 12
2022 12 2021 12
2022 12 2022
12 1.9 2021 12
2021 12 2.0
2022 12
2.2 2021 12 2.4
GS
12
2022 2021
$9,607 $8,153
$10,246 $8,018
GS
2022 12 163.2 2021 12 134.8

166/415



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooooo
2021 GS
GS
2022 12 144
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 20 23 GS
14
GS
GS
12
2022 2021
$69,118 $72,082
52,324 6,474
$121,442 $78,556
80 2022 12 80
2022 12 2021 12
GS GS
GS
GS

167/415



2022 12

GS

(b)

124

436

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
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GS
2021 12 121

@

2023
GSAMI
2022 12 300

168/415
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GS
2022 12
$ - $ 911 $ — $ 911
- 169,083 - 169,083
88 19,767 - 19,855
2,581 589,766 423 592,770
— 168 - 168
249 1,675 - 1,924
$2,918 $781,370 $423 $784,711
$ - $82,108 $ — $82,108
1,137 24,904 398 26,439
789 581,281 26 582,096
30,603 14,445 - 45,048
2,044 1,360 - 3,404
$34,573 $704,098 $424 $739,095
2021 12
$ - $ 7 $ - $ 7
- 147,976 - 147,976
2,552 17,397 178 20,127
1,085 437,185 619 438,889
- 177 - 177
- 218 - 218
1,006 1,779 - 2,785
$4,643 $604,739 $797 $610,179
$ 17 $131,138 $87 $131,242
1 23,990 - 23,991
3,167 430,778 670 434,615
31,127 12,544 - 43,671
2,317 1,458 - 3,775
$36,629 $599,908 $757 $637,294

169/415
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GS
202 12
$ 129 $2,054 $1 $2,184
(1,045) (3,040) ) (4,089)
5 948 - 953
$ (91) $ (38) $(3) $ (952)
$ - $ 306 $- $ 306
GS - 1,090 - 1,090
6s
® (188) - (191)
37 474 - 511
$ 34 $1,682 $- $1,716
2021 12
$ 13 $ 454 $- $ 467
(580) (848) - (1,428)
8 1,047 - 1,055
$ (559) $ 653 $- $ o4
$ - $ 720 $- $ 720
6S - 1,118 - 1,118
6S
Q) (336) - (343)
1 543 - 544
$  (6) $2,045 $- $2,039
IFRS 15

170/415
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0000000
28
2022 12
$ - $ 11,707 $ 11,707
151,739 84,057 235,796
- 78,967 78,967
872,810 - 872,810
280 - 280
222 - 222
156 1,937 2,003
$1,025,207 $ 176,668 $1,201,875
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
178,279 79,087 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
742,238 - 742,238
399 - 399
398 - 398
1,000 1,782 2,782
$ 922,314 $ 219,426 $1,141,740
2022 12
$ - $77,539 $47,19 $ 124,735
- - 110,983 110,983
844,313 - - 844,313
- 40,247 35,958 76,205
- - 4,198 4,198
$844,313 $117,786 $198,335 $1,160,434
2021 12
$ - $146,237 $ 58,302 $ 204,539
- - 119,883 119,883
694,982 - - 694,982
- 39,190 40,623 79,813
_ - 4,821 4,821
$694,982 $185,427 $223,629 $1,104,038

IFRS

171/415
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ooooood

2022 12 38.2 51.6

2021 12 66.9 64.7

2022 12 2021 12
2022 12

$ 390,325  $(154,529) $ 235,796 $ (49,800) $ (450) $(183,869) $ 1,677
88,181 (24,791) 63,390 (3,886) (39,025) (9,969) 10,510
16,976 (7,037) 9,939 (3,910) (742) (4,073) 1,214
813,860 (13,479) 800,381 (729,463) (40,675) (10,183) 20,060
830,836 (20,516) 810,320 (733,373) (41,417) (14,256) 21,274
118 - 118 - - (101) 17
2,407 Q,975) 432 (88) - - 344
1,311,867 (201,811) 1,110,056 (787,147) (80,892) (208,195) 33,822
91,819 - 91,819 - - - 91,819
$1,403,686  $(201,811) $1,201,875  $(787,147)  $(80,892)  $(208,195)  $125,641
$ 268,450  $(154,563) $ 113,887 $ (49,945) $(1,933) $(60,119)  $ 1,890
119,725 (24,452) 95,273 (3.886) (41,867) (20,565) 28,955
801,435 (13,816) 787,619 (730, 866) (36,926) (2,208) 17,619
801,435 (13,816) 787,619 (730, 866) (36,926) (2,208) 17,619
13,791 (8.822) 4,969 (2,362) (166) - 2,441
754 (158) 596 (88) - - 508
1,204,155 (201,811) 1,002,344 (787,147) (80,802) (82,802) 51,413
158,090 - 158,090 - - - 158,090
$1,362,245  $(201,811) $1,160,434  $(787,147)  $(80,892)  $(82,892)  $209,503

172/415
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Ooooooog
2021 12

$ 390,986 $(133,620) $ 257,366  $(53,650) —  $(201,071) $ 2,645
94,847 (26,602) 68,245 (9,995)  (38,166)  (11,148) 8,936
27,688 (15,682) 12,006 (1,572) (133) (8,708) 1,593
645,333 (9,687) 635,646  (561,608)  (40,235)  (12,245) 21,558
673,021 (25,369) 647,652  (563,180)  (40,368)  (20,953) 23,151
274 - 274 107) - - 167
3,897 (3,203) 694 - - _ 694
1,163,025  (188,794) 974,231  (626,932)  (78,534)  (233,172) 35,593
167,509 - 167,509 - - - 167,509

$1,330,534  $(188,794)  $1,141,740 $(626,932)  $(78,534) $(233,172)  $203,102

$ 336,020 $(141,796) $ 194,224  $(54,097) $(2,241) $(131,498) $ 6,388

121,390 (26,807) 94,583 (9,995)  (40,368)  (18,681) 25,539
683 (683) - - - - -
631,692 (9,482) 622,210  (561,720)  (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
632,375 (10,165) 622,210  (561,720)  (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
13,182 (8,592) 4,590 (1,120) 187) - 3,283
2,703 (1,434) 1,269 - - - 1,269
1,105,670  (188,794) 916,876  (626,932)  (78,534)  (154,561) 56,849
187,162 - 187,162 - - - 187,162

$1,292,832  $(188,794)  $1,104,038 $(626,932)  $(78,534) $(154,561)  $244,011

12
2022 2021
$710,395 $754,957
$632,160 $719,879
12
2022 2021

173/415
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0oooood
$20,708 $34,271
$ 3 $ 13
$23,895 $39,336
$ 29 $ 100
2022 12 661.7 2021 12 743.0 2022 12
527.4 2021 12 588.3 2021 12
29
IFRS
GS

174/415
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Q) (i)

iTraxx CDX

175/415
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oTC 0TC
0TC 0TC

10

176/415
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oTC
0TC

CVA

177/415



GS

GS
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2022 12
$ - $151,621 $ 118 $ 151,739
44,917 26,956 556 72,429
166 796,286 3,929 800,381
45,083 823,242 4,485 872,810
4 205 71 280
- 168 54 222
- 156 - 156
$45,087 $975,392 $4,728 $1,025,207
$ - $77,144 $ 395 $ 77,539
49,689 6,997 8 56,694
55 785,240 2,324 787,619
49,744 792,237 2,332 844,313
- 35,009 5,148 40,247
$49,744 $904,480 $7,875 $ 962,099
$ m $11,046 $ 1,605 $ 12,762

2021 12
$ - $178,158 $ 121 $ 178,279
74,139 31,736 77 106,592
28 630,856 4,762 635,646
74,167 662,592 5,479 742,238
6 288 105 399
- 343 55 398
- 1,000 - 1,000
$74,173 $842,381 $5,760 $ 922,314
$ - $145,857 $ 380 $ 146,237
63,956 8,777 39 72,772
54 618,473 3,683 622,210
64,010 627,250 3,722 694,982
- 25,053 14,137 39,190
$64,010 $798,160 $18,239 $ 880,409
$ (26) $12,383 $1,079 $ 13,436

179/415
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oOoOooodn
2022 12 2021 12
$49 $157
5.6% 21.3% 12.5% 1.7% 18.0% 4.7%
47.0% 76.1% 56.6% 47.2% 72.5% 58.4%
1.3 2.4 0.4 17.2 4.2
$444 $464
2.8% 48.0% 9.2% 1.1% 15.1% 5.6%
3.0% 87.0% 36.7% 9.0% 60.0% 36.1%
0.3 12.3 4.6 1.8 28.5 5.7
$63 $96
5.8 5.8 5.8 6.5 6.5 6.5
$556 $717
$15 $49
10.0% 57.2% 33.5% 9.1% 76.0% 66.6%
$56 $56
1.5 6.0 5.3 7.6 7.6 7.6
$71 $105
$54 $55
4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.1% 4.1% 4.1%
15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0%

2022

12 2021 12

180/415
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ooooogd
2022 12 2021 12
$ 112 $ 354
(10)% 26% 13%/25% 25% 26% 25%/26%
45 60 56/57 40 100 56/54
$1,657 $ 2,317
686 167/125 5 337 142/118
W % 19/5 N/A N/A
20% 50% 41%/40% 20% 50% 37%/40%
$ (76) $ 37
20% 23% 21%/21% 20% 23% 21%/21%
$ (90) $(1,629)
@5)% 100% 60%/67% @GD% 98% 51%/51%
% 74% 16%/18% 3% 88% 18%/18%
$ 2 $ -
$1,605 $ 1,079
2021 12

181/415
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2022 12

2022 12 2021 12

2022 12 2021 12

2022 12 2021 12

2022 12 2021 12

182/415
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2022 12
462 2021 12 353 2022 12
199 2021 12 211
2022 12
2021 12
2022 12 2021 12
12
2022 2021
$ 190 $ 209
157 125
41 (144)
$ 206 $ 190

183/415
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12
2022 2021
$ 5,760 $ 6,365
(847) 636
1,008 747
(309) (214)
(1,669) (1,739)
1,490 426
(705) (461)
$ 4,728 $ 5,760
$(18,239) $(13,450)
1,780 477)
76 15
(469) (692)
(2,303) (12,318)
5,322 8,026
(794) (540)
6,752 1,197
$ (7,875) $(18,239)
2022 12 2021 12
2022 12 17.8
16.2 162
2021 12 477 475

184/415



12
2022 2021

$ 121 $ -

(6)) -

— 121

$ 118 $ 121

$5,479 $6,122

(865) 608

1,001 747

(309) (210)

(1,606) (1,716)

1,490 244

(705) (316)

$4,485 $5,479

$ 105 $ 132

22 29

7 —

- ®

(63) 18)

_ 61

— (96)

$ 71 $ 105

$ 55 $ 111

() @

= @

- ®)

- (49)

$ 54 $ 55

185/415
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12
2022 2021
$ (380) $  (240)
(66) (28)
(275) (75)
326 28)
— )
$ (395) $  (380)
$(3.722) $ (3,558)
281 (893)
76 15
(469) (692)
768 1,394
(206) (268)
940 280
$(2.332) $(3,722)
$(14,137) $(9,652)
1,565 444
(2,028) (12,243)
4,228 6,660
(588) (263)
5,812 917
$(5,148) $(14,137)

2022 12

2021 12

186/415
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2022 12

2021 12

187/415
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2022 12 1,766.7 2021 12 2,194.3
12
2022 2021
$144,021 $167,014
54,314 56,615
$198,335 $223,629

30

188/415
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Ogoooood
2022 12
$22,830 $31,681 $10,753 $21,145 $37,013 $1,513 $ 124,935
110,983 — — — — - 110,983
844,313 — - - - - 844,313
1,935 2,325 4,573 8,573 37,018 33,572 87,996
1,780 1,308 7 6 1,059 38 4,198
981,841 35,314 15,333 29,724 75,090 35,123 1,172,425
2,107 102,471 5,337 8,028 1,716 - 119,659
4,245 - - 3 573 — 4,821
6,352 102,471 5,337 8,031 2,289 - 124,480
$988,193 $137,785 $20,670 $37,755 $77,379 $35,123 $1,296,905
2021 12
$ 37,616 $ 59,403 $15,312 $30,841 $60,144 $1,257 $ 204,573
119,883 - - — — — 119,883
694,982 - - — — — 694,982
1,983 3,346 4,002 10,122 30,698 33,871 84,022
1,753 1,690 7 26 1,324 21 4,821
856,217 64,439 19,321 40,989 92,166 35,149 1,108,281
186 118,812 3,368 17,078 1,576 — 141,020
3,198 - 1,089 164 409 1 4,861
3,384 118,812 4,457 17,242 1,985 1 145,881
$859,601 $183,251 $23,778 $58,231 $94,151 $35,150 $1,254,162
31
2022 12
IFRS
12
2022 2021
$14,034 $22,037
135 266
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7,444 7,694
22,990 43,610
44,603 73,607
26 100

6 13

32 113
$44,635 $73,720

190/415



2022 12
$ — $ -
105 1,123
105 1,123
$105 $1,123
$ - $ 2
43) 559
43) 561
$(43) $ 561
2021 12
$ — $ -
98 1,144
98 1,144
$98 $1,144
$ - $2
©2) 544
©2) 546
$(22) $ 546
2022 12
$ - $133
24 287
24 420
$24 $420
$1 $ 1
@ 15
(10) 16
- @)
$(10) $15
2021 12
$ - $133
52 263
52 396
$ 52 $396
$ - $
30 26
30 26
— (1)
$30 $ 25
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2022 12
2006 414A
1
2006 414C(11)
GS
GS
FRC
GS
GS

GS 14

GS
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GS
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GS
()
(i)
(i) (iv)
(v) GS
(vi)
GSI
GS
GS GS
GS
GS Talks at GS
GS
GS
GS
GS
U.K. Race at
Work Charter U.K. Women in Finance Charter 2021 2023

30%

194/415



- GS
GS
GS
2025 2020
- GS
GS
2020 GS
7,500
ESG GS
GS
80%
2030

- GS
Corporate Engagement

IFRS
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GS
GS
50%
2030
2022 12 GS
Corporate and Workplace Solutions
2015 GS 2020

COVID-19
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Office of



IFRS
172( )
2006 172
172
GSI GSl
GHG
2015 GS 2009 2020
GS
80%
GS
www.goldmansachs.com/s/sustainabi lity-report
SECR
GHG SECR

GS
GS
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2022 2021
50,003 48,503
GHG
12
2022 2021
1,305 1,586
8,274 8,448
11,980 837
24 24
9,579 10,034
21,583 10,895
13,309 2,447
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2022 2021
2.6 2.9
2021 12 2022 12
COVID-19
GHG
GHG 2022
GHG COVID-19
GS GHG
GHG
GS
GHG
GS GS GHG
GS
GS
2022 12
83% BRE BREEAM
2022 12 GS

GS COVID-19
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12

2022 12
1.3535

2022 12

2022 12

2021

10

2022 12
1.3739

23

GS

2021 12

2022 12

1.2063

1606/2002
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J.M.D. 1

M.M. 2023

C.

L.A. 2022 16

2023

R.J.

S.P.

N.

D.W 2022 29

T.L. OBE

N. 2022 18

E.E. 2023 31

M.O. 2023 31

1 J.M.D. 2023

2006 234
2023 14

P& x-z,;ﬂpﬁé:;

L.A.

2023 27
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY}
Income Statement

Yaar Ended Dwecember

& in mallions Modn Pl iz
Gains or losses from fnancial instrements af fair value threugh profit of loss 5 10,372 5 7.

Fees and commissions 2,053 3,703
Mefeinbiras! incoma 12,430 11414

Inberest income from financEal instrumaents massured al fair value through prodil or lbas 4,043 2

Intarast income from financial instrumenis maasured al amortised cosl 3,988 1,237

Inlerest expense from finamncal mstrumeants maasured al lar value through profit or loas (4,834) (2.062)
Intarast axpanse from financial insirumenis measured al amortsed cost [4,775) [1.881)
Helinteras! axpansa (1,628) 1485)
Hat revenues 5 10,802 10,919
Mot oparaling expenses 3 (5.828) {7.367)
Profit belore taxation 4,974 3,552
incoime tax axpanse g [948) (B15)
Profit for the financial year 5 4,028 5 2537

Mol revnnues and profil belore laxaton of the company are denved from oonlineing opemtons in the curonl and pror s

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Yaar Ended Deosmber

& in mallions Mot 20z iz
Pralif for tha inancial year 5 4028 5 2837
Diher comprehensive inseme

ltems that will not be reclassified subzequently te profit or leas

Actsanal gainifloss) relating o the pension scheme 15 [248) 113
Dbl valuation adjusirment 20 3 Sd
ULK. delarrad lax aflributable Io the componants of other comprahensive incoma 16 {19} {51)
IL.K. current tax alinbutabla to the companenis of ather comprehensive ncome 11 13
Other comprehensive inceme for the financial year, net of tax 35 129
Tolal comprehensive income for the financial year 5 4,063 5 3066

Ther scoompanying nowss ane an inlegral part of hess Srancal stalemaents
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY}
Balance Sheet

Az of Descmmber
& in ralliong Modn 0z mz
Ansols
Cash and cash equivalanls 24 5 1,707 5 h2a2
Colateralised agheerments 10 215,798 257 365
Cuslomer and other recaivables " 78,967 85,135
Trading assats (includes $20,T0B and 534,271 pladged as collateral) 12 BT2.810 Fi42.238
Investmenis {includas 53 and $13 pledged as collataral) 13 280 98
Laoans 22 343
Qthar assals 14 3,289 4482
Total asssats $ 1203041 5 1143420
Liabilities
Colateralisad fnancings 18 5 124735 5 204,539
Custormar and ather payables 19 110,983 119,883
Trading linbiliies 12 Bdd 313 G0l 982
Unsecured borowings 20 76,205 Ta813
Oithar Eabililias 21 4, 596 5,308
Tolal liabdties 1.160,832 1048525
Shareholder's aguity
Share capital 22 5498 598
Share prémium account 5,563 5,568
Othar equity inslrurmants 23 8,300 8,300
Rolminsc] darmings 27870 24,550
Accumulated other comprahensve income 127 (161}
Tolal sharsholder's equity 42,209 30.885
Tolal liabilities and sharehalder's eguity § 1203041 5 1143420

The financial statements were approved by the Board on March 14, 2023 and signed on iis behalf by

X & ,.-fﬂ

L. A. Donnelly
Director
March 27, 2023

The accompanying notes are an inlegral part of these Snancal stalemenls.
Company rurher: DEIEINET

47
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (LINLIMITED COMPANT)

Statement of Changes in Equity

Yaar Ended Cwecember
& in malliong Modn Pl iz
Share capital
Baginnng balance 5 598 5 il
Ending bakarcs 508 ]
Share premium account
Baginning balance 5,564 5,568
Ending batance 5,568 5,568
Other equity instruments
Baginning balance 8,300 8,300
[Ending batance 8,300 8300
Retained samings
Beginning balance 24,580 E2A3T
Profit for the financial year 4,028 2837
Tranaer of realised debl valuation adjustment inlo retained aamings, net of tax 20 1 (35)
Interest on Addifional Ther 1 notes 23 (T49) (rag)
Share-based payrmants 650 482
Managamani recharge related o share-based paymenis [ES0) (482)
Ending bakancs X7 ATO 24,500
Accumulated other comprehensive ncome
Baginning balance [161) (325)
Oihar comprahansive iNcome EL 128
Transher of realised debl valuation adjustment inlo retained aamings, nel of kx 20 i1 35
[Ending balarice [127) [181)
Total sharcholder's equity 5 42,209 5 35,605

Mo dividends wing pand i e yaar onded Docesnber 0032 and he yoae anded Docsrmier 3021,

The accampanmying noliss arm an inlegral par of these Snancial stalemants

45

204/415



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (LINLIMITED COMPANT )

Statement of Cash Flows

Yaar Ended Dwecember

& in malliong Hodn 20z iz
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated fromi{used in) operations 24 5 [3.721) 5 11320
Taalion racaivid 4 7
Taxalion pasd o) (528)
el cash fromd (usesd in) aperabing activiias [32.418) 10,799

Cash flows from investing activitias

Capital axpenditure for proparty. leasehold improvemants and equipmant and intangible assets [249) (1)
Purchasa of invasimeanis [28) (1.309)
Proceeds from sales of invesimanis 138 1.803
el cash frorm [used in) investing aclivibes [133) 203

Cash flows from financing activities

Incraase in MREL-slighle intercompany loans 24 s 1,500
Repayment of MREL-digible intercompany loans 24 {1,500) —
Inlerest paid on Addticnal Tier 1 notes 24 (T49) {T48)
Inlarest paid on subsrdinaled loans and MREL-sbgibla intarcamparry loans 24 (693} [451]
Payrments lor lease liabilites 113 (4]
MNal cash o' {used in) inancing schvities (2, 843) Z05
MNal incraasaidacraasa) in cash and cash equivalants, nel of ovardrafls (35,500} 11,308
Cash and cash equivalenis, net of averdrafts, baginning balance 52,408 43,718
Fomeign exchangs losses on cash and cash equivalents, nel of ovardrals (5.269) (2.708)
Cash and cash -qul\rﬂirl_l';_l. met of overdrafis, -mdlrﬂ balamce 24 5 11,639 3 52,408

Tha accampanmying noliss e an inlegral par of these Srancal stalemants
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (LUNLIMITED COMPANT)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Mata 1,
General Information

The company 15 a privale unlimited company  and s
incorporaied and domiciled in England and Wales, The address
of s registered office s Plumiree Coun, 25 Shoe Lane,
London, EC4A 4ALU. United Kingdom

The company's immediate parenl undertaking s Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (GSG UK). a company incorporated
and domuciled in England and Wakes. G3G UK wogether with
s consolidated subsidurnes forms “GSG UK Group™,

The ultimate controlling underiaking and the pamem company
of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated
fissancial stmeincmts are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Growp,
Inc.. a compamy ncorporated n the United Simes of Amenca,
Copees of 15 consolidated Nmancml statements, as well as
cenain regulatory filings, for example Cuarterly Repons on
Form 10-0 and the Annual Report on Form 10-K, thai provide
furtlser information aboul GS Groop and i1 busingss activilics,
can be obtained from livestor Relations, 2060 Wesi Sireer, Rew
York, NY 10282 Umtcd Staes of America. GS Group's
principal place of business, or @t www goldmansachs.cony
L et

EBasel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company is included in the consolidmed Pillar 3
disclosumes of GSG UK, a8 required by e UK. capital
framework. GG UK's December 2022 Pillar 3 disclosures wall
be made available in conjunction with the publication of ils
consolidated Rnancial information at www goldmansachs com/
disglosures,

Country-by-Country Reporting

The compamy 15 incloded i (e consohidaed coumry-by-
country reporting disclosures of G5G UK, as required by the
Capital  Requirements  (Couninv-bv-Country  Heporting)
Regulations 2013, GSG UK's December 2022 Couniry-by-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,
2023 an powow goldmansachs convdisglosures.

A0
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Mote 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These Ninancial statements have been preparcd in accordance
with UK -adopted  imcrnational  accouming  standards, il
requireimeids of the Companies Ac 2006, as applicable to
compames reporting uicler those standands, and Inemationl
Fimsctal Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopled pursoanl o
Regulation (EC) Mo 160672002 as il applics in the E.U. (IFRS
as it applies in the ELL),

As of and for the year ended December 2022, UK -adopicd
international accounting standards, applicable 1o the company,
were consistent with [FRS as it applics in the E.L.

These financial starements have been prepared under the
hastarical cost basis (modified a8 explained in “Fisincial Assers
and Liabalines™ and ~Pension Amangements” below],

Going Concarn

These fmancial statements bave been preparcd on a going
concem basis. The directors an: sabisfied that the company has
sufficient capital and resources 0 condinue 10 operate for a
period of @l least twelve menils from ihe dae of approval of
these financial statements. In reacling this conclusion, e
directors have considered the financial resulis of the company,
its capital management activitics and liquidity as sct out in Pan
1ol this annual repon

Consolidation

The company hixs ¢locied not 1o prepare consolidated Nmncial
staements as permitied by section 402 of the Companies Act
2066 as ats subsidianes are wd matemal for the purpose of
giving a tmee and fair view, These fimancial statcments am
individual financial statcmeents,

206/415
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANT)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Mate 3.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revemics include the et paadit
ansing from transactions, with both third partics and affiliates,
in denvatives, securities and other Ninancial instaments, amd
fees and commissions. This 15 mlusne of sssockied ingrest
and dividends,

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial asseis and habilitics measoned at fair valoe through
profit or boss ane recognised ai fair value with realised and
unreslised gains and losses, as well as associated nberest and
dividend income and expenses included i et revenues, with
the exception of changes in the fair valoe of financial liabilines
designated w0 fair value through profit or loss atribatable 10
ok eredit spreads (debt valumion adjuestment or DVA), wilich
15 reoogmsed in other comprehensive icome, unbess this would
create or enlarge an accountmg mismatch in profil or loss.
Financial asscts are marked 10 bid prices and Dnancial liabilitics
are marked 10 offer prices. Fair value mewsurements do not
mclude  Imnsaction costs, The company  meEsurcs  cortun
financial assets awd habibitics as a porfolio (e baged on ils
nel exposure o market andfor credit misks).

Unrealised gains and losses related o the change in fair value
of financial asscis and linbilitics measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised from trade date in net revenues or
other comprehersive income in the cise of DWVA

Contractual inerest is included in imercst income snd expense
for all instruments other than lvbnd mncial instruments al
Fair value through profit or loss, for which contmctual migrest
is mcluded in muns and losses from fimncial instroments
migasured at fair value through profit or loss,

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenucs camed from comracts with customers for services,
such as investment banking. imvestmeni management, and
execution  and  cleanng  (contracts wath  customers)  are
recognised when the perfonmance obligations related 1o the
underlyving tmnsaction are completed.

1|
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Where the company Tecognises mevenucs in ils capacily as
principal to a (rasaction and incurs expenses 1o smisfy some or
all of its performanee obligations under these transactions, il is
required by IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contrsts  with
Customers™ ([FRS 153 to reporl these revenues gross of ile
mssocimed expenses. Such revenuc is inchaded in net revemics
and such expenses are included in transaction based and other
expenses (known berealier 5 “1FRS 15 expenses™),

The company is principal to the transaction if it as the priman
obligation o provide the service o the customer. The company
satisfies the performunce obligation by sell, or by engaging
other GS Group aflilistes o satisfv some or all of s
perfomiance obligations on its behalf

et revenues are recogmised as folbows:

+ Financial Advisory and Underwriting
Fees from hnancial advisory and underwnling engagements
are recognised in profit and loss when the serviees related 10
the underlying tmmsactions are completed under the temms of
the engagemenl,

Execution and Client Clearing Transactions

Revenue from conumissions and fees from executing and
cleanng clicnl trosactions on slock, options amd Tutures
markets, i well as OTC imnsactions is recogmsed in ol
revenues on the dav the trade is executed.

Investment Management Services

Manapement foes are recognised on an accrual basis and are
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a scparsichy
managed accoum’s pverage el asset value, All mansgement
fees are recognised over the penod that the related service 15
provided.

Incentive fees are calculmed a5 a percentage of a fund’s
returm or a percentage of a fund's excess retum above a
specificd benchmark or pther performance target, Incemive
fees carmed from a fusd or 2 sepamtely nsnaged account are
recognised when i s probable et a sagrafican reversal of
such fees will not ocour, which is generally when such fees
are no longer subject to Muctumions in the markel value of
inwvestiments held by the fund or separtely managed accoun,

Segment Reporting. The dircclors mange the compan ‘s
busingss activiiies as a single operaiing  scgment  and
secordingly no segmental reporting has boen provided.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Shon-term employee
benelis, such as wages and salaries, ane measured on an
nkiscounted basis and accmed as an expense over the period
in which the emplovee renders the service 1o the company.
Provision is made for discretionany yvear-cnd compensation
whether to be paid in el or shase-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past prciice, @ constructive
obligation cxdists at the balance sheet date.
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANT}

Motes to the Financial Statements

Share-Based Payments. Group Inc. issucs awards in the
form of resincted stock units (RSUs) to the company’'s
emplovees in exchange for employee seivices, Awards are
classified as equity settbed amd henoe ile cost of shase-based
transactions with emiployvees is measured based on the gram-
date fair value of the sward. Sharc-based awards tlhat do mot
require future service (e, vested awards, inchsding awards
pranted 1o retirement  cligible  cmplovecs) ae expensed
inmeduiely . Share-based awards that require future service are
amortised over the relevant servioe penod. Expected fodenures
are  included  in determining  sharc-based  coplovee
COMPEASHICN CRPENSE,

Cirpup Inc. gencrally issues new shares of common siack upon
delivery af share-based awards, Cash dividend equivalents,
unbess prolubited by regulaton,  are pencrally  pad  on
outstancing RSUs, The company has also enlered o a
chargeback agreement with Group Inc, under which it is
commiited o pay o Group Inc. (a) ihe grant-date fair value of
those wwards and (b) subsequent movements an (s Gxirvabhee of
those wwards between the gram dine and delivery 1o employees.
As a msull, the sharc-bascd pwvment  transaction  and
chargeback agreement, in aggregale, gives nise 10 a tofal charge
to the incons stMemem based on the grant-date Gair vahe of
the mvards adjusted for subsequem movements in the fair value
of those swards pnor 1o delivery.

Current and Deferred Taxation. Cument tax is calculated
on the basis of the tax Liws enscted or substantively cnncled at
the balance shect date in the countrics where the company
operies and generites taxable income,

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all  femporany
differences ithat have onginated. bui poi reversed ai the balance
sheet date. whene trimsactions or events have occumed o that
dme that will result in an obligation 1o pay more tax or a nght
Lo pay less tax in the foture with the following cxceptions:

» Deferned 1ax assels ae recopnised only 1o the exient that il is
more likely than not duan there will be suiable axable profis
from which the fuire wversal of the underying lemporan
differences can be deducted.

= Deferred tax 15 measured on an undiscounted basis o the tax
rates that arc expected to apply in the periods in which
wemporary differences reverse. based on tx eates and Liws
emacted or substantnvely enacied an i balmsce sheet date.

Cumeni tax and deferred Bix is generally recogmised i the
income siatcment or directly in other comprehensive income
acconding to where ile associnled gain or loss was recognised.
The meome tax on interest on AT notes 15 recognised in the
Income stalemend.

Dividends. Fingl cquitv dividends are recognised as 2 liability
and deducted From cquity in the peniod in wiich the dividends
are approved by ihe company s sharcholder, Infcrim cquity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid.,

EDINETOOOO
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Cash and Cash Equivalents. This includes cash al bank
and highly liquid overmight deposits held in the ondinany course
of busingss,

Foreign Currencies. The company s linacnl shicments are
presented in US. dollars, which is alse the compun’s
functronal currency.

Trisactions denominated in forcign currencics ang imnshned
nte U.S. dollars &1 rates of exclungee roling on the doe e
transaction ocourmed. Monctary assets and labiliies, and non-
monctary  assels and  lisbilitics measured @t Twar walee,
depominated in forcign curmencics ane irmnskted imo LS,
dollars at mates of exclange rulimg ol e balance shecl date
Foreign exchange gaims amd losses are recogmised o profit
befone laxation.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recognition and Derecognition

Fimancial assets and liabilitics, other than cash instnimenis
purchased or sold in regular wany imansactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party 1o e contractual provissons
of the mstrument. Financial assels are derccogmised when the
contmctual rghts (o the cash Mows from the financial asset
expirg or i the company Imnsfers (e Nmncial assel and e
transfer qualifics for derccopnition. A transfermed fNnancial
asset qualifics for derccogmtion if the company trmsfers
substantially all the nisks and newards of ewnership of the
financial asscl; or if the compary neither imnsfers nor relaing
substantially all (e risks and fewards of ownershap of 1w
Mmamcial asset but does ot retun control. Financial labilitics
are derecognised only when they are extinguished, e, when
the obligation specified in the contmct is disclarged or
cancelled or expires,

Cash instmumeenis purchased or sold in regular way iransactions
are  recognised and  derccognised wsing  senlement  dae
accounting.
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANT)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Classification and Measurement: Financial Asseis

The company classifics financial asscls as  subsequently
mieasured al amorised cost or Fair valee ithrough profii or less
on the basis of both the compam's business model for
managing fimncial assets and the commctunl cash fow
characicristics of the Nnancial asseis. The busincss model
reflects how the company manages particular groups of asscls
in order 1o generale Toture cash Nows, Whene the compan's
business nwodel is 10 hold the assets o collect contrctual cash
Mows, the company subsequently assesses whether the linancial
assets” cash Mlows nepresent solely pavments of prncipal and
intgrest, Financial assets with embedded denvatves (hwbrid
instramenls) are akse subgect 10 the s assessment,

« Financial assets measured at amortised cost.
Fimancial asscts that are helbd for the collection of contractual
cash flows and love cash flows ta represent solely
pary nienis of principal and inerest are measured M amonised
cost. The company comsiders whether the cash flows
represcnl basic kending armngements, and where contractual
terms ingrodhece exposure 10 risk or volatility inconsistent with
a basic lending armngement, (e linancial assel s mandmonly
measured w fur value through profit or loss {see below).
Fimancial asscis measurcd @ amortised cost are initially
micasured af fair valoe plus trasaction costs and subsequently
ol amorised cost using e elfective imerest method. The
effective mnterest melhod B a method of calculating the
ameortised cost of a fnumceal mstrumen and allocating the
interest income over the relevant penod. The effective indcrest
rate is the rate et exactly disconms estimated fulure cash
receipts through the expected life of the fimncial asser or.
when appropriate. a shorter penod to the net carmying value of
the Mnancial assct. When calculating the effective inlerest
mie, the company cstimaes cash flows considening all
contrciual terns of e Mancial assel bl docs not consider
future credit losses. Finance revenue 15 reconded in net
revermecs.  Financial assets measured af amontised  cost
inclhude:

= Cash and cash equivalenis;

* Cermn collaterbised agreements, which consists of conain
resale agrecments and substantially all secuntics bormowed:

= Customier and ether receivables, and

* Certam other asscts, wiich consists of cenain milercompny
loans and subsiantinlly all mascellamcous receivables and
oihecr,
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« Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss, Financial assets that are mol bheld
fior the collection of comraciual cash Mows andior do not luve
cash Mows that represent solely payvmems of principal and
inderest are mandatonly measured at fair value through profit
or boss, Financial assets mandatonly measured @ far valoe
are imtially measured m Cfar value with tanssction costs
expensed in the income stabement. Such Ninancial assels ae
subsequently measured ot Fair valoe with gains or losses
recopnised in nel revenues, Fimancial assets  mondatonly
mensared it Gair value include:

= Cemain  collmeralised  agrecmems.  which comsists of
substantially all resale agreements and cenain securnlics
bomowed;

« Trading assets, which consists of imding cash instnomnents
and dervative instnments;

+ [nvestmenls;
* Loqus; sl

= Cemain ober wssgts, which consists of certum inlercompanm
loans and an investment in subsidiany.

Classification and Measuremaent: Financial Liabilittes
The compmy classifies s Moncial lnbalities into the below
catcgones based on the purpose for which they wene scquired
or onginated.

* Financial liabilities held for trading. Financial liabilitics
held for tmding are mitially mexsured ot faic valse and
subscquently at fair value through profit or boss, with gains or
losses recopnised i net revenuics, Financial labilities held for
irading isclude wading labilines, which consists o

* Trading cash instrumicnls; and
= Dierivalive instrumenis,

* Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates cemain firancial
lisbilatics ot fair value through profit or loss. Financial
lishilities designated w0 fair value theouwgh peolit oF loss amc
imteally measured al air value and subscquently atl for value
thfough profil ar loss. with DVA being recopimsed in other
comprehensive income, if it docs ot create or enlarge an
accouniing mismetch, and e renwining changes in ihe fair
valuse being recognised in el revenues. Amouns recognised
in other comprehensive mcome attnbutable fo own eredit
spreads are pot subsequently  transfomed to the  income
statemenl, even upon derecognition of the Nnancial lability,
The primary reasons for designating such Anancial labalitics
at fair value through profin or loss are:

* To climinste or significantly reduce a measurcment or
recognition inconsisiency that would otherwise anse from
mesning assels or labilitics or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases: and

* The group of fnance] labalites, or Mmancial assets amd
lighilitics, is managed and its pedfonnance evaluated on a
fiir valuee basis.
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Firumcial livbilities designeted af Gur vahee through profit or
loss inchede;

= The majariy of repurchase agreements;
= Secunities bamed within FICC:

= Socured debt socurities issued, intercompany loans and
odher  borrowings, which comsists of lwbred financial
mstmunents, ransfers of assets accounted for as Nancings
rather than sales and certain prépad commodity: conlmets,
and

Cenain unsecured borrowings, which consisis of conain
debt secunities issued. commin other bormowings, conain
imercompany  loans and  cerlain  prepaid  conunodity
coniracls.

Hybrd Mnancial imstruments are mstruments. that condaim
cmbedded derivatives that are able 1o be bifurcated. The
company can either bifuscaie the cmbedded denvative from
the mssocimed debt or designate the entire hybnd Gnancial
instrument at fiir value through profit or boss. 1F the conpany
bifurcates the embedded denvative from the associmed debi,
the derivative is accounted Tor ai fair value and the bhost
contrct is accowmed for m amonised cost.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Firumcial libilitics mecasurcd w amortised cost are initially
mesured af fair value plus trinsaction costs and subscquently
measurcd at amorised cost ousing the effective  imerest
methad, See “Financial assets mensured ol amorised cost”
above for funther mformation on the effective internest method.
Fimance cosis, including discounts allowed on issue, are
recorded in net imerest income  and  INICRCSL  CXpense.
Firamcial liabilitses measured al amortised cost include:

* Certun repurchase  agrecments  and
securities loaned;

substintially - all

= Certan ingreompany loans,
= Customer and other pavables:

+ Cenain unscoured borrowings that have ot boen designated
at Gaer walue through profit or boss; aml

» Other lisbalities, which primanly consists of compensation
and benefits and acomeed expenses and other.
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Impairment

The company asscsses the expecied credil losses associmod
with financial asseis measurcd o amoriscd cosi on a forward-
looking basis in accondance with the provisions of [FRS 9
Expected credit bosses (ECL) are recorded in nel revennes, As
of both December 2022 and December 2021, the company s
expecied enedit losses were nol matcrizl

The company s impairment model is based on changes in credit
quality since initial recognition of financial asscts measured at
amertised cost andd incorporates the following three stages:

« Stage 1. Financial assets measured at amonised cost that ane
w credil-impained on initial recognition and where there has
been no significant incrcase in credit msk since  imitial
recognition. The ECL 15 measured #1 am amoum cqual to the
expected credil losses that resull from defiull events possible
within the next pvelve momls.

+ Stage 2 Financial assets measured at amonised cost where
there Tas been a sigmificant increase in credil risk since initial
recognilion, however not yel deemed 10 be credit-impained.
The ECL is measured based on expected cnedil losses on a
lifztime basis,

* Stage 3. Financial asscts measured al amomised cost that arc
i default, or are defined a8 credit-impaired. The ECL s
megsured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis,

Dretermunation of the relevand staging for cach financial asset is
dependent on the definition of “significam increase i credit
risk’ (stage 1 o stage ) and he definition of “credil-
impaired” (stage 3). The company considers a linancial assel 1o
have expericnced a sigmficant increase in credit nisk when
cerlain quantitative or qualitniive condilions are met. The
company considers 2 financial assct to be eredit-impaired when
it meets Credit Risk’s definition of defaull, whsch is either
when the company considers tat the obligor is unlikely 10 pay
its credit obligations 1o the company in full, withouwl recourse
by the company to actions sich as realising security (if held), or
the obligor has deflted on a payiment andior is past due more
than 0 davs,

210/415

oOoOooodn



GOLOMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANT)

Motes to the Financial Statements

The ECL 15 determuined by projecting the probabality of delauli,
loss given defaalt and exposure at default for cach individual
exposure. To calculrie expecied credit losses ihese three
componems are mubliphed ogether and discounted back o the
reporting date. The discount mie used in the BCL calculation is
the onginal cffective interest miie, The probability of default
represents the likelihood of & borrewer definliing on its
Nnancial obliganon. The loss given defaull is the compan's
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, and
takes imlo considertion, amongst other things, collateral on the
financial assel, The cxposure af default 15 the amoam the
company expects to be awed at the time the financial ebligation
delmlis. The company uses mierml credit nsk mngs et
reflect the assessment of the probability of default of individual
coumcrpanics, The compamy uses mulliple nacrocconomic
seenarios within the ECL calcubation, the weightings for which
are subyect o ongomng uiernl review and approval

The ECL madel fakes into account the weighied average of a
range of forecasts of Muture cconomic conditions, The forccasts
include bascline, favourmble and adverse ecomomic scenanos
over a threesvear period. To the extent the company  has
financial assels in Siage 2 or Siage 3 which have an expected
life bevond three vears, the model revens o histoncal loss
mformetion based on a non-lincar modelled approach. The
company applics judgement in weighing individual scenanos
cach quarter based on a varicty of faciors, including imcrmally
derved  economic  outlook.  markel  consensus.  recent
nasroccomonig conditons and industn irends.

Forward-looking information, such as key economic vanables
pnapacting credit nek and expected credin basses. 15 incorporated
ko boili the assessmend of staging and the caleultion of ECL.

The company wtes ofl fumncial asseis, i whobe or i pan,
when it has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of
TCCOVETY

Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Financial ligbilities and equity  instrumems are classified
acconding 1o the substance of the contraciual arangements, A
Nnancial lubilite 13 amy labality (et 15 3 contrsciual obligation
to deliver cash or anothar fimncial asset w0 aother entity; or (o
exchange Nnancial assets or financial liabilines with another
cutity under condifions that are potentially unfavoumble to the
enlity, Am equily inslfemeil s any contmet thal evidences a
residual mterest m the assets of e entity afier deducting all
liabiliies. Instruments are evahmied fo determine if they
contain both leability and equity componcms. The  initial
camying value of a compound fmancial insirament is allocated
s 1o the labiliey component, measurgd at Gor valee, and the
cquity 15 assigned e resicdual amount.
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial asscis and liabilitics are offsct and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet where there is:

= Currently a kegally enforceable nght o ser-off the recogmisoed
amounts; and

= Intent 1o seiile on a net basis or to realise the assei and seile
the labiliny simuliancously,

Where these conditions arc nol el linancial asseis and
liabalitios are presented an a gross Basis in the balance sheel,

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 29 for details about the Fair valse measureimedl of the
company s Tmancial assets and labilitics.

Fair Value Hedges

The company applies hodge accounting wnder [AS 39 for
cenain interest mate swaps osed 1o munage the inferest mic
exposure of cenain fived-raie unsecured Jong-term and shon-
term borrowings. To qualify for bedge accouming, the
denvatve hedge nuesl be highly elfective at reducing the nsk
from the exposure being hedged  Additiomally, the company
mast fonally document (he hedging relationship a1 inception
and 1¢st the hedging relationshap o crswre the dernvative hedge
contimees 1o be highly effective over the life of the hedging
reltionslup.

The compainy applies a statistcal aethod  that  utibises
regression analysis when assessing the effectivencss of 15 far
value hedging relationships in achieving offsciiing changes i
the fair values of the hedging instument and the risk being
hedged {he. imercsi mte nsk). An inderesi mle swap s
considered haghly cffoctive i offsetting chamges in fair valoe
attributable to changes in the hedged nsk when the regression
analysis resulls in @ cocfficient of detcrmination of 80 or
greater and a slope between £0% and 123%. Possible sources
of imeMectiveness on s hedpes include:

» Dniffercnces in timing of cash fows betwoen tle hedged dem
and hedging instrumen.

= Differences in discounting between the hedged iwem and 1l
hedging nstrument, as cash collaterlised denvatves are
discounted using Ovemnight Indexed Swap discount cumves,
which are not consistently applicd to the hedged item

= Coumerpany crodil nsk ampicing fair value movements on
uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the underying
hedged em

For qualifving fur vilue hedges, gmns or losses on denvatives
and the change in Fair valoe of the hedged ilem atiribuiable 1o
the hedged risk are included in net revenucs, When a deniviive
is mo lomeer dessgnated a8 a bedge, any emaining difference
between the carmyving value and par value of the hedged item s
amorised over the remaining life of the hedged dem using the
cifcctive infcrest method.
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Collateralised  Agreements and Collateralised
Financings

Collaieralised agreemenis include resabe  agreemenis  and
secunties  borrowed. Collaweralised  Mancings  inclode
repurchase  agreements,  secuntcs  loaned,  secured  debt
secuntics sswed, intercompany loans and otler bormowings.
See “Classilication and Measuremen: Financial Asseis”™ amd
“Classification and Measuremen: Financial Liabilities” above
for details on ibe classification and measurement of hese
instruments, Collateral recenved or posted can be in the form of
cash or securtics. Cash collateral is recognised/derccogniscd
when recerved’pad. Collateral posted by the compary in the
form of secunties 15 o derecogmsed from the balance sheet,
whalst collateral received in the form of secunties is not
recognised in the balamce sheet I collateml received is
sibseguemly sold, the obligation to retirm the collateral and the
cash received ae recogmised in the balance sheel,

Pension Arrangements. The compary is a sponsor of a
defned comribution pemsion plan. and a lwbnd pension plan
for the benefin of cenain emplovess. The hvbrid pension plan
his both a defined benefit scction {the Plan) amd a defined
comnbution section. These ane accounied for as follows:

* For the defined contnbution pension plan ad (he delined
conlmbution  section of the hybnd pension  plan, the
contrtbutions pavable for the penod are charged 10 net
operaling  expenses,  Differences  between  conributions
pavable for the perisd and contnbutions aciually pasd are
shown as eiiher accnuals or prepayments in the balance shect.

* For the Plan, the amouns charged 1o net opending expenses
are amv past service costs, dministeation costs and any gains
or losses on setthements ad cuntaalments. These amounts are
mcluded i coimpensation and benelis The nel mlerest is
nchuded in net inlerest income/iexpense). Actuanal gans and
losses are recogmised immediicly in other comprehensive
income. Plan assets are measured at Gir valoe and Plan
liabilines are measured on an acluanal basis using the
projecied wnit credit method and disconmted at 3 e
cquivalent to the current e of mium on a high-quality
corporie bond of equivalent currency and term to the Plan
liabilides. Full acianal valuations are obdained s least
mennially and updated at each balance sheet date. Am
surplus or deficit of Plan asscts over Plan liabilitics s
recognised in (he balance sheet a5 an asset (surplus) or
liability (defica).
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment.
Properny, leaschold improvemenis and cquipment are sitated at
cosl  bess  accumulyed  depreciation  and  provision  for
impanrent. Fixtures, Diings and equipment are deprecuied on
a strighi-line basis over their cstimated useful ives, which is
between 3 o 7 years. Leaschold improvemends are deprocimod
over the shorter of the usclul economic life of the asset or the
remaimng life of the lease when the asset is brought into use.
Depreciation  is  imcluded  in nel  opemiling  expenses.
Drepreciation policies are revicwed on an anmual basis.

Intangible Assets. Iniangible asscls arc stated @ cost less
sccumulated amonisation and  provision  for  impainmend.
Subpect o the recognition critenia in 1AS 38 ‘Imangible Asscs”
being mel, costs incurmed dunng the persod lul ane direetly
atinbutable w0 e developnem or mprovenkm of pew
business application sofiware are capitalised as assets in ile
course of constmiction. Asscis in the course of constmuction arc
transferred fo compuier sofiware once completed and ready for
their intended use.

Computer soltware is amonised on a straight-line basis over its
cstimened uselul life, which is three vears, No amomisiion 15
charged on assets in s course of consirction. Amomisiion s
included in net operating expenses and the amonisation palicics
are revicwed on an gl basis,

Imangible assels are fested For impaimicnt whenever evends or
changes in circumstances suggest that an assel’s or assel
preup’s carrving valise may pot be Tully recovemble,

Leases. Leases are recopmized as a mgli-of-use asset and a
cormesponding liability @ ihe dme of commencement of the
lease.

Lease liabdlities are measured at ahe presenmt value of the
remmimng  lease pavments, discounted using the lessee's
incremental  bormowing e (IBR) as of the  leasc
commencemeni dale or adoption of IFRS 16, whichever is lner,
a5 Wl amgrest mie wnplicat in the lease cannol be readily
determined. The weighted average discount rate applied o s
lease liabilitics on adoption of TFRS 16 was 3.5%.

Asgers aied habilatics arsing mom a lease are imteally measunsd
omna present value basis. Lease lisbilities include the net present
value of fixed and vanable pavments {nxluding ilose under
reasonably certain extension oplions), less any lease incentives
receivable. and pavment of penaltics for wermimating amy lease.
The bease payvments are discounted using the lessee’s [BR. The
Mnance cost is charged 1o the income statement over the lonse
period 5o as o produce a constam perisdic mic of intcrest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each penod
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Right-of-use assets arc measared al cost compnsing the indial
measurement of lease linbility, any lease paymends made at or
before ihe commencement daic less amy lease incendives
recemved. and amy imtial direct costs, Riglt=of-use asscls are
deprecuted over the kease lerm on a stmigl hine basis. The
company has chosen not 1o revalue ils nghi-of-usce assets

Extcision and 1ennination options are included in the office
premises lease emercd into by the compamy, These are used o
masimise opermional Mexibility in erms of managing the
assets used in the company's operations. The exiension aml
termination ophons held are exercisable only by the company
and nod by the respective lessor.

Right-of-use assets are tested for impmnment whenever events
or changes in circumslances sugges! thal an assel’s or assel
group’s cammving value mav nl be fully recoverible, An
impairment loss. calculated a5 the dilference between the
catimuded recoverable amount (bong the Tar valoe) and the
camying value of an asset or assel group. is recognised o the
sam of its expocted undiscounted cash Mows is kess than iis
comesponding carmying valuwe,

Provisionz, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, Provisions are recopmised i the financul statcments
when it i probable that an outlow of cconone benelits will be
requirned 1o scitle a present (legal or constructive) obligation.
which has ansen as a result of past evenis, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Legal obligations that sy afise a8 a resull of proposed new
laws are recogmsed as obligations enly when the legislation s
virtually certain to be enacied as drfied.

A contmgent Babality 15 a possible obligaton (ut anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
OCCUITCTECE OF ROO-OCCUTTEnce of one O mone unccrain N
events ml wholly within the contral of ihe compam or a
presem obligatron that anses from past events bul s nol
recognised beciuse cither an oulflow of coonomic benefits is
not probable or the amoard of the obligation cannot be relinhly
mgasured,

A contingeml assed is A possible asscl ihat anses from past
events and whose gxastence will be conflinmed only by the
OCCUTFEHCE OF Bon-0ccurrence of one OF more unceain finae
events mol whelly within the control of the company.

Contingend Babilities and conlingent assets ane nol recogmised
i the fncinl stgements. However, disclosure 15 mude for
contingent liabilitics unless the probability of scilement is
remle

Equity Instruments. The company ‘s Additional Tier 1 notes
(AT1 ootes) have been clissified a5 equily  instrumenis.
Associated imerest 5 recogmsed dirgctly i retined cammings
when posd.
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Hote 4.
Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of fnncial Stcnems requires IaREe N w
make judgemems. cstimates and assumptions that affect e
amounts recognised in these financial stacments. The nature of
cslimation means that acheal outcomes could differ from those
cstimates, The following cstimmes lwve Tad the maost
sigmificant  effect on amowms recopmised in e Nmncial
shiMcmends.

Fair Value Measurement

Certan of the company s Mmncal assets and habalites include
significant unobservable inpuls (Le., level 3. See Note 29 for
informaton about the carmving valee, vahstion techmigques: and
significant ingaeis of these insimimenis,

Defined Benefit Pension

Tl cost of the Plan and ihe value of the Plan liabilities are
determaned vsing actoanal valumons. This imvolbves making
assumphons about discount mtes, firure salany  incrcases,
monality mics and foture pension increases. Due 10 the
complexity of the valuation, such estimaics are subject 1o
sigmificant uncertiinly. See Note 15 for furlser information
about the company s Plan.
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Mate 5.
MNet Revenues

Mel revenues include net mlerest expense and  nonemigrest
income, Mol mlerest expense includes. interest and dividends on
financial instnaments measured at fir vahie and amorised cost,

The table below presents net revemes.

£ in mildions FiFF FEriR
Hon-inberest nooms
Francial insinaments mardatordy msasired af

Lair varlan Ihrgsagh proll o loss ] 2ME 5 6648
Frrurncinl inglnamonts (iaigrinid 8 tir vikss

Erough rofit or loss TAl 1,083
e and commissions _koas 1700
e inbadmst inooms 12430 11,444
Britarost Imooms
Irserisl insnma fraen firangal instrumaents

rapasuned Al Fais valn thiough profil o ks 4043 T
Fnbprest ingomar from fnancial instuments

rreasured al amorised cost A8 LI 1
Total Fvterest incoms 7941 3448
Iilafest axpiise
indereal Troes B i ingts s

rrasuned ot fie valua thiough profil or loss [4,334) [.062)
Frferpsl axpeme from fnanoal instrumenis

rreaswed al amorised cost [477H) [1.881)
Total interust $up-snse .43
Bl inkerest s [1.628) {4853
Setienms MU ST
In the table above;

« Gamns and Josses on Mmancial instruments  mandatonly
micasured @t fur value trongh profit or loss, which primanly
relales o non-inferesl gains and losses on trding asscts,
investments,  boans,  teading  labiliics  and  comain
collateralised agreemenis.

Gains and losses on fimncial instaments designated o far
value through profit or loss primanly, which relates o non-
interest gains and losses on cenain unsecured bomowings and
collaterlised fnanciigs.

Fees and commissions, which prinanly  relues 1o net
revenues from cenmin financial advisory and underwrniting
cngazemems, executing and clearing clicnt transactions and
COANn Vel MEanagemenl semices,

Firemcial instruments desigmated at Fair valoe through profit
or loss are frequently economically hedped with financial
instomenis measured mandatonily at fair valoe irough profit
or loss. Accordingly, gains or losses (at are reponed in
financial instnoments designaed at fir value throogh profi or
loss can be partially offset by gains or losses reporcd in
financial instruments measured mandatority w0 fair value
thrgagh prafil or loss,
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Geographic Information

Due 1o the highly imtegried nature of imtermational fiancial
markets, the company manages ils businesses based on the net
revemics of the caterprise as a whole, The methodology for
allociting netl mevenues o geopraphic regions 15 dependent on
cstimartes and nunagement judgenen.

Geograplac nesults are genemlly allocated as follows:
* [mvestment Banking: locwtion of the chent, investment
banking team: and underlving nsk,

= FICC amd Ecpuities: locaton of (he market=making desk or il
prinny mirket for the widerlying secuniy.

* Imvestiment Managemeni:  location  of  the  investment

INARESmC (e,

The 1able below presents st revenues by geographic reglon
allocimed based on the nethodology refermed 10 above:

i E o] Dscrmbar
§ in milions T e e
¥ 7Am 8 Toae
BrEatcis 1.2 1745
Bain 1,633 78T
T 310803 § josie

Revenue from Contracts With Customers

The table below presenis revenue from contracts  with
customers subject 1o IFRS 15, winch are mcloded in focs and
commissions within non-interest inconic.

Yiear Ended December
5 in malong 2022 2021
Frunnnl adviai!y and Lrderatilag engagemanis  § 1111 & 2778
Exmcuton and gt chivreng rirmactons 521 53
Mo Tl AR Sy pre] ars
Tatal 5 058 & 37K
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Mate 6.

Net Operating Expenses

Thee table below presenls nel operiing cxpenscs.

it Ernied Dacnmbat

§ iy i 2022 0

Comperanbon and berefils 5 1906 % R

Transactcn based openses 4,609 208

Plarionl Gomngemaent Bl 36

Commsscabons and [echnoiogy 147 144

Dapracialsn ard amatnbbon i 20

Profeisonal s 154 163

Mlarageren] craeges fom G5 Group aMiales 10490 1,148

Opseating apames (U] AL

laragnmonl craegins 1o G5 Gioug ATk K] [343)
Hutapersting expensss 3 Sy TIST
In the tble above:

» Managenen charges includes charpes relating 1o opermtional
and  adminsirtive  suppert  and  nemmgoment  services.
received from and provided 1o GS Group sfiliates.

« Ciher expenses primarily includes IFRS 13 expenses.
muscellansous fxes, provisions for labilites, mgulion fecs
and chariiable contrbutions,

The wable below presents the fees pavable 10 the company's
auditors, which arc included in professional fees,

e Erwipnd Decumbior
& iy millorns 2022 335;
el teses 5 54 5 &b
Audi] firlibd N RUCRNE S fLa 1 FA
DHher ASsur G Barvices .2 5
Tamaton ooTElsnor Bervnes e "N}
Tolai Sews J0r oAl BorvoNE FES AT
Totsl lses 5 BT § 103

In the wmble above, other assumnce services included the
company s share of fees related 10 corain services provided by
a neiwork fimm of the company s auditors 10 vanouss GS Group
affiliares. These fees were apporioned 1o the vanous G5 Group
affilees, inchding the company. by reference 1o each entity's
assel stee. Odber pssumnoe services for the penod  ended
December 2021 also incheded fees in connection with a
thematic regulatory revigw,
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Mete 7.
Compensation and Benefits

The table below presents the company's average monthly
emplovee headeount. including executivie directars.

Average & the
“finxr Encied Docember

Nurmbr
irvestmend Bankng 750 ok
FHoC T T4t
gty BS1 ]
Imvesimend Maragement B a2

Funcéone 304 L.
Total average headeount 3847 FEEH

Total headoount was 3882 as of Decomber 2022 and 3844 as
of December 2021,

The wble below presenis compensation and benefils costs
incurred by the compamy, including those relating to directors.

Yo Endsd Dscembar

5 &0 ralleons 2022 22t
Wiages and snlares 5 1628 § 2T
Socisd securnly coults 2322 37
Peragr costs:

Dofred conlriboton plar ard defined

onninbution secion of the hybed ponson plan &2 43
Dt Bonall saclon of thie % PR 4 5
Tokal 5 1806 5 3 185
— — —

In the wable above, total compensation and benefiis incloded a
credit of 3103 pullion for the vear ended Decomber 2002 ol o
charge of $634 milhon for e vear ended December 2021
represcuting chumges in the Gur vahee of sharc-based paymcnt
awirds recharged from Groags Ine. duning the vear.
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Mate B,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. spomsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldmuan
Sachs Amcnded and Restated Stock Incontve Plam (20213
(2021 SIPy, which provides for, amomgst others, graos of
RSUs, restncted stock, dividend equivalent nghius aod incentive
stock oplions, esch of which may be subject 1o ferms axd
conditions, including performunce or markel conditions. Chn
April 2%, 2021, Group Inc’s sharcholders approved the 2021
SIP. The 2021 SIP is a successor 1o several predecessor stock
incentive plans, the first of which was adopied on Apnl 3,
1999, and each of which was approved by G5 Group's
sharclolders.

Thee company recorded share-based compensation in respect of
the amonisation of granted cquity awands, net of forfeitures, of
S630 millkan for the vear ended December 2022 and S4%2
mitllion for the vear ended Deccmber 2021, The resultant credit
o equity ansing from these share-based pavments his been
offsct in equity as a resull of the recognition of a liability for
amcainls ansing under the termes of the clargeback aprecment
with Group Toc. under whach the compamy 15 committed o pay
to Group Ine. the grant-date Gar valoe, as well o subsequent
movements in the Faur value of those awards 1o Group Inc. at
the time of delivery o ils emplovecs.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. pgranis RSUs (including RSUs  subject 1o
perfornance or markel condinons) o the company 's cmplovess
under the 2021 SIP. which are generally valued based on the
closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after
taking into pecount 3 liquidity discount for amy applicable post-
vesting and delivesy imnsfer resirictions, The value of equily
awards also considers the wnpact of matenal  non-public
information, of amy. thet the firm expects to muke avaikable
shonly following grant, RSUs generally vest and underlving
sharcs of common stock deliver {net of reguired withholding
L) s outhned m the applicable award agreements, Emplovee
award agreements generally provide that vesting s acceberated
in cerain circumstanoes. such as on retinement, death, disability
and conflicied emplovment. Delivery of the underlying shares
of common stock 18 conditioned on (e grantees sisfying
cemain vesting and oaber requirements carilined i the award
agreemems. RSUs pot subject to performance or market
conditions gencrally vest and deliver over a three-vear period.

R5Us that are subject o performance or market conditions
genemlly deliver after the end of a three (o five-vear penod. For
awards tha are subject 10 performance or market coaditions,
generally the fuml award 15 sdjusted from sero up o 150% of
the ongimal grant based on the extent 1o which those condilions
are satisficd. Dividend cquivalents that accmie on these awards
are paid when the awards seitke

Bl
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The tablke below presents the activity relited 10 RSUs.

Wilnigrilnd Averags
Gennl:Date Favr Vakse of
Restrictid Shack Restracied Saock
Urits Crtslanding Urils Oulstanding
Fulum Mo Fulue Fularn Moo Futorm
Harain Farvcn Sanc Sprdon
P v Requined Pequired Reguesd
¥ear Ended Ducamber 3033
Beginning bulance THG025 ATasToD § AT § IR
Graried BEBZIZ  1E1TITE B BMOE 5 1074
Foretod [¥32.65T) (BE209) § 27434 5 249043
Dafvvernd =  |2,0D6,662] § - 5 N
Vsted (632,062} BIZOEX 5§  METOI 3 NMTOD
Trirsles 11,028 _{Sad] 3 2ESY 5§ 2854
balance W72 454 TOO1P6 5 IT7e7 5 aeiand
mémmwﬁ'l
Biegonin ooy bl angaee WERAZD  AEMAITE §  BOS09 § RORAR
G TOATST 1320804 5§  PSAG0 § BS1ET
Forteited 185.503) (63.Ta5) §  EeR0G6 3 ASd
Dolrvase —  {0B38.3E3 % — § 3T
Vesbed (04 857y Tohasr £ M3 § 0 nam
Translsns Bd.801) S §  Ms8 § SeTE
Erding haisnca TEGOF5  AT#L700 & @430 §  FrAds
In the table above:

= The weighted average grant-date fair valse of RSUs gramed
wis S307.68 during e vear ended December 2022 and
$260. 71 during the vear ended December 2021, The fair value
of the RSUs grumted incheded o liquidite discount of 5.6%
during the year ended Docember 2022 and 8.0%% during the
vear eided December 021, 10 reflect post-vestng aind
delivery tmnsfer restnctions. genemlly of uwp o 4 vears.

The agepregale fair value of awards that vested was $638
millipn during the vear cnded December 2022 and 5384
miblion duwrng e vear ended December 2021,

The ending balince included RSUs subject 1o future service
requirements and perfonnance or market conditions of 65,942
R5Us as of December 2022, and the maximum amount of
such RSUs tlat may be camed was 98,914 as of December
2022, There were no such RSUs outstanding a5 of Decenber
2021,

The ending balance also included BSUs not subject 1o future
service requircments bul subject o performunce conditions of
223,150 RSUs a5 of December 2022 and 38,9048 RSUs as of
Drecember 2021, and e maximam amou of such R3S the
may be camed was 334,726 RSUs as of December 2022 and
H8.421 RSUs as of December 2021,
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Mabe 9.

Income Tax Expense

The table below prosemts an analyss of the company s mcomse
LN EXpense.

3 in miors FLFF] FoFi
Curnent e
UK. enbion 5 L Ear
Aulinlimienis in reane of prer i L] a
Chairinis Lnxalion Far] il
Totsl cument tax T [1L]
Dwlerned tax
Ongenation and resswssl of lsmponany difenences 47 {1493
Effoct of decraasad!|noreasad ) combimed LUK

corparsiion tax min 4% 155)
Aufpruiriranis in nespnct of oo gt 13 i3
Total dutarred tax ] =
Total ncoms fax sxponse § i (19

The table below presents a reconciliation between income L
cxpense and the amount calculated by applving the weighted
average combingd UK, corporation tax (inchsding banking
surcharge) applicable 1o the company for the vear ended
December 2022 of 27.0% (vear ended December 20210 27.0%)
to profil belore tration.

Yo Ended Docamber

4 in miors FLFF] FEFI
Protl balone [xaton 5 4874 § 3882
Pty muliphad by combesnd LK. coporatan lnx

emli o X7 1.3 A
Cranges i regogrition and measwemen| ol

defarred lox sl (18 2
Tax declpcinls on wenest on AT Fobes (23 Farey]
Bondasitis Fonma o0 ndan-irkad

it bonds (23 (923
Qihar parrusrent G Reronoe 14 i
Effpct o Fagher axes on e BeEs samings 2 —_
Exchangs difecances and ofher 9 2
Adyustments in respoct of pror panods 14) -
Effoct of decreassdy nonasxsed | combirsd LUK

I a2 “abi & 553

Jetiiocems s ey I T

In June 2021, the Finance Act 2021, which increased the UK.
corporation fax mam ne from 19.0% o 25.0% from Apnl 1,
2023 was cnacted. Duning 2021, the company s defemed tax
asscts were remeasured and a defemred tax benefil of $33
imillion was recognised in the income stalement

In Febmuary 2022, the Finanoe Act 2022, which decreased the
bank surcharge applicable io the company from 34745 o 3.0%
from Apnl 1. 2023, was enacted, Duning 2022, the compam 's
deferred 1ax assets were rencasured and a deferred tax expense
of 549 million was recognised in the income stalcment.

il

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

MNote 10.
Collateralised Agreements
The tablke below presents collateralised agresnsents.

A of Dacanmbis
3 ins rralficwus 2022 2021
Ressls agresments $ 129433 515G B4
Securiles bomovwsd 10 263 100
Total 5 235796 5 7h7o66
HNote 11,

Customer and Other Receivables

T table below presens customer il other receivables.

A of Dacambi
3 inn malions FLFF] Fel
Recewvaibios Som ok fideaers and cleanng
LAl R 5 19.200 £ 1702
Rnceivabias feom cuslomens and counlepartes 5. TET 3 033
Tetal 5 Tﬂﬁ? 3 B85 135

In the table above:

« Total cusiomer and other receivables pringnly consisis of
recemvables resulting from collateral posted in connection
with cenzin denvatnve trnsactions, cusiomer nurgin loans
and balances related to listed denvative activily,

« Receivables from cusiomers and  counierpaniics  includes
receivables from commcts with customers, which were 5170
million as of December 2022 apd 5228 mullion as of
Drecember 2021,
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Mate 12,
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading asscts ad liabilities clude tading cash instnuments
and denvatnves held in connection with the compamy s market-
making or risk mamagement activitics. Trwding asscts includes
assets pledged a5 collatemal. Sce Note 28 for  funher
information.

The iable below presenis trading asseis.
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Mots 13.
Investments

Irvestmems includes debt imstruments aed cquily secuntes tat
are accoumed for at Fair valee and are penerlly held by e
company in conncclion with its long-tenm investing aclivitics.
Imvesimems mcludes assets pledged as collateral. See Note 28
for funher information.

T iable below presents information aboui bmestmenis.

As of Devemises As of Docombes
5 i mithons 2022 EiE] 5 in mlens 2022 FH
Trading cash Instramants Corporste debl iniFumnts ] a5 3 161
Mleray madkel instrumants 3 20 5 B _Eq:trm- 235 2“\_'l§_
Governmenl and agency obiigatons 183014 il Total 5 L EEEN
Morigage o= oiner assol-backed loars and
SOl 198 478 e
“ iy i o In the able above:
E.“"'"_’ "*’“h" ‘“‘ﬂ: 55‘52? * Corponie  debt  instmments  pnmanly  includes  scnior,
Total trading cash insumants TZATS 100 B2 mczzanine: and distressed debt.
[P — SHTIT 422309 « Equily securitics consisis of the company's _publn: amd privae
Crodt 198782 I cquity=reluted imvestments in COrporte clilies.
Carmgncind. 119,340 1,080
Cammotilan 10T 25,805
Equriles 49 966 [
Total derivatives 800381 Gan.Gan_ Mote 14.
Totsl rading siasla 3 872eln § idzoan
Other Assets

The tible below presems trading liabilitics.

As of Decsmbe

£ in mifona 2022 S0
Trading cxsh instraments

G Tl el Bty elligatons 5 W 5 31,558
Carpombe dull Filnarents 532 5704
Egusty secmbes armarT 25457
Commoditos 15 14
Totsl trading caeh instruments BEEDL [EXLE]
Deriwatives

Frastmil rin. SRS AN 408007
Cradi 17453 740
Camencas 114,308 G 70T
ool e T 250
Ecunles 50,0403 71111
Totsl derivatives FETENS  Ee2 o0
otal rading abliies I EuNIF e
I the tables above:

« Comporme debi instraments. includes corporste loans, debt
seeuntics,  comvertible  debeniures,  prepaid  commodity
transactions and trnsfers of assets accowmled for as seourcd
boans rather than purchases,

+» Equity securties includes pablic and exclange-traded funds,

h}

Th 1able below prescnis other asseis by tvpe,

As of December
5 i el 2022 021
b corTElery 0aca 5 6a3 § 2083
Irvasimedd N subsidary 1M —
I celarwcurs mdanables and o 1.Ei [
“Total francal assels FXEE FXT 0
Propety, hsasehold improvements and BguDmend 8 []
[T 56 553
Rigi-il-usan dsifutls & E]
Perdion sipiuk (oee Mote 15) L] In
Dolpred tax pesats (sew Mobe 16) 388 50
Propaymants snd soonsd oomas 43 Hy
Tax-redaled nasels 12 LIRS
MR it v it A o 4 13
Total non-frurgil asials 1166 1E80
Tatal § EXLTIE] i Al

Tt takle above:

= The investment in subsidiry has been measured at for value
in accordance with IFRS 9.

= Miscellancous recevables and other meluded in financial
asscis  prmanly  includes receivables from G5 Growp
afliliates, including receivables for allocption of nel revenucs
among G5 Group alfilises for (herr pamticipation in GS
Group's business activilics.
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below prescnts the movemends in property, leasclold
improveniends and equipment duning e curret and prior vear,

g

5 in millces eguipmenl T
Con

As of Decembar 2020 ]
Additions

Disposais

A of Decerbaer 2021

Alftaaa

Drsgronaty

"Ra ol Docerber 202z

Accumulsied deprecistion
&5 af Deosmbar 2000
Cruvgn Tof [he yas
Dissosaly

As of December 2021
Crurge for lhe yeor
Dempoals

&5 ol Decembar 2007

ol | @l =

iE | &l o
= (S

all | af]l =
= [

Wz =w|l | o

et book valus
As of December H0é?

dis ol IDesoember 2002

wafen
! 2]
wifen
i L
i

Intangible Assets
The table below presents the movements in intangible asscts
during the current and prios vear

Agrls in T
Compainr oourss of

§ i mifliorm oftwars  pombsion Tolal
Cant
s of December 2020 £ [ I 1 i B .k
Additons/ Tansies iy X ik
D spasats 29 = )
&5 ol Deosnbar 2021 243 =3 1,096
AddtenaTranales FLL T 2
Diasirialy ] — [l
As of December A2 1.087 Fi] 1,347
Aecumalmied smorlisatian
A5 ol Decembar 2000 =2 - asa
Cruv' g ToF [he yia G _ 06
Disposaly (15 — 195)
As of December 501 43 = 543
Crge for the year 245 - 245

o i1} = i1}
Ax ol Decarbar PIE7 TaT = 78T
et book valus
Mis ol Docember Hi22 5 b1 60§ 560
s ol 1 H 35 P E53

hi
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Mote 15.
Pension Arrangements

The compinry sponsors a pension plan with a lnvbad structure,
having both 3 defined beneli section (the Plan) amd a defined
contnbution section, The Plan provides retircment benefils on
the basis of menibers” final salany, with a nomial etircmen age
of &5 for most members. The Plan s funded. with the assets of
the scheme held separately [rom those of the company,
separie tistec-adminisicred funds.

The Plan was closed w0 new entranis with effect from Apal 1.
2008, and was replaced by a defined comnbution plan. As of
March 31. 2006, the Plan was closed 1o Tuture benefit accnials
for existing participants.,

The Plan operates wiler (rust law and is managed and
sdministeted by the Goldman Sache UK Retiremment Plan
Trustee Lamuted (the Trusteed on belall of the members and
beneliciaries in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed
and Rules and relevam kegislwtion. The Tresices act on behall
of the imembers aind benehcuines and leve e responsibility
for scttimg the wwvestment strateey o  agrecing funding
requiremends with e company through the valution process.

A Tull actmnal valuation of the Plan was camed ot by a
qualificd independent sctuary as of Drecember 21, 2022 using
the projected unit credit method based wpon membership data
as of July 31, 2023 As of December 2023, the Plan liabilitics
consist of 92% in respect of fulure benelicianes and 5% in
respect of current beneficianes.

Thene 15 no asset ceiling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recognised i the financial statcments as the conmpany is
able 10 wiilise the Plan surplus in the scenanos sel ool in
“IFRIC 14 - TAS 19 - The Limii on a Defined Benelit Asscl,
Minmmon Funding Requirgments misd their Inemction”,

Risks of the Plan
The miain nsks of the Plan are

+ Funding Shortfall. Additional coninbutions  will be
recuired iF the imvestment retums ane nof sufficient to pay for
benelits, The level of equity retums will be a key determinant
of everall investment retumms e ivestinent ponfolio is also
subject 1o a range of other nsks typical of the assel clisses
held, in particular indcrest mte nsk and inflatkon nsk on
bonds,

Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan’s investment
strategy, with a significant proportion of the asscts invested in
equities and other retum-secking assets is that the difference
berween Plan assets andd Plan liabilities nay be volatile,

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilitics are sensitive o
the assumptions mude abowt future nflation and life
expoctancy . 11 is also sensitive 1o the discounl e, which
depends on market viclds on sterling-denominated  AA
comprle bonds,
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Fimancial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the significant financial and morality
assumpiions wsed to deierming ihe present value of il defined
benelin obligation.

Ad o D Tl

B por ammam, argupl modalte asmemgdions 2032 203
Financial Assumpticrs
Discount rate A 18
Ao of pros wfabon = RF 135 a3
FRais of pron rfabion = CF 285 288
Fath of inConaded in pORLOAE in DTS

{poit-horapmibar 30, 19596 acerua) 315 318
Fatp of incroase in pensions in defemant

ipost-Hovember B0 1556 sccrual| 285 20
Fsto of InCrase i panssons in dofsmmaent

ipoat-Aeel 5, 2008 scorual) 250 250
Manality Assemptions
Lt anag w il 65 for curttently il 65

M= 243 years B2 yown

Fomaips 200 yrars 25 yean
Lifa mipsscinngy al 65 tor @ member cumently ag 450

Maies 255 years 354 yeirs

Faimalis 260 years 369 vois

In the table above, the momality assumptions adopled for the
year ended December 2022 were the “SAPS 53 very light (All
Pensioners) series” base ble with an allowance for fotere
improvemends from 2013 onwards in Line with the CM1 2021
core projections with a long-term rie of improvement of
125% per amumy and an initial  addition w0 monality
iprovemend pasmmeter of 0,509 per annum,

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The whle below presents a reconciliation af Plan assets. Plan
labaliics and the et pensson surplus.
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Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Plan Trustees have a long-tenm assct allocation simicgy (o
imvesi 41% of asseis in relurn sceking nvesimenis {such as
cquity funds/indices, alermative vestments and Nved income
securitics) and 59% in liability matcling assets (such as Gilis).
The Plan has a hedging progrmmme investing in swaps and
other derivatives in order (o reduce the exposure o changes in
inerest res and inflation,

Tz table below presents the fair value of Plan asseis,

£ ko miliens Ouoled _ Uinquoled Total
As of Decembar 2022

Eigudy tordifralon ] 19 5 — 3 10
Gerd mnd e By 253 [285) £
Bwmim - [¥14) [334)
Cash and cash equivalents nr - oy
Otrar 15 12 286
Tenl § 17w § (488 1833
B il Do 2021

Ergety faradifraon 5 e % — % e
Gats and S thas i) 1218 - 1219
Swaps - 153 165
Cash and cash agunalens T - e
Dty B 54 ()
Tobal [] L :F'EF * ;5\19
——— -

In the table above, other prinanly consisis of investments in
aliermalive investments and xed income securitics,

Defined Benefit Cost
The table below presems (e delined benelin bossigain) relaed
o e Plan recopnised wm the meone stateinent and in other
comprehensive moome.

Yoar Ended December

5 & malfons ﬁ 2021
Hed Income stabement i
Fian Pan  perakn Adrinsl b cost 5 z5 4
§ i mikors — assets  habiles SIS - L] 3
war Ended Decembar 2022 Tokal chargedicradited] 1o the iIncoms statemant 2] 1

As ol Jamsary 1, 2022 § 3,248 § (2915 % 3

Aufmi et conl - ] 2
Infermst incomadiexpaenss a7 (311 &
Ratun on Flan assets graealoness) an

dacounl rHs 1,733 - [5,733)
Actuprinl gainilons ) - Babily @genenc - Tz 172}
Acturisl gain = Snancal asumalons - 1,657 1,657
Actupnial Gain — demagracihig Fasimplions — 2 2
Berafits pand {22} F -3 -

ni{loss) Eil] Fi)

Az of 31 T.E £1,133) ll
e Enedend Desombor 2021
As ol Jaruary 1 2021 § 326 5 (304§ it
Adminairalive ool - [5]1] (L]
Frfprosl indormaeapeen | 48 (¢ L] a
Betun on Plan assels gooaler o) han

dscount rale 48 - 48
Actinrial gainlas) - bateily s ionse = ] 2
Actunnisl gain — Srancal BEsumgtons — -] =]
Actupnial gan = Sprogragtec alsmplons — 3 3
Berafits paid i) E -
LFomign exhangn geinfioss) m_t_*_ﬂ E
hs ol Docembar 31 300 § 329 [FE:2 1] 5 3-;11

0d

Gthar comprehensive incomae
Retum on Flan assets lessigealnr) than

dracount rate 1,733 (48]}
Bl 3 — liakdity pup 17z el
Aciunsial gain - Francial REsumplions (15T 16)
Acluarial gan - demagraphic assumalons 4] e}
Total lnsal{gain) recognised In ather

R e o) {133
Total defined benlit koss)gain 5 FI e [REFT]
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presenis a sensitivity analysis of Plan liabilitics
for cach sigmificant actuanal assumpiion,

irpad |0 Plan Lishditios
Inénaase Detromio in
ez AEsETpinn
& in s 3§ in mllons k)
Az of Decembar 2022
0.245% change i deoounl rabe 5 e G0 § T (X}
0.35% change in price mfation § 8 43§ [55] (463
1 ymar chinga in 1% pepeciancy  § M 26 S (33 (ZB)
Aa ol Discarmibar 2021
.25 changs i decount rabi § [ (T4 S 240 &2
0.25% change in price rfalion £ 1 61 g (R L =T
1 pear changs in 4 expedancy  § 1% 18 8 [RAL T Y]

In the pable sbove. the sensitivities ane based on a change in
cach sssumplion while holding all eiler assumpdions constant,

There are mnherent linntations in the sensitnity analy sis, as such
wipsvnermtic movements  are  unlikelv 1o occur. The
mgthodlolopy used w calcukate the sensitivitics are consisicnl
across e two peniods presented in the mble above,

MNature of Future Cash Flows

Sice e Plan's closure 1o Tutere accnmls from March 31,
2006, e company has ceased 0 make regular contributions
inte the Plan but will confime fo assess the funding
requirciecnis of 1he Plan with the Trustces on a periodic basis,

Om 3 tricnnial basis, a formal funding valuation of the Plan is
performed for the Trustecs 1o assess the funding needs of the
Plan. This valuation differs from the aciuanal valuation
required for sccounting purposes duc 1o the use of different
ASSUIPIoNS.

The most recent inennil funding valwation of the Plan was
performed by a qualificd independen actuary as of December
i1, 20210, which indicsted thet x Plan was in 3 fusding
surplus of 5383 million. In Seprember and Oclober H22,
following significand voltility in the valuation of UK. gmlis
and swaps, the Plan was asked to meet collateral calls on its
liabality matching asseis. The Flan was able to megt these calks
by selling liquid assers. This, together with the nsing UK.
interest pale envircmment, has resulted in the fumting valoation
of the Plan decreasing from 2 surplus of 5383 million as of
December 2021 w an esimmed deficit of 360 million as of
Decomber 2022, To mitigate the nsk of hinving 1w s¢ll further
assets, the Plan las pat in place a shon-term revolving crodit
facility with a GS Group affiliate 10 be wused if funher cash is
needed o meet collateral calls. As of December 2022, the Plan
has not used this Gicility and markels hove stabhised, The next
Formmal fuisding valuation of (e Plan s doe as of December 31,
024

The company expects $22 million of benefits {0 be paid out of
the Plan 1o members. in the next vear.

The weighted average duration of Plan lubilies was 26 vears
asof December 20022,

]
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Hote 16.
Deferred Tax Assets

The wble below presents the components of e company s
delemed tax assels.

A 0f Deonmibr
§ i malions FFF] 2021
Dotered compensatan 5 576 % BiE
Posl-rotremed borefils i) (1033
Progadly, gl impoeenmanitl ard ogu it
arl inlangdiy awsels [143) [161)
Dot valuaton adustment ) 53
Ik ey Saiied funahng 1 1%
Dtha bermparnny & Monsncos ) 2
T R

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company s defermd tax assels

¥iuar g Dion it

 in sy Firey 2021
Defarred compansation

Beginning alanos 5 e £ 0 |
Transfer io 1ha inooms siatement -
Endirsg balapes §  &E & 86
Pasl-tetimment Benalits

Beginnirg Balance 3 103 5 [543
Transter o he rooms stalement ke [F4l]
Transser o piher comipen s inoome BT [Fi-13
Ending balance 3 (1) 5 (o

Preparty, leassheld Imprevemants and
snd irdangible assela

Beginnicg balance 3 [184) § 135
Transde: 1o the Soomes stalarmen| 12 [Ewd]
Endire balans 5 (143 £ [161)
Debt vadustion adjustment

Beginning balance 5 55 3 B
Trngter |5 olhor somarahnning incorms 3
m balarcs 5 [ 55
nbavcompany secured Tanding

Beginning batance 5 (R -
Transter io (i roome siabsmaent 12 (1}
Endirg balancs ] 13 (131
Crhar temporary dilenences

Beginning Balance 5 5% rdl]
Transler lg lhe roome iabemenl 2 k]
Ending balance 5 1) % [E1]
Tetal

Baginnieg Balinoy ¥ M 5 444

Tranater 10 1he Feoms satemont (ee Hoi 1) [188) 199

Transher o olher oo incormes L] )
Endirqg balancs 5 T L

I e eabsles above, deferred compensation s munnly 0 respect
of sharc-based compensation
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Mabe 17.

Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsidianes over wlach the
company excroised comtm] s of December 2022

Blarrw o Coumbry of  ofvolng  shares Shafes  Mabwe of

EHTHIATY et TR il - ]
Goidean Sacfs

{Cayman) Orlinany Finangial

Lireilind dalarrls 100 L] 250 SOOI

Financial

Gl Trusl S Adriea £ i ]

® This subsicdiary undertaking 15 controlled other than through
voung nights attacled 1o shares.

The repistened office addresses of e company 's subsidianes
ars

= Goldman Sachs (Cavman) Limited; the offices of Maples
Corporaic Services Limited. PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Graawd Cavaman, KY 1=1 104, Cay man Islands.

» Gnffin Trust: 2nd Floor, The Place, 1 Samndion Dnive.
Sandton, 219%, South Africs

The company has imeresis i a number of special purpose
cmtitics and capital guaranteed funds which do not mect the
definition of a legal subsidiary, but give nse to the nsks gl
rewards el are. in substance, mo dilferent than il they were
begal subsidiancs. The activitics of tlese spocial purpose
cntitics and capital guarantecd funds consist of the issuance of
loqn notes under the 1emms of a epackaging progrvmme, These
special purposes cntities and capital guaranleed hinds are
corsohdated in the fimancial staemems of Group Tnc.

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has imeresis in structured cmatees tn 11 docs pol
contmol {unconsolidated structured  entities), which prmanly
includes: scmior and  subordimved debi:  derivatives  and
pguaranices. Stmectured entities generally finance the purclase of
assels by suing debt secunies ten ane either collatemlised by
or indexed o the mssets held by the stroctured entity . The debt
secuntics issued by a stroctured emity may include tranches of
varving levels of subordinateon, The company’s imvalvement
with structured entities primanly includes the purchase and sale
of benelicial intercsts ssucd by morgage-backed strociured
cntitics in comneclion with market-making  activities  and
derivatives the company  has entered into with  simiciured
enlitees, such as wdal return swaps. In conain instances, the
company provides guarantecs, eloding denvativg goamniees,
1o unconsolidated structured entities or holders of nlerests in
unconsolidated stmchered cntitics,

Gl
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The table below presenls a summary of il unconsolediied
stmcturcd entitics in which the company holds imcrests

Ads o Db
3 ia ralicay FLFH 2
Azmets in sinsclured anbles 5 4106 5 [T ral ]
Carmping value of inlsnesis « assots 5 Lol Rk
Garrying waksn of inipresis - kabdtes 5 (44 § 81
Masmum exposors 1o Das 5 IE3S § 3354
In the table above:

* The cammving values of the company s interests are included in
the balance sheet in trading asscls or imding liabilitics,

*« The compay ‘s maxinnim exposure 1o boss s mainly a result
of denvatives, commitments and goaress, for which (e
maxirmum exposure (o loss is the notional amoum, which
does mol represent anticipated losses and also las md been
reduced by unrealised losses already recorded. As 2 resull, the
maxirmum exposure o boss exceeds habahities recorded for
derivatives, commitments and guarnices,

Hote 18.
Collateralised Financings
T table below presents collateralised nancings.

An of Decemiber
5 in malvons 20 221
Repuithuis gt 5  BOAT2 § 1FIEd
Sacutiln Kurtsd iRk 51080
I corrpary iien TAET L -
Dot securites s L i S
LDithar bormwings 134 5430
Tokal 5124738 5 F0dmae

In il wable above, imercompamy loans, debt securtses issued
and etlser bormowings are secuned by securities which hive been
pledged a5 collateral. This  pledged  colkateral 15 either
recognised in trading asseis or collyeralised agreements.

Hote 15.
Customer and Other Payables
The t1able below presents customer and other payables.
An of Decomibe:

5 in malions 2022 FIFT
Parpalses | FGais iz s, ded Sy

organRatorn ] 11X 3 2181
Payables 1o coslomess and countspardtes L] 117 102
Total § 110883 £ 1iaend

In the 1abke above, todal customer and other payables primanky
consisl of cash collateral reccived in conmection with ccriain
dervative tansactions, customer credil balances related to the
compam s prme brokerage activites al balances related 1o
listed dermative activily.
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Mate 20.
Unsecured Borrowings

T wable below presems unsecured bomwings.

s of Dot

§ in millora Hlt_i' 20
Bank ioans [ 100 % -
Cverdrafts . "
PR LOmpAny (Gans = rokMREL aibgiie 19,519 16,179
[P oM EAny loans — MREL vig blo 16774 18,315
Dt diacund i 26029 35170
Bubord naled oes £407 5387
Hhar borrraings. T AN LN =1
Total 3 Te0s & vein
In the table above:

* Pavments on debt sccurnities issued and other bormowings
instaimenls are Wwpically referenced 1o nderving fmnancial
assets, which are predomunately merst mies, equities and
currencics-reluted.

Subordinated loans of $5.41 billion as of December 2022 and
$5.39 bullion as of December 2021 consist of long-1erm boans
of 3538 bilon from GSG UK and associated accrucd
nterest. These loans are umsecured and carry interest i &
margin over the US. Federal Reserve’s Foderal Funds rate.
The margin is reset on a penodic basis 1o rellect champes in
GS Group's weighted averape cost of debl These loans
constitule regulaory capital as approved by the PRA and are
repayable subject to PRA approval. These loans are repayable
between December 26, 202% and Seplember 3, 200540,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company calcubmes the fair value of debi securitics issucd
that are desigraeed @l Gur value throogh profit or loss by
discounting, fture cash flows al a e which incorporales GS
Grmoup’s credil spreads. The table below presenis infonnation
about e cumulative net pre-tax DVA gainsi{losses) on such
financial labalities, which is ncluded in accumulaed other
comprelensive incoms,
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Hedge Accounting

The company designates corlain indercst rate swaps as fair value
Iedges that arc used o manage the inferest mie cxposune of
cenain fived-rpate unsecured long-term and shom-lenm debw,
These imerest mie swaps bedge changes i fur valwe
alinbulzble 16 the relevand bencluak milerest mle (cp.,
EURIBOR), effectively converling Nixed-rMe obligations into
Moating-rate obligations.

The table below  presenis  information  abowl  hedging
instrwmcnis, which are classified in derivatives within trading
assets and babilites in the balance sheat.

Ai o D
5 in ralions 2022 2021
A CAmying valig 5 3% 12
Liabiy carrying vatue $ -3 -

The table below presemts the notioml of hedging mstrunents
by comtmctual maturity date.

A of Decembnr
£ b rulfons FLFF] 21
1 = 3 Pronis 5 - -
3 monts = 1 year = —
1-5 ywars 1,519 1708
Grouder Lhisn 5§ yiars 1818 1566
Total 5 EEF ] EFT]

The awverage fived rate of e compam s hedging instruments
wis 2.05% for the vear ended December 2022 and 1.07%% for
the yvear ended December 2021,

The mble below presents the canving value of hedged hems
that are designated in 2 bedging eltionsluip and the reled
cumulative  bedging  adjusiment  (increasef{decrease))  from
current and prior hedging relaionships  included 10 such
carmving values.

Cumaraiven

‘et Eroind Dipcnmibrar Carrying Fedging

5 iy il 2023 202 5 i malicons el s imel
Baginnrg balarce ] [1ea) % 1250 As of Decembar 2022

Dot valuaton adiustmant for the yoar o 54 Unsecuned short-berm Dormowings 5 85 -

Teansder io olnined sarrings 2 a8 Urriscutne atsgelitrs b omgi 5 2566 3 291

Ending balance 5 1i1 % [1B8} A3 of Dacersiar 2021
Unsecured long-lerm borowings ] Ixe § &1

In the t#ble above, net gains of 52 million (31 millign, nct of
tax) for the vear ended December 2022 and nei bosses of S48
million {535 mallion, net of tax) for the vear ended Decenber
2021 realised upon carly redemption of cenmin such financial
liabilitics, have been transferred from accumulxied other
comprehensive income 1o reiained camings,

67

In sddition, cumulame hedging adjustmens for ems no
longer designated in a hedging relationship was $5 million as of
December 2022 and $9 million as of December 2021,

The mble below presents the company's guinsf{losses) fron
interest rale dervatives sccounted for as hedges, the related
hedged bormowings and the hedge incfTectiveness on these
dervatives recognised in nel revennes

Yiar Encod Doecombor
§ in malliong 2022 P01
rhov ot Fake Todget T peys [
Huclgesd Buimindige 341 110
inoteciiveness [ ) § )
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Mabe 21,
Other Liabilities
Thee wable below presems other labilines by vpe.

A5 of Daconte
i middors 02T 20
Comperaabon and berefils 5 2000 % FX=T]
Iroome lax-retated kateitbos 40 A5
L hnbsias ¥ 5
derr g and othns 1,945 1,787
Total & | itk 410 4.8
g Las-relatedd katsktan 3 4
Oihar laxes and social seouwiby cosls 193 482
Prowisions = i)
Tolal resn-Trancal kb 398 487
Totsl 5 4 596 5 5. 308
—_ = —

In the table above, accrucd expenses and other includes
conmet labilities, which represem conssderstion received by
the company i connection with s commcts with customerns
prior to providing the service. As of both Decensber 2022 amd
December 2021 contrect liabilitics were nol neaterial,

Provisions

The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedings in which the company is
invalved.

£ v milhondg

Ak ol Dacambar U0 H 1
Crovgn darning B paar ]
Lnsnd du'!ﬂ 5o yoar i
As of Docembar J0F1 5 ]
S duting B yoar 8
L during B par 10
i Cecamber 2037 I—

MNota 22.

Share Capital

The table below presenis share caprtal,

Aboited. calind up and tlly pasd of §1 mach
An ol Docerbac A0 508 167 053

Ax ol D har 2021 SRE152.081
Mg of December 2023 bil.li_i,hi-

& int el a

[EEE

i}
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Mote 23.
Other Equity Instruments

The uble below presents mlformation aboul unsecunsd AT
s,

Mamtar of
Maalh af igsuancs AT1 moles § malleas lorast rae
Jure 2007 5300 5 5800 9.00%pa
Kvermhar 2018 2500 2500 A& pa.
Aa ol Becerber 2023 003 X3

The company's AT notes of §1 million each have been issued
o GG UK. They hove no fixed matunty date and are not
callable,

The AT1 motes will be irrevocably written-down in the event
that the CET1 capital ratio of the company or the GSG UK
Gironp falls below 7%

The company paid interest on its AT1 notes of 5749 million for
boih the vear ended December 2022 and December 2021,
Imterest 15 recognised directly in retined camings when pacd
The associaled 1ax effect is recognised In INCOME 12X EXpense.
The mon-cumulbative fxed interest is payable ai the company s
discretion subject to certain solvency and regulatory conditions

Subject 10 regulatory approval. the company inlends. o repay
$2.80 billion of ns ATI motes duning 2023, The company
intends (o panially replace this regulatony capital by increasing
s Twr 2=cligable long-lenm subordimted loans by $1.530
hilkin.
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Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliations

The table below presemts cash and cosh cquivalents, net of
overdrafis for the purpose of the statement of cash fows.

s of Decomier
3 in miors FiFH ol
Cash and cash equbmabenis 5 11,707 & 52423
Crverddrafis [son Bote 20 [E8) LA
Tatal 3 1'!,]._!.! 5 £ 408
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Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Financing
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company inchsdes MREL-cligible borrowings as financing
activily for the purposes of s stalement of cash Nows, wlich
consists of His ATl notes, subordinated loans and MREL-
cligible intercompany loans. Both the pnncipal and intcrest
relnied 1o these bormwings is classified as Nimancing aciivity,

The table below presems a reconcilistion of cash flows from
Nnancing activitics excluding bease liabilitics,

. i 5 b maliovis Princinal _ [ninmsi Total

Im the table above, cash and cash cquivalents included cash that "5 of Docemner 2000 E30367 & 50 B30T

is restncied for use by e company of $2E2 billion as of Incremn fifecmane} in MREL-

December 2002 and $2.52 billion as of Deceniber 2021 eiighbin intercompany lcans 1500 = 100
Internat on ATY rotes - 749 45
et bordenumted loans sed MREL -

Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Operating e i o S

Activities irdecust paid on AT1 roles —  (FE [TB)

The table below presemts a reconcilivion of cash Mows from! Inteesd paid on subordirated loans and MREL-

od i " eighin i loans - (45T)  [481)

(usSCd 1N OpERtng ACUVITES, i 0! Dnoemier 2021 CET i N EIL]
It [ e e 17 RAREL -

. Vear Endod Docemher g dain rteronepany loars (1.500) — 1500

5 mifons 2022 2021 Irernet or AT roties - Tia TaG

Prii i nxtion L L Inbisd on Suborned loans and MREL

Adjuatments for  aligiin nfercompany loans - m M

ssrnsiation aned amoeston (s Not 6] 208 0 Frsoiot gt b = e | e

1 cioa ‘e ot i kit b3 = | infprnst paid an dordnated s and MREL-

Cragedomdi) for defined Denedl plan (see Mole 153 ) 1 alicbie b e — e e

Foreagn echangs nsses 5,243 7658 5 T

Shans-tased comairaalan oo ZEE 1,235 M—H ‘2‘3—“ 3_118.3

Prenciions (s Mots 21) ] 1

Irbermit on pubcrdinated loans and MAEL-sligible

Imlprcompany ke Tr LHH

Lossesilpans) on rvsimenls ! 10y Hote 25.

fain o dapema of lsases = i

et ginavalid lors: ChAnges i Dparalrg Sase Financial Commitments and Contingencies

ard Hakdiion. 11,551 & 032

Changes in cperating assats

Docrassai{inraase] in colalemabsed sgpeomaents 21,570 [1005,884) %ﬂm?:nl::nt? and Eontinglim:in. : .

Dammasn i cumicmar and olhes reostiss 768 4,245 W2 1 low presents commitments and contingencies.

DCreasn i CrosE) 0 adng assels (130,572 340,681

Drecraueii i lnans 178 168 Ag o Dacnrmibe

[ i ol el T 4,434 § i rralf 2022 2021

n g Asess (100.864) 137847 Cotalombsed agrmamants $ 1aGs g

Changes in opsrating Babilities Cotalemisesd frarorgs TLO86 bR EE]

Increasa!{decroass} in codalsaksed financings {78, 804} 91,492 Oiraar 4B 4 851

Pt OGRS ) st hed Ot farpali (8200) 19384 Tetal 5 _iasee 3 Trawas

Irersasndocaasa] n Faing labil e 148,38 [Z37.433) o -

Dieschein i ursncared Somowings 1,040 (9.868)

Irahpcisa{indraain) & olfer LabdEes (L] II.%
mw
Cagh Frosm! | ursand in/ rathons E'I T21} 11 E
In the table above, cash gencrabed fromtused in) operations
included interest paid of $6.47 billion for the vear cnded
Drecember 2022 uwd $2.31 billion for ihe vear ended December
2021, and merest receved off 57,57 billion for s vear ended

December 2022 and $3.05 billion for the year ended December
02l

(i

Collateralised  agrecments  commitments  includes  forwsrd
starting resale and secuntcs borrowing  agrecments,  amnd
collaeralised  Pmancings  commtmens  includes  Torwand
starting repurchase and secured lending agreements tlat senle
al a fumere dae, gencrally within three busingss dayvs.
Collatertlised  agreements  commitmems  also  include
transactions where the company las entered o commulnents
to provide contimgent Muancirg 19 11s chients and counterpartics
through resale agreements, The compamy s fumding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all commchial
condilions o the resale agreement and (hese conmilmens can
expire unused.

Clser commitments prmanly relate o collaerl comnuiments,
widera rting comnuiments and loan commitments.

In addition, (here are registered charges on the compan's
assets which hove ansen i the ordinany course of business.
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Legal Proceedings

The company is imvelved in a number of judiceal, egulatory
and arbiimiion proceedings (incheding those deseribed below)
concerming matlers ansang in connection with the conduct of
the company ‘s business. Except as noled in the first natler
below, it is not practicable o reliably estimsic the possible
financial impact in excess of provisions, i any, of these
proceedings on e compsny,

Banco Espirite Sante 5.A. and Qak Finance. Begimming
in February 2015 the company commenced actions against
Move Baweo S.A (Novoe Banco) in the Enghsh Commercial
Cournt and the Bank of Porugal (BoP) in the Porluguese
Adminisirative Couri in response 10 BolP's decisions in
December 2004, Seprember 2005 and December 2013 1o
reverse an carhier transfer to Novo Banco of an $835 millien
facility agreement (the Facihiv), stractured by the company,
between Oak Finmoe Luxcmbourg 5 A (Oak Finance), a
special purpose velacle formed in comnection witly ihe Facility,
and Banco Espinto Santo S.A, (BES) prior o the Gulure of
BES. In July 2008, the English Supreme Coun found that the
English couns will not have jumsdiction over the company’'s
actipn unbess and umil the Poruguese Adminisimtive Coun
finds agaigt BoP i the compan s parallel action. In July
2015, e Liguidation Committee for BES ssued a decision
secking to claw back Ffrom the company £54 million paid 10 the
company and $3) million allegedly paid to Osk Finance in
conmnection with the Factlitv, alleging that the compamy acied in
bad faih i extending the Faciliy, incluching because the
comgany allegedly knew that BES was m nisk of imuminent
failurc. In October 2018, the company commenced an action in
Lishon Commercial Coun  challenging  the  Liguidation
Commingess decision and las sice also sssued a claim agaunst
the Poruguese State secking compensation for losses of
approximuicly $222 mulbion related o the fmlure of BES,
pogeiher with & contingend claim for the $104 million soughi by
the Lagquidation Conimitice,

T
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The companmy s
among the defendanis nanmsed 102 puiaiive amliinesi chkass action
relmting 1o the iading of inlerest mie swaps, filed in November
2015 and consolidated n the US. Distnct Count for the
Southem Distnict of Mew York. The company is also among the
defendams named in two antitst actions relating 1o the trading
of inerest mate swaps, commenced in April 2006 and June
2018, respectively, in the LS. Disinct Coun for the Southem
Disirict of Mew York by three operators of swap excculion
Facilitics and certain of their affilimes, These actions have been
consolidated for pretnial proceedings, The compliinis genemily
assen chums under federal amarust Liw sosl state common Liw
in conmection with an alleged conspimey mmong the defendants
to preclude exchange imding of infcrest rate swaps, The
complaints in the individial actions also assen claims under
stme anttrust law, The complamis seck declarstory  amd
injuictive nekiel, as well as ireble damages in an unspecified
ampunt. Defendants moved to dismass the class and the Tirst
indivedual action and e disinci count dismissed ihe staic
common kbw claims assened by e plainulTs in the first
indavedual action and ctherwise limited the stale common law
claim in the putatve class action and the anbinest claims in
badh actions to il peried Mmom 2003 10 2006, On November 20,
2018, the coun granted in pant and demied in pan the
defendams’ motion 1o dismiss the second indovideal action
dismissimg the state common kw claims for unjust ennchment
and tortous imerference, buat denving dismissal of the federal
and state antitrust claims. On March 13, 2009, il coun denied
the plainifTs” moton i the putative class action 10 amend their
complant o add allepations mebaed o conduct from 2008 o
2002, but gramded the motion 1o add limited allegations from
2013 1 2006, which the plaintiffs added in a Fourh
consolidated amended complaing filed on March 22, 20019, The
plaimtifTs i de patative chiss action moved for class
cerification on March 7, 2019,

Commodities-Related Litigation. The company is among
the defendants momed i putative class actions relating o
irading in  platinm  and - palladium, filed beginning  on
Movember 25, 2004 and most recently amended on May 13,
20007, in the LLS, Disinct Coun for the Southern Disinct of
New York. The amended complaml generally alleges that the
defendans violated foder] antitnest laws and the Commodiy
Exchange Act in connoction with an alleged conspiracy 1o
manipulate o benchmark For phasical platnum and palladium
prices and seek declamtory and imunctive reliel, as well as
treble damages in an unspecificd amount. On March 29, 2020,
the court granted the defendants’ modions 10 dismiss and for
reconsidertion, resulting in (e dismissal of all claims, and on
February 27, 2023, the U.S. Count of Appeals lor (s Secomd
Circuit meversed  the  distect coun’s  dismissal of certam
plaintifTs” antitrust claims and vacated the disinct coun’s
dismissal of the plaintiffs’ Commodity Exchange Act claim,
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The company 15 among the defendants in a number of putative
class and individual actions filed beginning on August 1, 2013
and consolidated in the LS. Disinct Court for ithe Souilem
Distnict of MNew York, The complaimts generally  allege
violations of federal antitrust lows and stale laws in conneclion
with the storage of aluminium and alominium frading. The
complaims seck decltamtory, injunctive and other cquitable
rehiel. as well as unspecified monctary danages, including
treble danuges. In December 2016, the disinet coun granted
delendants” molions to dismiss and on August 27, 2019, the
Second Circnil vacated the district coun’s dismissals and
renaigled the case o distect court for funther proceedings. Cin
July 23, 2020, e distrit coun denied the class plantffs’
miotion for class cerilication, and on December 16, 2020 the
Second Circuit denied leave 1o appeal the denial. Om Febmany
17, 2021, the district coun grnted defendams’ motion for
summany judgmen with respect e e clams of most of the
indvidual plaintifTs. Cn Apal 14, 2021, the plantilfs appealed
to the U5 Court of Appeals for the Sccomd Circuit. On My
30,2022, ihe two reomining individual plainiiffs eniened inio a
settbement with (e defendanms, The company las pasd the full
amount of 115 contnbution (o the setlement.

Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company s
among the defendants named in a putalive amitrust class action
relating to the setlement of credit default swaps, filed on June
30, 2021 in the US. Distnict Coun for the Distnict of New
Mexico, The complaint generally asserts claims under federal
it By and e Commaedity Exchamge Al in conneclion
with an alleped conspiracy among the defencdants 1o manipulate
the benchmark price used to valee credit default swaps for
senbement. The complant also assenis a claim for unjust
ennclament under state common law, The complam secks
dechatory  and punctive reliel, a5 well as  unspecified
amoamnis of treble and other damuges. On November 15, 2021,
the defendanis filed a motion o dismiss ihe complainl. Cn
Febmuary 4. 2022, the plaimtifls fiked an amended complxin and
voluntarnly dismissed Group Ine. from ihe action. On April 5,
2022, the defendants filed a metion to dismoss the amended
conmplaint,

71
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and conam of s affilaies, mcluding
the company. are subject 1o a number of other invesiigations
and reviews by, and i some cases have received subpociks
and requests for documents and information from. vanons
governmental and  regubatory bodics and  self-reguliory
organisations ad liligation relating 1o various mailers relating
o G5 Group's businesses and opertions, inchsding:

» The secunties offerig process and underw nbing prichices;
* Investment meragement and linancial advison services,
= Conflicts of interest:

* Trogactions ovolving  government-relued  fmoncings  and
other muticrs,

* The offenng. auction, =abes. trding and cleamnce of
corpenie and govenunent secumlics, currencies, commodilics
and other fiancial products and relmed sales and other
comnmnications and  activitics, as well as G5 Group's
supervision and conrols rekating 10 such activites, including
compliance with applicoble shon sale miles, algonthm,
lugh-frequency  and  cquanimative tmding,  (otunes  mding.
oplions trading, when-issucd trading, trmnsaction reporiing.
technology systems and comrols, securitics lending practices,
prime: brokerage activitics, trading and clearance of credit
denvative mstrunents and mnlerest mte swaps, conmmoditics
activitics and metals storage, private placomem  praclices.
allocations of and irading in sccuritics, and trading activiiics
and communscations in conmection with the esablishment of
benchmark rates. such as currency rales.

Complimce with the UK. Bnbery Act and the US. Forcign
Cormapt Practices Act;

Hinng and compensation practices:

Swstem of nsk nEmagement and controds; and

Insider trading, the potential misuse and disscmination of
material pon-public informution regarchng  conporse  and
governmentil developments and the effectivencs of msider
trading comrols and informmtion barmcrs.

Lin achedinmoi, pvestigations, eviews and htigation mvelving s
company s affilimes and such affilistes’  busipesses  and
opcrations, including various maiicrs refermed io above bat also
other matiers, may ave an imgact on the compam s busingsses
and operations.
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Mats 26.
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presenis the expected  matunty  of the
company 'S issets and habilities.
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Note 27.
Related Party Disclosures
Panties are considered 10 be nelatedd of one party has the abality

to dircctly or indirecily comirol the other pardy or exercise
sigmificant influcnce over the pany in nuking Mnancial or

i sridiorn Hon-curenl Current Tl op<ealional decisions. The company's related parties include:
““?‘mm + The compamy ' parci enities;
Caih and Ciih squaksnt ] — % 11,707 § 1,707 ® - i -
Coilati alsod e mants 1300 M, 506 35,704 Other GS Group affilics,
Caslomer and other recervabies —_ TRET TH.9GT = X i
braiereioproge = ok oo $T28%0 Kev management personne] of the companmy.
Irnmslments 69 1 ag M § | o . ¥ LTS
e =} 3 Key management personnel of the company s parcnl enfilies;
Qtnor asyetn 1,281 2008 3,250 and
Total saiats 5 a3 1 A8 5 1, il . - " -
Tl E 2 2 « Other relsied parties, which includes the company’s defined
Colaternised Srancngs § 0 MED 5 BRI 5 M benelil scheme and associates of GS Group.
Cuaslomer and olher payabes - 110,983 110,983
Tendeng liabdties = B44,312 244,313 o - I fined 2 avii
oo A i sy Key 1 ﬂﬂ;':!'ﬂl: I personne _arcdac n-:d. sl_!lm: p;mn_:sh .I B
Dihar hakditiss 1007 1,499 4,508 authority  and  responsibality  for  planning,  directing - and
Total Babilities $  Geea § 1odatod § 196040 contmlling the activitics of the company. Key munagement
#a.ql e 20 personnch of the company inchede the directors of the company,
Carsh and Cash equhmlents 5 - § EZ4ZZ §  B2AT members of the EP_-u{f.'.‘ whe are employess of the 0PIy and
Callalprlsod sguamants 1.114 FEE,I53 757,366 members of senior panagement who are designated as
e &
Culiomae and oli recsvabiog - 85135 86,135 At : A : ! i
aesiepalo = i it = managers under .[IH.' PRA and FCA's Semor Managers and
b ooaahriatda e P g Certification Regime.
Loars 143 -] 358
CHhar assets 1,876 7586 4,462 Key Management Compensation
w H JAST 3 1139965 3 143430 The table below presents the compensation paid or pvable by
Colsornlmad Snancngs § BN S iMl 8 mmasm the company for cmployee scrvices i key mamagement
Cuslpmer and cihar payables - 1158 115, A personiel of the conipany and is parenl cntitics
Temtbeng ladiles -— B84, 587 54, 587
Wersagurnd DOmowings 54195 5 517 79,8103 Yoanr Encad Docsmher
CHhar [iasilting 1.5 3.963 5,308 § in mulions T s@E Ml
Tolal lintxbtes 36500 3 G8T.S86 % 1904505 & A alfr AT bl £ [] 153§ 172
Pesi-armplayrent banalis F] 1
P . Srayon shasesd oomsn sabon [ ] i
Inthe tble above: Tama: pansat - - H ) 2
 Cumemt jssels and  liabilines inclede  aomounts thal the
compamy cxpects o relise or seiile in s normial operating In the table above:

cvele and inchedes assets and linbilities held for trding
purposes sl cash and cash equivalents,

Mon-current asscls are amounts thal the company expects o
be mecovered after more than ewelve months and primarilty
includes  certain collateralised  agreemems,  conain
imvesiments, cenain loans, imangible assets. deferred 1ax
wssets, pension surplus and cenam imerconmpany kans,

Mon-cumeni labilitics are amounts thai the company cxpecis
to be senled after more tlan twelve months and pamarnly
includes collateralised Nnancings and unsecured bormowings
with contmctual maturitics greater than one year, with the
exception of contracts that have ingger evenis that ane ol in
the control of the company, which are classificd &s curmen,

* Salancs and otler shon-ierm benciits inchsdes fecs paid to the
ii-geecitive directors of s company,

+ Share-based compensation included a credit of $11 mallion
for the vear ended December 2022 amd a charge of S187
millipn for the year ended Deccmber 2021 represcnting
changes in the Fair valoe of share-based pavinent awinds
mecharged from Group I, dunng the vear.
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Directors' Emoluments

In accordance with the Companics Act 2006, dircclors
emolumenis represent the proponion of toial cmoluments paid
or pavable in respect of qualilving services only . This wotal only
includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, and docs not
include the value of cquity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 3 of he Stawiony  Instraments
HOEA10. Directors also  receve  cmolumems  for  pone
qualifying services which are not required 1o be disclosed

The table below presens (e company s direcioss” enolumeiss.

Vigss! Eradind Dicombar
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Transactions with Related Parties
The compamy’s imnsactions with related  parties  primanly
inchude the fallowing.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely eniers into derivatives and buvs and
sells secunties and loans with related pamies for nsk
management  and  markel-nuking  purposcs, which  ane
recognised in trading asseis and irading lishilities.

The table below presemts the gross oulsteding buys and sclls
of regular-wav securitics and s fromie sher GS Group
alfilimes,

5 o mdkocd 2022 2071

Aggregate smolumpnts ] TE [ fin ol Decembar

Campdry petsion Gonlabulion b monay % in ralions IEE 2021
Schems — — [ dng mopaar-way buys of secribes and lopns. 3 60T 5 8153

e .| : Ll L s gingg reulr-ainy B o soceBes sdbans 5 10,246 §  AOIE

The table below presents emolumenis for the highest paid
dirccior,

£ i milors
A SO ¥
oMy phnon contrbulions o monry

prthass schamos

Accrued sntal pension ol end of te year

Two direclors were members of both a defined comnbution
scheme and a defimed benefil scheme and two direclors were
members of a defined contribution scheme fior the vear ended
Decomber 2022 {vear ended Docomber 20210 three dirgciors
were members of o defined comrbution scheme). Four
directors including the aghest paid dircctor for the vear ended
December 2022 (December 2021 throe directors inclheding the
highe=t paid director) have received or are dug 10 reccive Group
T, shuires i respoct of long-term inoeilve schemes,

The aggregate cmolumiems of the seven non-cxeculive dirccions
for the vear ended December 20022 {vear ended December
2021: eighl non=cxecutive directors) who were members of the
Board for all or pant of the vear ended December 2022 was
approxinuicly 1.9 million (for all or pan of the vear cnded
December 2020 approxanustely  $2.0  million).  Additional
ongoang foes in respect of advisory services provided by centain
non-cxecutive directors was approximatcly 2.2 million for the
vear coded December 2021 (vear conded December 2021:
approxinuigly 524 milleon),

The compamny also holds secuntics in, and makes corponig
loans o other GS Group affilites, which are classificd i
trading asseis. The company also exchamges cash and scownty
collateral in connection with denvative trnsactions. Cash
collateral  received is recognised in customer and  other
pavables, Cash collmeral paid i mecopgnised in costomer aind
other necervables. The company posted security collateral o
related partics of $16,32 biltion as of December 20022 and
513458 billion as of Decomber 2021 (comparative has becn
restated io include additional collaieral posied o a GS Group
alfliue as of December 20213

In addition, ihe company alse executes and intermedimes lisied
denvatives with other G5 Group affilimes, resulting (s
exchange of margin, which is recogniscd in custemer and other
receivables and customer and oiher pay ables,

The company has also recemved securitics of %144 million from
a subsidiary under a securitics lending agrecment as of
Drecember 2022,
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Funding Activity

The company routincly cniers into collateralised agrocmenis
and collamcralised Mmancings wilh G5 Group  alliliaies,
primuanly o source securites and fusd invemony on a secured
basis.

I addatbon, a spgrificant poron of the company s wsccured
borrowings s from G5 Group affiliaes, inchwling the
company s ATI notes issucd o GSG UK. See Notes 20 and 23
for funher details, The company has alse made loans to cenain
GS Group alfilimes, See Nose 14 for funther details,

Imgresi-bearing instnuments arc tvpically priced based on the
Lefin, currency, siek, subordimalion and whether the instrument
15 secumed or unsecuned.

Cash Management Services

The company receives cash managenent services (rom other
(i Giroup affiliates and places cash deposits with them in the
normal course of business which is recogmised in cash and cash
equivalems

Commitments and Guarantees
The table below presents commitmes and contingencies with
ather GS Group aflTiliales.

A3 of Dot
5 iy millcxia 2022 Furil
Colpleralsed sgmamens [ T LT FF ]
Codmleatsed francngs S234 474

Totsl 5 21447 & 7B 556
e o e

The company s received a puarantee from Groag [ne. related
to irmmsactions cmered imo with cenain of Hs countcrpartics for
up 10 5% billion of exposure at defaull. During the vear ended
December 2022, up o 33 ballion of exposure at defimll was
guarinleed, reducing 1o Snl as of December 2022, Dunng the
yiear ended December 202 1, the guamnice wias unutilised.

Transfer Pricing and Management Charges

The company paricipates in the allocation of net revenucs
among G5 Group affiliates for their involvement in G5
Group’s business activitics, In additeon, the compam incurs!
receives munagement charges to'from G5 Group affiliates
relating 10 opertional and  admindstrative  support  and
MMEASCICEAL SCMVICEs,
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Taxation

The company receives group relicl from other G5 Group
alfiliates, The company also received iax-cffecied bosses from
other GS Group allihmes of 5124 mallion for the vear ended
Drecember 2022 and $121 million for the year ended December
2021 for which consideration will be paid in full.

Share-Based Payments

The compamy has entered into a clargchisck agreement with
Ciroup Ing, under whach i is commited to pay o Group Ing. (a)
the grant-ate Fair valoe of those awards and (b) subsequent
movenwnts m the Gair value of those awards between the grant
date and delivery 1o emplovess. See Mote 7 and Note 8 for
farther information

Transactions with Key Management Personne!

Centain key management personncl and their close family
menibers have brokermge and'or discretionany accounis ai the
compny, They are provided services e ordinary course of
business on commerncil lemns, and m each case in compliance
with the relevant bws and regalations,

Close family members of certain key munagement personmel
are cmploved by the company, The amount of compenmsation
paidd 1o the Family members was detgrmingd in accordance with
the company s stosdasd compensation practices applicable 1o
similardy-situated cmplovecs.

Plan to Transfer UK. Assel Management Business

As outlined in the Fomre Outleok section of the Strategic
Report, subject to approvals. the company plans to tmnsfer iis
UK. msset management busingss 10 Goldnan Sachs Asscl
Managemeni Infermational (GSAMI) in 2023 for non-cash
consideration cqual 1o the far value of this business. The
compay s UK. assct managemend business has approximacly
306 emplovees, average annual net revenucs in the last theee
vears of $436 million and imnwatenial assers and liabilities as of
December 2023,
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Related Party Assets and Liabilities
The table below presents asscts and liabilitics with related
parties.

§ i millad il Bav afiiia  paed Todal
An of Decombar 2022
Apspis
Cah and cash oqumbenss 5 - #11 § - a8
Sl i i i Crnh s - 168,083 = 163,083
Crtpinmar ard ol ronsvabies a8 18,T&T -_ 19,855
Tradeng asibls 500 SEDTEE 41 T
Irremiireriks - 166 - 184
Lowrs - — - -
CHhar assedts 49 1675 — 1,924
Total aaasts 5 2948 5 TE1AT0 § 433 STa4 T
Linbilitess
Colpbvahdind Srancngs $§ — % B2i0h 3 — % AL104
Caploimad ard olhar gyt ERE 24804 W WA
Trading lisbdtbios TR BEYEM FL O
Urisecwred bomowings 30,600 1d 45 - 45,048
Ofhar lasiins 244 1,360 — 3404
Tatsl Babilitias T3 T04, 434 095
4]
Axeetn
Cash and cish oguivakents £ - TS - 7
Colalatsed agronmens - 14T ATE e L]
Caslnmiad and ol recsvalbies T 55T 1737 g 12T
Temideg assets 1,085 437185 18 438889
vty o 1 = 177
Lows - Fal] -_ Fali
Othar asuels 1. 0004 1774 - * s
| 25 sells € A543 & God7i0 € 757 GBI A7
Linbilisss
Collplnisad francngs 5 T § 131138 § BY §131.342
Caplomer ard olher pdyrabies i &350 — N
Trisdarg liskosl tirs 6T AHLTTR G0 434,615
Unisaownd bomowings a0 12544 = 43 671
Othar [ateies 2387 1 458 — 3,775
Todal lasshbas 35 EF SHI Sa0E TET SEA7 HM
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Related Party Income and Expense

The t#ble below prescnts income and cxpenscs relaed 1o
transactions with related padies other than key Management
Personnel

Citfupr Otfar

Parer G5 Group  related
5 i maliony anlban affistes parfes Total
Foar Enched December 10023
Het rirvinuies
Iedew sl | oo § 129§ 205 % 1§ 2184
I ust supanse [1,045) {3,048 4 g
Tanglet prieing fivahun 3 L — 3

“Hat cperating sxpenses,

Transscion nassd B Ees 5 = § 306 & = § &
Managermact charges fom

G5 Gronp afSkates = 1,080 — 1.0
Margerraet Ehaiges 1o

G5 Geoup o Eabos (] 3L = 19y
{iher expanses. ar AT4 - 511
Total nat [ ¥ M § gk §  — § 108
Yoo Dpcamber 2071

Nl Firvinniied

Irsbeenad ingeren . 1 a5 5 — & A7
Iriernat e {8810 (B4 - [14d)
Transler pricing mevenues ] 1047 -— 1.085
Total ol frvenes ¥ By ey — %W
Wil epersting expensas

Transaction S axraes 3} —% T 5 — 5 T
L e

G55 Group afliales - 1.11% - 1118
Mansgermert charges ko

GS Gepup atkabes M (336} - [343)
‘D i 1 543 —_ £44
Dadcorsrcepense I BT IOET _—3 I0H

In ihe iable above, imnsaction bascd cxpemses and other
expenses prinnly include IFRS 15 expenses,
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Mate 28.
Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the carmving valoe of Onancial assets
and liabilitics by catcgory

Finarcial Assots
Mandalony | Amcriaed
5w mibees al faer valus L] Tolal
As of Decaenbar 2022
Cash and cish aquivalents 5 — % 1w s onnr
Colgiralmed sguamants 181738 B4 04T Fath ]
Casiomer and olher rocevables - TEBET 78,587
Trading asusts BTZ B0 - T80
P e B0 e a0
Lot EE — 2
Cithar asssts 196 1897 2099
Total — § 10ER307 5 TTEAAE 5 1A
s ol Dntember 2021
Cash: and cash squivaksnis 1 -k 243 8 B 432
i sent] e S 1Ta T TROET FET, 366
Curslomar and othar resnvaling — 85135 B, 135
Trading assets TR 28 - T8
s ] 2 — 5
Loans ] - 58
Oithar asgels 1.000 1 T -
Tutal § @msid §  F19476 § 9141 A0
Finaneial Liabklas
Hale fest Amertand
& i milors tracing sl tair walus ool Total
A% of December 2022
Colplpraisnd francngs 5 — § TI539 § 4T1%E § 1M.735
Caplomar dred olfwr ciyabies - —  1108EF 110,043
Teadeng labd s LT RIE] - - 44,000
Urnncurpd bomowngs — 40,247 0,058 7205
Othi |t ] —_ 4198 4,198
Total SE44311 5 A7.786 § 198335 51 960434
T
Coll i aksed Erancings ] — § MEFIT § SE302 § 530
Cusinmar and othar parabies - = 118883 115883
Temideng i B S —_ _ B4 587
Llrppeunng DOFEwNgs - W[ DER AT
Oithar latdles = — & a1 .81
Jotal SEOA 0GR § RS AST §003fc $19040d48
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assels and labalities that ane
subject to cnforccable netling agrocemenmts and  offsciling,
Admgaiits wre only offset in the balance sheet when 1he compaim
curmenthy has a legally enforceabke nght 10 se-off e
recognised amounts and an mlenfion cither 19 seitle on a net
basis, or 1o realise il asscl and scitle the  liabiliy
samuliancousty, T the iables below:

» Gross amoums exclude the elfecs of both coumemrty
netting and collaterl, and therefore are ol representative of
the compamy s CCONNIC CXPOSITe.

Amounts not offset o the balance sheet include counterparny
netting (Le.. the netting of financial assets and habilitics for a
given coumerparty when 3 legal mght of set-off exists under
an enforceable netting agreemem), and cash and sccunty
collateral received and posted under enforceable  credit
suppor agrecments, thit do not meet the cmema for ofTsiting
umder [FRS.

Where the company las meceived or posted collsieral under
credil supporn agreements, but has mot vet determined whether
such agreements ane enforceable, the related collateral has not
been inclwded in the amosunts o offset in the balance sheet

+ Giross amounts for the company inclided denvative asscis of
53,82 hallion and derivative liabilities of $3.16 billlon as of
December 2002 and dervative asseis of S6.6Y billion and
denvative liabilitics of 3647 billion as of December 2021
which are nod subject 1o an enforccable netling agrecment or
arc subject 0 a netling agreement that the compary has not
vel determined 1o be enforceable.

Substantially all resale agreements and secunties borrowed
within collatcralised agreements and repurchase agreemenis
and securitics loaned within collateralised financings anc
subject to enforceable medling  agreemems a5 of both
Drecember 2022 and Decenber 2021,
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As of December 2022
A FrEE
AMounts Mt amount
oiffant in the presanded in

Geeaa L Ehe: bl Counbed ity Cash Security
§ in milons amoaunts shast shat natting ooilaberal collsteral  Met amount
“Finan-ceal Aszais
Colulvatsed agronmients § 1902325 §  [(1s4808) 5 25786 § (49,8005 5 (450} § (1808 § 1,677
Cotlnm and cines reesabin 23,181 [24.791) 63,300 [3,828) {38,025) (3,93 10,510
Tradeng cash instnmanis 18,976 7,037}y 9,939 (3,910 [ELH] 4,073y 1,214
Dt A1LAG0 [LE ] A0, 381 [Fadagd) (06T S} (A0 )
Triadrg aseets [EIEET [A0516) 10,320 [FIAITH AT [T, 258 diard
Lioars 118 == 118 - - (R[] 17
Othar assels 2,407 _[1,978) 432 __IBgy - = 344
Frreal aesils suleel o uni g gy 1 1,311,867 [201.811) 1,110,058 [TAT,147) (BOEBE)  [208.19%) 33,822
Forircinl il radld Sulpie] 10 60 IDromslis nolling dgriiTe s 91,819 — 91,810 — —_ — 91,810
Rttt § LA § OTAT§ 130\ Ns § (TN E (Wwea s (eeien s iasedi
Colnteratssd fnancings 5 rEs450 § [(1S40563) § 113,887 § [49.945) § 183 [EOM9 5 1,880
(Caslnmar and othar parymbk 199,725 [24.452) 05,273 [3.885) 181 BT} (20, 565) 28,055
Tradeng cagh insbumanls —_ —_ -— - —_ — —_—
Dhissraativii 801,435 [13.816) TAT.610 [FIBBES) {36,026 (2208 7610
Tradeg habddios A0, 435 [LELITH] TRT.E0 [0 888) {36.026) [FE 1T610
Urmecurod bomowngs 15781 18832y 4,568 P& {166} - dadt
Oihar labdibes Th4 154 596 - - 508
Francial labibes subioct b e FosEin g L 1204, 155 [201,811) 1,002,344 [FET. 1470 {B0.BRZ) [BZ 5%1) 51,413
Foruireutd abblaed ol fubine B onfarenale rellig oy 153,000 = 158,090 — — — 158,080
Total finarscasl Wabilien § 1380045 § 09 ATI)§ 1160434 § [FTi4T) § (PoBusj § (A3 809 § 209,503
#sof Decermber H(21
ReTinars Nl DHSeL i 1 Gaancs shiol
Arrounis Ml amor
offtel in the  prosserbsd
Greas halnon  he Doanos  Coumeparty Cash Tacurty Mt
3 i mibors amgunts shosl shool rastfing oolaferal cofalora! amoo
Financial Azseis
Colaleraisnd sgrooments £ MOSeE § (1XAEa 8 2ET0AE § [hddan) & - % (201071} % Pl
Customer and clher rocenabios S4BT (3% 507 B 45 [ 555} 38 165 11,1458 2535
Tradeng eash inslrumanis ITESE (15 E837) 17 006 1577} {133} (8 ToE) 1.5683
Dharsrwativeg H53 (REST) 635 646 (51 B0y (40,2355 {12 245} #1.558
Trahesg ampats RT3 (£5.365) AT BSE (65180} (40, 36565 (20 553) F=EE
Losrs ] - i (107} - - nGET
(thor assets Rl (3203 i - = - (i
Feranc! nasils dubdstl 1o anionoanlis nall] B eamanis 1183035 (158,794 FrEET] (525 9371 [7B.534) (233173} 35503
Frrancial aidiis ral Sibeiel 1o el it Pantiirey deboTeis 167 506 — 167 S0 — — — 167 508
% 51 w 3 rw| 5 1141 ?;I‘I.'I 3 Ei 17 1
Colaterndsed francngs § nsoen § 4179 5 184274 § [H0aT) § (22av) & (131 408 & &8
Cuslomer and other payabies 121,350 (3% BT 54 5 OGN (anaGH) (18881} gl ]
Tradeng cash inslumanis EE3 == - -— _ — —_
Daivatives E31 G52 (9 457 EF2 210 {551 730} [35.738) (4 283) 71 370
Tradirg liskddios 3235 (10.165) [=+FiT] (561,730} {35.738) [T 30
Unsecuded bomowings LER] -3 (8 S5 4 500 (1420 {18TH - 3283
Ohar latilos 2@ I;l_.d-?!ﬂ 12955 — — - 1268
Frarcal ot sznl bo o NEling agresmans TGS [ 188 ) G BTG [f-F e ] (7B, DAy (1555 AT
Francil habdlad nol subect b anl ke Papdting g il 187 1E3 —_ 187 163 —_ —_ = 187 863
Toal Snsanel LAnEEaS 5 1:939 ] r‘IE'.'D-'I]i 1104038 § @5— ﬂﬂ-ﬂli! s1ﬂﬁ1ti F44. 041
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives cash and secunitics {e.g., government
amd agency  obligaiions, corporate debi secuniies. equily
secuntics) a5 collateral, pomuanly o connection with resale
agreements, secunitics bormowed. denvative trsactions and
cusiomner margin boans. The compamy  obluns  cash and
securitics as collateral on an uplront o contingent basis for
dermvative isirements and colluermalised agreements o reduce
is credit exposure o individual counterparics.

In ey cases, the compam: ks permitied 1o deliver or repledge
fmancial mstruments meoenved as colliteral when cenng il
repurchase  agreements and secunties lending  agrecmenis,
primanly in connection with sccured cliem financing activiry.
The compary is also pemtied o deliver o repledge (hese
financial instronsents o connection with other secured
fnancings, collseralised dermvative thmsactions and mecling
company or cusiomer scitlement roquircmenis,

The company also pledges cerain mding assels in connection
with repurchase agrecments, sccuritics lending agreements and
other securcd lnancings o counterpartics who may or may nol
have the aght 1o deliver or repledge them

The table below presents Nnancial instnaments received as
collaeral that were available 1o be delivered or repledeed. amd
that were delivered or repledged.

As of Decormber
& i milors P 2021
Colaheral v bate A0 D O e o TR $ 710398 § 754,087
Colaler st was delvernd of repodged § EXTVE0 5 TIGETD

The table below presens information about assets pledged.

Aa of Bachmber
3 in mioras FLFF] 2021
Pladged to counterparties that had e reght 1o deliver of repssdge
Tradeng sssets § o7 § 34T
brreusilrects 5 3% LE]
Pledged to counterpartien that did mat have the right 19 deliver or repledge
Trading st §  maes & i
v imenis 5 n 3 100

The compuny has received cash collateral of 86617 billion as
of December 2022 and £74,30 billion a5 of December Hi21,
and posted cash collateral of $32.74 billion as of December
2022 angd $55.83 billion as of December 2021 (compartives
have been restated to update cagh collateral poad and receved
as of December 2021 Amounts received and posted arc
migindy in respect of imding assets and trading liabilities.
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Mede 29.
Fair Value Measurement

The fanr value of a Mnancial instroment @5 e amount at
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 2 liability
in an orderly tmnsaction between market panicipants at (e
measurcimen date, Financial assers are marked 1o bid prices
and Anancial liabilives are marked 10 offer prices. Far value
measurements do nol include trmsaction costs. The company
measures cerain financial assets and liabilities as a porfolio
{i.c., based on its nel exposure to markel andior credit nisks),

IFRS has a three-level hicrarchy for disclosure of fair valuc
measurements. This hicrarchy priogitises inpans to the valuation
techniques used o measure fair valoe, giving the lighest
pricrty 1o level 1 mpuis and the lowest prionty o level 3
npuis. A financial instrument’s level in this hicrarchy is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant 1o us fair vidue
INCASURCINEIN

The Gair value hicrarchy is as follows:

Level 1. Inpuis are unadjusied quoted prices in active narkels
0 which the company had access ai the measurement date for
weniical. unmesincted assels or labiliics.

Level 2. Inputs 1o valuation techmaues ane observable, either
directly or indireetly,

Level 3. One or more mpuls 1o valuion wechniques are
sigmaficant and unobservable,

The Fair valics for substantially all of fhe conpam’s Mincial
assets aned Dabalaties that are e valuwed on g recermng basis an
based om observable prices and mputs and are classafied m
levels | and 2 of the fair vilue hicrarchy, Certun kevel 2 and
level 3 Mimancial asseis and liabilities ney require valuation
adjustments thatl a market participan would require (o amive at
fanr value for factors such as counterpany and the companmy ‘s
amd G5 Gmoup's credit quality, funding nsk,  tramsfer
restrictions,  ligquidity  and  bidfoiTer  spreads.  Valuation
adjustments are gencrally Based on market evidence,
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Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
Waluation techmiques and significant inpuis for cach level of the
Fair value hacrarcly anclude

Level 1

Level | instruments are valued using quoted prces for identical
unrestiicted imstroments in active markets. The  compamy
defines active markets Tor equity instruments based on the
average daily trading volume boah in absolule terms amd
rebative 1o the anarkel capitalisation for the instrument. The
comgpany defines active markets for debt instruments based on
both the average dailv tmding volume and the number of dayvs
with irading activity,

Level 2

Level 2 instnements can be venificd o quoted prices, recent
irading actvity for identical or similar insimiments, broker or
dealer quatations or alterative prcing sources with reasomable
levels of price transparency. Consideration 15 given 1o the
nature of the gquolatons (e, indicative or firm) and the
relationship of reoent markel activity o the prices provided
Froms allermative prcing soures,

Waheition adjustments are (vpically made 1o level 2 instruments
(0 if the instrumsent is subject 1o (rmsler restncions and'or (i)
for other premums and Dguidity  discoums that a market
participant would require 1o amive af Twir value, Valuation
adjustmems are generally bascd on market evidence,

Level 3

Level 3 imstruments hive one or more significant valuation
inputs tlat are nol observable. Absent evidence o ihe contrary,
level 3 mstruments are mitally valued ol trasaction prce.
which s considered to be the best imtial estimate of Fair value.
Subsequently, the company uses other methodologics 1o
determine fair value. which vary based on the wpe of
instrument.  Valustion npols and assumplions are clanged
when  coroborated by substamtive  observable  cvidence,
including values realised on sales of financial asseis.

7
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‘aluation techniques of level 3 instraments vary by instnamend,
bai are genemlly based on discounied cash flow iechnigues.
The valwtion techmques and the mature of sigmficant mpuls
used 1o determine the fair values of cach type of level 3 rading
cash instrumen, investmenis and loans are descabod bebow:

* Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Sgmhcant inpuis are generlly  detennined
based on relative value analyses and include;

= Marketl vickds implied by immsactions of similar or relaed
Asscls;

* Transaction prices in both the umderlyving collmcral and
instrurne s with the same or simalar underlyaig collnerml

« Current performunce of e bomower or loan collaeral and
recovery assumpions il a defanlt occurs; and

*« Timing of expecicd Future cash Mows (dueration) which,
corain cases, may  ngorporate the ampact of other
unobservable inputs (e.g.. propay nienl specds).

Corporate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations and Loans. Sigmficant mputs ane
generlly determmngd based on relative value aly ses, which
imcorpenie compansens botli to prces of credil defaull swaps
that refercnce the same or similar underdying instrument or
entify and fo other debt insiruments for the same or similar
issuer Tor which observable prices or broker quotat:ons ame
avidlable. Significant inpas mclude:

+ Market viclds implicd by tmansactions of similar or related
ARSCTS,

= Current levels and changes in markel indices. such as the
iTrex and CDX (imclices tlet track e perfonmance of
corporaie crodit);

= Current performance of (the bomower or loan collaeral and
recovery assumpiions if a defaull oceurs:

* Matunity and coupon profile of the instmment; and

« Market and transaciion muliples for corpormic  debi
it s wilh convertibiliny or panicipation oplions.

Equity Securities. Equily scourilics consists of priving
cquity sccurniics. Recenl third-pany completed or pending
Imnsaciions {(cg., merger proposals, lender offers. debt
restmctunngsh are considered 1o be ihe best evidence for am
chunge in far value, When these are nol available, 1
following valuation methodologics are used, as appropriate:

= Indusiry multiples and public comparables.

= Transactions i sumidar mstmosents: and

= Discounted cash Now technigues.
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Derivatives. Denvatives may be imaded on an exclange
{exclange-traded) or they may be privately  negotiased
coniracis, which are vsually refermed fo as OTC derivaiives.
Cenain of the compam s OTC denvatives are clewred amd
scttled through central cleaning counterpartics (OTC -clearsd),
while others arc bilieral commacts between fwo counterpanics
{bilseral OTC),

The company s level 2 and level 3 denvatives are valued using
dervative pricing models (¢, discouned cash fMow mdels,
comekaton madels, amd models (hat incorporile oplion pricing
methacdologies, such as Mone Carlo  sinmlations).  Pnce
transpaency of denvatives can generlly be chamclensed by
product type, as descnbed below,

¢ Interest Rate. [n penerml the key inpuis used to value
interest rate demvalives ane tmnsparend, even for most long-
dated contracts. Inlenest mile swaps and oplions denominated
in the currencies of leading  industrinlised nations  are
charcterised by high tesding velumes and tight bidfoller
spromds, Imtercsl mue denvatives th refercnce indices, such
a an inflmion index, or the shape of the vield curve (e.g. 10-
vear swap mic vs, 2-vear swap mic) arc more complex, but
the key ingaits are generally observable.

Credit. Price transparcncy for credit default swaps, including
both single names and baskets of credits, vames by market
and underiving reference entity or obligation. Credit default
swaps thm reference indices. large comporaies and nujor
sovergigns genermally exhibin (s most price trmsparency, For
credit defanlt swaps with otlier underhiors, price tmnspanency
vancs bascd on credit rating, the cost of bormowing the
umderlving refenence obligations, and (he availability of the
underlving reference obligatons for delivery upon the defaul
of the 1ssuer. Crecht defmlt swaps thal relerence loans, assel-
backed sccuntics amd emerging markel debd instmiments tend
o have lkess price iransparency ihan ihose ihai reference
corporate  bonds,  In addition, more  complex  crodit
denvatives, such as ithose sensative to the correlation between
wo or more underlying reference obligntions or fo scourcd
Tunding spreads, generally have less price rmnsparcncy.

Currency. Pnces for currency denvaiives bascd on the
exclange rales of leading industrmbsed mitions, including
those with longer tenors, are gencrally imansparcnl. The
primary  difference  beiween the price  imnsparency  of
developed and emerging market currency dervatives is that
cmerging markeis el 10 be only ebsernable for conmcis
with shorer lenors.
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« Equity. Price iransparency for equity denvadives vanes by
market and underbicr. Opions on indices and the common
stock of compores mcluded in nujor equity indices exhibit
the most price transparcncy. Equoity  denvatives generally
Teave observable market prices. except for contracts with long
tenors of reference prices that differ sagnaficantly Mrom current
markel prices. More complex equity denvatives, such as
those semsitive 10 the correlation between 1wo or more
individual stocks, generally have less price imnsparcncy

Liguidity is csseniaal to e abservabiliny of all product vpes.
If transacton vohones decline, previously imnsparent praces
and ather inpuis may become unobservable. Conversely, even
highly strocturcd products may a tines have trding voluomes
large enough to provide obhsgivability of prices mnd other
inpuls.

Level 1

Level 1 denvatves inchede shon=term commcts for Tuture
delivery of secuntics when the underlying security 15 a level |
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
iraded and are valeed a1 their quoted markei price

Level 2

Level 2 dervatives include OTC dervatives for which all
sigmificant  valuation imputs are coroboraled by market
evidenoe e exchange-traded dermvatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued using models tlat calibrle to
market-clearing levels of OTC derivatives.  In evaluating the
significancs of a valuation inpul, the company considers.
among other faclors, a porfolo’s met nsk exposure 10 et
inpuil.

The selection of a partcular model o valwe a denvative
depends on the commcne] terms of and specific nisks inhement
in the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing
informaiion in the market, For dervatives that trade in ligued
markets, model  selection does  nmel  anelve  sigrificant
management judgenent because owtputs of models can be
calibrated 10 marked-cleaning levels.

Yaluation medels mquire a vamety of inpms, such as
contrctual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount raes
(inchading those derived from interest mics on collateral
recerved and posted a5 specified i credit suppon agreciments
for collmeralised denvatives), credil curves, nweasunes of
volatility and comclations of such mmputs. Significant inputs to
the valuations of level 2 demvatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer quoiations or other aliemaive
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price tansparcncy.
Consideration is given 1o the nuture of the quotations (c.e.,
indicative or firme) and the rebtionship of recent market activity
1o 1he prices provided Mrom alierative pricing sources,
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Level 3

Level 3 denvatives arc valwed using models which utilise
observable level 1 andlor bevel 2 inpuis. as well as
unobscrvable Jevel 3 inpas. Uncbservable mpuis  imclode
cenain correlations. illiquid credit and secured funding spreads.
recovery rates amd corain oquily and iMcerest rate volatilitics.,

Subsequent 10 the imitial valwtion of a level 3 denvative, the
company  updates the level 1 and level 2 oinpuis to reflect
observable market clanges and am resulting gains asd losses
are clssilied in level 3. Level 3 inpuis ame changed when
comborned by evidence such as similar markel trnsactions,
third-party pricing services andfor broker or dealér quotations
or other empinicitl market daa, In circumstances where the
company canmgl verily the madel valie by reference 10 market
transactions, 11 s possible that a different valuation model could
produce a nudenally different estimuale of Guor value. See below
for funhcr informetion abowl significant unobservable inpuis
used inthe valumion of kevel 3 denvatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial trnsaction pnce
and the Fair valee calculated by iniermal models, a gain or loss
15 recopmsed after iminal recognition only 10 the extem tha it
anses from a change in a factor {incloding tme) that market
participans would consider in selting a price.

Valuation Adjustments
Vahmtion adjustments are imegral 1o determining the Fir value
of dervative portfolios and arc wsed 1o adjust the mid-market
valuations produced by dervative prcing models 1w e exil
price valmtion These adustments  incorporaie  bad/offer
spresds, the cost of hgquidity, CVA and funding valuation
adjustments, which account for the credit and funding nisk
inherea in ihe uncollateralised poriion of dervative portfolios.
The company alse makes oling valuation adjustments 1o
cellaleralised dervatives where the terms of the agreement do
not permit the company to deliver or repledee collseral
received.  Marker-based inpums  are penerally  used when
calibvrating valwation adjustiments 1o narket=cheanng levels,
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In  addieon, for denvatives  thai  clude  significant
unchscnvable inputs, the company makes model or exit price
adjusimenis to account for ihe valusiion unceriainiy preseni m
the Irnsaction.

Other Financial Assets and Liabilitles. Valuanon
techmiques and sagnaficzot inputs of other fnancial assets and
liahilities inchsde:

* Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. The significant inpuis to ihe
valuation of resale and repurchase agrecments and seountics
barmowed and leancd are funding spreads. the amoum and
timing of expected fubere cash Mows and interest milcs,

« Other Assets. Other assels micasured @l fanr value consist of
an wisgcured mtercoanpany loan and an vestment  in
subsichiary. The sigmficant mputs 10 the valuation of this
unsconred imercompany loan measurcd at fair valee ane the
amount and timing of expected future cash [lows, interest
rates and the credit spreads of GS Group, The significant
inpuis 1o dhe valuaion of this imvestment in subsadury
mcasured at fair value are cquity prices and forcign exchange
s

* Other Secured Financings. The significant inpags o il
valution af secured debl secuntics 1ssued, other bommowings
and imcroompany loans measured @ fair value are the amount
and fiming of cxpected future cash flows, inferest rates,
funding spreads. the Gar value of (e colbmeral delivercd by
the company (which is determined using the ansount and
timing of cxpected future cash fows, market prices, market
vields and recovery assumplions). the frequency of additional
coltateral calls and commodity prices for prepaid commmodiny
Irnsions.

Unsecured Bomowings. The sigmficant wmpuls o he
valugiion of unsecured borrowings measured ai fair value are
the amon and timing of expected Tuture cash Mows, inlerest
raies, e credit spreads of G5 Group and commodity prices
for prepard commodity ransactions. The inputs used to value
the cmbedded derivative componcnt of lwbnd fnancial
instmiments are consistent with the inputs used 10 valise e
compiy s olher demvaiive instnunents,
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below prescnis, by level within the fair value
hierarchy., financial asscis and liabilities measured a1 Tair value
on 3 recurmng basis,

§ i il Livend 1 Lincsd 3 Larosl 3 Tistal
A of Decaenbar 2022
Financial asasts
Colaterilsed sgusmans 3 — 5 151621 5 118 3 151,789
Tradeng cash insbumanls 44,017 2695 555 7439
Dortvalive insfrumeds 166 TEE S 3,935 B, 384
Teadlatg sty 45,083 ERT T 4435 ETZA10
Rt 'l IS ™ 80
Logrs - 16 B2 Fred
(thor asseis — s = 156
Total _ 5 A50AT § 075197 5 4778 5 1005307
Financial Bakdbtiis
Calltinralzend Er g ] — § TRAd4 8 0 M4 §  TTAR0
Trading cash inslrumeanis 49,689 6007 & 248,604
Dasrivalive insfrumeis 55 THA 4D 234 T80
Tradeg labdlios 4,74 TRLIN 2 L3R #4439
Urmsacurnd Domowngs 35099 5148 40247

Total 49,744 5 904430 5 7875 § 099
el dutivativai, T 111 & di04E § 1805 & 157E2
As ol Decerbar A

Financhal asssts

Colmlenised agrosmens § — % irais8 § 121 & 7B
Trading cash instrumants 74130 31735 T 106, 552
Dl AU M 530855 4,76F 615 646

Trislerg ameats (ERT - S4TE [EFFsT]

rnnirerdd Ll s 105 109

Loars - M3 .3 154

Qihar assels = 100 = 1,000

Jolal _ 5 74073 § B47381 § STE0 S 637 3N4

Finarnceal hibilitios

Cotah gl drancags k) — % MGET M0 § 14637
Tradrg Gysh nslumenis £, B BT E2] T
Dervative mstrumesis 5l B1E4TY A e [rrded 1]

Tradeng labdbes B BT A0 ATE [:2 N

Wlrrpirenn badreneings — 5 053 14 137 3 A5

Total 64 040 § TE81E0 18738 § B30409
corralmn 3 1 107 1
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Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
The table bebow presents level 3 imding cosh mstrument assels,
imvestments and loans and ranges and weighted memges of
sigmificanl unobservable inputs used to value kevel 3 irading
cash insirumenis. invesiments and leans.

ha of Dacamber 2022 A5 ol Docsmizer 2021
5 in mallions, Ameuntar Weighzed Amounl of Wiighiod
eronp! mpoty Range Averags Range  fverage

Trading Gash Instrumants
Moripsges and olhe asset-backed loans and securities

LireH 3 Sisals 5 43 5 157

Yisd e e 20.3% 12.5% 1.7% io £8.0% 4.7%

Racoranry raln AT.0% 10 TEIAN S0E% AT IR0 T2E% S

Duration {yees) LERTY 2.4 041172 4z

‘Corporate debt Instraments and g i and agency cbiigations

Ll 3 masnls § 444 5 L]

il AW 1 42.0% L% 1.1% 1o 15,1% S5E%

Riseannfy faliy 0%, 1 B7.0% 36.7% 0.0% 10 600% A%

memizq LEITRER] a6 idhe RS 57F
s

Lerewd 3 missels 5 53 1 -]

Duration {years 5.8bo 5.8 5.8 5500 B.5 [

Tetal 5 456 5 717

Invesimrents

Corporate dabd Instruments

JESCRE 5 15 3 49

Racoeny rale A0 it 57.2% 33 5% 8.1% o TE.O% =150

Equity sa=urities

Laren 3 mrasiils 5 55 5 L]

Rt 1.52 ta B0 % 7.6 b T Fin 762

Tetal 3 il 2 I Tee, =

Loans

Corpansts

L 3 mssais 5 54 5 55

Viakd A48% te 8% EE 4.1% 10 4.1% 4.1%

Ruscormry rain 1500 1o 15,04 1880 150 1o 15 0% 150%

I thee rable above:

* Ranges represent the significant unobsenvable  imputs tat
were used in the valuation of cach tvpe of cash instnument
and weighted averages are calculated by weighting each input
by the relaive Bair vadue of the instrument.

* The manges and weighted avemges of these inpuls are not
represchtative of the appropmate inpas to uwse when
calculating ihe Fair value of any one trading instrumeni. For
exmple, the lnghest vicld for mongages and otler assc1-
backed loans and securitics is appropriate for valuing a
specific mongage but may not be appropriate for valuing amy
otler mongages, Accordingly, the mnges of inputs do not
represent uncenanly in or possible mmges of, fair valoe
measurements of level 3 irding cash instruments.

= Incrcases in vicld or durstion used in the vahation of level 3
instniments would  have mesulted inoa lower Fuir value
measurement, while increases in recoveny e or nulliples
would have resulied in a higher fair valee measurement as of
Crecember 2022 and Decemnber 2021 Due to the distinclive
mature of cach bevel 3 instrument, the interrelationship of
ingas is nol necessanty uniform within each product tvpe.
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* Morgages and other asscl-backed loans and secunbics,
corporic debt instnoments and  govermncnt amd  agency
obligations and beans are valued using discounied cash Nows,
and equity sccunties are valued wsing markel compambles
and discounted cash Mows.

The fair valoe of any ong instnument may be determined
wsing mulliple valaation technigques, For cxample, ket
comprables and discounted cash Nows mey be wsed ogether
o deterne fur valpe, Therelore, the level 3 balance
cncompasses both of these techniques.

Derivatives. The tible below presents net level 3 denvatives
and mnges, avernges and modins of significam unobservable
inputs used 1o viahee level 3 derivatives.

As of Decasnbar 2022 As o Dooordas 2021
F o o, Amcant or  Average/ Amounlar  Aewrsgo!
gl mpufs Rangi Median Fargs Madian
Eritaroat fotes, nel 5 [1F] [] s
Comelalion 0P 1o 0% 1SN 20% 10 26% 20%%
oialikty (bos 45 o 60 ST 40 b 100 St
Cratit, red 5 1,657 E ] 2307
Crid @l spreads [bpa) 5 b BEE 16TH2E 5 b 337 142118
Rlobsom el poinis (1} va B0 1E BUA LT
Fastmetsy kg 20 Ao SO0 A1WAA0N B do S0 ATHRMDN
Currencies, nat [ 6] 5 ar
Comelalon 0% o 2% 21N 2% 1o 23%  21%21%
Equitias, rl H 190y 5 [T}

Cafmslnlon TS0 100% BDWET [37)% lo88% 51WSIN
'nhMiE ﬁﬁ?’% 1&& gﬁ Igﬁ ER% 1%,
, e
Total 3 ERE) 3 [REE]

I the table above:

+ Met denvative assels are shown as positive amounts and net
dervative liabilitics ane shown as negative amoums.

« Ranpges represent il significant unobservable inpuis ihat
were wsed o the valuaton of cach ppe of denvative.
Avermges represent the anthmetic avemge of the inputs and
are nod weighted by the rebtive fair value or nodional of the
respective financial instraments. An average grealer than the
median indicates tat e maponty of inpuls are below the
averge.

= The ranges, averages and medians of these inpais arc nol
represeniative  of the appropniaic inpuis 0 use when
cabculating the far value of any one dervative, For exanple.
the highest comelation for equity denvatives is appropriate for
valuing a spocific oquily  derividive but may not be
appropriate  for  valuing any  other  equily  dernivative.
Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do nol represem uncerinty
in, or passible mnges of, fair value measurements of level 3
denmvatives.

+ Imlerest rates, currencies and equities denvatives are valsed
using ophion pricing models, and credit denvatives are valued
using opiion pricing. correlation and discounted cash flow
models,
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* The fair value of any one instrumend may be deicrmined
wsinge mulple valustion techmiques, For example, ophion
pricing models and  discounted  cash Nows models ane
tvpically used together to detcrmine fair value. Therefore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these iechniques

* Corrclation within currencics amd equitics includes cross-
product tvpe correlition

+ Uplront credit poims were not sigmiicant o the valton of
level 3 credit denvatives as of December 2021,

Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following provides information about ihe mnoes of
sigmificant unobscrvable inpans used o value level 3 denvative
INSLALERLS!

« Correlation. Ranges for corelmion cover a varicty of
undierlicrs both within one product vpe (c.g., oquily index
and couity single stock names) and across product [vpes (2.,
corclation of an inierest mic and a currency), as well as
ACTOSS PERIONS.

Volatility. Ranges lor volatlily cover numerous underiers
across @ varnely of markets, maturilics and stike prices. For
example, volaliny of equity indices is generally lower than
volatility of single stocks.

Cradit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spresds, upfrom credit points and
meeovery ms cover a vanely of wsberhers (index and single
names), regions, sectors, matunties and credit qualities (high-
vicld amd investmem-gradey and alse  includes  securcd
fisnding spreads. The broad range of this popul#ion gives rise
1o the width of the mnges of significant unobservable inputs,

Sensitivity of Falr Value Measurement to Changes In
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following is a descripiion of the directional sensitivity of
the comparny s level 3 fair valwe measurements o changes in
significant unobservable inputs, in isolation, as of each year-
e

« Correlation. In general, for coniracis where the holder
benefits from the convergence of ihe underlving assct or
index. prices (g, imlercst res, crodit spreads, forcign
exchange rates. infation rates and oquity prices), an increass
in cormelation resulis in a higher Gur value measurenent.

= Wolatility. In general, for purchised oplsons, an increase n

valatility resulis in a higher fir value measumemend.
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+ Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In gememal, e fair vale of purclased crodit
profection increases as credit spreads or upfront credil poinis
NCrease or recovery mies decrease, and the Gur value of
secured funding capacity increases as secured funding spreads
increase. Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recoveny
rates ane sirongly related 1o distinctive risk factors of the
underving reference obligations, which include relercnce
entitv=specific  factors such as leverage, velanliy and
industry, murket-based nsk Gxctors, such as bormoswing cosls
or liguidity of the underlving refercnce obligation, and
MACTOLConamic comlitions,

Due 1o the distinctive matune of cach of the compam’'s level 3
dervatives, the inerrelationship of inpits is w Becessarnly
anaforrn withan each product typss

Other Financial Assets and Liabilitles. Significan
unobscrvable inputs of other Tmancial asscls and habilines
include:

* Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. As of December 20220 the
sigmbican wobservable wputs vsed o valee level 3 resale
agrecments are ncorporaled mto the trading cash instraments
disclosurnes related 1o unobservable inputs. Sec " Trading Cash
Instrumends, Iovesimenis and Loans”™ and “Denvaiives”
above. As of both December 2022 and December 2021, there
were no level 3 secuntics bormowed, repurchase agrecments
and securitics loancd.

Other Secured Financings. As of December 2022 amd
December 2021, the sigmaficam unobservable mpats used 1o
value level 3 other secured Nomcings are incorporated inlo
the denvatives and trading cash instnumcnis, invesiments and
loans disclosures related o unobservable inpus. See ™ Trding
Casly Instraments, livestmens and Loans” asd “Denvatives™
above.

* Unsecured Borrowings. As of Decomber 2022 amd
December 2021, the significant unobscrvable inpats used 1o
valwe level 3 pnsecuncd bormowangs ane mcorporated nto the
denvatives and tmding cash instrumenls, tmvestiments and
loans disclosires related o unobservable inpis. See “Trding
Cash Instramenis, Imvesiments and Loans™ and "Denvaiives™
above,

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During both the vear ended Deccmber 2022 and Deceniber
2021, there wene no significand transfers between level 1 and
level X Minancial asseis and ligbilites measared at fair value on
a recurring basis,

L2
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Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities Valued
Using Technigues That Incorporate Unobservable
Inputs

The fair value of fnancial assets and labiliies may be
determined in whole or part using a valuion technique based
on assumptions that arc ot supporied by pnces from
obscrvable current market iransactions in e sane instnumnent
or boged on available observable markel data and changing
these asswmptions will change he resolan cstimate of fair
value. The potentil impact of using reasonable  possible
altermative assumptions for the valutions, including significant
unabservable bpuis, has been quantified as approximmiely
462 million a8 of Decomber 2022 and 5355 mallion a5 of
December 2021 for favourable changes, amd $199 million as of
December 2022 and 3211 million as of Degember 2021 for
uifvourble changes, In determining reasonably  possible
alienmtive unfavourable assumpbions, a detnled business amd
position level mview las been pedormed o dentfly and
quantily instances where potential uncertaindy cxists. This has
taken inio account ihe posifions’ fair value as compared to ihe
range of available market infarmation

As of December 2022, the impact for frvourable changes was
primanly drven by changes in valuation adjustments related 1o
cauity  and  fixed income derivatives and  clunges in
assurmplions relned (o e valuation of secured Tunding spreasds
and equity securities. As of December 2021, e impact for
Fvourble changes was primanly doven by changes in
valuation adjusimenis relied o equity and fixed income
dervatives and changes in assumptions related 10 the valetion
of secuncd funding spreads, As of both Decomber 2022 amd
December 2021, the wmpsct for unfavourable champges was
prmarly dnven by changes in the assumptions related 1o the
valisation of secured funding spreads, volatility and corrclation
inputs, and credi spremds.

The table below presenis the amounts nol recognised in the
income statcment relating 10 the difference between the Gair
value of financial asseis and labilines al ningl ecognitkon
using the valwation tochmicpees and the rmsaction price (day 1
PEL}).

Yaur Endsd Demmhar

5 a0 malewns 2232 gl
Fengonirog Bualhnes 5 10 5 )
Herw ranspctans LET 125
Arsurts necogrosed n he income sabement

duting e year 141) (1a4)
Endir balance 3 F 150
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Level 3 Rollforward

The table below presems a summarny of the clanges in fair
value for all level 3 financial asscis and Labilities measured ai
Fair value on a recurnng basis.

et Erudied Decamigr
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* The net gains/{lossesh on level 3 financaal asscls for both the
vear ended December 2022 and December 2021 are reporied
N revenues” in i Imconse statement.

The net gains on level 3 financial liabilities of $1.78 billion
for the vear ended Docember 2022 included gins of 3162
billion meported m “Net revemies” in (e income stalginent
and gaie of S162 mullion reported i “Debr valuabion
adjustieent” 1 the statement of comprehensive meome, The

mel losses on level 3 finamcial liahilities of $477 milllon for

the vear ended December 2021 included losses of $473
million reponed in “Net mevenues” a0 the income staement
and losses of 52 million mponed m “Debt valution
adjustment™ in the statement of comprehensive Income.

The table below disaggregates. by the balance sheet hine iems,
the information for Onancizl assels included in the summary
table above,

£ i milond 2022 2031
Total financial sssats

Baginmrg balance 5 aTE & 335
i s [547) B35
Purchases 1008 Tar
Halew 134 214y
Dl (1,888 1,735
Traneders inlo level 3 1490 426
Transers ot of v 3 (705) (451}
Ending balance 5 d7ie § 5Bl
Total finamcisl Babilitles

Baginarg balees § MEXNE (13450)
Gariosses) 1780 477
Purchases i L]
Sales (469 {682y
L g [2.303) {12,308)
Satinemtrits 5337 B.0GG
Traniidens il byval 3 [T {540
Teangders cul of bresl 3 €742 1497
Ending balancs 3__[TATa & in
It the ble above:

+ If a financial asset or Ninancial liability was ransfermed 10
level 3 duning a reponing penod, ils entire gain or boss for the
period is classificd in level 3, For bevel 3 financial assets,
increases an: shown as positive amounts, while decrexses are
shown as negative amounts. For level 3 Dnascud Iabiliies.
increases are shown as negative amounts, while decreases ane
shown as positive amounts.

» Tramsfers between levels of the fur valve hierarchy are
recognised at the beginning of the repoming peniod in which
they occur. Accordingly, the tabbes do not include gains or
losses Tor level 5 financial assets and liabilities that were
teansferred oul of level 3 prior to the end of the penod.

» Level 3 founcial assets and  habilitics are  frequently
ceonomically hedged with level 1 and level 2 fimancial asscis
and liabilities, Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses that are
reporied for a panicolar class of fmancial assel or Gnancial
liability can be panially offset by gains or losses atnbutible
to level 1 oor Bevel 2 in the same class of Nnancial asset or
Mnancial liability or gains or bosses atiribatable to level 1,
level 2 or level & in o differem class of Nmancial assel or
financial lmbality. As a resull, gains or losses included in the
level 3 rollforward do not necessanly represent the overall
mpact on the company's resulls of opemtions. liquidity or
capital Fesources

+ Gains/(losses) ane predominaely atnbutable to changes in

wnrealised gains or losses relating to level 3 finamcial asscls
and financial ligbilitses.

Vi Ended December
% b rmleovis 022 Fra)
Collateralizmg agresmonts
Buginning Balance 1] 121 § —
Gasnuiioases b (1] —
Transhers inlo ke 3 - iFil
Endir balans 5 118 £ 1
Trading assts
Baginnrg balancs k] 54T § 8132
Crreis{ it (BES) 608
Purcrases 108 T
Balen (303 21
Esifpmpnis {1.608) (1718
Transers inlo kel 3 1430 244
Trarsders eul of vl 3 (a5 [316)
Endirg balarcs ] 4 4E5 § 5479
Investments
Beginning balance 5 10 5 2
Gaenainases | Iz =
Purchases T =
Saliw - 3
Setsomants (63 (8
Transtens inlo vl 3 - 3]
Transters ot of lovel 3 = (o)
Endirs balarce 5 Ll 3 105
Loans
Baginning Ealanoe 3 55 5 m
G {(leaiad ) [&}] (1)
Zales - L]
Setmomaonts - 1}
Transters ol of Il 3 — (451
Endiryj balan<s 5 5 5 E
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The ble below disaggregates, by the balisce sheet hine items,
the information for financial liabilitics incheded in tle sumnany
iable above,

Yiede Eradind Ducomilsa

5 i milhend 2022 2021
Callatevalinid Snancings
Baginnrg balsce ] [380) 5 {2409
Garailowsn) ) [Fi0]
FaBuECEs [FTH (v
Settiements %] (28)
Transters inn level 3 — W
T e
rading Habil
Baginnng balsrce £ [N [, 5505
Gainaflossos) o] N
Purchases 6 15
Sales [463) [ES3)
Bapltiprapeets Téa 1.334
Trandbers inlo loval 3 (3045 {58y
Teansters cul of el 3 0 R
Ending balance 3 [zans ENEED]
Unsocured Borrowings
Baginning balence 5 (413§ [RESD)
Gairi{osans ) 1585 a4
AT o0 [2.038) (93 3433
Salthomeis 4.m (10
Teansters inlo level 3 (588 [#63)
Temnaters cul of keas 3 58T 17
Ervling balanes 3 [543 § 13137}

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Transfers between level 2 and level 3 generlly occur due 10
changes in the transparency of kevel 3 inputs. A Eack of market
evidence leads to reduced tmnsparcncy, whereas an increase in
the avatlability of market evidence lepds 0 an increase in
[FRSHITENGY .
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Financial Assets

Year Ended December 2022

Trading Assets. Trnsfers o level 3 imding assers
primarily reflected mnslers of certam equity secuntics  from
level 2, prncipally due o reduced priced transparcncy as a
result of a Lick of market evidence, inchwding Fewer market
transactions in (hese instrmuments.

Trusfers out of level 3 trading asscts primanly reflecied
transfers of cerain couity dermvatives 1o level 2, principally dug
to increased imnsparency of cerain volauliy amd correlation
nputs, aml ireelers of certain cash istruments o level 2.
principally doe 1o increased transparcncy of cenain vield
inpeiis.

Year Ended December 2021

Collateralised Agreements. Trmsfors mio  lovel 3
collateralised agreements primanly reflecied transfers of resale
agrecments from level 2, doe o a lxck of nmsparency as a
result of a lack of market evidence in these instnanents.

Trading Assets. Tmnsfers into kevel 3 imding ssseis
primanly reflected transfers of cenain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally duc 1o reduced tramsparency of cemain
vorlatility and correlation inpais,

Trusfers out of level 3 trading asscts primarily  reflocied
transficrs of ceriain ¢ouity demvatives to level 2, principally dug
o nicreased tmnsparency of certain volatliny sl correlation
inputs, amd trsfers of certun cash struments o level 2.
principally due 1o increased transparcncy of cerain vicld
inpais.

Investments, Tamslers oo Jevel 3 imvestmenis primanly
reflecicd transfers of invesiments from level 2, principally duc
1o redeced transparcncy of cenain vield inputs.

Transfers owl of level 3 inwvestmeomts primarily  reflected
transfers of certain imestmems inlo level 2. pnncipally due 1o
inereased transparency of certiun vield inpuls.

Loans. Transfers out of level 3 loans reflecied immsfers of
ceram looms o level 2, prncipally  due 1o menssed
transparcncy of certvin vield inpuis,
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Financial Liabilities

Year Ended December 2022

Trading Liabilities. Trmslers imo level 3 wading liabilities
primanly reflecied tramsfers of comain cquity denvatives from
level 2, principally duc o reduced transparency of cerlain
volatiliy and corrclation inputs,

Transfers out of level 3 trading liabilites prmanly reflected
transfers of cerain equity derivatives 1o bevel 2, principally due
to increased transparency of cenain volatiliy and corrclation
inpuiLs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Trnsfers mo kevel 3 unscoured
borrowings panmnly  elecied mnsfers of certam lvbnd
fmancial mstruments from level 2, poncipally due 10 reduced
transpamency of cerain volatitity and comelntion inpuls,

Transfers oul of level 3 unsecored bormowimgs  prmmanly
reflected trmsfers of certain lvbrd fnancial instaments o
bevel 2, principally due to a reasscssment of the significance of
cemain credin spread inputs,

Year Ended December 2021
Collateralised Financings., Trmsfers o lovel 3
collateralised financings were nol material,

Trading Liabilities. Translfers into level 3 irading liabilities
primanly reflecled traslers of cerain aquily denvatives from
level 2, prncipally due to reduced transparency of cortain
volatility and correlaiion inputs,

Transfers ol of level 3 trading liabilites pnmarnily reflected
transfers of cenain equity denvatives to level 2. principally due
to increased transparency of cerain volatiliny and cosmelation
inputs,

Unzecured Borrowings. Transfers imo Jevel 3 unscoured
borrowings panunly  eflecied mnsfers of certam hvbnd
fimancial imstruments from level 2, prncipally doe 1o reduced
transparcncy of corain volatility and comelation inputs

Transfers oul of level 3 unsecored bormowimgs primanly
reflected trnsfers of ceriain lvbnd fnancial instuments o
bevel 2, principally duc to creased irnsparcncy of cerimin
volaluy and correlation inputs,

87
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not
Measured at Fair Value

The compamy had financial asseis of $176.07 billion as of
December 2002 and 521943 billion as of Becember 2021 tlat
are nol messured at Fair value. Given that substangially all of
these balances arc shori-lenm in nature, their cammying values in
the balance sheet are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

Tl table below presents the company s linancial linbilities that
are nod masured ot fairvalue by expecied maturity,

A off Decamboe
5 dn maleons 032 2021
[= ] §F 14021 § 167004
Mon-catrent 314 SEE1S
Total B _IBRAME B Fensew

T e table above:

* Current financial lhabilitics ane shom-term in natere and
therefore their carrvimg valucs in the balance shoet are a
reasonable approximation of Fir value.

= Man-curmeid Nnaicial labilites pamanly related o long-temi
imdercompany boans and repurchase agreements. The interest
rmics of these instmunenis ame vanable in natore  and
approximate prevailing market intercst rates for insinunents
with simalar terms and clomciensies. As such, their carmy ing
valses i the balance sheet are a reasomble approxmustion of
Tair value.
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Mate 30.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Cenain disclosures in relation 1o the company's financial nsk
maEgement and capital managemen luve been presented
alongside other nsk management and regulatory infonmation in
Par | of this annoal report and are identified as sudited, where
relevant,

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below presemt an analvsis of the cash Mows of
fsaneial labilives by conteactual matuly excepl Tor teading
habaliies, which are clissaified as tradingfon demand, reflecting
the company 's role as a market maker.

I the table below:

# Cush Mows by contractual matunty inclede intenest that will
#erue on financial liabilitics,

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

« Fanamcial liabilities, with ihe excepteon of those that ane held
for trdinge or designated at for valee through profit or loss.
are disclosed @ their widiscounted cash flows. The fair valucs
of Nnancial liabilitics held for irading and financial labalitics
designated at fair value through profin or loss hive been
disclosed as s 15 consistent with the values used in e
liquudity nsk mamagement of these instimments.

* Liquichty nsk on denvatives s mutigated through master
neiting agreements and cash collaicral armngemenis.

= Unsecured borrowings inchede conain debl securities issugd
that have tngger events that are nol in s control of the
company and could be repaid cardier than their commciual
malurilics.

Tradrgion Less than A maonths Genales than
i il _ =l 1monty 13 monlhs -dywar 1 -5 ywans 5 ywan Tighal
Ax of Decembar 2023
Collbint s S raantongs i 22830 % e § 10,753 % A48 5 o1y § 1513 § 124938
Caslome: and other payables 110,883 —_ —_— — — — 110883
Tradeg labibes LR R - —_ - - - LERR IR ]
Lo od Dmoraings 1,835 2,325 4,573 B.573 furie [} IBETE BT 396
iher lasdbes 1,780 1,308 T & 1,058 = 4,188
Tida! — o Bl Al B B4l 35,314 15333 FENFE] TEOM F51E 11T AZS
Colnlaraizingd sghadmnts commilmants FRLT 102471 5,337 #0328 1.716 - 110650
Oithar A48 = - 3 573 - LE.Fal
Tolal = of balanos shesl [E 1T 102471 8,337 8,031 F¥: 1] - 124,480
Totsl 5 EII 5 137, TBS § EE"I} 5 W.?E 5 T3 5 351 5 1206905
As ol Docembar 2021
Gt it francngs ¥ aTEE § 59400 § 1512 F e § 0144 § 1857 § HHET3
sl aredl Glher gyt 118663 = = == = = LA sEiE]
Tradng lisbd lins il £ - - - - - il
Urnncurnd bomowngs (F: e 33a8 4 002 j[rR i X0 Esa I aT B2
Diher lakdties 1753 1,650 I i 1334 b3 4m
M—Mbﬂmshﬁﬂ 856 21T B4 430 19321 40 585 SE 168 35148 1,108 281
Coxllpbin: alzsing] ol commdmants 166 118812 3.368 17078 1,576 - 141 020
Cithar EAL = 1,088 164 455 1 4861
Tolal = of batance shesl T 18812 4457 JEFIF 1085 1 L85 AR
“Total $_OnoG0y 5 wpagnt §  F37H §  SAA1 §  Ba1s) & dnis0 & ) o the

b
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Mate 31.
Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. Dunng the
vear ended December 2022, the company transfermed conain
Mnmancial asseis where the tmansfers failed w mect the
derccognition crilena. as comained in IFRS 9, and as 2 resuli of
whach the company contimees 10 reconise 1hese assets m full m
the balanee sheel.

The company transfers asseis owned 10 counterpartes i the
ordinary  course of business o collaenmlise repurchase
agreemends and other securities Eending transactions. In these
iransactions ihe iransfermed asscis continse 10 be recognised by
the company For asccounting purposes because (he IFRMSCions
require the lmancial instmuments 1o be repurchased at matunty
of the agrecment and the compamy renuins exposed o the
price, credit and inerest mie sk of these instuments, When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, o fosal lababty s recopnised in mespect of the
comsideration  received amnd  mcomded in colbembised
financings. When il company receives non cash collateral {in
the form of securilics) mo liability s initially secopnised. If
collmeral received 15 subsequently sold, the obligation 1o reium
the collateral 15 recogmised a8 a labalaty i trscking labalstics.

In addion w0 epurclose agrecmems and secuntics lending
agreements, the company obtains funding through the use of
other armangements that Gxil to mect the derecognition cnberia.
For example, sales of scowritics with related derivatives, such as
tolal return swaps, through  which e company  relains
substantially all of the nsk and reward of the imnsfermed assets.
A Minancial lubality 1s recognised in such cases for the proceeds
roceived.

Oiher financial assets transferred that continue 10 be recogmased
on balance sheetl for accounting purposcs relate o pledges of
securitics as collateral. primarly for derivative IRASaCIions.
The obligatoms ander such dermvatives are recorded m i
labalics,

&
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The iable below presenis financial asseis which have been
transferred but wlich reman on balimee sheet for accounting
[RITPOSES.

Aa ol Decerbar
i vy Fior s FEF]
Govnmment and aganty DhkGalons % 14038 § 0a7
Morigage and ot aisel-backsd Dans and Secufibes 135 TEE
COponaie Sebl initrumints 7444 TEM
_Egsity spcaritag 22,990 43610
Twwmmﬂ 44,000 FRROT
Corporaie debt instruments FL 108
Eguely securbes ) 13
brrvaslminis az 113
Tenl T ey o

The carmryving value of il associated fnancial liabilitics
generally  approximate (he carrving wvalue of the assets
transficrned

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. Tl
compny has continung invelvense i s forn of denvative
ansactions and  guarntecs with cerain  unconsoledmed
stmectured cmiitics to which the company had transfermed
financial assets. These derivatives may be credit-linked 10 the
asset transfoemed and result i the company retaning. specific
nsks e traslemed astet or require the company o ke
pavmems to the stmchered entity 10 compensate losses an the
asset il corlain contingeni events occur.

In addition. the company transfers fnancial assels 1o
securitisaion vehicles, The company generally receives cash in
exclange for the tramsferred assets but may lsave contimeing
involvensent with the transfemed assets, including ownership of
beneficial imerests in the secunitised (inancial assets, primanky
in the form of debt instuments, The company may  also
purchase  scnipr or subordimated securities  issued by
sgeuntisaion vehicles in connection wath seoomdary market-
making sclivilies.

Where ihe company’s continuing avobvement i tnosfermed
assets 15 Lhroogh dermatives or guarantecs, the mEaxinun
cxposure 0 loss is the notional amounts of the denvative or
guaraniee, For retaingd or purchased interesis in securilised
assgls, e compamy s nsk of loss is lmated 1o 006 fair value of
these imterests. o all cases these retained mierests are cimed at
fair value.

The company accounts for assels pending tnmsfer @ o value
and therefone does not typically recogmise sigmificam gains or
losses upon il tansfer of asscis. The company does nod have
contimeing imvolvement et could require the company o
repurchase dercoognised nancial wscts,
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The tables below present information aboui éxposure through
comining imvolvement and the gains or kosses nelated to those
EFAnSACtions,

Carmying BCDOD
5 i milordd wil Vi i

g
g REE ==z EEE [BEE

i
i
lell =i fefslze [BLO3E - el i
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERKATIONAL (LUINLIMITED COMPANY )
Directors’ Report

The dineclors present their repord and the audited Tnancial
statements for the vear ended December 2022

Introduction

In sccordance with section 414A of the Compamics Act 2006,
the directors have prepaned a strategic report, which is included
in Part | of this annual repont and which contans a review of
the company ‘s businesses and a descoption of the principal
nsks and uncertaintics facing the company. The direclors have
chosen to disclose the company’s risk management objectives
and policies. incleding exposures 1o muarket risk. eredn nsk amd
ligpuisdity nsk., amel the future outlook of the company i the
strategic repor in accordance with section 414C(11) of the
Companics Act 2004,

Corporate Governance

The company has o mbust corporate governance framework
whach is embedded in s approach to rumming s business. This
framework aligns with legal and regulatory requirements amd
puidance 1ssued by vanous bodics as relevant 1o the compamny
and as approprisic for its business and sharcholding structure.
As a wholly-owned subsidiary within GS Group. ihe company
also aligns ns corporte govermance with that of G5 Group.
While the company doecs not formally apply any single
corporate govermance code. fs povemance amangcmenis anc
broadly consistent with the Financial Reponting Council (FRC)
Wates Corpormte Governance Principles for Large Private
Conmsimes,

Role of the Beard. The Board has ovenall responsibihiy for
the mumagenment of the company. As part of this roke, (s Boand
approves and oversees implementation of the compam’s
stratcgic ohjectives, nsk sirtcgy and inemal govemance, The
Board momifors the inlggrity of the company s accounding and
fmancial reporting systems imcluding fnmscial amd opertionl
controls and regulatory complisnoe and has oversight of sendor
Mmanagement,

Purpose, Values and Culture. Whilst seme of these ancas
of resporsibility are delegated to Board commitices, the Board
f5 a whole is responsibbe for overseging the compam’s
strsegie direction and culiure,

The purpase of GS Group & a whole is 0 advance sustainable
coonomie growlh and Nuancial opporunity. 18 values wlach
underpin this purpose are clien service, excellence, parinership
and infcgnly. As a subsidiary within GS Group, (s company 15
aligned fo this purpose and these values,
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The company strives o mainlain a work enviramment et
fosters professionalism. cxcellence, high standands of business
cihics, diversiiy,  tcamwork  and  cooperalion  amwongsi
cmplovess, The company recogmses et il necds the most
tlented people to delnver outstanding resulis for clicnis. A
diverse workforce in terms of pender, cthmicity,  scxal
orignetion, background, culmre and cducation cnsures the
development of berier scas, products and services.

The Boand mcognises the imponance of muuniaining and
developing the culture of the company. and docs 9o by seiting
the “tone from the top” and overseemng low coullure al valucs
are fostered by the managemen of the company. The Bourd
receives reguliar updates on culiurg, conduct and diversity and
inglusion Mrom nanige e

G5 Group maintaing & Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
supplemented by 14 Business Pranciples. and a compendium of
nternal policies to inform and gusde cmploves i their roles.

Strategy. G5 Group's focus is on delivening sustainable, long-

term retums for i1 sharcholders through a strategy et

revolves aronmd its cliemts. [is strategy comipnses three core

objeciives:

« To grow and sirengihen uis exisiing busingsses: 1o caplure
Tagher wallet share across a wider range of clicnts,

= To diversify its products and services: 1o build a more dumble
soairee of camings; and

* To opere mone eficiently: so that 0 can dave higher
margins and retums across he organisaton.

The company's strtegy, aligned with ot of GS Group. 18
implemented by the exccutive management of the company
with Board oversight. The chiel executive officer of the
company updaes the Board on the compamy s performance
againsl 18 seegic objectives al Board meelings

Composition of the Board. The dircciors collectively
possess a broad mnge of skills, backgrounds, expenience and
knowledge appropriate for the cffective oversight of e
compamy s business. The mles of the chair of the Board and the
chief executive officer are held by different individuals,

The Board conseders that the siec and strociure of the Board is
appropriate 10 oversee the businesses conducted by the
compainy, As of December 2022, the Board 15 compnised of 1en
directors, five of whom are imdependemt. The company las
Aundit, Risk,  Nomimtions and  Remuncrsion  Board
Commillces
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The Board Nomimstons Commuiice 15 responstble  for
identifving and recommending qualificd candsdnics for Board
membership and wiilises a Succession Planning  Framework.
Thas sets owl e process and cnena, which mcludes the
comsideration of Board diversity, for the sclection of new
dircctiors. The usce of a skills matrix enables the expenicnce and
expenise of the Board boih individually and as a whole 10 be
assessed. Mew directors ang provided with a comprehensinve ol
bespoke induction programime. The chair of the Board oversees
an ongoing (rminng and development progmmme for the
dircctors to enhance their knowlodge and engagement,

The Board Nominations Commitice oversees the effectivencss
of the Board, its Commitices and their chairs and members, and
evalites this annoally. It also reviews the size, Snscturg il
composiiion of the Board, incheding the balance of independent
and non-independent direclors.

The approach o directors’ conflicts of imercst wd the
amticipated time commitment nequired is discussed with each
dircctor on their joaning the Board and reviewed anmeally as
part of the fitness amd propricty dssessme process. All the
directors meet (e applicable regulatory requirenems for the
number of directorships ey ane pernuitted 1o bold.

Responsibilities and Accountability. The compam’'s
govermance madel fully moorporates the Semor Managers and
Cenification Regime.

The Board 15 supporied by vanous Board Comanittees, cach
with a charer sctting out its duties and the responsibilitics
delegaied to i The Commifices are comprised of non-
eseculives only o enable them o provide oversight and
challenge o management. The chars of these  Boand
Commitices repont o0 the Board on the proceedings and
recommendations of the Committces. Cenain madiers arc
reserved for decision by e Board alone,

Funther details of the G5 Board Risk Commitice and GSI
Board Awsdit Commiliee are sgl ol in il “Overview ad
Structure of Rk Mamagement — Structure” section of the
stmlegic repon.

Opportunity and Risk. The company belioves ihat effective
nisk nemagement is critical (o ils suceess, and so has cstablished
an colerprise risk managemeni framework thal cmiplons a
comprelensive, intcgrated approach o risk management, and
ithrough which ithe risks associted wiith e company's
businesses are identified, assessed, momitored and managed.
The company s risk managemen stmcture is built around three
COTE COMPONCTHS: Sovernance; processcs, and people
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Risk managemenl govermance starts with the Board, which both
directly and through its commitices. including the G51 Board
Risk Commitice and the GSI Risk Commiiice, oversee the
company s nsk  pamagenent  policies ol practices
implemented  through  the  emerpnise  nsk  muagement
rumework. The Board is responsible for the annual review and
approval of the compamy’s risk appenite statement, which
describes the Jevels and types of sk i is willing (0 accept. in
order 10 aclieve the objectves included 1n its sirategic business
plan, while remaining in compliance  with  regulidorny
requircmiends. The company s strategy 561 oul above is aligned
with that of GS Group and the Board is ullimately responsible
for overseoing and providing direction about the compan s
strategic business plan and risk appente.

The cloel nsk offier reports to the GS1 Board Risk Committes
and GS Group's chiel nsk officer. As parl of the review of the
fimwwide nisk ponfelio, the chiel nsk oflficer regulafy adviscs
the GS1 Board Risk Commitice of relevant nisk meincs and
maerial exposures, including nsk hmis el threshobds
established in the company *s risk appetite stecnent.

Furiher detuls of the GS1 Board Risk Conumities are et oul in
the “Oherview and Structure of  Rask  Mamgement —
Structure” section of the sirMegic repor.

Remuneration Framework, Atraciing and retaming alent
15 fundamental to G5 Gmoup's long-enm success 45 a linn
Compensation, when stmeciuned appropriatcly, is an imporant
wiay of atscting, retainkng and incentivising talent and in
rnforcing GS Group's colture, G5 Group's  renmmsrbion
philosopl 15 reflecied in the Goldmen Sachs Compensation
Principles as posted on the Goldman Sachs public websile, In
particular,  effective  remmncration  praciices  should: (i)
Encourage a meal sense of lcamwork amd conmmumcation
banding individual shor-temi interests to the institution’s long-
term interests; (i) Evaloalie performance on a molti-yvear basis;
(i} Discourage excessive or concemimted risk-aking: (iv)
Allow an institotion 1o airsct and relain proven talent. (v)
Align aggregme compensation for GS Group with performance
over the cyvele; and (vi) Promode a strong nsk managensent and
control covirgmment,

The company develops remuneration policies and practices in
accordance with applicable regulatory miles whilst crsuring that
these are aligned so Far as possible with the Goldman Sachs
Compensation Pinciples. Emplovees share i pedfonmance-
based incentive schemes.

The GSI Board Remuneration Commibles oversees the
development and  implememation of these remunertieon
policics and practices.
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Stakeholder Engagement. The company’s siakehobders
include its sharcholder, emplovees, supplicrs, clicnts, regulators
and the emvironmeni and communilics in which it operaies

Engagement with Shareholder

The compamy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Group Inc. As
such s purpose. culture, values and siaepies are aligned witly
those of its ultime sharchoblder. The Board reccives regular
updaies on G5 Group stmicey, Chairs of Board Commitlecs
miget regulardy with their conmerparts on the GS Group boand
of direclors. The compam’s chiel executive officer 15 a
member of G5 Group's Mamagemen Comomattes i one non-
exgcwtive director is a member of G5 Group's board of
dircciors,

Engagement with Employees

The compamy considers its coplovecs as ils greatest assel and
ihe Board is responsible for oversceing ihe compam’s
engagement with then This anchsdes regular updates  from
management on vanous metncs, inclading on diversity and
inclusion

Senior management engaged with employees in vanous wavs
during the vear including: “Town Halls”, where questions are
solicited in mbvance and feedback gathered afterwards, Talks al
G5 with external and imemal speakers: penodic emplovee
fecdback surveys, cmal and voicemal communscations and
manager engagement. Emplovees are invited o watch quarterly
camings announcements and reccive intemal bricfings so that
they are mmde sware of the lnancial and ccondimic Faclons
affectng e performamce of G5 Group, mcheling the
company. A sophisticated Nnowide intranet [urher enables
cmplovees to be engaged.

The company suppors the diversity and inclusion initatives of
G5 Group secks to-help its people achicve their full poicntial by
investing in them and supporing a culiere of contimugus
development. The company's goals are o maximize mdividoal
capabilities, increase commercial effectiveness and inmovation,
reinforee G5 Group's cullure, expand professional opporiunitics
and help its people contribute positively 10 their commanitics,

G5 Group has a rnge of uinsives i place to nenease diverse
represendation at all levels and foster inclusion. Various affinity
groups for emplovees ane supponed by the compam. The
conmgpany is a signatory to the UK, Race at Work Chaner amd
the UK. Wamen in Fimanee Chaner and in Sepiember 202 1 the
comgany mel is commitment 0 leve women professionals
comprise 3% of senior tabem (vice presidents and above) by
23,
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Engagement with Other Stakeholders

Clienis — the cheef executive officer of the company regulardy
mieeis with clicnis and hosis and participaics in clieni evenis
The Board as a whole rogularly  receives updates  from
mumagensenl on client engagement.

Supplicrs = GS Group las globally consastent standarnds - and
procedures for the on-boarding, use and pavment of extenmal
supplicrs (vendors). In pannening with G5 Group to deliver on
its  objectives, supplicrs are roquired to moct busingss,
compliance and Dnancial stabiliny requiremens and adhere o
GS Group's vendor code of conduct, which descnbes as
cxpeciations that supplicrs conduct business  mesponsibly.
Supplicrs in indusirics perceived o be of higher nsk in relation
1o emironmemal, social and govemance (ESG) or modem
shvery amd homan wmallicking are subjeat o enhanced due
diligence and monilenng. The conipany reporis s acinilies on
this within its annual Modemn Slwery Act stalement, which is
reviewed and approved by the Board. GS Group has a leng
Tastory of working with small and diverse businesses o pan of
its vendor diversity programme and his implemented simpegics
o promodc greater diversity within its supplier base and
remains commitied o iis goal o increase spend with small and
diverse supplicrs by 50% by 2025 (from ils 2020 bascline).

Feguintors — the compamy las an active dialogue with its
regulators, Semor  numogement and  direclors meet with
reguliors on a frequent basis,

Ewvironmient - G5 Group  las a  global appeoach 1o
sustmmability through ns platfor for sustommble mnee. GS
Groop's approach {0 sustunable finance is focused on iwo
long-term imperatives: advancing the climale transition by
helping industrics wsher in. amnd thave in a low-cafbon
coomoany: and droving inclusive growth by levemging ats
basiness capabalitics to mprove access and affordability and 10
advance cconomic cmpowenneni. In 2020, G5 Goup
announced & targed 1o deploy 8730 billion n sustainable
fancing, wmvesting and advisory activily by (s beginming of
w050 As of December 2022, GS  Group achieved
approximesicly 35% of thal goal, in which the company has
plaved o par,

As part of 115 ESG Immework, GS Group's Corporale - and
Workplace Selutions looks 1o reduce e emvirommental impact
of G5 Group's global openiions mxnd supply chain, through:
operational resilicncy, socking 1o cnsure facilitics adhere 1o 1l
highest levels of environmentally susiaimble standards; cabon
footprnt and energy usage reduction imiutives, s sourcing of
sustainably produced goods and resource conservation. This
approach is applied consistently across all entitics in G5 Cinpup
including the company. In 2003, GS Group achicved cabon
neutrality wois opertons and business wavel, alead of its
20200 goal. Since then, GS Group has commitied (o procuning
8% of repewable clectricity from  bong-tcnm,  impactful
agreemenis by 20235, GS Group has expanded its operationsl
carbon comnutment o inclede its supply chain, targeting net-
sero carbon emissions by 30
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Comannrifies — the company supporis il conmunmilics in numy
ways, with global ininsives coordinaicd through G5 Group's
Office of Corporae Engagemeni. Inthe UK. ihese incliede the
10060 Small Businesses entreprencurshap progromme wlsch
helps small business owners create jobs and  economic
opporunity by providing access o cducation, capital and
business suppon services, and the 10,000 Waomen programme
which  fosters  ccommnic  growth by providing  women
emreprencurs with a business and numagement education,
memoring and metworking, and access to capital. Chantable
iniiatives include Goldman Sachs Gives, a donor advised fund
through which Goldman Sachs’ current and retirgd  senior
emplovees work wopether 10 meommend grants 0 qualifying
mon-profit organisations 10 help them achieve their poals,
Community TeamWorks, which cnables the company’'s
emplovess to participate in high-impact, ieam-based volumeer
apporuniies, and supporing reliel effons for commumnes il
by the COVID-19 pandeinne and the confbiel i Ukmne
amonest others,

Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management
of the company is responsible for establishing and muntaining
adequate  intermal coniml  over Mmancial repoming  The
comgany s imermal contral over fmncial reporting is designed
o provide reasomible assumnce regarding the nehiability of
Mnancial reporting and the prepamition of the compamy’'s
financial statements for extermal  reporing  purposes  in
accordance  with  UK.-adopied  infermtional  accounting
stamlards and  Imermational Financul Reporming  Stnsdands
(IFRS).

The compamy's inlerml control  over hinancml  reporting
includes policies and procedures thad perizun to the mamlenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately amd Eaidy reflect
transactions and disposifions of assels: provide asomable
assumnce Ul imnsscions are recerded a8 neccssany 1o penmil
prepaniion of financial statements in accordance with [FRS,
and tht receipts and expenditurcs are being made only in
accordance  with authonsations of management  and  the
dircctors of the company, and provide reasonsble assurance
regarding  prevention or tmely  detection of  unauthorised
acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets el
conld leve a matcnal cffect on the company’s Nnancial
Slalements,

34

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Section 172(1) Statemeant

Under section 172 of the Companics Act 20606, the direciors of
the company are required o act i the way they consider. m
pood fale would be most Likely o promole the success of e
company for the benefit of its stakelolders as a whole. In doing
this, section 172 requines a dircctor o have regard, among other
matiers, 10; the likely consequences of any decision in the long
term the interests of the company's enplovees: the need o
foster the company’s business relationships with  clicmis,
supplicrs and others; the impact of the company s operations on
the community and the emironment; the desimbility of il
company  mainixining a repotason for high siandards of
busimess conduct, amd the need 10 st Giry with stakeholders of
the compumy .

The directors give camelul conssderion 1o the factors =g oul
above m discharging their dulies under section 172 and they
inform tlee dircctors” decision-making as a board. The company
endorses G3 Group's updaied Code of Business Conduci and
Erhacs set oul on the Goldman Sachs public website amd looks
1o conduct its business in accordance with the highest ethical
standarnds and in compliance with all applicable Lnws, males and
regulations.

T directors ane commtied to effective engagement with all of
the company’s stakeholders, Thev recognise that building
strong relationslips with these siakebolders will help e
compny deliver its stmtegy i line with 1s long-term values.
and aperite the business in a sustainable way. The Board seeks
to understand and balance the relative inderesis and prionitics of
each group and 1o have segard 10 those, as appropriate, in their
discussions and n e decision-making process. As pan of ts,
the Board recenves megular opdates from the cluel exccutive
officer of the company on his interactions with clicnts and how
these are shaping the company’s strmtegy. I alse meogives
feedback Trom the company s sharcholder, A ngorons agenda
selling process for Board mectings ensurcs lopics relevant o
stikcholders are brought o the Board in a roquent amd timely
IanneT,

In addition, the Board may receive trining and other
informtion to funher develop its nnderstanding of key issucs
impacting (e company's stakeholders. The Board is further
supported by the G3I Board Audit Conmmites, the GS1 Boand
Risk Committee and the GS1 Board Renuneration Commitles
who consider in more detail the systems and controls in place in
relition 1o engagement with stakeholders

More detasls about the compam’s engagemend with its
siakeholders can be found in "Corporate Governamoe —
Stakehobder Engagement” above.
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Carbon, Energy and Business Travel Consumption
and Reporting

The compamy’s main souwrces of Greenhouse Jas (GHGY
cmssions are the opermtion of office Goihies. dedicaed data
centres and business tmvel. In 2005, GS Group aclieved
carbon nentralily in its operations and business tmvel, ahead of
its 2020 goal announced in 200 Since then, GS Group has
conumitied o0 procunng 30% of renewable clecincity From
fong-term. ampactiul agreements by 2025, GS Group has
cxpanded its operional cirbon commitment 10 inchsde s
supply chein, targeting nel-werg carbon cmissions by 2030,
More infermation on GS  Group’s  sustainabiliny  effons,
incluchng s sustaimable fimnce strlegy. enemgy consumphion
and carbon emussions can be found in e annual Geldmun
Sachs Sustainability Repart, available at

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR).
The iables below  preseml the company’s UK. energy
comsumpbon and sssocised GHG cmissions. as well as
normalisation metncs for the purposes of SECK. As nuluple
G5 Group subsidiancs occupy the same office space. the UK.
encrgy consumption and associated Scope | oand X GHG
emissions across GS Group have been allocated 1o the compiny
based on the company's UK. headeount, less any emplovees
seconded 10 other GS Groap UK. enitics. as a proporion of
Gi% Ciroups todal UK. headcount

The table below presents the company s cnergy consunipiion.

o Ercied Decombar
M FLFF] 2021
Totsl energy corsumption 50003 A8 500

The rable below presents the company 's GHG enussions,

Yist Encled Decombar

e FLFF 21
Scops 1: Direct emissions T
Crrct 1,308 1 586
Beaps 2! Indinse smEslens
Locaton - rfirect BT &448
Plarind - indingct —_ st
Scope 3: Other indinect smissions - Business fravel
Commencial sr 11949 -2y
Ground irinspodation Fi} Fi|
Totsh
Scopa 1,3 flocation) Juim 00, fckd
k§1 oz ation) and 3 business travel Z'I..SE 'ID.E

1,2 and 3 business travel 13,203 2447

The tble below presems the company 's normalisation metncs.

Your Enclsd Duscambar
MO ULK. emples FLFF] 021
Soops 1. 2 focalon) B )

The company us updated its comversion fctor methodology 1o
be in hine with current market practice. As a nesali, in the tables
above, comparitives have been conformed to the current period
presciation,
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During ihe vear ended December 2022 in comparison to the
venr ended December 2021:

* The company’s encrgy consumption las increased primanky
due o an increase in OCCUpINCY rAlcs a5 more cmployees
returmed 1o the affice following the easing of COVID-1Y
restrctions and the occupancy of a new office i the UK.

# The company's scope | GHG emissions lave decrenscd
prinmnly dug 1o a decrease in gas comsumed,

* The company's scope 2 GHG emissions leve decreasod
primmanly due to updated emissions factors being used, which
arc aligeed to the 2022 UK. Department for Busingss,
Energy & Indusinal Strategy, pamially ofTsel by an increase
i e lECIncHyY Consumplion.

* The company 's scope 3 bosiness trvel GHOG emissions lave
increased prmarnily due o a significan increase in business
iwel following the easing of COVID-1% resirciions.

GS Group's GHG cmissions are caloulaied in line with the
Greenhouse Gas Protoco] Corporate Accounting and Reporing
Sumcard  (revised editon). The boumdarics of the GHG
mvemony are defined using the opertional control approach
and cover the emissions GS Group is responsible for across
Scope 1, 2 and matenial Scope 3 busingss travel, The emisseons
are caboulated By omwloplyving acwial consumption data by
industry  accepted emission factors. Whene acal data 15
unawvailable, data is estimated based on GHG accounting best

prCces

GS Group gathers data lrom its operations on an ongoing basis,
with pramury evidence sourced from office nonagers  and
managed centrlly via GS Group's GHG Emissions Reporting
Operating Procedure, GS Group socks (o ensuse the accumcy of
its environmental metrics and daa collection processes by
mabmainmg A robust nenal owentory  mmmgemen  pl
contimeoushy enhancing s carbon accounting methodology and
obtaining third pany venfication of ns Scope 1, 2 and Scope 3
busingss iravel emissions,

Maximising Energy Efficiency

GS Group's simicgy o maximise energy efliciency is o
occupy ivare energy elflcien real estate, consolidate space amd
use more efficient fechnology cquipment. As of Docember
2022, 83% of Goldman Sachs™ UK. rentable square footage
Iolds BREEAM cenification,

Druring the vear ended December 2022, G5 Group conlimued o
maximise the operational cificiency of its real esiate, focusing
on increasang its building efficiency through a number of
projects. Across buildings, G5 Groop transiiened away from
COVID-19 implemented svstem seftings 1o more demand-
based settings, optimised air conditioning  seilings  and
eobumced lighting sensors (o beer align eocrgy consumption
with ecupEney.
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Employment of Disabled Persons

Applications for emplovment by disabled persons are fully axd
Fairly considered wiih regand w0 the apiiivdes amd abilities of
cach applicant. Effons are made 10 coable any emplovess wik
become disabled duning employment 1o continue their carcers
within G5 Group, Training, career development and promation
of disabled persons arc, 10 the extem possible, identical to that
of other enplovees who are w1 disabled.

Dividends

The dercctors do not reconmend s paviment of an ondinan
dividend for the yvear ended Decomber 2022, No dividends
werne paid in the yvear ended December 2021.

Charitable Contributions

The company made donations 1o chaniy of $23 million for the
vear ended Docember 2022 and 512 million during the vear
ended December 2021, This included donations of $20 millicn
for the vear ended December 2022 and $10 mallion during the
vear ended December 2021 1o Goldman Sachs Gives (UK), a
registered chanty, for gencral chantible purposes in England
and Wales,

Exchange Rate

The British poundU.S. dollar exchangs mie was £51.2063 as
of December 2022 aml £31.3535 as of December 2021, The
average mie for the vear ended Decomber 2022 was £51.2329
and for the vear ended Decemnber 2021 was £/51.3739.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
In the case of cach of the persons who are dircctors of the
company ai the date when this repon wis approved:

« 5o far as each of the direclors is aware. there 15 no rebevant
aedit information of which the company’s auditors arc
uneware; and

« Each of 1he directiors has taken all ihe steps that they ought 1o
hene taken as a direclor 1o make Memselves aware of o
rebevant andit mfonnation and o establish that the compam's
muditors ane aware of tha infonmation,

Independent Auditors

The company has  passed s resolwtion 1o re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLF a5 auditors of the compamy for
Naancial penods commencing on oF alter Janoary 1, M21.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of
the Financial Statements

The direciors are responsible for prepanng the anmeal repon
and the Mmancial statements i accondance with applicable liw
and regulation.

Company  law  requires the  directors o0 prepane  financial
stmements for each financial year. Under that law the direciors
have prepared the Noancizl siatements in accondance with
LK -adopted intermational aocounting standards,

The company has also preparcd fimancial stiements  in
accordance with Intermational Financial Reponing Standards
(IFRS) pdopted pursuant 1o Regilstion (EC) No 160672002 as
it applies i the E.U

Under compary law. direciors must nod approve the firancial
staterments unbess they e satisfiod that ey give a true and Far
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or
Ioss of the company for tha peried. In preparing the Nnancial
simemends, the direciors are requined 10

* Select sutable accounting poleaes and then apply  tem
consistenily;

= S whether  applicable UK -adopied  international
accounting  stanclards  and  IFRS  adepled  pursmm o
Regulation (ECH Mo 1606/2002 as it applics inthe EUL e
been followed. subject to any matenial departures disclosed
and explained in the financial simemenis.

= Make podgements and cstomates ot are reasomble -and
prudent; and
= Prcpare ibe Ninancial siatcments on the going concemn basis

unless i s inappropriaic 1o presume ihai the company will
contines in business,

The direciors are responsible for saleguanding the asseis of the
compny and hence for taking reasomble steps for il
prevention and detection of frod and other imegulantics.

The dircctors are alsy respomsible for keeping  adequate
acoounting records that are sufficient o show and cxplain the
conpEny s irmnsactions and disclose with reasonable accurmcy
alany ume the Onancial pesition of the company and enable
thei 16 emsure that e Giancial staleiments comply with s
Companics Act 2006,

The directors are responsible for:

* The maimenance awd integrty of the company’s Tinancial
statemeiis on the Goldman Sachs websibe.

« Presending the Ninancial semements in compliance witl the
recpuremnents sel out in the Delegated Regulaton 2019515 on
European Single Electronic Formut {ESEF Regulation).

Legmslaon v the UK. povemning the preparation amd
dissemination of fmancial  statements  may  differ  from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

252/415

oOoOooodn



GOLOMAN SACHS INTERKMATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY |
Directors’ Report

Directors' Confirmations
Each of the directors, whose mmcs and functions are listed in
“Drirectors” bebow, confirm that fo the best of their knowled ge:

 The fimancial satements, which bave been preparcd i
accordance  with UK -adopted  international  accounting
standards amd IFRS adopied pursuam 10 Regalation (EC) No
1606/2002 a5 it applics in the ELUL, give 1 imee and Sir view
of the assets. babihises. Gnancnl position and profil or loss of
the company ; and

The siratcgic repon includes a fair review of the development
and performance of (e business and the position of the
company, toeether with a descapion of the pancipal nsks
and uncertuinties that the company fioes.

Directors
The directors of the company who served througlout the vear
and eo thee date of this report, exoept where nofed, were;

Hrme

J. M. 0. Bamoso, Char”

A, M. Buirs {appoinied March 1, HK23)

., Cripps

LA Donnety (npponied Septemiber 16, 2022)
Sir Bradiry Friesd {apporbed Febeunny 1. 2023}
R. J. Gnodde, Crief mxeutive officar

5. P Gyimat

M. Haran

0, W, McDonogh (resgned Jaty 28, 2002}

T, L. Méter CBE

M. Pathreanabhan {apesried My 18, 2022}
E. E. Sechar jresgned daniary 31, 7023)

M, O, Winkeiman (resigned Jaruary 31, 20200

B 0D B retined as chair of the company on Fébrusey |, 2023

Mo director had, a1 the vear end, any inlenest nequiring nole
herein

Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions

An indemmity provision, as defimed by Scction 234 of the
Companics Act 2006, is provided io the direciors of the
company under the by =laws of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
This imdemnaty was in force throughout the vear and 1o the date
of this repon.
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Date of Authorisation of |ssue
The Nnancial statcments wene msthonsed for issee by the Board
on March 14, 2023,

I,I"’::- r’rﬁ ’%{’{’H{é

By order of the Board
L. A. Donnelly
Director

March 27, 2023
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2021 12 31
@
12
2021 2020 1.2
$7,711  \1,016,156 $7,729  \1,018,528
3,703 487,981 3,191 420,510
- - 76 10,015
11,414 1,504,137 10,996 1,449,053
2,211 291,366 2,657 350,139
1,237 163,012 1,539 202,809
(2,062) (271,730) (2,419) (318,776)
(1,881) (247,878) (2,762) (363,976)
(495) (65,231) (985) (129,803)
5 10,919 1,438,906 10,011 1,319,250
6 (7.367) (970,823) (6,487) (854,857)
3,552 468,083 3,524 464,393
9 (615) (81,045) (769) (101,339)
$2,937 \ 387,038 $2,755 \ 363,054
1. 2020 12 13
2. 2020 12
@
12
2021 2020 1
$2,937 \ 387,038 $2,755 \ 363,054
15 113 14,891 (76) (10,015)
20 54 7,116 (183) (24,116)
16 (51) (6,721) 62 8,170
13 1,713 11 1,450
129 17,000 (186) (24,511)
$ 3,066 \ 404,037 $ 2,569 \ 338,543
1. 2020 12 13

254/415



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
®
12
2021 2020
24 $ 52,422 \ 6,908,171 $ 43,833 \ 5,776,313
10 257,366 33,915,691 140,682 18,539,074
11 86,135 11,350,870 90,380 11,910,276
34,271
27,295 12 742,238 97,812,124 982,919 129,529,066
13

62 13 399 52,580 888 117,021
398 52,448 567 74,719
14 4,462 588,002 8,589 1,131,858

$1,143,420 \150,679,888 $1,267,858 \167,078,327

18 $ 204,539 \26,954,149 $ 113,127 \14,907,876

19 119,883 15,798,182 100,519 13,246,394
12 694,982 91,584,728 932,414 122,873,517
20 79,813 10,517,757 80,351 10,588,655
21 5,308 699,488 4,869 641,637

1,104,525 145,554,305 1,231,280 162,258,078

22 598 78,804 598 78,804
5,568 733,751 5,568 733,751

23 8,300 1,003,774 8,300 1,093,774
24,590 3,240,470 22,437 2,956,748

(161) (21,217) (325) (42,829)

38,895 5,125,583 36,578 4,820,249

$1,143,420 \150,679,888 $1,267,858 \167,078,327

2022

_Dmgr D >y

D.W.

2022 21

02263951
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“
12
2021 2020 1
$ 598 \ 78,804 $ 50 \ 77,750
22 - - 8 1,054
598 78,804 598 78,804
5,568 733,751 5,196 684,729
22 - - 372 49,022
5,568 733,751 5,568 733,751
8,300 1,093,774 8,300 1,093,774
8,300 1,093,774 8,300 1,093,774
22,437 2,956,748 20,336 2,679,878
2,937 387,038 2,755 363,054
20 (35) (4,612) (29) (3,822)
21 - - 126 16,604
Tierl 23 (749) (98,703) (751) (98,967)
482 63,518 459 60,487
(482) (63,518) (459) (60,487)
24,590 3,240,470 22,437 2,956,748
(325) (42,829) (168) (22,139)
129 17,000 (186) (24,511)
20 35 4,612 29 3,822
(161) (21,217) (325) (42,829)
$38,805 \5,125,583 $36,578  \ 4,820,249
1. 2020 12 13
2021 12 2020 12
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12
2021 2020 1
24 $11,320 \1,491,750 $16,938  \ 2,232,090
7 922 7 922
(528) (69,580) (492) (64,836)
10,799 1,423,092 16,453 2,168,176
- - 7 922
(291) (38,348) @72) (35,844)
(1,309) (172,500) (223) (29,387)
1,903 250,777 910 119,920
303 39,929 422 55,611
MREL 24 1,500 197,670 3,400 448,052
Tierl 24 (749) (98,703) (751) (98,967)
MREL
24 (451) (59,433) (1,300) (171,314)
22 - - 380 50,076
® (527) (57) (7,511)
296 39,007 1,672 220,336
11,398 1,502,028 18,547 2,444,124
43,718 5,761,158 22,359 2,946,469
(2,708) (356, 860) 2,812 370,565
24 $52,408  \ 6,906,326 $43,718  \5,761,158
1. 2020 12 13

21
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EC4A 4AU

UK GSG UK

GS
200
relations

GSGUK 2021 12
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures

2013
GSG UK 2021 12
www. goldmansachs.com/disclosures

EU
EU IFRS
EU IFRS
2020 12 EU IFRS
2021 12

2021 12

25

10-Q

1606/2002

2006
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GSG UK GSG UK

10-K

10282
www.goldmansachs.com/investor-

GSG UK

GSG UK

2022 12 31

2006
IFRS

2006

2021



2020 12
11 30 12 31
2020 12 31
IFRS IFRS
IFRS
2021
IFRS
IFRS
LIBOR

DVA

13

IAS 39
IFRS

IFRS

IFRS 16

2021 12 31

IFRS

IFRS
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IFRS

IBOR

oOoOooodn
2006 402
12
IAS 39 IFRS
IFRS 16 IFRS 16
IFRS 16
IFRS
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RSU

RSU
@ (b)

AT1
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IFRS
2021 12 2020 12

ECL 12

ECL

ECL

90

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL
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29

IAS 39

80%
80% 125%
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IAS 38

IFRS 16
IBR
IFRS 16 3.5%

IBR
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15
12
2021 2020 1
$ 6,648 $ 6,200
1,063 1,529
3,703 3,191
- 76
11,414 10,996
2,211 2,657
1,237 1,539
3,448 4,196
(2,062) (2,419)
(1,881) (2,762)
(3,943) (5,181)
(495) (985)
$ 10,919 $ 10,011
1.2020 12 634
634
GS GSBE
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FICC
12
2021 2020
EMEA $ 7,092 $ 6,676
1,745 1,564
2,082 1,771
$ 10,919 $ 10,011
IFRS 15
12
2021 2020
$ 2,775 $ 2,198
553 599
375 394
$ 3,703 $ 3,191
12
2021 2020
$ 3,185 $ 2,825
2,053 1,680
36 43
141 145
210 194
163 181
GS
1,118 921
804 842
7,710 6,831
GS
(343) (344)
$ 7,367 $ 6,487
GS GS

IFRS 15
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Ooooooog
12

2021 2020
$ 5.6 $ 4.6
2.1 1.8
2.5 3.3
0.1 0.2
4.7 5.3
$ 10.3 $ 9.9

GS
GS 2020 12
FRC
2021 12
12

2021 2020
704 828
FICC 741 833
899 908
732 819
862 872
3,938 4,260

2021 12 3,844 2020 12 4,115
12

2021 2020
$ 2,741 $ 2,418
397 355
45 49
2 3
$ 3,185 $ 2,825

2021 12 634 2020 12 259
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2021

2020 12

SIP

RSU

2021

2021

RSU

SIP
2021

459

SIP
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2021
2021 29
SIP 1999
GS
2021 12 482
RSU RSU
RSU
RSU

150%
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RSU
2021 12
922,129 3,594,376 $ 205.09 $  203.12
708,757 1,320,804 $ 258.90 $  261.67
(85,503) (63,735) $ 228.06 $ 205.29
(1,838,383) $ - $  207.94
(706,957) 706,957 $ 213.31 $  213.31
(82,401) 5,681 $ 215.18 $ 202.78
756,025 3,725,700 $ 243.70 $  223.32
2020 12
1,743,850 2,893,507 $ 193.70 $  193.54
830,270 1,159,883 $ 215.44 $  223.68
(80,808) (25,459) $ 204.95 $  198.27
- (1,878,224) $ - $  196.88
(1,502,818) 1,502,818 $ 197.82 $  197.82
(68,365) (58,149) $ 199.27 $  202.60
922,129 3,594,376 $ 205.09 $  203.12
RSU 2021 12 260.71 2020 12
220.24 RSU
2021 12 8.0% 2020 12
8.19%
2021 12 584 2020 12
576
2021 12 RSU 58,948
RSU 88,421 2020 12
RSU 37,767
RSU 56,651
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12

2021 2020
$ 587 $ 583
3 29
224 215
814 827
(141) 39)
(55) (19)
(©) -
(199) (58)
$ 615 $ 769

2021 12 27.0% 2020 12
27.0%
12

2021 2020
$ 3,552 $ 3,524
27.0% 2020 12 27.0% 050 951
2 11
AT1 (202) (203)
D) 10
GS - (6)]
- 1
2 ®)
- 29
(55) (19)
$ 615 $ 769

2023 25.0% 2021 2021
2021 55
8.0% 2022
24 2023 3.0% 2022 2021
12 50 44
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10
12
2021 2020
$ 156,844 $ 75,140
100,522 65,542
$ 257,366 $ 140,682
1
12
2021 2020
$ 17,102 $ 11,350
69,033 79,030
$ 86,135 $ 90,380
2021 12 228
12 327
12

28
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12

2021 2020
$ 6 $ 338
28,256 24,759
478 586
22,326 21,790
55,505 47,135
21 9
106,592 94,617
422,209 671,483
27,761 24,778
91,010 110,493
25,805 10,824
68,861 70,724
635,646 888,302
$ 742,238 $ 982,919

12

2021 2020
$ 31,558 $ 16,772
5,703 3,700
35,497 31,473
14 40
72,772 51,985
408,017 660,262
24,749 22,141
92,707 114,495
25,626 10,663
71,111 72,868
622,210 880,429
$ 694,982 $ 932,414
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13
12

2021 2020
$ 161 $ 639
238 249
$ 399 $ 888

14
12

2021 2020
$ 2,083 $ 6,744
699 564
2,782 7,308
9 2
553 490
5 15
15 311 202
16 592 444
20 28
177 94
13 6
1,680 1,281
$ 4,462 $ 8,589

GS
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2019 11 $ 29 $ 9 $ 38
- 1 1

(20 ®) (25

2020 12 9 5 14
7 1 8

2021 12 16 6 22
2019 11 20 5 25
2 1 3

3 ® (16)

2020 12 9 3 12
- 1 1

2021 12 9 4 13
2021 12 $ 7 $ 2 $ 9
2020 12 $ - $ 2 $ 2
2019 11 $ 381 $ 194 $ 575
236 36 272

®) - ®)

2020 12 612 230 842
260 23 283

29 - @9

2021 12 843 253 1,096
2019 11 183 - 183
172 - 172

® - ®

2020 12 352 - 352
206 - 206

@5) - @s)

2021 12 543 - 543
2021 12 $ 300 $ 253 $ 553
2020 12 $ 260 $ 230 $ 490
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15
2008

31
2021 12 31
%
IFRIC

14

UK

IAS 19
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65

2016

2021 31
2021 12 96%
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12
% 2021 2020
1.01 1.52
RPI 3.38 2.99
CPI 2.88 2.49
1996 11 30 3.18 2.79
1996 11 30 2.88 2.49
2009 2.50 2.49
65 65
24.2 24.2
25.5 25.4
45 65
25.4 25.5
26.9 26.8
2021 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2020
1.25% 0.50%
2021 12
2021 $ 3,216 $ (3,019) $ 202
- () (©))
49 46) 3
48 - 48
- 2 2
- 60 60
- 3 3
(34) 34 -
(30) 27 ®)
2021 12 31 $ 3,249 $ (2,938) $ 311
2020 12
2019 12 $ 2,682 $  (2,418) $ 264
- (©) (©)
57 (51) 6
356 - 356
- 45 45
- 470) 470)
- @ @
49) 49 -
170 (159) 11
2020 12 31 $ 3,216 $ (3,014) $ 202
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2021 12 95%
53% 47%
2022 41% 59%
2021 12
$ 892 $ - $ 892
1,219 - 1,219
- 193 193
287 - 287
564 94 658
$ 2,962 $ 287 $ 3,249
2020 12
$ 828 $ - $ 828
684 - 684
- 986 986
34 - 34
543 141 684
$ 2,089 $ 1,127 $ 3,216
2021 12
12
2021 2020

$ 4 $ 3

(©) (6)

1 3

“8) (356)

€)) (45)

(60) 470

®) 7

(113) 76

$  (112) $ 73
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) % ( ) %
2021 12
0.25% (218) (7-4) 240 8.2
0.25% 178 6.1 (165) (5-6)
115 3.9 (116) (3.9)
2020 12
0.25% (235) (7.8) 255 8.5
0.25% 190 6.3 @17 (7.2)
118 3.9 (119) (3.9)
2016 31
2018 12 31
316 2021 12
2022
32
2021 12 32
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12
2021 2020

$ 816 $ 551
(103) (54)

(161) (129)

55 78

12 -

3 (2)

$ 592 $ 444

12
2021 2020

$ 551 $ 453
265 105

- ©)

$ 816 $ 551
$ G $ (63)
@D (13)

(28) 22

$  (103) $ (54)
$ (129 $ (93)
(€23) (36)

$ (16D $  (129)
$ 78 $ 38
(23) 40

$ 55 $ 78
$ - $ -
12 -

$ (€ $ -
$ (@) $ ©)
@D 2
$ 3 $ 2
$ M $ 331
199 58

G 62
- ©)

$ 592 $ 444
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2021 12

100% 250
KY1-1104 PO Box 309
12
2021 2020

$ 6,038 $ 8,745

$ 315 $ 439

$ (28) $ 39)

$ 3,399 $ 2,761
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12
2021 2020
$ 139,284 $ 77,726
51,080 21,034
4,205 1,432
4,540 6,664
5,430 6,271
$ 204,539 $ 113,127
19
12
2021 2020
$ 2,781 $ 2,648
117,102 97,871
$ 119,883 $ 100,519
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12
2021 2020
$ - $ 6
14 115
— MREL 16,179 21,032
— MREL 18,215 16,723
35,179 32,385
5,387 5,394
4,839 4,696
$ 79,813 $ 80,351
2021 12 2020 12 53.9 GS
53.8
GS
PRA PRA
2029 12 26 2030
GS
DVA
12
2021 2020
$ (290) (147)
54 (183)
48 40
$ (188) $ (290)
2021 12 48
35 2020 12 40 29
EURIBOR
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2021 2020
$ 12 $ 17
$ - $ 32
12
2021 2020
- $ - $ -
- 1,708 1,760
1,566 1,469
$ 3,274 $ 3,229
2021 12 1.07% 2020 12
2021 12
$ 3,202 $ 63
2020 12
$ 3,042 $ 177
2021 12
2020 12 34
12
2021 2020
$ 130) $ 50
110 (53)
$ @) ®)
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12
2021 2020
$ 2,649 $ 2,762
450 330
5 17
1,717 1,370
4,821 4,479
4 11
482 378
1 1
487 390
$ 5,308 $ 4,869
2021 12 2020 12
2019 11 $ 1
127
(126)
)
2020 12 $ 1
1
®
2021 12 $ 1
2020 12 1MDB
GS FCA PRA 126
1MDB
2020 12
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22
2019 11 589,608,046 $590
8,574,007 8
2020 12 598,182,053 $598
2021 12 598,182,053 $598
2020 24 8,574,007 GSG UK 44.32
380,000,000 371,425,993
23
AT1
AT1
2017 5,800 $5,800 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2021 12 8,300 $8,300
AT1 GSG UK
GSG UK CET1 % AT1
AT1 2021 12 749 2020 12 751
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24
12
2021 2020
$ 52,422 $ 43,833
20 14) (115)
$ 52,408 $ 43,718
2021 12 25.2 2020
12 18.4
12
2021 2020
$ 3,552 $ 3,524
210 194
- 2
14 -
1 ®)
2,698 (2,793)
1,225 830
21 1 127
MREL 436 658
(104) (50)
(€)) -
- 2
8,032 2,491
(116,684) 15,666
4,245 (18,573)
240,681 (197,554)
169 983
4,436 (5,889)
132,847 (205,367)
91,412 (2,809)
19,364 15,551
(237,432) 217,774
(1,868) (11,323)
(1,035) 621
(129,559) 219,814
$ 11,320 $ 16,938
2021 12 28.1
2020 50.5 2021 12
30.5 42.2
MREL MREL AT1
MREL
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2019 11 $ 26,967 $ 692 $ 27,659
MREL 3,400 - 3,400
ATL - 751 751
MREL - 658 658
ATL - (751) (751)
MREL - (1,300) (1,300)
2020 12 $ 30,367 $ 50 $ 30,417
MREL 1,500 - 1,500
ATL - 749 749
MREL - 436 436
ATL - (749) (749)
MREL - (451) (451)
2021 12 $ 31,867 $ 35 $ 31,902
25
12

2021 2020

$141,020 $61,982

30,111 18,787

4,861 4,942

$175,992 $85,711

S.A. 2015
S.A.
BoP
S.A. BES S.A.

BES
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835 BoP 2014 12
2015 2015 12
2018
2018 BES BES
54 50
2018 10
104
BES 222
2015 11
2016 2018
2013 2016 2018 11 20
2019 13
2008 2012
2013 2016 2019
22 2019
2014 11 25
2017 15
2020 29
2020 27
2013
2016 12 2019 27
2020 23
2020 12 16
2021 17
2021 14

2021 30
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26
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
1,114 256,252 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
- 742,238 742,238
334 65 399
143 255 398
1,876 2,586 4,462
$ 3,467 $1,139,953 $1,143,420
$ 61,398 $ 143,141 $ 204,539
- 119,883 119,883
- 694,982 694,982
54,196 25,617 79,813
1,345 3,963 5,308
$ 116,939 $ 987,586 $1,104,525
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
1,896 138,786 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
- 982,919 982,919
689 199 888
517 50 567
1,742 6,847 8,589
$ 4,844 $1,263,014 $1,267,858
$ 3,851 $ 109,276 $ 113,127
- 100,519 100,519
- 932,414 932,414
55,781 24,570 80,351
1,009 3,860 4,869
$ 60,641 $1,170,639 $1,231,280
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GS
GS
EMC
12
2021 2020
$ 172 $ 21
1 1
564 255
$ 737 $ 467
187 2020 12 72
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2006
2008 410
12
2021 2020
$ 8 $ 9
$ 8 $ 9
12
2021 2020
$ 5 $ 5
2021 12 2020 12 2021 12
2020 12
2021 12 2021
12 2.0 2020 12
2020 12 2.1
2021 12
2.4 2020 12 2.5
GS
12
2021 2020

$ 8,153 $ 8,363
$ 8,018 $ 7,767

GS

2021 12 458 2020 12 13.0
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GS
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 20 23 GS
14
GS
GS
12
2021 2020

$ 72,082 $ 43,145

6,474 7,488

$ 78,556 $ 50,633
80 2021 12 2020 12

GS GS
GS
GS
GS GS
GS 2021 12
121 2020 12 201
@)
()
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GS
2021 12
$ - $ 7 $ - $ 7
- 147,976 - 147,976
2,552 17,397 178 20,127
1,085 437,185 619 438,889
- 177 - 177
- 218 - 218
1,006 1,779 - 2,785
$ 4,643 $ 604,739 $ 797 $ 610,179
$ 17 $ 131,138 $ 87 $ 131,242
1 23,990 - 23,991
3,167 430,778 670 434,615
31,127 12,544 - 43,671
2,317 1,458 - 3,775
$ 36,629 $ 599,908 $ 757 $ 637,294
2020 12
$ - $ 993 $ - $ 993
- 94,067 86 94,153
3,455 9,596 1,091 14,142
1,365 634,405 2,123 637,893
- 193 - 193
- 215 - 215
6,036 1,151 - 7,187
$ 10,856 $ 740,620 $ 3,300 $ 754,776
$ - $ 75,388 $ 78 $ 75,466
- 14,104 97 14,201
4,546 625,421 3,111 633,078
34,737 12,257 - 46,994
1,898 1,184 - 3,082
$ 41,181 $ 728,354 $ 3,286 $ 772,821
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GS
2021 12
13 $ 454 467
(580) (848) (1,428)
8 1,047 1,055
(559) $ 653 94
- $ 720 720
GS )
1,118 1,118
GS
©) (336) (343)
1 543 544
(6) $ 2,045 2,039
2020 12
7 $ 648 658
(1,012) (1,376) (2,388)
5 964 969
- 76 76
(1,000) $ 312 (685)
- $ 438 438
GS
- 921 921
GS
© (338) (344)
- 423 423
(6) $ 1,444 1,438
GS
GSBE
IFRS 15
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2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,42
178,279 79,087 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
742,238 - 742,238
399 - 399
398 - 398
1,000 1,782 2,782
$ 922,314 $ 219,42 $1,141,740
2020 12
$ - $ 43,833 $ 43,833
92,619 48,063 140,682
- 90,380 90,380
982,919 - 982,919
888 - 888
567 - 567
6,013 1,295 7,308
$ 1,083,006 $ 183,571 $ 1,266,577
2021 12
$ - $ 146,237 $ 58,302 $ 204,539
- - 119,883 119,883
694,982 - - 694,982
- 39,190 40,623 79,813
- - 4,821 4,821
$ 694,982 $ 185,427 $ 223,629 $1,104,038
2020 12
$ - $ 97,103 $ 16,024 $ 113,127
- - 100,519 100,519
932,414 - - 932,414
- 29,426 50,925 80,351
- - 4,479 4,479
$ 932,414 $ 126,529 $ 171,947 $ 1,230,890

IFRS
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2021 12 66.9 64.7
2020 12 46.9 54.7
2021 12 2020 12
2021 12
$ 390,986  $(133,620) $ 257,366 $ (53,650) S - $(01,071) $ 2,645
94,847 (26,602) 68,245 (9,995) (38,166) (11,148) 8,936
27,688 (15,682) 12,006 1,572) (133) (8,708) 1,593
645,333 (9,687) 635,646 (561,608) (40,235) (12,245) 21,558
673,021 (25,369) 647,652 (563,180) (40,368) (20,953) 23,151
274 - 274 Q07) - - 167
3,807 (3,203) 694 - - - 694
1,163,025 (188,794) 974,231 (626,932) (78,534) (233,172) 35,593
167,509 - 167,509 - - - 167,509
$1,330,534  $(188,794) $1,141,740  $(626,932) $ (78,534) $(233,172) $ 203,102
$ 336,020 $(141,796) $ 194,224 $ (54,097) $  (2,241) $(131,498) $ 6,388
121,390 (26,807) 94,583 (9,995) (40,368) (18,681) 25,539
683 (683) - - - _ _
631,692 (9,482) 622,210 (561,720) (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
632,375 (10,165) 622,210 (561,720) (35,738) (4,382) 20,370
13,182 (8,592) 4,590 (1,120) @87) - 3,283
2,703 (1.434) 1,269 - - - 1,269
1,105,670 (188,794) 916,876 (626,932) (78,534) (154,561) 56,849
187,162 - 187,162 - - - 187,162
$1,292,832  $(188,794) $1,104,038  $(626,932) $ (78,534) $(154,561) $ 244,011
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2020 12 1

$ 222,507 $ (81,825) $ 140,682 $ (33,757) $ - $(104,988) $ 1,937
103,442 (24,095) 79,347 (5,502)  (49,489)  (17,331) 7,025
27,326 (16,195) 11,131 (1,355) (309) (8,903) 564
904,223 (15,921) 888,302  (805,825)  (48,846)  (13,109) 20,522
931,549 (32,116) 899,433  (807,180)  (49,155)  (22,012) 21,086
266 - 266 (215) - - 51
4,937 (4,377) 560 - - - 560

1,262,701  (142,413) 1,120,288  (846,654)  (98,644)  (144,331) 30,659

146,289 ) 146,289 . . - 146,289

$1,408,990 $(142,413) $1,266,577 $(846,654) $ (98,644) $(144,331) $ 176,948

$ 193,074 $ (91,070) $ 102,004 $ (33,951) $ (1,322) $ (65,118) $ 1,613

117,084 (24,491) 92,593 (5,502)  (49,155)  (13,519) 24,417
1,477 (1,381) 9% - - - 9%
895,953 (15,524) 880,429  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 17,994
897,430 (16,905) 880,525  (806,171)  (47,995) (8,269) 18,090
12,209 (7.663) 4,546 (1,030) 172 - 3,344
3,184 (2,284) 900 - - - 900

1,222,981  (142,413) 1,080,568  (846,654)  (98,644)  (86,906) 48,364

150,322 - 150,322 - - - 150,322
$1,373,303 $(142,413) $1,230,890 $(846,654) $ (98,644) $ (86,906) $ 198,686

1.2020 12 560
900
28.4 31.8
22.8
12
2021 2020
$ 754,957 $ 571,872
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$ 719,879 $ 545,053
12

2021 2020

$ 34,2 $ 27,295

$ 13 $ 62

$ 39,336 $ 29,506

$ 100 $ 346

2021 12 588.3 2020 12 749.0 2021
12 743.0 2020 12 607.5
29
IFRS
GS
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0TC 0TC
0TC oTC

10

oTC
0TC
0TC

304/415



GS

GS
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2021 12
- $ 178,158 $ 121 8 178,279
74,139 31,736 77 106,592
28 630,856 4,762 635,646
74,167 662,592 5,479 742,238
6 288 105 399
- 343 55 398
- 1,000 - 1,000
74,173 $ 842,381 $ 5,760 $ 922,314
- $ 145,857 3 380 $ 146,237
63,956 8,777 39 72,772
54 618,473 3,683 622,210
64,010 627,250 3,722 694,982
- 25,053 14,137 39,190
64,010 $ 798,160 $ 18,239 $ 880,409
(26) $ 12,383 $ 1,079 $ 13,436

2020 12
- 3 92,619 $ - $ 92,619
63,079 31,035 503 94,617
291 882,392 5,619 888,302
63,370 913,427 6,122 982,919
18 738 132 888
- 456 111 567
- 6,013 - 6,013
63,388  $1,013,253 § 6,365 $1,083,006
- 3 96,863 $ 240 $ 97,103
46,752 5,204 29 51,985
255 876,645 3,529 880,429
47,007 881,849 3,558 932,414
- 19,774 9,652 29,426
47,007 $ 998,486 $ 13,450 $1,058,943
36 3 5,747 % 2,090 $ 7,873
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2021 12 2020 12
$157 $132
1.7%  18.0% 4.7% 0.6%  14.0% 6.1%
47.2%  72.5% 58.4% 21.6%  69.3% 35.8%
0.4 172 4.2 1.0 11.5 2.7
$464 $349
1.1%  15.1% 5.6% 0.6%  23.6% 5.9%
9.0%  60.0% 36.1 0.0%  69.7% 50.4%
1.8 28.5 5.7 2.0 25.5 8.3
$96 $22
6.5 6.5 6.5 N/A N/A
$717 $503
$49 $96
N/A N/A 6.8%  6.8% 6.8%
9.1%  76.0% 66.6% N/A N/A
N/A N/A 2.9 2.9 2.9
$56 $36
7.6 7.6 7.6 4.2 11.0 4.6
$105 $132
$55 $111
4.1%  4.1% 4.1% 3.3%  6.6% 5.6%
15.0%  15.0% 15.0% 15.0%  15.0% 15.0%

2021 12 2020 12
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2020 12
2021 12
2020 12
2021 12 2020 12
$ 354 $ 414
25% 26% 25%/26% (@)% 24% 13%/20%
bps 40 100 56/54 40 63 53/52
$ 2,317 $ 2,305
bps 5 337 142/118 2 699 100/63
N/A N/A 19 28 23/23
20% 50% 37%/40% 25% 90% 47%/40%
$ 37 $ 37
20% 23% 21%/21% 20% 23% 21%/21%
$ (1,629) $ (670)
GBND% 98% 51%/51% GB5)% 96% 46%/48%
3% 88% 18%/18% 3% 102% 16%/16%
$ - $ 4
$ 1,079 $ 2,090

2021 12
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2021 12
2020 12

2021 12 2020 12

2021 12 2020 12

2020 12
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353 2020 12 412
211 2020 12 186
2021 12 2020 12
12
2021 2020
$ 209 153
125 181
(144) (125)
$ 190 209
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12
2021 2020

$ 6,365 $ 5,325

636 2,099

747 635

Q14 170)

(1.739) (1,428)

426 351

(461) 447)

$ 5,760 $ 6,365

$ (13,450) $ (12,306)

@ Q@,757)
15 17
(692) (340)
(12,318) (12,362)
8,026 12,677
(540) (913)
1,197 1,534

$ (18,239) $ (13,450)

2021 12 2020 12

2021 12 477 475

2020 12 17.6 16.8
81
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12
2021 2020
$ - -
121 -
$ 121 -
$ 6,122 5,058
608 2,096
747 632
(210) (170)
,716) 1,407)
244 266
(316) (353)
$ 5,479 6,122
$ 132 145
29 2
(€)) -
@8) ®)
61 85
(96) (CD)
$ 105 132
$ 11 122
w 1
- 3
() -
® (15)
(49) -
$ 55 111
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12
2021 2020
(240) $ (1,111)
@8) 42
(@5) -
@8) 829
® -
@80) $ (240)
(3.,558) $  (3,014)
(893) (1,340)
15 17
(692) (340)
1,394 1,033
(268) (368)
280 454
G.722) $  (3,558)
(9.652) $  (8,181)
444 (459)
(12,243) (12,362)
6,660 10,815
(263) (545)
917 1,080
(14,137)  $  (9,652)

2021 12
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2020 12

2021 12

2020 12
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2021 12 2,194.3 2020 12 1,835.7
12
2021 2020
$167,014 $128,900
56,615 43,047
$223,629 $171,947

30
2021 12
$ 37,616 $ 59,403 $ 15,312 $ 30,841 $ 60,144 $ 1,257 $ 204,573
119,883 - - - - - 119,883
694,982 - - - - - 694,982
1,983 3,346 4,002 10,122 30,698 33,871 84,022
1,753 1,690 7 26 1,324 21 4,821
856,217 64,439 19,321 40,989 92,166 35,149 1,108,281
186 118,812 3,368 17,078 1,576 - 141,020
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3,198 - 1,089 164 409 1 4,861

3,384 118,812 4,457 17,242 1,985 1 145,881

$ 859,601 $ 183,251 $ 23,778  $ 58,231 § 94,151 § 35,150 $1,254,162

2020 12
$ 20,588 $ 60,064 $ 7,779 $ 20,857 $ 1,976 $ 1,875 $ 113,139
100,519 - - - - - 100,519
932,414 - - - - - 932,414
3,205 2,139 6,645 8,803 46,846 15,429 83,067
2,006 1,437 14 13 996 14 4,480
1,058,732 63,640 14,438 29,673 49,818 17,318 1,233,619
451 58,612 82 2,837 - - 61,982
3,007 - 614 627 690 4 4,942
3,458 58,612 696 3,464 690 4 66,924
$ 1,062,190 $ 122,252 $ 15,134 $ 33,137 $ 50,508 $ 17,322 $ 1,300,543
31
2021 12
IFRS

12

2021 2020
$ 22,037 $ 16,340
266 347
7,694 7,660
43,610 32,454
73,607 56,801
100 399
13 9
113 408
$ 73,720 $ 57,209
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2021 12
$ - $ -
98 1,144
98 1,144
$ o8 $ 1,144
$ - $ 2
@2 544
@2 546
) $ 546
2020 12
$ - $ -
76 619
76 619
$ 76 $ 619
$  (13) $ 299
13) 299
$  (13) $ 299
2021 12
$ - $ 133
52 263
52 396
$ 52 $ 396
$ - $ -
30 26
30 26
- @
$ 30 $ 25
2020 12
$ - $ 133
22 211
22 344
$ 22 $ 344
$ - $ -
®3) @
(€)) @
- @
$ ®3) $ ®)
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIOMAL (UMLIMITED COMPANT)

Income Statement
P e Enl el Dot b

5 in midlions Hode 021 200"
Gang or losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss $TM EXRF:]
Fees and commissions o3 ERE ]

Crher income - Fi:]
Mon-interest income 11.414 10,995
Interest income from financial mstruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 2211 2,657
Interest incoma from financial mstruments measuned at amortised cost 1.237 1.529
Interest expense from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss (2,062) (2,415)
Interest expense from financial instruments measured at amortised cost (1.881) (2.76Z)
Met inferest expengs (485} [SES)
Met revenues 5 10,918 10011

Net operating expanses & (7.367) (6.487)
Prodit before taxaticn 3,552 3524

Imenmme tay expangs 3 {815} (7ET)
Prodit for the financial pariod § 2937 5 2755

1. Tha wrmtp&uﬂwnhﬂuhm« mmhnﬁdo«mhm S Mote T for Rrther details,

2. pterest sap d ol B walue through pro® o loks and ntenest aap Fom & d it anortined cond for
lmpﬂbdmmcmmiﬂhmbmMlhﬂ.ﬂlmﬁlnphbﬂlh‘hﬁl!l\xm Sae Note & for further detsds

Bt rovenses and prolt balam taxalion of the company ade deriosd from continging apenbions in B curent and peice pariods

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Perod Ended Decembssr

£ in milions Hote Ford] 20020
“Profit for e financial period §2,937 52,755
Other comprehensive income

fems that will not be reclassifled subsequently to profit or loss

Actuarial gainfloss) relating to the pengion scheme 13 113 (76)
Dbt walusation adjustment 20 54 (183)
UK defarred tax attibutable to the components of other comprahensive income 16 (51) B2
WK current tax attributabie o the components of sther comprehensive income 13 "
Other comprehensive incomel!(loss) for the financial peried, net of tax 129 (186)
Total comprehensive income for the financial period 33,088 52,560

1. The cemparstive pericd was: for the thrteen monthe ended Decembesr 2020, See Mote 2 for further detaits,

The accompanying notes are an integral padt of these Snancial salements.
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERMATIOMNAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Balance Sheet

A5 of Decomber
3 i malions Hote 2031 2020
Assots
Cash and cash equnalents 24 § 52422 5 43833
Collateralsed agreements 10 25T 366 140682
Customer and other recenablos 1 86,115 80,380
Trading assets (includes 534 271 and 527 295 pledged as colfateral) 12 742 218 482 818
Irvestments (includes 513 and 562 pledged as collateral) 13 399 1]
Loang 358 567
Cher 14 4 462 8580
Total assets $1,143 420 31 267 A58
Liabilities
Collateratsed financings 18 $ 453 3 1327
Customer and other payatles 18 118,882 100,518
Trading kabilities 12 694 982 932414
Unsecured borrewings 20 79,813 80,351
Crher liabéties il 5,308 & 858
Total habilites 1..1“.5_25 1,231 260
Shareholder's equity
Share captal 2 E4g 588
Share premium account 5,568 5,568
Ciher equily msiruments b §.300 8,300
Retained eamings 24,550 22437
Accurnulated athir comprehenshg noomie _(1E1) 1523)
Taotal shareholders aquity 38,805 36,578
Total llabilities and sharehokiers equity 1,443,420 51 067 608

The financial statements were approved by the Board on March 7, 2022 and signed on its behalfl by

EyE: w@%&

D. W. McDonogh
Director
March 21, 2022

The accompanying noles are an inlegral part of these Snancial stafements
Campany number 1

47
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIOMAL (UMLIMITED COMPANT)

Statement of Changes in Equity

Pariod Ended Decembar
$ in milons Noto 2021 ma_
Share capital
Beginning balance § 588 5 590
Shares isswed &2 - &
_Ending Ealance 538 598
Share premium account
Beginning takance 5,568 5,196
Shares issued 22 - 372
“Ending balance 5,568 5 565
Other equity instruments
Beginning balance 8,300 8,300
Ending balance 8,300 8,300
Retalned earnings
Beginning balance 22,437 20,336
Prafit for the financial peried 2,937 2,755
Transfer of realised debt valuation adjustment into retained earmings, net of tax 20 (35) (29
MNor-cash capital contribution 21 - 126
Inbesrest on Additional Tier 1 notes 23 (748) (751}
Share-based payments 482 459
Managament recharge related to share-tased payments (482) (459
Ending balance 24,590 22 437
Accumulated other comprahensive income
Beginning akance (328) (188}
Cher comprehenghe incomedloss) 128 {186)
Trarsler of realised debl valuation adjusiment inte retained earmings, net of tax 20 35 29
Ending balance {181) (325)
Tetal shareholder's equity §38, 895 536 578

1, Th eomparation parss wir for the thirtaan monthe snded Decomber 2070, See Mote 2 for Ruther detail.
Bo deddends were pakd in the pariod ended December 2021 and the period snded Decembaer 2020

The sccompanying notes are an infegral pedt of these Snancial statemants.

4%
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GOLDMAM SACHS INTERMATIONAL (UMLIMITED COMPANY)
Statement of Cash Flows

Poriod Ended Dacember

$ in milions _ Note 2021 T
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 24 11,320 516,938
Taxation received T 7
Taxaton paid (528) (492)
Net cash from operating acthities 10,789 18453
Cash flows from Investing activities

Proceeads from sales of intangible assets - 7
Capital expenditure for propary, leasehold improvements and equipment and intangible assets (281) (272)
Purchase of imvestments {1,308) (22%)
Proceeds from Sakes of imesirments 1.803 910
Met cash from imesting acthities 303 422
Cash flows from financing activities

Increass in MREL-eligible intercompany loans 24 1,500 3,400
Interest paid on Additonal Teer 1 notes 24 (rag) (751)
Intinest paid on subordnated bans and MREL-eligible intercompany loans 24 [481) (1,300)
Receipts from ssuing share capital 22 - 380
Payments for lease labilities (4] (57)
Net cash from financing activibes 255 1,672
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents, net of cverdrafis 11,388 18,547
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts, beginning balance 43,718 22359
Foreign exchange gainsflosses) on cash and cash equivale s, net of overdratts _{2.708) 2.812
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafis, ending balance 24 $52.408 43718

1. Thae comparative penicd wis for the thintsen monthe ended December 2020, Ses Mote 2 for further details.

Sa Mobe 21 for information sbout ron-cash actvities.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thews Snancial statements
48
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MNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 1,
General Information

The company 15 & private wnlimited company and s
meorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of us registered office is Flumtree Court, 25 Shoe Lane, London,
EC4A 4 AL United Kingdom,

The company’s immediate parent underaking 5 Goldman
Sachs Growp UK Limited (GSG UKD, a company incorpofated
and domiciled in England and Wales. GSG UK together with its
comsolidated subsidiaries forms “GSG UK Group”™.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company of
the smallest and largest group for which consolhidated financial
statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc, a
company incorporated in the United States of Amenica. Coples
of 15 consolidated financial statements, as well as certam
regulatory Glings, for example Quarterly Repons on Form 10-0)
and the Annual Report on Form 10-K, that provide further
information about G5 Group and its business activities, can be
obtained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New York,

NY 10282, United States of America, G5 Group's principal
place of business, or al www goldmarsachs com/investor-
relations.

Basel IIl Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company is included i the consolidated Pillar 3 disclosures
of G3G UK, as required by the UK. capital framework. GSG
UK's December 2021 Pillar 3 disclosures will be made available
in conjunction with the publication of its consalidated financial
information at www goldmansichs com/disclosures,

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is included in the consolidated country-by-

country reporting disclosures of G3G UK, as required by the

Capital  Requirements  (Country-by-Couniry  Reporiing)

Repulations 2013, G3G UK's December 2021 Country-by-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,

2022 m www goldmansachs com/disclosures,

Note 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These financial siatements have been prepared in accordance
with Uk -adopted intemational sccounting standards, the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, as appheable 10
companies reporting under those standards, and International
Financial Reporiing Standards {IFRS} adopted pursuant to
Regulation (EC) Mo 16062002 as it applies in the EU. (IFRS
as 1t applies in the E.LL).
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In the prior period, the company™s Gnancial slatements were
prepared in accordance with intemational accounting standards,
the requirements of the Companies Act 20046, as applicable to
companies reporting under these standards, and IFRS as ot
applies inthe E L.

As of December 2020, IFRS as it applies m the EU. was
incorporated  imto UK. law and became UK -adopted
intermational accounting standards, with future changes being
subpect to endorsement by the UK. Endorsement Board. As
required by the Companies Act 2006, from January 1, 2021, the
company  applied  the requirements of UK -adopled
intermational accounting  standards mstead of intermational
accounting standards. This change had no impact on the
company’'s recognition, measurement or disclosure as UK -
adopted international accounting standards were consistent with
intermational accounting standards as of December 2021

As of December 2021, UK -adopted mtemational accounting
standards were consistent with IFRS as it applies in the E.U.

These hrancinl statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis (modified as explained i “Financial Assets
and Lbilities” and “Pension Arangemenis™ below).

Going Concemn

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concemn basis. The directors are satisfied that the company has
sufficient capital and resources to continue to operate for the
foreseeable future. In reaching this conchasion, the directors
have consadered the fmancil results of the company, its capital
management activities and hiquidity as st out in Part 1 of this
annual report.

Consolidation

The company has ¢lected not to prepare consoladated financial
statements as permitted by section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as its subgidianes are not material for the purpose of giving
a true and fair view. These financial statements are individual
financial statements.

Accounting Reference Date

During the period ended December 2020, the company changed
ils accounting reference date from Movember 30 1o December
31 1w conform to the perisd used by the company for ULS, ax
reporting  purposes. These financial sistements have been
prepared for the twelve months ended Decembser 31, 2021, with
comparative information being presented for the thirteen months
ended December 31, 2020, As a result, amounts presented in this
annual report are not directly comparable.
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MNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 3,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
Amendments to IFRS 8 ‘Financials Instruments’ (IFRS
g), IAS 359 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ (1AS 39), IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments:
Disclosures' {IFRS 7), IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’
{IFRS 4} and IFRS 16 'Leases’ (IFRS 18). On January 1,
2021, “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 27 became
effective and was applied by the company. The amendments
introduced the following changes:

« Practical expedients for changes in coniractual cash flows
(IFES 9, IFRS 4 and [FRS 16}

« Relef from discontiming hedge account requirements (IFRS
9 and LAS 39)

« Disclosure requirements (IFRS 7).

The company utilised the practical expedient for modifications
to amortised cost instruments which allows the benchmark
imterest rate change to be reflected prospectively by updating the
effective interest rate of the mstrument, with no immediate gain
or less, when the change 15 8 direct consequence of the reform
and oocurs on an economically equivalent basis. The relief from
discontinuing hedge acoounting requarements was nol utilissd
The practical expedients in IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 were not
relevant for the company. See "Regulatory Matters and Other
Developments — Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates
{IBORs), mcluding London [nterbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)Y”
for new disclosures required by IFRS 7.

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues include the net profit
arising from transactions, with both third parties and affiliates,
in dervatives, securities and other financial instruments, and
fees and commissions. This is inclusive of asscciated interest
and dividends.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and lisbalities measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised at fair value with realised and
unrealised pains and losses, as well as associated interest and
dividend mncome and expenses included I net revenues, with
the exception of changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss attnbutable to own
credit spreads (debt valuation adjustment or DVA), which 15
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless this would
create of enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or Joss
Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial liabalities
are marked to offer prices. Fair value measurements do mot
include transaction costs, The company measures certam
financial assets and liabilities as a portfolio (Le., based on it net
exposure to market and'or credit nsks).

51
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Unrealised gains and losses related to the change 1n fair value of
financial asscts and labalities measured st fair value through
profit or boss are recognised from trade date in net revemses or
other comprehensive income in the case of DVA

Contractual interest 18 mcluded in interest income and expense
for all instruments other than hybnd financial instruments a1 fair
vatlue through profit or loss, for which contractual mterest s
included 1n gains amd losses from financial instruments
measured at far value through profit or loss.

Revenue from Contracts with Clients

Revenaes camed from contracts with cliemts for serviees, such
as invesiment banking. invesiment management, and execution
and cleanng (contracts with clients) are recognized when the
performance obligations related to the underlying transaction
are completed.

If the company 1z principal to the transaction, the company
recognises revenue on contracts with clients, gross of expenses
incurred to satisfy some or all of s performance oblgations.
The company 15 principal to the transaction if it has the primary
obligatton o provide the serviee to the chieni. The company
satisfies the performance obligation by nsell, or by engaging
other G5 Group affilates to satisfy some or all of s
performance obligations oa its behall Such revenue is
recognised innet revenues and expenses incurred are recogrised
in el operaling expenses.

Met revenues are recognised as follows:

« Investment Banking
Fees from financial advisory and underwriting engagements
are recogrised inoprofit and Joss when the services related 1o
the underlyving transactions are completed under the terms of

the engagement.

« Investment Management
Mamagement fees are recogmsed on an accrual basis and are
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed accoumt’s average net asset value. All management
fiees are recognised over the period that the related service is
provided.

Incentive fees are caleulated as a percentage of a fund’s return
or a percentage of a fund’s excess return sbove a specified
benchmark or other performance tasget,

Commissions and Fees

Revenue from commissions and fees from execuling and
clearing client transactions on stock, oplions and futures
markets, as well as OTC transactions is recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade 15 executed.
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MNotes to the Financial Statements

Segment Reporting. The directors manage the company's
business activities as & single operating segment and accordingly
no segmental reporting has been provided.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Shor-lerm emplovees
benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an
undizscounted bask and sccrued as an expense over the period in
which the employee renders the service to the company.
Provision 1= made for discretionary vear-end compensation
whether to be pmd in cash or share-based awards where, as a
resuli of company policy and past praciice, a consiructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date

Share-Based Payments. Group Inc issues awards in the
form of restmcied stock wuts (RSUs) to the company's
employees in exchange for employee services. Awards are
classified = equity settled and hence the cost of shase-based
trarsactions with emplovess is measured based on the grant-date
fair value of the award. Share-based awards that do not require
future service (1e., vested awards, mcluding awards granted 1o
retirement eligible emplovess) are expensed immediately.
Share-based awards that require future service are amortised
over the relevant service penod. Expected forfeitures are
included in determaning share-based employee compensation
expense

Group Inc. generally issues new shares of commaon stock upon
delivery of share-based awards. Cash dividend equivalents,
unless  profubated by regulation, are pgenerally pasd on
outstanding RSUs. The company has also entered into a
chargeback agreement with Group Ine. under which 1t =
committed to pay o Group Ine. (a) the grant-date fair value of
those awards and (b) subsequent movements in the far value of
those awards between the grant date and delivery 1o employees.
As m result, the share-based pavment transaction and chargeback
agreement, in aggregate, gives rise o a tolal charge 1o the
income statement based on the grant-date fair value of the
awards adjusted for subsequent movements in the fair value of
those awards prior o delivery.

Current and Deferred Taxation. Curent tax 15 caleulated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company
operstes and generates takable income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where trarsactions or events have oceurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more tax or a right to
pay less tax m the future with the following excephions:

« Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
more hkely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underlving temporary
differences can be deducted.
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+ Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively emacted at the balance sheet date,

Current tax and deferred tax is generally recognised in the
income statement or directly i other comprehensive Income
according to where the associated gan or loss was recognised
The income tax on interest on AT1 notes 1s recognised in the
income statement.

Dividends. Final equity dividends are recopnised as a habliy
and decucted from equiy in the period in which the dividensds
are approved by the company's shareholder. Interim equity
dividends are recognised and deducted from equity when paid

Cash and Gash Equivalents. This mcludes cash o bank and
highly liquid overnight deposiis held in the ordinary course of
busmess.

Foreign Currencies. The company’s financial statements are
presented m U5, dollars, whach is also the company’s functional
CUITETCY.

Transactions denominated n foreign cwmencies are translatesd
inte U5 dollars at eates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurred, Monetary assets and liabalities, and non-
menetary  assels and  liabilities measured at fur valee,
denominated in foreign curencies are transhated into 115
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date,
Foreign exchange pains and losses are recogmised in profit
befiore taxation.

Financial Assets and Liabilities,

Recaghition and Derecogiition

Financial assets and liabilines, other than cash instruments
purchased or sold in regular way transactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecogmsed when the
coniractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or if the company transfers the financial asset and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transferred financial asset
qualifies for derecoprition 1f the company transfers substantally
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or 1
the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset bat does
not retain control, Financial habalities are derecogmised only
when they are extinguished, i.e., when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Cash instruments purchased or 2old in regular way transactions
are recopnised and derecopnised wsing settlement  date
accounting.
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Classification and Measurement: Financlal Assels
The company classifies financial assets as  subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss
an the basis of both the company’s business model for managing
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. The business model reflects how the
company manages particular groups of assets in onder o
penerale future cash Oows. Where the company’s business
mode] s to hold the assets 1o collect comraciun] cash Mows, the
company subsequently assesses whether the financial assets’
cash flows represent solely pavments of principal and interest.
Finargial assets with embedded denvatives (hybrwd mstruments)
are alao subject to the same assesment.

« Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows and have cash flows that represent solely payments
of principal and mierest are measured at amortised cost. The
company considers whether the cash flows represent basic
lending armngements, and where contractusal terms introduce
extposiine to fsk of volatility inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the financial asset 13 mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit or loss (see below). Financial assets
measured at amortised cost are imtially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective inferest method. The effective inlerest method s
a method of calculating the amortsed cost of a financial
instrument and albocating the imerest inceme over the relevant
period. The effective mterest rate 15 the rate thal exactly
disconmnits estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life ofthe financial asset or, when appropriste, a shorter period
to the net carryving valee of the financial asset When
calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
msset but does not consider future credit losses. Finance
revenue is recorded in net revenues, Financial assets measured
at amortised cost include:

« Cash and cash equivalents;

» Certamn collateralised agreements, which consists of certam
resale agreements and substantially all securities borrowed,

« Customer and other recenvables, and

» Certain other assets, which consists of certan imercompany

loans and substamtially all muscellanecus recevables and
ather.
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+» Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Fmancal assets that are not held for
the collection of contractual cash flows and'or do not have
cash flows that represent selely pavments of principal and
interest are rnmdntulil:.r mieasured at far value through profi
or loss. Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value are
initially measured at farr value with transaction costs expensed
in the income statement.  Such  fmanciml  assets  are
subsequently measured ol far value with gains or losses
recognised in net revenues. Financinl assets mandatonly
measurad at faar valwe inchade:

« Certann collateralised  agreements, which consists of
substantially all resale agreements and certain securities
borrowed,

» Trading assets, which consiats of trading cash instruments
and derivative mstrumends;

« Investmenis,
« Lomns; and

« Certain other assets, which comsists of certain inl.trmmpum}'
loans.

Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities
The company classifies its financial liabilities into the below
categories based on the purpese for which they were acquired or
originated.

+ Financial liabilities held for trading. Fmancml liabilies
held for tading are imitially messured a8 fair valee and
subsequently at far value through profit or loss, with gaans or
losses recognised in net revenues. Financial Liabilities held for
tradingg inchsde trading liabilities, which congists of;

+ Trsding cash instruments; and
» Derivative instruments

« Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates certmn financial
leabilities at fabr value through perofit or loss. Financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
inftially measured at fair value and subsequemly at fair value
through profit or loss, with DVA being recogmised in other
comprehensive income, 1l it does not create or enlarge an
accounting muismatch, and the remaming changes in the far
value being recognised in nel revenmues, Amounts recognased
in other comprehensive income anributable 10 own credit
spreads are not subsequently transferred 1o the income
statement, ¢ven upon derecognition of the financial linbility,
The primary reasons for desigrating such financial Labilities
at far value through profit or loss are

« To ¢hminate or sgnificantly reduce a2 measurement or
recognilion imconststency that would otherwize anse from
measuring assels o labilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on dilferent bases. and
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.

» The group of financeal Labilities, or fimancial assets and
lighilitses, s managed and its performance evaluated on a
fair value basis,

Firancial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
foss include:

« The majority of repurchase agreements,
» Securities loaned within FICC,

» Secured debt securities issued, intercompany loans and other
borrowings, which consists of hybrid financial instruments
and transfers of assets accounted for as financings mather than
sales; and

« Certain unsecured borrowmgs, which consists of certain debt
securiies  mssued, certmin other  borrowings,  centain
intereompany leans and prepmd commediny contracts,

Hybrad fmancial mstruments are instruments that contain
bifurcatable embediled dermvatives. [T the company elects o
hifurcate the embedded dervative from the associated deby,
the derivative i1s accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for at amortised cost, adjusted for the
effective portion of any fair value hedges. IF the company does
not elect to bifurcate, the entire hybrid financial instrument is
designated st fair value through profit or less

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial labilities measured sl amortised cosl are mnsially
measured at fair value plus ranssction costs and subsequently
measured i amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See “Financial assels measured at amortised oo™ above for
further information on the elfectve interest method. Finance
costs, inelwding discounts allowed on issue, are recorded innet
interest income and imerest expense. Financial liabilities
measured at amorised cost include

« Certain  repurchase agreements and  substantially  all
sepurities loaned,

« Customer and other pavables;

« Certain unsecured borrowings that kave not been desigrated
at fair value through profit or koss; and

« Cther liabalities, which primarily consists of compensation
and benefits and accrued expenses and other.
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Impairmerndt

The company assesses the expected credit losses associated with
financial assets measured at amortised cost on a forward - looking
basis i accordance with the provisions of [FRS 9, Expected
credit losses are recorded in net revenues, As of both December
2021 and Decembser 2020, the company s expected credit losses
were not material.

The company's impairment model 15 based on changes in credit
quality stnce imtial recognition of financial assets measured at
amortised cost and incorporates the followmg three stages:

+ Stage 1. Financial sssels measured of amortised cost thal are
net credit-impaired on nitial recognition and where there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL is measured at an amount equal 1o the
expected credit losses that result from default events possible
within the next twelve months.

« Stage 2. Financial assets measured at amortised cost where
there has been a significant merease m credit risk since mmital
recogmition, however not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
The ECL is measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetarne basis

Stage 3. Financial assets mensured at amortised cost that are
in default, or are defined as creditampaered. The ECL
easured based on expected credit losses ona lifetime basiz

Dretermination of the relevant staging for cach financial assel 5
dependent on the delimtion of ‘sgnificant increase i credat
risk” (stage | to stage 2) and the defintion of "credit-ampaired”
(stage 3} The company constders a financial asset to have
experienced a significant increase in credit nsk when certaim
quantitative or qualitstive condittons are met. The company
comsikers a financial asset o be credit-impanred when it meets
Credit Risk’s defmition of default, which & either when the
company considers Lhat the obligor 15 unhkely to pay 15 credi
obligations to the company in [ull, withowt recourse by the
company 1o actions such oz realising security (if held), or the
obligor has defaulted on a payment and/or is past due more than
O days.
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The ECL is determined by projecting the probability of defaul,
loss given default and exposure at default for each individual
exposure. To caleulate expected credit losses these three
components are multiplied together and discounted back 1o the
reporting date. The discount rate wsed in the ECL calculatson 1s
the onginal effective interest rate. The probabality of default
represents. the likelibood of a bomower defaulting on s
financial obhigation. The loss given default 15 the company’s
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, amd
takes into consideration amongst otser things, collateral on the
financial asset. The exposure at default is the amount the
compary expects 1o be owed at the time the financial obligation
defaults, The company uses imtermal credit risk ratings that
reflect the assessment of the probability of default of individual
counterparties. The company uses multiple macroeconomic
scerarios within the ECL calcubation, the weightings for which
are subject to ongoing internal review and approval.

The ECL model takes into aceount the weghted average of a
range of forecasts of future economic conditions. The forecasts
include baseline, favourable and adverse cconomic scenamos
over a three-vear penod To the extent the company has
financial assets in Stage 2 or Stage 3 which have an expected
life beyvond three years, the model reveris to histoncal loss
mformation based on a non-lincar modelled approach. The
company applies judgement in weighing individual scenarsos
each quarter based onoa variely of factors, meluding imtemally
denived  economic  outlook, markel  consensus,  recent
macreecenomic conditions and industry trends.

Forward-lecking information, such as key economic vasiables
mmpacting credit nsk and expected credat losses, is incorporated
inio both the assessment of staging and the caleulation of ECL.

The company writes off firancial sssets, in whaole or in part,
when it has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of
TeCovVery.

Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Financial labiliies and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contracheal arrangements. A
financial lability 15 any Labality that 15 a contractual obhgation
1o deliver cash or ancther financial asset to another entity; or 1o
exchange financial assetz or fimancial labilities with ancther
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
enfity. An equily instrument 1s any confract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liabalities. Instruments are evaluated to determine if they contain
both hability and equity components. The mitial carrving value
of a compound financial instrument 15 allocated first 1o the
liabality component, measured at fair value, and the equity is
assigned the residual amount

55
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Offsefting Financial Assels and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabalities are offset and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet where there s

« Currenily a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised
amounts, and

« Imtent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simubltaneously,

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and
liabilities are presented on a gross basis in the balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 29 for details about the fair value measurement of the
company s financial assets and hisbilines.

Fair Value Hedges

The company applies hedge accounting under LAS 39 for cenain
interest rate swaps used 1o manage the interest rte exposuse of
certain  fixed-rate  unsecured long-term  and  short-term
borrowings. To qualify for hedge accounting, the denvative
hedge must be hughly effective at reducing the risk from the
exposure being  hedged.  Additionally. the company must
formally document the hedging relationship at inception and test
the hedging relationship to ensure the denvative hedge
comtinues 1o be highly effective over the life of the hedgmg
relationship.

The comparny applies a statistical method that utilises regression
analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair value
hedging relationships in achieving offsetting changes in the fair
values of the hedging instrument and the risk being hedged (1e.,
interest rate risk). An interest rate swap 15 conssdered highly
effective n offsetting changes m farr value attribatable to
changes in the hedged nsk when the regression analysis resulls
in a coefficient of determination of 8% or greater and a slope
between B0z and 125%, Possible sources of ine Tectivensss on
these hedges include

» Differences in timing of cash fMlows between the hedped item
and hedging instrument.

« Differences i discounting between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, as cash collateralized derwatives are
discounted using Overnight Indexed Swap discount curves,
which are not conmistently apphied 1o the hedged 1tem.

« Counterparty credit risk impacting fair value movements on
uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the underlying

hedged iem.

For qualifying faar value hedges, gains or losses on denvatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item aitributable 1o
the hedged nisk are included in net revenses. When a derivative
15 mo longer designated as a hedge, any remaimng difference
between the carrving value and par value of the hedged nem i
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effective interest method.
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Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings

Collateralised  agreements include resale agreements  amd
securities  borrowed,  Collateralised  financings include
repurchase  agreements, secunities  leaned, secured  debt
securities isswed, intercompany loans and other borrowings. See
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Assets™ and
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities™ above
for detmls on the classification and measurement of these
instruments. Collmeral received of posted can be in the form of
cash or securities. Cash collateral 13 recognised ‘derecogmised
when received/paid. Collateral posted by the company in the
form of securities 19 not derecognised from the balance sheet,
whilst collateral received in the form of securities s not
recogmised in the balance sheet If collateral recemnved 1s
subsequently sold, the obligation 1o return the collateral and the
cash received are recognised in the balance sheet.

Pension Arrangements. The company 15 a sponsar of a
defmed contribution pension plan, and a hvbred pension plan for
the benefit of certain employees. The hybrid pension plan has
both o defined benefit section (the FPlan) and 3 defined
comribution section, These are accounted for as follows:

= For the defined contnbution persion plan and the defined
contribution  section of the hybrid persion plan, the
contnbutions payable for the period are charged to net
operating  expenses.  Differences  between  contributions
payable for the period and conmbutions actually paid are
shown as either aecruals or prepavments in the balance sheet.

« For the Plan, the amoumts charged 1o net operating expenses
are any pasl service costs, adnunistration costs and any gains
or losses on settlements and curtalments. These amownts are
included m compensation and benefits. The net interest is
included in net mterest income/(expense). Actuarial gains and
losses are recognased immeditely in other comprehensive
mncome, Plan assets are measured st far value and Plan
labilities are measured on an actuanal basis wsing the
projected wat credit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the cumrent rate of retum on a high-quality
corporate bond of equivalemt currency and term to the Plan
labilities, Full actuanal valwstions are obtaned at least
triennially and updated at each balance sheet date. Any sisplus
or deficit of Plan assets over Plan liabilities is recognised in
the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (defiest)
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Eguipment.
Property, leaschold improvements and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and provision  for
impatrment, Fixtures, fittings and equipment are depreciated on
a straighi-line basis over ther estimated useful lives, which is
between 3 to 7 vears. Leaschold improvements are depreceated
over the shorter of the useful economic life of the asset or the
remaining life of the lease when the asset s brought nto use,
Depreciation is inéluded in net operating expenses, Depreciation
policies are reviewed on an annul basis,

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are stated ot cost less
accumulsted amortisation and provision for impairment. Subject
to the recognition criteria in [AS 38 *Intangible Assets’ being
met, costs incurred during the pericd that are directly
attributable to the development or improvement of new business
application software are capitalised as assets in the course of
comstruction. Assets in the course of construction are wransferred
1o compater software once completed and ready for ther

intendied wse,

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated wseful life, which iz theee vears, No amortisation is
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amortisation is
included in net operating expenses and the amortisation policies
are reviewed on an annual basiz.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset group’s
carrying value may not be fully recoverable.

Leases. Leases are recogmised as a nght-of-use asset and a
commesponding liability a1 the date of commencement of the

lease,

Lease hiabilities were measwred ot the present value of the
remaining lease pavmerts, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate (TBR) a= of the lease commencement
date or adoption of IFRS 16, whichever is later, as the interest
rate miphicit mn the lease carmot be readily determined. The
welghted average discount rate applied to the lease lisbilities on
adoption of IFRS 16 was 3.5%.

Assets and habilities armsing from a bease are initially measwred
on & present valee basis, Lease labalities include the et present
value of fixed and vanable payments {including those under
reasoaably certain extension oplions), less any lease incentives
receivable, and payment of penalties for terminating any lease,
The lease payvmients are discounted using the lessee’s IBE. The
finance cost 15 charged to the ncome statement over the lease
peried so as to produce a constant pertodie rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lmbility for each perod.
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Eight-of-ume assets are measured at cost comprising the initial
measurement of lease liability, any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
receved, and any anitial direct costs. Right-of-use assets are
deprecmated over the lease term on a siraight line basis. The
company has chosen not to revalue its right-of-use asses.

Extension and termination options are inclueded in the office
premises lexse entered into by the company. These are used 1o
maxamise operational fexibility in terms of managing the assels
used 1n the company’s operations. The extension and
termination options held are exercizable only by the company
and not by the respective lessor,

Righi-of-use asseis are tested for impatrment whenever events
of changes in circumstances suggest that an asset’s or asset
group’s carrying value may not be fully recoverable An
mparment loss, caleubated as the dilference between the
estimated recoverable amount (being the fair value) and the
carrying value of an asset or asset group, 15 recognised if the sum
of ns expected undiscounted cash fows s less than s
cormesponding carrying value,

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. Provisions are recognised in the firancial statements
when it 13 probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle a present {legal or constructive) obligation,
which has ansen as a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Legal oblizations that may anse as a result of proposed new laws
are recognised as obhigations only when the legislation s
virtually certain to be enacted as drafted,

A contingent lishility 15 a possible obligation that anses from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
OCCUTERnce OF Non-oecrmence of one of more uncenain future
events not whally within the control of the company or a present
obligation that anscs from past events but s not recognised
because either an outflow of economic benefits 1s not probable
or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured.

A contingent asset 15 a possible asset that arises from past evenis
and whose exastence will be confirmed only by the ocourence
or nen-oceumence of one or more undenain future events not
whelly within the conitrol of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are nol recognised in
the fimancial statements. However, disclosuse is made for
comtingent liabilities unlbess the probability of settlement is
remate.
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Note 4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management Lo
make judpements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recegnised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation means that actual oucomes could differ from those
estimates, The following estimates have had the most segnificant
effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company s financial assets and labilities include
sigruficant uncbservable imputs (Le., level 3). See Note 29 for
information about the carrying value, valuation techniques and
significant inputs of these instrumenits.

Dafined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan lhabilities are
determined using actuarm] valwtions. This involves making
assumplions about discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the
complexity of the valuation, such estmates are subject to
sigrificant uncertamty. See Mote 15 for further mformation
about the company s Plan.
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Note 5.
Met Revenues

Met reverues include net interest expense and non-interest
meome. Met interest expense includes interest and dividends on
financial mstruments measured at far value and amortised cost.

The ahble below presents net revemaes.

Pariod Ended Decsmbsr

£ in miliong sl 20"
Non-interest income
Finaszial inalnasaly mandatadlly missiuned &t

air valkis theough probt or loas § 0,848 5 B,200
Financial insnaments designated ot

Hair vakis theough probt or loat 1,083 1529
Fas s comimisaasns 313 R
Cther income - T
Nor-indenedd indome 11,40 10, 284
InbeTest bncomss
Inflerusd income Fom inancial nsinaments

msasured at fak value through profit or loss am 2857
Iriedwal incorme Fom Enancal netumeniy

sasured at amort sed cost 1,59 1,538
Todal inberest Incone 3,448 4,158
InbeFesl enponan
It el o § will 4]

msasured at fak valus through profit or loss (2083 (24198
Ieftern s expene Forn Enancial i

s ol amortised col 1,331} e -vy ]
Total Interest expense 3,347} 15,181}
Net Ird erest expense 55 (S5,
Nl revenues 10,910 001

1. For the period ended December 2020, 3634 mullion of the
compary’s interest  expense  from  financial  instruments
measured at amortised cost was disclosed as interest expenss
from financial instruments measured at fair value. Comparatives
have been restated, with no change to total inerest expense to
move 3634 milhon of mierest expense from inlerest exponse
from financial mstruments measured at farr value o interest
expense from fmancial instruments measured at amortisad cost.

In the table above:

« Gains and losses on francial instruments  mandatonly
reasured at fair value through profit or loss primanly relates
to non-interest gains and losses on trading assets, investmenis,
loans, trading labilities and certain collateralised agreements,

« Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair
value through profit or loss primarily relates to non-interest
gaims and losses on certain unsecured bomrowings and
collateralised financings.

« Fees and commissions primarily relates 1o net revenues from
ceftain financial advisory and underwriting engapements,
executing and clearing client transactions amd  certain
invesiment maragement services.
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« Other meome, which related to consideration received from
GSBE in connection with the transfer of certain of the
company s activities and employees as a pant of GS Group's
Brexit planning

Financial mstruments desigznated ot Gair valuwe through profit o
loss are frequently economacally hedged with financial
instruments measured mandatorly at fair valee through profit
of less, Accordingly, pains or losses that are reported in
financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss can be partmlly offset by gains or lesses reported in
financial mstruments measured mandstonly at farr value

through profit or loss.

Geographic Information

Due o the highly integrated natse of intemational Gnancial
markets, the company manages its busmesses based on the
profitability of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating profitability to geographic regions 15 dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

» Investment Banking: location of the chient, mvestment
bankimg team and underlying nsk

« FIOC and Equities: location of the market-making desk or the
primary market for the underlying secunty.

o Investrment  Manapement:  locatiom  of the  mvestmient
management leam.

The table below presents nel revenues by geographic region
allocated based on the methadology referred 10 above,

[Parind Ersdied Ddeesm bar

oOoOooodn

% in millions e 200
EMES § T.0ar 5 8878
Amaricas 1745 1,564
Baia 2,097 1,771
Tota soge 0011

Revenue from Contracts With Customers

The table below presents revenue from contracts with customers
subgect o IFRS 15, whach are incheded in fees and commissions
within non-interest income:

Pariod Enced Dacambar
5 i relleong ol 2020
Finaarscind a oy snd wnderwritng sngagements 52775 52,160
Exsoubon and chent cearing ransactons 53 2]
i i AE I
Tor 703 55100
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Note 6.

Net Operating Expenses

The table below presents net operating expenses.

Pariad Ended December

§ i riliong 2 220
Compensation snd beredits 53,185 s2m2h
Trasaction bated sopente 3,053 1,680
Market e sinpment a8 43
Communicaions and technology iT1] 145
Duprecaation and amortaation 210 184
Professonal fees 163 181
Management charges Fom G5 Group afflstes 1,118 a2
Cthar expenses Bﬂ-_l ﬂ
Cptrating expenses 7,710 8,831
Marsageensat chaiged b G5 Group afllates (343} [
Nl cparating expardes §7,967 56,487
In the table above:

« Mammgement charges includes charges relating to operational
and administrative support and management services, received
from and provided 1o GS Group affilmates

« ther expenses primarily includes TFRS 15 expenses,

miscellaneous taxes, provisions for labilities and chartable
comtributions,

The table below presents the fees pavable to the company's
awditor, which are included in professional fees,

Prariod Ended December
§ in milipny 1 o
A fess T 46
Faxclt related avmrance sarvices 1 18
Cthd Eifuilinid diietad 5 343
TaxaSon complimss Sevices ol 02
Tiotal e for non-aisdit services [%) [E]
Totid fids 103 8.8

In the table above:

» Other assurance services included the company’s share of fees
related to certain services provided by a network firm of the
company’s auditor to various G5 Group affiliates, These fees
wiere apportioned to the variows GS Group affiliates, including
the company, by reference to cach entity’s asset size. Other
assurance services for the period ended Diecember 2020 also
included fees m conmection with a thematie regulatory review.

Tax compliance services included services provided under the
transitional provisions of the FRC's Revised Ethical Stancdard
and are no longer provided by the auditor a5 of December
2021,

L]
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Nate 7.
Compensation and Benefits

The table below presents the company’s average monthly
emplovee headcount, mcluding executive directors.

FAoverage for the

Periad Ercled December

i | 2020
“irastent Banking EC] B2

FIKC ran k]
Equities. L 08
lrrvi e Mlaca garmant T3 B8
Support Funcions - 7 T2
Tolal average headcount 1508 &, 260

Tetal headeounm was 3,844 as of December 2021 and 4,115 as
of Degember 2020

The table below presents compensation and benefits costs
incurred by the company, including those relating to directors.

[Paricd Erbthiedd Dis i i

5 in melbons ol 2020
Wiages and salanes 27 52418
Sochl security costs =T A5
Pangion coats
(Dbl comiribation plan and dakned conlributan

section of the bybrid pensicn plan LEY 4B
D Fireed Enia i scton of the hybed pansion plan z 3
Toeal 788 50608

In the table above, total compensation ard benefits included a
charge of 3634 million for the pertod ended December 2021 and
a charge of 3259 million for the period ended December 2020
representing recharges from Group Inc. equivalent to changes in
the bur value of share-based payment awards duning the period.
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Nate 8,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman Sachs
Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2021) (2021 SIF),
which provides for, amongst others, grants of RSUs, restriciad
stock, dividend equivalent nights and incentive stock options,
each of which may be subgect 1o terms and conditions, inehuding
performance or markel conditions, On Apnll 29, 2021, Group
Inc.’s shareholders approved the 2021 SIP. The 2021 SIP is a
sucoessor to several predecessor stock incentive plans, the first
of which was adopted on April 30, 1999, and each of which was
approved by GS Group's shareholders.

The company recorded share-based compensation m respect of
the amortsation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
2482 millien for the pericd ended December 2021 and 5430
million for the penod ended December 2020, The resultant
credit to equity ansing from these share-based payments has
been offset in equity as a result of the recognition of a liabilaty
for amounts ansing under the terms of the chargeback
agreement with Group Ine. under which the company 1=
committed 1o pay to Group Ine. the grant-date fair value, as well
as subsequent movements in the fair value of those awards
Group Inc. at the time of delivery 1o its emplovees.

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc. grants RSUs (including R3Us subject 1w
performance of markel conditions) to the company s employess
under the 2021 SIP, which are generally valued based on the
closing price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after
taking into account a liquidity discount for any applicable post-
vesting and delivery transfer restrictions. The value of equity
awards also considers the impact of material non-public
mformation, of any, that the firm expects to make available
shortly following grant. RSUs generally vest and underlying
shares of common stock deliver (net of required withholding
tax) as outlined in the applicable award agreements. Employee
award agreements generally provide that vesting 15 accelerated
in cerain circumstances, such as on retrement, death, disabilaty
and conflicted employment. Delivery of the underlying shares
of common stock is conditioned on the grantees satisfyimg
certain vesting and other requirements outlined in the award
agreements. RSUs nol subject to performance conditions
generally vest and deliver over a three-year period.

RESUs that are subject to performance or markel conditions
generally deliver after the end of a thres to five-vear perwsd. For
awards that are subject 1o performance or market conditions,
generally the final award 15 adpsted from zero up to 150% of
the original grant based on satisfaction of those conditions.
Divedend equivalents that sccrue on these awards are paid when
the awards settle.
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The table below presents the activity related to RSUs.

WViighbed Average
Grant-Diste Fak Value of
Routrated Stock [Retricted Stock
Units Qutitanding Unite Outstanding
Future Mo Future Future Mo Fulure
Serdice Serdice Service Serdoe
Reeguined Risguineed Rogquired  Reguired
Baicd Enged December 2031
Beginning balance IR DSBATE §204.00 Shoaid
Graned TORTET 1,320,804 §258.00 SPE1ET
Fut eitnd (B5,500) (63,735 S220.06 FH05.70
Dedsrad = {1,838,38%) 5 - F07.84
ested (TOB,85T) TO8 BT §21201 E Ak ]
Traoera fe s (E2AD01) 5681 S216.18 SROZTE
Ending balance THB,025 2,725,700 S240.70 [FFEET]
Peried Enced Dectrmber 2020
Begnning balance 17430850  2A93.507 $103.70 510354
Gt BAD2T0 1,185,883 SHE44 §22368
Forfeted {80,808} 26, 45 520465 10027
Dolbgind ~ (1 ETE I L] - 519688
Weslad {1,602818, 1502818 $187.82 s187.82
Traevlars {68,365) 158, 145 5188.27 520260
Ending balance SIS REMATE $205.00 20312
In the table above:

» The weighted average grant-date fuir valwe of RSUs granted
was 326071 dwing the period ended December 2021 and
§230.24 duning the period ended December 2030, The fair
value of the RSUs pranted included a liquidity discount of
80" during the period ended December 2021 and 819%
during the period ended Diecember 2030, to reflect post-
vesting and delivery transfer restnctions, generally of up to 4
YA

« The aggregate far value of awards that vested was 5584
million during the period ended December 2021 and $376
million during the period ended December 2020,

+ The ending balance for the period ended December 2021 also
included RSUs not subject to future serviee requirements but
subject to performance conditions of 58,948 RSUs and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be carned was
88,421 RSUs, and for the period ended December 2020 also
included RS5Us not subject to future serviee requirements but
subject to performance conditions of 37,767 RSUs and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be carmed was
56,651 RSUs
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Nate 9,
Income Tax Expense

The table below presents an analysis of the company’s income
1ax expense.

3 in milipng 0 20
Current fax

UK, aation 5 ar -]
Adfustments in respect of prior periods | =
Chmronat taxaton Frl] 215
Tistal current tax [IL] K7
Dreferred tax

Crigination and reversal of mponary dfssnces (1T} 0
Efect of increased U K. coporation tax rale 135) (3]
Adjustrnts i respect of priod periods @ -
Todal deferred tax [TLLT] (i1
Total income 1ax expense 5018 i)

The twble below presents o reconciliation Belwesn income 1
expense and the amount calculated by applying the weighted
average rate of UK, corporation tax applicable to the company
for the period ended December 2021 of 27.0% (penod ended
December 2020: 27.0%%) o the profit before taxation.

Pariod Ended December

§ in puiliong il 00
Fuoft bedore tanation 1,951 EEEF
Pt multiphed by UK. corpomion tax rabe of

T 0% (pariod snoed December 2000 37 0%) L e ]
Changes in recogrdion and mestumment of

dalerrad lar s15es 2 14
Tax desductible on inteeest on ATY notes 202y {203y
Permaneet differences (L1 10

Tax loases surrendensd Wom GS Group
aflates ke nil conaldembion

= 3
E flact of higher tsves on overseas ssmings - 1
Exchange ciffersnces and cther 2 L]
Adfustrmeets in rospect of prior periods = 20
Efact of increased UK. coporate tax rate S5) (451

Tt incomi lax axpenss EILIE 3 e

The Finance Act 2021, which increases the UK. corporale tx
main fate fram 19.0% o 25,086 from Apeil 1, 2023, was enacied
in June 2021, During 2021, the company”s deferred tax assets
were remeasured and a deferred tax benefit of 555 million was
recognized in the income: statement. Following the increase in
the UK. corporatc tax main rate, the UK. povernment
undertook a review of the 8.0%% bank surcharge, applicable 1o
the company, to ensure that the combined tax burden on banks
does not rise substantially. Cn Febreary 24, 2022, the Finance
Act 2022 was enacted which reduced the bank surcharge from
B.0f% 1o 3.0% from Apnl 1, 2023, Tf this rate change had been
substantively enscted as of December 2021, the company’s
deferred tax asset would have been lower by 550 million, of
which 544 million would have been recogmsed in the income
statement znd %6 mallion i other comprehensive income.
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Naote 10,
Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents collateralized apreements.

s of Decembar
3 in g HH Parri]
Fesale agresmants 138848 5 TH 140
Sacuritios b 100,522 G552
Todal §FET,0686 5140682
Mot 11.

Customer and Other Receivables

The table below presents customer and other receivables

A al Deeanbar
3 in ellong otk | 2020
R res Fom b dert and cleanng
orgmnnaticns F7, 103 $51.350
P il e ) pat 9,003 79030
Total 98,135 590,380
In the table above

+ Total customer and other receivables primanly consists of
receivables resulting from collsteral posted in connection with
certam derivative transactions, customer margin loans amd
balances related 1o listed dervative activity

+ Recewvables from customens and counterparties imcludes
receivables from contracts with clients, which were 3228
million asof December 2021 and 5327 million as of December
2020
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Mate 12.
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities include trading cash instrumients
and derivatives held in connection with the company *s market-
making or nisk management activities. Trading assets includes
asmels pledged as collateral. See Note 28 for further information

The wble below presents trading assets,
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Mote 13,
Investments

Investments incledes debt instruments and equity securities that
are accounted for at fair value and are generally held by the
company in connection with 1ts long-term investing activities.
Investments inchales assels pledged as collateral, See Note 28
for further information.

The table below presents information about investments,

Az ol Decambar
5 in milions. 21 2020 /s of December
Trading cash instuments £ in milllong ma e
Moy market instnuments 5 L Cotporabe debl instromesss §161 5630
G and agency obiig il 24,750 Eguity tecusiing na 248
Morigage and o asselbacied Tota a0 SEH
loans and secunbes ars LB
Corporate debt insnaments. a3 e In the table above:
A —— 55,508 47,135 ) L .
Commodbes a1 ¥ » Corporste debt instruments pnmarily mcludes mezzmne,
Total irading cash irstruments 108,392 EH senior and distressed debt.
Dierivativis . . ) . . )
[ —— 122709 671,483 + Equaty secunities consists of the company's public and private
Crecit E 28,778 equity-related mvestments in corporale entities
Cumenscies w00 110,483
Cemmaodbet o 0,824
Equities 3,561 70,724
Totm derlyates 35,608 898,307 Note 14.
Total irading assels $rLER W2 ﬂther ﬂESEtS
The table below presents trading liabilities. The table below presents other assets by type.
L of Decomber _

% in milions 021 20 ) s of December
Trading cash Instruments 3 i mikons il 200

Intescoengany boans 52,083 [T
Govemment and agency obiigatans 3 M3 516772 Wi —_ e ey 54
Corporate debt insnaments 5,703 3700 -
Equity Setusfies 5,497 M 473 L“““"“"“:m" — 2'": ?'Hg
Commodtes M 40 i ey 353 450
Todal irading cash rmiruments L 81,005 . - P M -
Drarivatives

Penskon suplus (sae Hobs 185 mn frar )
e R G -
o ﬂ‘l?'ﬂil' 1“:“5 Prispagymanty aod aterued 0 m
Commodties 428 0,86 Taeraiatod axsets r B
Equitier A 72060 Micalanacus tmcelveties and sihe i il

* o Y e

Totd derivatives CEE ] :::“"""”w Ll ::ﬁ: s:tﬁ
Total trading Nabilities S84,982 392414 :

In the tables above:

« Corporate debt instruments includes corporate loans, debt
securities, convertible debentares, prepmd  commodiy
trarsactions and wansfers of assets accounted for as secured
loans rather than purchases

» Equity securities includes public and exchange-traded funds,

In the wble above, miscellancous receivables and other
pramarily inchades receivables for allocation of net revenues
ameng G5 Group affilistes for their participation in G3 Group's

husmess activities

335/415

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERMATIONAL [UNLIMITED COMPANT )

MNotes to the Financial Statements

Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below presents the movements in property, leaschold
mmprovements and equipment during the current and prior
peniod.

Fiatureg,

Leasshold fimngs mned
3 in eeilong WM w Tital
Ceat
A of Hovesiber 2018 528 E-3] 538
Additionrs - i 1
Disposal . {20} [ []
An of Decirter 2020 ¥ 5 [0
i s T 1 B
s of December 2021 8 [} 22
Accumul aled depreciation
A of Hovember 2018 | 5 25
Charge ot the paricd z 1 3
Dipotay {13p (1] {16}
A of December 2020 E] 12
Chargs kot the paricd - 1 1
At of Decoriber 2021 ¥ 4 13
Nt Book valse
A of Decersber 2021 57 532 59
“An of Decemoe 2020 5 - (B [
Intangible Assets

The table below presents the movements mn intangible asscts
dunng the current and prior persod.

AEnals in Beb

Computer cowme of
3 in railiong roftwate  conabiudtion Total
Cost
Ax of Novermber 2018 31 S5 5 A4TE
AddtioriTranifers. e k] me
Drsposais 15 = {5k
As of Deconber 2020 B2 30 32
AddtionsTransters. 150 F=} w3
Dmpariaiy 139} = 128}
As of Docerber 202 241 Fk] 1,086
Accumilsed amortisaton
As of Hoversber 2018 183 = 183
Chargs for the panod 172 = 72
Dispota @ - o
Ax of December 2020 352 = 52
Chargae for the pariod Far ] - Hb
Diiposshs 115) - 115)
A of December 2021 Ear] - 3
Nt Bool ke
Ak of Ducomber 2021 M0 §353 § 553
A5 of Ducember 2020 a0 [0 & 480
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Mote 15.
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a persion plan with a hybrid structure,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
comribulion section. The Plan provides retirement benefils on
the basis of members” final salary, with & normal retirement age
aof 65 for most members, The Plan is funded, with the assets of
the scheme held separately from those of the company, in
separate trustee-administered funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contnbution plan. As of
March 31, 2016, the Plan was closed 1o fulure benefit accruals
for existing participants

The Plan operates under trust law and is managed and
admirustrsted by the Goldman Sachs UK Retrement Plan
Trsstee Limited (the Trustee) on behalf of the members and
beneficiaries inaccordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and
Rules and relevamt legslation. The Trustees act on behall of the
members and beneficianes and have the responsibality for
setting  the  investment strategy and agrecing  funding
requirements with the company through the valwation process.

A full actuanal valuation of the Plan was carmed owt by a
qualified indeperdent actuary as of December 31, 2021 using
the projected it ¢redit method based upon membership data as
of July 31, 2021, As of December 2021, the Plan liabalities
comsist of 96% in respect of future beneficiaries and 4% m
respect of current beneficianes

There &= no asset ceiling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recogrised i the financial statements as the company is
able to utilise the Plan surplus in the scenarios set out m “IFRIC
14 - 1AS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefin Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their Interaction”

Risks of the Plan
The mainrisks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shortfall. Additiomal comtributions will be
required if the investment returns are not sufficient to pay for
bemefits. The level of aquity returns will be a key determinant
of overall investment return; the myvestment portfolio 15 also
subject 1o a range of other risks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular inerest rte nisk and inflation risk on bonds.

« Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan's invesiment
strategy, with a zignificant proportion of the assets invested in
eoquities andd other retum-sesking assets is that the difference
between Plan assets and Plan labilities may be volatile

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities are sensitive to
the assumptions made about futere inflation and life
expectancy. It iz also sensitive to the discount rate, which
depends on market yields on sterling-demommated AA
corporate bonds.
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Financial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the significant firancial and mortalaty
assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined
benefit obligation,

As of Dt immibiar

% T ST, enneel oty =] 2021 2020
Financial A ssumglions
Drisdentt citi 1M 152
Rate of price mfabion = RPI 133 288
Rote of price inflation = CPI 288 248
Raoie of increase in pansions in payments

(past-November 3. 1593 acerusl) 218 2,78
Raote of inceass in pansons in celemment

ipost-November 3. 19258 accrual) 288 248
Rt ol [LT: u L] ]

ipost-Agel §, 2000 scorual) 250 248
Maortality Assumptions
Lite axp y ot 65 for o k iy o 65

Malis M.Tyears 4.2 yean

Females M4 years 254 yeams
Lits nxp y ot 55 for @ bar currenty of 45

Males ha years  T55 yean

Femakes M0 pears D58 yean

In the table above, the mortality assumplions adopted for the
penod ended Decembeer 2021 were the “SAPS 53 very light (All
Pensioners) series” base table with an allowance for future
mprovements from 20013 onwards in line with the Ch1 2020
core projections with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25%
per annum and an initial addition to monality improvement
parameter of 030 per annum,

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus
The table below presents a reconciliation of Plan assets, Plan
lLiabalities and the net pension surplus.
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Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Flan Trustees have a de-rsking framework in place to adjust
the long-term asset allocation strategy of the Flan upon reaching
certain funding targets, The Flan reached the funding tnigger of
95% at the end of December 2021, As such, the existing sirategy
to invest 53% of assets in retumn secking mvestments (such as
equity funds/mdices, alternative investments and fixed income
secunities) and 47% i Lhabality matching assets (such as Gilts)
was adjusted 10 invest 41% of assels in return seeking
investments and 59% in liability matching assets in 2002,

The Plan has a hedging programme investing in swaps and other
derwatives inorder to reduce the exposure to changes in interest
rates and inflation

The table below presents the fair value of Plan assets.

5 i oy Cucted Unquoted Total
As of December J021

Eaquity Linch/idces 5 B2 5 - § B2
Gis 1,218 - 1218
Swagrs - 183 163
Cash and cash equivalents F 1 - 287
Cthar 564 ™ B5E
Total 52,088 FECH 53,040
B of December 2020

Equity lnds/indices 5 B8 5 - 5 0
G Ba4 - -0
Swaps - T 08
Cash and cash squivalents En - n
Chiae 543 fal TS
Tetal $2.080 §1,127 53,218

In the table above, other primanly consists of invesiments i
alternative investments and fixced income secunties. During the
period ended December 2021, changes were made 1o simplify

Hat the Plans labality-driven imvestmend portfolio by reducing

Pian  Flan  pension exposige o swaps 1o allow for mere investment i Gilts, whach
£ s mlliorm - Sisets Esbllies  surpius will increase the expected long-term retun of the Plan with
Asof ey 1, 2020 B SO SN2 minimal risk and more efficient portfolio operation.
Adminisirative cost = el e}
It it incomel e penta) I (45} 3 Defined Benefit Cost
Rustum on Plan axsets greater than discount rabs 4% - A The tahle below presents the defined benefit losa/{pain) related
Aciuarial gain = lablity saperimce - z z to the Plan recognised in the income statement and in other
Actuarial gainfost) - natiel " - b bl comprehensive income,
Astuanial guini{loasy - Ssmograghic sssmetons - 3 3
Benedis paid ) Bl = Parod Ended December
Forsign axchangs gendloss) o] E ] § in padiang L] ]
As of December 31, 2021 SLHS 23R 5310 TPy pre——
Pericd Endad Decembee 2020 Bekvinistrative £ oat 5§ 4 5 3
Ax of December 1. 2018 20 HIdnl 34 e s e o o]
Adruiniairative cobt - % & Total chargeaicredited] Lo ihe Income stalement 1 [
Infeust incometexpense) &7 151 & Beher comprehnaln o
Ruetum on Plan sssets greater than discourt rate WL = e Ritum on Plan asseis greater than dcount fale [LL1] (2585
Actuarial gain - isbiky speincs - il e Actuarial gain = labiity axperence [F] (45
Actuarial gaini{ioat) - Snkntial 5 - @0 T Actuaiial Issligan) — Snancial iiesplont (L] 470
Actuarial ga b = demographt v - M M Actusrial lossiigain} — dsmegraghic sssumghons m 7
Benaeftn puid (4% % - Total lossiigain) recognised in olher
Foreign axchange gendjoas) 10 059 L. comprehensve income 113} T
A of Ducersber 31, 3020 $3T16 HA04 5302 Total defined berefit bos sl gan w117 5 73
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan liabilities
for each significant actuarial assumption.

gt to Flan Liabditie

NS N BTN N DHoL PibBE i o
§ i mifions * & in miliong %
0.25% change in
dmesunt rate 218 [r2 ] 540 L]
0.25% changs in price
infation 178 [X] [165) 5.6)
1 year changs in ke
wapaciancy 115 e SR L] [RE]
&8 of December 2020
0. 26% change In
dreount rate 235 LER. 5 L]
0.25% changs in price
indation 180 83 27 T2
1 year changs in ke
BapaCiBnCy 11a an (1% 38

I the table above, the sensitivities are based ona change in ¢ach
assumplion while holding all ether assumptions constam

There are inherent limitateons in the sensitivity analysis, as such
wdiosyneratic  movements ase  unlikely to occur. The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities are corgistent
across the two periods presented in the table above.

MNature of Future Cash Flows

Since the Plan’s closure to future aceruals from BMarch 31, 2016,
the company has ceased to make regular contnbutions info the
Plan but wall continue to assess the funding requirements of the
Plan with the Trustees on a pertodic basis.

On a trienmal basis, a formal funding valuation of the Plan 15
performed for the Trustees io assess the funding needs of the
Flan, This valustion differs from the actuarial valuation required
for acoounting purposes due to the wse of different assumptions.

The mosi recent funding valuation of the Plan was performed by
aqualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2018, which
indicated that the Flan was ina funding surplus of 5316 million.
The prelimimary results of the next formal tnennia] valustion as
of December 2021 are likely 1o be available i the third quarter
of 2022 and based on initial estimaies and the cuwrrent funding
surplus in the Plan, the company currently does nol expect 1o
nged 1o make any further conributions into the Flan

The company expects 332 million of benefits to be paid out of
the Plan to memibers in the next vear.

The weighted average duration of Plan labalitics was 32 years
as of December 2021,
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Mote 16,
Deferred Tax Assets

The table below presents the components of the company’s
deferred tax asset.

As of December

§ i rliong il 2020
Delerred compensation S8 3851
Pertlrt rardat Bnatee 103 {54}
Fropesty, mpr Bl o

and intanglle sl (181} 128
Dl wihuition aduitmant 5 ]
Unreabsed gains oo intercompany seosed Lndng (§Fi] -
Cthar bemporary differences [=5] [ri]
Totd § a7 4l

The table below presents changes in each component of the

company s deferred tax asset,

Pasiod ended Decambar

§ i mllong okl 2020
Deferred compensanon

Bégnnng balanis 5551 $453
Trasvi hr b3 th incoma atatement 5y 105
Dispossl of defemed by 6ssels = K]
Ending balandd 5 218 5 B51
Post-retirem ent benefiis

Baginning balance 5 [ 5 B
Trasi fawr b3 the Rsome tlatemant [Fi] AEL
Traenfar bo ather comprahenthes income [Fi] 2
Ending bl e S103) 5 [B4)
Prapeny, leasehald improvements and equiprment

arvdl intangible adsets

Baginning balance B ElL ]
Traev e po the meome shatemant [EF] a8
Ending balance S[161) 51128
Debt valuation adjustment

Beginning balance 5 [ 3-T]
Traen for bo cther comprehenshes income [rE] A
Ending balance EREE] FEL]
Unrealises gaes on mercompany

secured funding

Beginning balance 5 - 5 -
Traeri lae i the meome stabsrmant (k] =
Ending balance 5 [12) 5 -
Other temporary differences

Begnning balance. 5@ 5o
Traet ar o this e o stabemasnt ] z
Ending balance e 5 @
Total

Eeginning balance S444 5331
Traes e Do the meoma statemant (see Nots 5) ma 43
Traew for ba cther comprehenshes incomae &) 82
Ditpoial of defpmed lax asiete - 0
Ending balance 5502 F444

In the tables above, defierred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.
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Note 17.
Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsidiary over which the compamy
exercised control as of December 2021

Hiclding
and

propertion  Clawd of

Name of Cowntryel  ofvoting  shares Shares  Mabure of
pany ingep rights g hed s

Cesldeman Sachy

{Cayman) Cayrman Ovdinary Financial
Limbed Islands 100f%  shares 0 sevices

The registered office address of Goldman Sachs (Cayman)
Limited 15 the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO
Box 3%, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, K¥1-1104, Cayman
[slands,

The company has interests in a mumber of special purposs
entities and capital guaranteed funds which do not meet the
defmition of a legal subsidiary, but give rise 1o the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than of they were
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose entities
and capital guaranteed funds consist of the ssuance of loan
notes under the terms of a repackaging programme. These
speci] purposes entities and capital guaranteed [unds are
comsalidated m the financial statements of Growp Inc

Uncoensolidated Structured Entities

The company has mterests in structured entities that it does not
comral (meonsolsdated structured entities), which primarnly
includes: semior and subordinated debt, denvaiives and
puarantees. Structured entities generally finance the purchase of
assels by issuing debt securities that are either collateralised by
or indexed 1o the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities 1ssued by a structured entity may inchede tranches of
varying levels of subordination. The company’s involvement
with structured entities primartly includes the purchase and sale
of beneficial interests ssued by mongage-backed structursd
entities in conpection with markel-making activities amd
denvatives the company has entered into with structured
enfities, such as total retum swaps. In certain instances, the
company provides puarantees, including derrvative guaraniees,
to unconsolidated structured entities or holders of interests in
unconsolidated struchred entities.

The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities mn which the company holds interests.

As of December
§ in miligng vl 2020
Anvets in snuctured entities 56,003 30,745
Carying vakue of interesis - ssseis § M3 5 438
Carrying value of ntenests - Enbiite: 5 (| 5 e
Mo dapodars 10 loas k] 52,781
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In the wble above:

+ The earrving values of the company”s interests are included
in the balance sheet in trading assets or trading liabilities.

+ The company™s maimum exposire 1o loss s mainly 4 result
of derwvatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
macimum exposure o loss 18 the notional amount, which does
not represent anticipated losses and also has not been reduced
by unrealised losses already recorded. As a result, the
maximum exposure to loss exceeds babilittes recorded for
derivatives, commitments and guarantees.

Note 18,
Collateralised Financings

The table below presents collateralized financings.

#s of Decembaer
§ in milons mH 2020
Repurchass agresmants FIEC T
Sacuritied kaned 1,080 20,004
Infisroerpany loans 4,205 1,432
Dot pcuriins miwed 4,540 B e
Cthr boet cwinga 5430 &2M
Total $7H509 5113127

In the table above, intercompany loans, debt secunities issued
and other borrowings are secured by secunties which have been
pledged as collateral. This pledged collateral 15 either recogmssd
in trading assets or collateralised agreements.

Nete 19.
Customer and Other Payables

The table below presents customer and other payables.

A% of December
S0 malions M2t o0
Payables o brokesidealers and dearng
crganmabons $ 3T 5 Rdal
P 1o v €U 197,102 7871
Tot S119.883 5100519

In the table above, todal customer and cther pavables primanly
comsist of collateral receved in connection with certain
derwative transactions, customer credit balances related to the
company s prime brokerage activities and balances related to
listed derivative activity.
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Nate 20
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presents unsecured borrowings.

A% of Decumber

5 i mailiang 2021 20
Bank loars T - 5 8
Crmrcrats “ 115
Intecormpany kaes = nor-MREL-eligibhe 16,178 082
vt ety bk — MIRE Lk gible 18,215 18,723
Dot pecuritien) rsised aare .85
Subcrdinabed loans 5,087 5384
Cehar bor rowings ﬂ 4, 656
Total 579,813 80,351
In the table above:

« Payments on debt sccunities ssued and other bormowings
mstruments are fypically referenced to underlying financial
assets, which are predominately interest rates, equitics and
currencies-related.

Subordinated loans of 55.3% billion as of both December 2021
and December 2020 consist of long-1erm loans of §5.38 billion
from s parent undertaking and other GS Group alliliates,
which are unsecwred and carry interest al & margin over the
U5 Federal Reserve’s Federal Funds rate, and assoceted
accrued interest. The margin is reset on a penodic bass to
reflect changes in G3 Group™s weighted average cost of deb

These loans comtitute regulatory capital &z approved by the
PRA and are repayable subject to PRA approval. These loans
are repayable between December 26, 2029 and September &,
2080,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company caleulates the fair value of debt securities 1ssued
that are designated at fair valee through profit or loss by
discoamting future cash Mows wl a e which incorporates G5
Group's credit speeads. The table below presents information
about the cumulative net pre-tax DVA gains{losses) on such
financial liabilities, which is included in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Pariod Ended Detember
b il E- 4] 2020
Begnning balsnce S0} 14T}
Dbt waluation acfuatment for the percd 54 {183
Trasaler to retsined samings Ll 40
Ending bl aroe S1RE) (200}

In the table above, net losses of $4% million (335 million, net of
tax) for the penod ended December 2021 and net losses of 580
million {329 million, net of tax) for the period ended December
20200 realised upon early redemption of cerain such fimancial
liabalities, have been transferred from  accumulated other
comprehensive income 1o retaned sarnings.

a7
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Hedge Accounting

The company designates interest rate swaps as fair value hedges
that are used 1o manage the interest rale exposure of certain
fixed-rate unsecwed long-term and short-term debd. These
initerest rate swaps hedge changes in fair value attnibutable 1o the
relevant benchmark imerest rate (ep, EURIBOR), effectively
comverting Dixed-rate obligations into feating-rate obligations

The 1able below presents information about  hedging
instruments, which are classified in derivatives within trading
assets and labilities in the balance sheet.

45 of December
$ in rmdins FuFl 2020
Aswet camying value [3F] [1H
Luabdity camying valua 5= 532

The table below presents the notional of hedging instruments by
contractual matunty date.

s of Decenmber
$ in millony ol 2020
1 =3 months 5 = 5 =
3naftl — 1 yias - -
1=5ysars 1,708 1,760
Greater than § wears 1,568 1 468
Total $3,214 [FEE]

The average fixed rate of the company”s hedging instruments
was 1.07% for the perrod ended December 2021 and 1.16% for
the periad ended December 2020,

The table below presents the carrying valwe of hedged items that
are designated in o hedging relationship and the related
cumulative hedging  adjustment  (increasefdecrease)) from
current and prior hedging relationships included in such carrying
values.

Cumulatve

Carrying  Resdging

§ in milons _ value _adgestment
B8 of December J21

Lrvsater o] b=t b otinsgs = v § 63
£ of December 2020

Lingacured lang-liim bar owisg 53,042 5177

In the table above, cumulative hedging adjustment for items no
longer designated in a hedgimg relationship were 39 million as
of December 2021 and 534 mallion &= of December 2020,
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The bl below presents the company”s gains/(losses) from
interest rale derivatives accounted for as bedges, the related
hedged bomowings and the hedge ineffectivencss on these
denvatives recognized in net revenues.

[Pairicd Efsdied D2 dimibai

5 in millons Fardl 2020
Ittt FElE hedges FTRELT) 550
Huidgad bafmawingt 110 (53}
Huetdge nelfectvemess % (20} 3 01
Naote 21,
Other Liabilities
The table below presents other labilities by type.
Az of Decamber
in pilans 024 2020
Compentation nd Benet e SLTE
Income tax-related kabiges 450 330
Lewse kabites 3 1
Azcrusd erpeniet and olher 1.?_“" 1.3-71
Tetal inancml Eabiitisg 4,81 4470
Intoma tax-rested kabikes 1 T
Cthar tams ansd social secwriy costy 487 m
Prondtinng 1 1
Tetal o b ancial babites a7 30
Total 3,08 54,860

In the table above, acensed expenses and cther meludes contract
liabalities, which represent consideration receved by the
company in connection with 1ts contracts with clients prior to
providing the service. As of December 2021 and December
2020 contract liabilities were not material

Provisions

The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedmgs in which the company is
mvolved

£ in millony

As of Hoseeeiber 2018 1

Charge during the period 137

Mo cash captal contribubion (125
Utiisad during the priod {1}
As of December 2020 1

Chaigs duing this piiad 1

Utiisad during the period (k1]
As of December 2011 i1
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In the table above, provisions charged during the peniod ended
December 2020 included fines of $126 million levied by the
FCA and PRA in relation to GS Growp's zettlement of
governmental and regulatory investigations relating 1o IMDB,
which, in accordance with the indemnification agreement
between Group Inc. and the company in relation o 1MDB
losses, were paid by Group Inc. These fines were recognised as
an expense n the company’s ncome stalementl, with a
commesponding  non-cash  capital  contribution  in retwned
eammings, fesulling in no Rt impact 1o the company’s total
shareholder's equity as of December 2020,

Note 22,
Share Capital
The table below presents share capital.

Ordinary sharss
Allosed, coliad up and fally paid of §1 wach § i pnilfiang
s of Novembar 2018 a4, G0H, 06 S0
Bllgmed during the pericd 8,574,007 a
As of December 2020 543,182,053 [T
As of December #3031 $494, 182,057 St

On March 24, 2020, 8,574,007 ordinary shares of 31 cach were
allotted at 544,32 10 G5G UK. The tolal consideration received
was 5320000000 m cash, incorporating a share premaum of

B371.425593,

Note 23,
Other Equity Instruments
The table below presents information about unsecured ATI
notes
e of
Manth ol iswance AT1 netes 5 mrlons inberest rate
June T0A7 3,800 53,800 BO0% pa
Hoeembar 2010 2,500 L5080 AT P
As of December 2021 8,300 58,300

The company™s AT notes of §1 million each have been issued
to GSG UK, They have no fixed maturity date and are not

callable.

The AT notes will be arrevocably written-down @ the event
that the CET1 capital ratio of the company or the G3G UK

Group falls below T4

The company paid interest on s AT 1 notes of $749 million for
the pertod ended December 2021 and 5751 mullion for the period
ended December 2020, Interest pard 15 recogrised in retainad
earmings. The associated tax effect is recognized in income tax
expense. The mon-cumulative fixed interest 15 pavable at the
company s discretion subject 1o cemain solvency and regulatory

conditions.

341/415



GOLOMAM SACHS INTERMATIOMNAL (UNLIMITED COBPANY )
MNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 24,
Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliations

The table below presents cash and cash equivalents, net of
overdrafts for the purpose of the statements of cash flows.

Ax of December
§ in miliony il 2020
Cazh and cath squivalents $52422 S I
Crenscraks (1o Nobe 20 114} {115}
Total BA2A08 S4B TIE

In the table above, cash and cash equivalents included cash that
15 not available for use by the company of 5252 billion as of
December 2021 and §1.34 ballion as of December 2020,

Reconciliation of Cash Flows Frem Operating
Activities

The table below presents a reconciliation of cash flows from
operating activities

Pariad Ended December
$ in milions — ma W0
Prolt badors taciation F 3,852 5 AEM
Adusmants for
Deprecation and smordsation (e Nobe &) 210 154
Lot on disposal of leasehald mpro - 2
Loss on disposal of intangibie assets i1 -
Chargaiicrecil) for defined banet plan (ves Mote 155 1 =i}
Forsign axchangs lowsssigaing 2,608 [irdri-s ]
Sharebated companiation aapenss 1,425 =]
Provisions (ses mobe 21) 1 127
Iternet on wbordingled Icany

arsd MREL-aligible intercompany lcans Rl )
Caing an ivestmonts (104} =0
Gain on desposal of lsases (L] -
It el Expente on lnatey = 2
Cash ganarsted bedors changss in opsrating

a3ty and kabdtes 8,032 2491
Changes in operating assets
DChuser i #] in col Etad ag (UL 15, 50
Dy o S N1 CF @B 5E) i CUSROMET Bnd

cther mosvabies LR T] (85TS
Dhser idridolinier dads] i irnding asoeis 240,681 [LE-TA- 1
Decroase in loans 160 )
Dy Nincrease) in oiher asseis 4436 (1=
Changes in opemting sssets 132,847 (20535
Charges in aperating Kabilities

{decrease} in o financings a4z [}

Incraase in customer and ofed payables 18,364 15,881
In LE i Ermding BBt @ITATZ 2T T4
Duecraass in unseeurod bormeowsngs .B6E (11325
Incressafdecreasel in other babdtes {1,005} 21
Changes in opermting Sitdities (129,538) 216,514
Cash genersled from operaions § 1030 5 16504

In the table above, cash generated from operations includead
interest paid of $2.81 billion for the period ended December
2021 and $5.05 billion for the period ended December 20000, and
interest received of 33,05 hillion for the peniod ended December
2021 and 54.22 hillion for the penod ended December 2020,

&

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Reconciliation of Cash Flows From
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company includes MREEL-elighle borrowings as financing
activity for the purposes of its statement of cash flows, which
conmzists of s AT notes, subcrdirated loans amd MREL-
cligihle intercompany loans. Both the principal and mterest
related to these borrowings is classified as financing activity.

Financing

The table below presents a reconcibiation of cash flows from
financing activities excluding lease Lhabilities.

5 i el s Principal  nfereal Testal
A of Novembar 2019 SNEB8T 5 B2 527085
Inerate in MREL- ol gisle nbereampany laans 3,400 - 3400
intereat on ATY nobes = 51 T
Intirn it on wuibonSnated cant

ard MIREL-slgiksle inbersompary loany - ] 858
Interat pabd on AT1 notes E (TE1) 761y

Ivteresd paid on subcrdinated loans

arsd MAEL-sligile intersompary lsany = (1.3 (1,300
A of Decarbae 2020 $0367 3 &0 a7
Incrasse in MAEL-si gible inbercompany loans 1,400 - 1,500
Irternet on AT robes e 49
Irtitadl? on suboidineted loant

and MAEL-slighie intercompany loans - 1% 4%
Irtmra st paid on AT1 notes - ra% a9
It a2 i o aubedknated loans

anvd MAEL-alghds intercompany loans 451) 451
Ag of Decembar 2001 SNMT 5 1 Sha

Mote 28.
Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies
The table below presents commitments and contingencies,

As of Ducenber
5 i il Fordl 2020
Colalaraksad agiasmants 541,020 561,882
Collaterabsed Enanciegs EL AR 10707
Cthar 4,861 4842
Todal 175,002 585,711

Collateralised agreememts commitments includes forward
starting resale and secunities bomowing agreements, amd
collateralized financings commitments includes forward starting
repurchase and secured lending agreements that settle ata future
date, generally within three business davs  Collaeralised
agreements commitments alse inchede transactions. where the
compary has entered into commitments 1o provide contingent
financing to its clients and couerparties through resale
agreements, The company’s funding of these comm itments
depends on the satisfaction of all contractual conditions to the
resale agreement and these commitments can expire unused.

Other commiments primarily relate 1o collateral commitments,
underwriting commitments and investment commitments.
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In addition, there are registered charges on the company's assets
which have arisen in the crdinary course of business.

Legal Proceedings

The company is involved in & number of judicial, regulatory and
arbitration  proceedings (includmg those described below)
CONCeTning matters arising in connection with the conduct of the
company’s business. Except as noted in the first matter below,
1t 15 not practicable to reliably estimate the possible financial
mpact, if any, of these procesdmgs on the company.

Bance Espirite Santo 5.A. and Oak Finance., Beginning
in February 2015, the company commenced sctions against
Nowe Banco 5.A. (Novo Banco) in the English Commercial
Cowt and the Bank of Poriugal (BoP) in Portuguese
Adminustrative Court in response to BoP's decisions m
December 2014, September 2015 and December 2005 to reverse
ani earlier transfer to Nove Banco of an 5835 mullion faeiliy
agreement (the Faoility), structured by the company, between
Oak Finance Luxembourg 5.A. {(Cak Finance), a special purpose
vehicle formed in connection with the Faclity, and Banco
Esparito Santo 5.A (BES) prior to the failure of BES. In July
2018, the English Supreme Court found that the English cousts
did mot wet have junisdiction over the company’s action. [n July
2M8, the Ligudation Committee for BES issued a decision
seeking to claw back from the company 554 million paid to the
company and 350 million pad to Oak Finance in connection
with the Facility, alleging that the company acted 1n bad faith
extending the Facality, including because the company allegedly
knew that BES was at risk of imminent failure. In October 2018,
the company commenced an sction in Lisbon Commercaal Court
challenging the Liquidation Committes™s decision and has since
also ssued a claim agamst the Poriuguese Siate secking
compensation for losses of approximately 3222 million related
to the failure of BES, together with a contingent claim for the
5104 milleon sought by the Liquidation Committes.
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company 1
among the defendants named in a putative antitrust class action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed in November
2005 and consolidated an the U5, District Court for the Southern
Dhstrict of Mew York. The company is also among the
defendants named m two antitrust actions relating 1o the trading
of interest rate swaps, commenced in Apnl 2016 and June 2018,
respectively, mthe U5, District Count for the Soathern District
of Mew York by three operators of swap execution facilities amd
certain of their affiliates, These actions have been consolidated
for pretrial proceedings. The complaints generally assen claims
under federal antitrust law and state commeon law in connection
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants to precludes
exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The complaints in the
individual actions also assert claims under slate antifrust law.
The complaints seck declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants meved 1o
dismiss the class and the first individual action and the district
conarl dismussed the state common law claims asserted by the
plaantifls in the first individual action and otherwise limited the
state common law clam in the putative class action and the
antitrust elaims in both actions to the peniod from 2013 1o 2006,
On November 20, 2018, the court granted m part and dended in
part the defendants” motion 1o dismiss the second individual
action, dismussing the state commeon law clams for unjust
enrichment and tortious inderference, but denving dismissal of
the federal and state antitrust claims. On March 13, 20019, the
courl demed the plamtifs’ motion in the putative class action 1o
amend their complaint to add allegations related to conduwct from
2008 to 2012, but grarted the motion to add limited allegations
frem 2003 1o 2016, which the plairtiffs added in a fourth
comolidated amended complaint filed on March 22, 20019, The
plantiffs in the puistive class action moved for class
certification on March 7, 2019,

Commodities-Related Litigation, The company 15 among
the defendants named in putative class actions relating to trading
in platinum and pallacium, fled begmmng on November 25,
2014 and most recently amended on May 15, 2007, in the U.S
District Court for the Sputhern District of New York, The
amended complaimt generally alleges that the defendants
violated federal antrirust laws and the Commodity Exchange Act
in connection with an alleged corspiracy to manipulate a
benchmark for physical platinum and paltadium prices and seek
declaratory and injunctive relief, s well as treble damages iman
unspecified amount. On March 29, 2020, the court granted the
defendants” motions to dismiss and for reconsideration,
resulting in the dismisal of all clams. On Apnl 27, 2020,
plaantiffs appealed 1o the Second Cireuit Count of Appeals.
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The company is among the defendants in o number of putative
class and individual actions filed beginning on August 1, 2013
and corsolidated i the US. District Court for the Southemn
District of MNew York. The complants generally allege
violations of federal antitrust laws and state laws in connection
with the storage of aluminium and alummndum trading. The
complaints seek declaratory, injunctive and other equitable
relief, a5 well as unspecfied monetary damages, including treble
damages. In December 2006, the distnel court granted
defendants” motions 1o dismiss and on August 27, 2019, the
Second Circuit vacated the district court’s dismissals and
remanded the case to district count for further proceedings. On
July 23, 2020, the distrect court denied the class plaintiffs’
maotion for class certification, and on December 16, 2020 the
Second Circuit dented leave to appeal the denual. On February
17, 2021, the district coun granted defendants” motion for
summary judgment with respect to the claims of most of the
individual plaintiffs. On April 14, 2021, the plaintiffs appealed
10 the Second Cirewt Cowt of Appeals.

Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company 1s
ameng the deferndants named m a putative antitrust class action
relatng to the settlement of credit default swaps, filed on June
3, 2021 in the LS. District Court for the District of New
Mexico. The complaint generally asserts claims under federal
antitret, law and the Commodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alkeged conspiracy among the defendants to manpulate
the benchmark price uwsed to value credit default swaps for
seftlement. The complant also asserts a clum for unjust
enrichment under stale common law, The complant seeks
declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as unspecified amounts
of treble and other damages. On November 15, 2021, the
defendants filed a motion 1o dismiss the amended complamnt. Cn
February 4, 2022, the plaintiifs filed an amendsd complaint.

!
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its afTilistes, including the
company, are subject to a number of other investigations and
reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas and
requests for documents and information  from, various
governmental and regulatory bodies and  self-repulatony
organisations and litigation relating 1o various matters relating
10 G5 Growp”s businesses and operations, meluding:

+ The public secunies offering process and underwmting

praclices,
+ Investment management and financial advisory services,

Conflicts of inlerest;

Tramssctions imvolving  povernment-related fnancings and
other matlers,

The offering, auction, sales, trading and clearance of corporate
and povernment secunties, curmencies, commodities and other
financial products and related sales and other communications
and activities, az well as GS Group's supervision and controls
relating to such actvities, including compliance with
applicable short sale rubes, algonthmic, high-frequency amd
quantitative trading, fwtures trading. options trading. when-
issued trading. iransaction reporting, technology systems and
controls, securities lending practices, prime  brokerage
setivities, tradmg amd  clearance  of oredit  denvative
instruments and interest mle swaps, commodities activities
and metals storage, private placement practices, allocations of
and trading in securittes, and trading activities and
communications in connection with the establishment of
benchmark rates, such as currency rates;

Compliance with the UK. Bribery Act and the U.S. Foregn
Corrupt Practices Act,

-

Hirng and compensation practices;

System of risk management and controls; and

Insider trading, the potential misuse and dissemination of
material non-public information regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of insider
trading controls and mformation barrers,

-

In addition, investigations, reviews and htggation invelving the
company’s affiliotes and such afilistes” businesses and
operations, including various matters referred 1o above b also
other matters, may have an impact on the company’s businesses
and operations.
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Mote 26.
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents the expected mistunty of the
company s assets and labilites

Han-
§ in miliony _ ] Cumaeat Total
Al Detember 2071
Assels
Cash and cash equivalents 5 = § 82437 5 82413
Colalasabited agraamanty 1,114 258, 257 57,48
Cuial i o - BE, 133 EE1X
Trading astnte - T TR LR
Frepstments E =] B L
Losng Lk 255 Fe
Cthar msels 1578 L5 4442
Tolal aseels 5 JABT SLIRESY 51,1340
E———
Liabdngies
Colalsraksed Enancngs 5 61,3RE 5 MAMT § A AR
Customar and other payables - 116, EE2 1Me8=
Treding habdtsa - G604 =T [0 K v
Linisaes L] Bie criregrs M, 100 25,817 TRED
Char lisbditios 1, M5 1,063 5,308
Titad labilities STI6030 5 ORF.SP8  $1.104,535
£ of December 2020
Assels
Cash and cath squivalents -3 = § 803 F 430
Colaterabived agresmants 1006 130 TS 140682
Customer and cther receivables - B0 380 B0, 2
Trading avsets - f:lied h ] k=T
Irvaatmies GED 182 =
Lomns 8T inl ST
Cther sszeis 1,742 6847 8550
Tiotal sueete § 4B 512830014 51.087.058
Llabilities
Collateralited Snancings 3851 5 10027 §
Customar and cther payables - pliE3t] 00519
Tﬁdnu babd @es - Az 404 2414
Unsacuned bormowings 55.™1 24570 B0 ¥
Cihar linbdies 1,008 4860 4 255
Ttal hat o 5 BOS41 51170639 51,290,080
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In the wble above:

« Current assets and liabilities include amounts that the
company expects 1o realise or settle in its normal operating
cycle and includes assets and labilives held for trading
purposes and cash and cash equivalents.

« Mon-current assets are amounts that the company expecis to
be recovered after more than twelve months and primarily
includes  certain  collateralised  agreements,  cenain
investments, certam leans, intangible assets, deferred tax
assels, pension surplus and certain intercompany koans.

+ Mon-current liabilites are amounits that the company expects
to be settled after more than twelve months and primanly
includes collateralised financings and wsecured bomowings
with contractual maturities greater than ane vear, with the
exceplion of conracts that have trigger events that are not in
the control of the company, which are classified as current.

Note 27.
Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if ome party has the ability 1o
directly or indirectly comtrol the other party or exercise
sigrificant infleence over the parly in making fnancial or
opermtional decisions, The company s related parties include:

» The company”s parent entilies,
« Cabwer G5 Group alfilates,
+ kev management personnel of the company,

« Key management persormel of the company”s parent entities,
and

« Oiher related parties, which includes the company's defined
benefit scheme and associates of G5 Group.

Key management personnel are defined as these persons having
authority  and responsibility  for planmng.  directing  and
comrolling the activities of the company, Key management
personnel of the company include the directors of the company,
members of the EMC whe are employvees of the company and
members of semior management who are designated as managers
under the PRA and FCA’s Senior Managers and Certification
Regime.
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Key Management Compensation
The table below presents the compensation pard or payable by

the company for emplovee services to key management
personnel of the company and nis parent entities.

Pariad Endid Digafmba
£ i poilons: sl 2020
Salaries and cthar shot-ferm benefts. e 21
Perit- rpleymrsnt banafty 1 1
Share-based compensation TS M5
Total e HET

In the table above:

« Salanies and other shor-term benefits includes fees paid to the
nen-execidive directors of the company.

» Share-based compensation included a charge of $187 millon
for the period ended December 2021 and a charge of 72
million for the period ended December 2000 representing
recharges from Group Inc, equivalent to changes in the fair
value of share-based payment awards during the period.

Directors' Emoluments

In accordamce with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emclumenls represent the proportion of tetal emoluments paid
or payable in respect of qualifving services only, This total only
includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, and does not
mclude the value of equity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 5 of the Statuory Instruments 2008/410
Dhrectors also receive emoluments for non-qualifying services
which are not required to be disclosed.

The table below presents the company s directors” emoluments.
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Three directors were members of a defined comtribution scheme
fior both the pericd ended December 2021 and December 2020,
Three directors including the highest paid director, have
received or are due 1o receive Group Inc. shares in respect of
long-term  incentive schemes for both the period  ended
December 2021 and December 20200

The aggregate emoluments of the eight non-executive directors
for the pertod ended December 2021 (penod ended December
2020: eight non-executive directors) who were members of the
Board for all or part of the period ended December 2021 was
approxamately 32,0 million (for all or part of the persod ended
December 2020; approcamately 321 muallion),  Additional
angoing fees inrespect of advisory services provided by certain
non-executive directors was approximately 32.4 million for the
pertod ended December 2021 (period ended December 2020¢
approxamately $2.5 millson).

Transactions with Related Parties
The company's transactions with related parties primanly
include the following.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely enters into derivatives and buys and sells
securities and loans with related parties for risk management and
market-making purposes, which are recogmized in trading assets
and trading liabilities.

The table below presents the gross outstanding buys and sells of
regular-way securities and loans fromfe other G5 Group
affaliztes.

As of Decemiber
Pariod Ended B $ in realicons £ 2020
$ in rilions Fora] 00 Crtatanding regelarwary Buys of securities and lasns §8,153 50,363
Agoregeie smoumens [T] 58 Cutitandng regaarway sels of securibes a=d loans 58,018 57,767
Cornipasty panasan oonl Bulioni bo mday
purthatn Sthienng - = The company also helds securities in, and makes corporate loans
Total 53 58 to other G3 Group affibiates, which are classified in trading

The whle below presents emoluments for the highest paid

director.

Puriad Ended Desambas

5 in muiliong s 2020

Ageregets emoluments 55 35
Company pention ooniribetions bo money

purchase schemes - -

Aztrued annual penseon at end of the pensd = -

73

assets. The company also exchanges cash and security collateral
in eonmection with denvative transachons. Cash collateral
received is recognased in customer and other pavables. Cash
collateral paid is recognised in customer and other receivables,
The company posted security collateral 1o related parties of $458
million as of December 2021 and 31,30 billkon as of December
2020,

In addition, the company alao executes and intermediates listed
dervatives with other G5 Group affiliates, resulting in the
exchange of margin, which 15 recognised m customer and other
receivables and customer and other payables.
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Funding Activity

The company routinely enters inte collateralised agreements and
collateralised financings with G5 Group affiliates, primarily to
souree securities and fund inventory on a secured basis

In addition, a significant portion of the company’s unsecured
borrowings 15 from G5 Group affilistes, including the
company’s AT1 notes issued to GSGUK. Sec Notes 20 and 23
for further details. The company has also made loans to certain
G35 Group alfilates. See Note 14 for further detmls.

Interest-bearing instruments are typically priced based on the
term, currency, size, subordination and whether the instrument
i= secured or unsecured.

Cash Management Services

The company receives cash management services from other G5
Group alflmtes and places cash deposits with them in the
normal course of business which 15 recognised in cash and cash
equivalents

Commitments and Guaranfees
The table below presents commitments and contingencies with
other GS Group affiliates.

As of Ducrmbe

% in milions for ] 2020
Colalembsed agresmants §T2,082 543 145
Cotatabusd Enanssq BAT4 7488
Total §78,556 5500633

The company has received a guarantee from Group Ine. related
o transactions entered into with ceriain of its counterparties for
up to 5% hillion of exposure at default. The exposure at default
being guaranteed as of both December 2021 and December 2020
was Sl

74
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Transfer Pricing and Management Charges

The company participates in the allocation of net revenues
among G5 Group affiliates for their involvement in G35 Group's
business activities. In addition, the company incursireceives
management charges to'from G5 Group affiliates relating to
operational and administrative support and  management

SETVICEs.

Taxation

The company receives group rehiefl from other G5 Group
affiliates. See Mote 9 for the tax-efTected losses surrenderad
from other G5 Group affilistes for mil consideration The
company also recewved tax-effected losses from cther GS Group
affiliates of 5121 million for the period ended December 2021
and 3201 million for the penod ended December 2020 for whach
comsideration will be paid i full.

Share-Based Payments
The company has entered mto a chargeback agreement with

Group Ine. under which 1t 15 committed to pay 1o Group Inc. (a)
the gram-date fair value of those swards and (b) subssquent
mevements in the fair value of those awards between the grant
date and delivery to employess. See Mote 7 and Note 8 for
further information.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Certain key management personne]l and their close family
members. have brokerage and‘or discretionary accounts at the
company. They are provided services in the ordinary course of
busmess on commercial terms, and in each case in compliance
with the relevant laws ansd regulations.

Close family members of certain key management personne] are
emploved by the company. The amount of com pensation paid 1o
the family members was determined in accordance with the
company’s standard compensation practices applicable to
similarly-situated emplovees.
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Related Party Assets and Liabilities

The table below presenis assets and liabilities with related
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Related Party Income and Expense
The table below presents income and expenses related to

parties. transactions with related parties other than Key Management
Personnel,
Cther  Other
Paent G5 Group  relabed Othae  Rhar
$ in s acttien  afiates  partier  Toll Pawt GAGrous  meesd
i of Qegember 2071 % in i sontien afiates  patties  Totl
Anseld Pt Ended December 2031
Cash and cash squivalents 5 - % r & -3 ¥ Mt revenues
Colateralised agresmants - QLTS T = 4rEre It 42 BN oreed 5 13 £ 454 - 5 487
Cuskomar s cihar rec 2542 17,7 1T 0 Internsd e ponse {540y {B4E) - plam
Tredng asseiu 1,08% 437,185 B9 4389 Traen far pricing revenues | 4 1,047 - 1,055
Ifrvi 4t et L - T = 1rr Bthar incoeme - - - -
Lowns - 2iE - 8 Total net revermes S (29 5 653 - 5 o
Cthar mivets 1,006 1,778 - TES “HeL cperating expenses.
Tolal ascels 5 A04) SEDATN 5 m_'i'nmn Trarsacion based spenses 5 - 5 T20 = § TH
Liabingies Meegeneat chages kom 05
Colatrakned Bnancings 5 FF A TR R B k) Group aflisles - 1,118 - 1,113
Customar and cther payables 1 1000 - EEn Masigement chirges 12 G3
Trading inbdiges 3167 4R B0 43615 Group aMiates il {336) = 3y
Unsacuned bomosings mar T = dEn Cthar scpenues 1 543 = 44
Cther lisbdties M7 1458 - AT Total net operaing expenses & (8] 5 &045 5-  S4009
Total liabilines SI6600  SS0N00F  § 757 SBajaMh ‘Paricd Enced Decerrter 2020
s of Decermber 2020 Met revents
Fy— et o 3 7 5 b 3 % &
Cash and eash squivalanty 5 - 5 @@ % - 5 @ Intern st expanse ond (.76 - e
Colaterabied ageements - fa0dT B p4im m:ﬂ:‘ﬂ"":’ ] & “E: - i‘:
e ; 1,081 = T =
?Mnn.x#vlwm ?ﬁ “Eﬁ 2123 ﬁ;;x Tetal ot revanuss 50,0000 5 312 53§ (585
Frepitnets - 16 - 193 Hel cperating expenses
[T - B4, _ Iy Trasacton baved expanise 5 - 5 438 - 5 438
o h— 8,008 1,181 - 77 Mandgaanaat chigia from O3
Tolsl s1ate 510656 5740620 53,300 5754776 Group afliies - w21 - i
Liabingies Menagement charges o G5
Consturakssd Inanciags 5 - s7R 3 TR 5 7naes Group affiates m 2 - B
Customer amd sihar payabies - i 8 d430 Déhar mipanaey - = - o=
Trading abisas 455 BZ54Z1 21T GX0TE Tt oot cparating sxpavses M SleM 3- ¥148
Uvigee it besrs crmvifea .7 12257 - AR
Cothar lisbdties 1,800 1,184 Y In the table above:
Toolal Knbilins 541,181 §72B.35 53,288 SI7281
L

« Other income related 1o consideration recerved from GSBE in
connection with the transfer of certain of the company’s
activities and emplovees as a pant of GS Group's Brexit
planning.

« Tramsaction based expenses and other expenses primarnly
include IFKS 15 expenses.
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Note 28.
Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camying value of financial assets
and liabalities by category.

Finandsl Avls
TWandaionly | Ameansd
$ in millons ! ke eabun ot Total
Az of December 2031
Caah and cash souiealsnty 5 = 5 S2432 & SRAER
Collalbrabisd & samanly 18,379 70,087 25T W5
Cuttemer asd cthar tecevalisd - B6,133 BEA3S
Trading assets 742,738 - 438
4 - T
e - e
1,000 1,782 B TED
¥ Ba,300 Saaa4e0 SLIL0
Cash and cash equialents 5 - 5§ 43833 g 43E
Colaterabsed agresmants ford 3] 40063 1400, £
Gk i oEha e - B0, 3680 jkt-]
Treding asseiu S50 3B - = rd- 1]
vty Beg - o=
Losris BE&T - -1
Cthar miseln &013 1.285 T8
Tictal 51,080, 008 S1H3ET1 51,268,577
Frnancal Liskdties
Hedd for  Dwrsegnabed Amortised
$ in mailigng _ wrading af fak value cost Tital
As of December 2081
Colaterabied Enanarg 5 = SMBET § SEMZ S 4,500
Cuttemar asd cther payables - - TIREE3 110,883
Trading inbdiges BO4, 0ET = = BBEZ
Unescued boromings - E RL LR ] ToRiE
Cthar lisbdtes - = 4,831 4,81
Tt SHOOEY  B1RRART  STEREEE $1,004,008
Az of December 202
Colateabsed Enanorgs H = 587103 & 16dda s 12T
Cusbomar gnd ofhee payabies - = 130518 100,518
Treding labdites Az 404 = = HIZ44
Ul st B i ol - =418 50,825 BO.351
Cthad linbliten - - 4478 4478
Tetal SRIZ414  FI28.529 FITLMMT §1.230800

T
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assets and hiabilities that are

subpet to enforceable netting agreemenis and offsetting.

Amounts are only offset in the balance sheet, when the company

currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognisad

amoaunts and an intention either 1o sentle on a net basis, or 1o

realise the assel and settle the lability simultanecusly. In the

tables below:

» Giross amounts exclude the effects of both counterpany netting
and collsteral, and therefore are not represemative of the
company”s CConomIc exXpOsure.

+ Amounts not offset in the balance sheet inclede counterparty
neing (1.¢., the netting of fmancial assets and habilities for a
given counterparty when a legal nght of set-off exasts under an
enforceable netting  agreement), and cash and securiy
collateral received and posted under enforceable credit suppon
agreements, thal do not meet the ereria for offsetting under
IFES.

« Where the company has received or posted collateral unsder
credit support agreements, but has not yet determined whether
such agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not
been included in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet.

« Giross amounts for the company included derivative assets of
$6.6% billion and denvative liabilites of 36.47 hillion as of
December 2021 and denvative assets of 54.69 billion and
denvative labalities of 3547 ballion as of December 2020
which are not subject 1o an enforceable neiting agreement or
are subject 1o g netting agreement that the company has not vel
determined to be enforceable

Substantially all resale agreements and securities bormowed
within collateralized agreements and repurchase agreements
and securities Joaned within collateralised financings are
subject to enforceable netting agreements as of December
2021 and Diecember 2020,
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A% of December 2001

Amcianils  Mat amnodnt

offsed inEhe  presented in
| e

Arounts ot offaet i 1he BaANCY areet

Gross c paaty Cmh  Security Net
$ in miliony aounis sheel sheet neming  collsersl  colateral ameant
Financial Assels
Collaleraksed agresmanis 5 OGIS  S{IIEN0]) 5 IS § [s3.850) 5 - BEMOTE 5 ZB4S
Curshs e ethae 4347 126,602) k243 19, 395) 138,186) (11,148 8838

Tradeng cash nstrumants T 15,682 12,008 1,372} 1133} 18,708 1,583
\Decieatioes S5 9.BET) BEREE (=61, 608) [LLRFELT] (12,245 1,558
Trading assstu [LTE TR 125,380) BT R 583, W80y [T (40,957 FERET]
Lapnn I - o] 1107 - - 187

_Oter seses _ Y : - o
Finarzial assaty subiecl 2 enforceakie roitng &g 1,183,025 {1BE, 754 [T %] %I8,032)  (FBAM)  [23%,173) 35,503
Financial svssts not subject bo b natting agr 167509 167,508 167,508

el )] 41, el 1 |
Einancial Liabilivies
Colatprabied Enanarg 5 0y H181,706)  F 84T § (84,007} 5 (2241)  B{100408 5 6,388
Cuttomer and ofher payables 121350 |26, 307) 58D 9,594 40,368] (18,681) 25,579
Tradeg cash nabumants [ 1BE3) = = = = -
ﬂ-m-l.iv\ﬂ_ 3853 19,403 Lrrieil] (58, F 20y 5,7 4,203 20,370
Trading labinss SIS 1, T T T & ;
Unsscuned borrowings 13,182 {8,597 4,580 {1,120} {17} 1,283
Cthiar linbiisns 2703 1,434) 1389 - - R 1,269
Finarzial kb bt wtet 1a 6o Ercaabie netng agresmmnts TIB5870  (IRE704)  BIBATE IBg33)  RAM) (154,561) 56,540
Financial Eabiities not subject to enieceable neting agresmants 1T 82 - 187,183 = - - 187,162
“Total financial IsbiNes. FIWEAIE  SIEH,T04]  §1,000GE  80,902)  BH,0041  BLISLA0Y  Seb011
As of December 2020’
Amountt not offyel in the balance thest
Amouwsts  Met amsunt
el the  preteniedin
[y Bl e bl Cauntarg Cash Seeurity Mt
# in rrilions Bmounts shaat et neting  collsterl  colstera b

Financisl Assels
Colaterakied agesments § ZZZEOT 5 (BIE2E) 5 140882 5 (3,757 & - sip4sEEm 5 1,837
Cusbamar amd sihar 103,442 {24,085} T8.M7 B50Z)  pBABE  (17.331) 1025

Tradieg cach natruments TN {18,185} 1143 11,355y {30 (RB03) 564
Derrvatives 804, 223 {16,821} e M {E06, 8265 450,846} 13,108 20,622
Tredng assets 231,849 @216} [ TR {20, 180y 8,158} [FFITF] 21,086
Lamnt ] - ] 15 - - 51

Lt s 4897 HATT L] _- - B 580
Finarcial avuals subject bo aniy e rptting By 1T [AEFE S 1920, il (B A5 00 GEL} {144, 331) 30658
Finarecial assebs nod subject b natting &g nts 148,289 148258 148,288
Tolal inancial Busets S1408550  WIS2413] 5106577 SB46 664)  SDBGS4}  5(184.331)  S176,888
Firuisniciil L iabilities
Collatpraliied Enancag § 153074 S 0Tm 5 102004 § (3851 § (.32 § (8511m 5 1813
Cuttemar asd athar payablen 117.084 {24481} pra k] 15502 01558 13,518 24417

Tradirg cash natumens 1477 1,381} E3 = = = 3
Daeraatrots £35,551 {15,524} 880479 (BO06171) 47,885} (8,268 17,6084
Tradng labikes B57,430 {16,805} BO0.EDS B0B,171) 47,885} 18,268 18,000
Uinuesuned bomowings 12209 {1663} 4 56 1,050y [LEri] 3544
Cther lishdes U 12,204} b = = = 000
Finarcial bt subpect to eafrcsabin neRing o gresrmenty 1.222.961 142413} 1,080,568 (48,654, [T {88,906} &0, 364
Finaneial Ralditii nol tulject b5 anls 5l FaPEAG B s 150,322 - 150322 - - - 150,322
Tolal inancial kabiles 51373303 S{142413) 5123080 S(B46.654)  S{DABE4} 5 (BA.006  5108,688

1. Met amounts presemted in the balance sheet as of December 2020 have been restated to move $5360 million of other assets and $900
million of cther habilitses that are subject 1o enforcesble netting agreements from not subject to enforeeable netting agreements 1o
subject to enforceable netting agreements, In addition, gross ether assets and other labilities subject to enforceable netting agreements
have been increased by 32,84 illion and 33,18 billion, respectively, and other assets and other habilities offset in the balance sheet

have both been increased by $2.28 ballion. Total financeal assets and Labilities remaimed unchanged.
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives cash and securities (e g, government and
agency obligations, corporate debt securities, equity securities)
a3 collateral, primasily in comnmection with resale agreements,
securities  borrowed, denvative transactions and  customer
margin loans. The company obtains cash and securities as
collateral on an upfront or contingent basis for denvative
mstiruments and collateralised agreements 1o reduce s credit
exposure Lo individual counterparties.

In many cases, the company is permitted to deliver or repledge
financial mstruments received as collateral when entening into
repurchase agreements and secunities lending agreements,
primarily in conmection with secured client financing activity.
The company 15 also permitted to deliver or repledee these
financial instruments in comnection with other secured
financings, collateralised derivative transactions and meeting
company or customer seitlement requirements.

The company also pledges certain trading assets m connection
with repurchase agreements, secunties lending agreements and
other secured financings 1o counterpanies who may or may not
have the reght to deliver or repledge them

The table below presents financial instruments received as
collateral that were available to be delivered or repledged, and
that were deliversd or repledped.

As of Decemiber
£ in milions il 2020
Colateral svailable 10 be deirvered o repledged 754,057 3671072
Collataral Bl wan delvened or repledged STI0ETE  SS4E05

The whle below presents information about asseis pledged

Ad ol Dacimbie

% in miliang e 2020
Pledged 1o countesparties thad had the fight 1o deliver or replodge

Tradieg seeete fuam T
et § 11 5 &2
Pledged 10 counterparties hat did not have the right bo deliver or repledge
Trading asssts 530,338 L0 808
renaaants § 100 5 348

The company has received cash collateral of $58.83 billion as of
Drecember 2021 and 57490 hillion as of December 2020, and
posted cash collateral of $74. 30 hillion as of December 2021 and
536075 billon as of December 20200 Amounts received and
posted are mainly in respect of trading assets and tradmg
liabalities.
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Mote 29,
Fair Value Measurement

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability inan
orderly transaction  between market participants at the
memsurement date, Financial assets are marked 10 bid prices and
financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value
mensurements do nod include transsction costs. The company
messures certain fNinancial assels and liabilities as a portfolio
(1.e., based on its net exposure to market and/'or credit risks).

IFRS has a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of fair valug
measurements. This hierarchy priontises inputs 1o the valuation
techniques used to measure fair value, giving the highest prionty
to level 1 mputs and the lowest priority 1o level 3 inputs. A
financial instrument’s level in this hierarchy is based on the
lowest level of mput that s sigrificant 1o its fair value
megsurement.

The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Lewvel 1. Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
udentical, unrestricted assets or habilities.

Level 2. Inputs to valuation techniques are observable, enther
directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more inputs to valuation techniques are
significant and unohservable.

The fair valwes for substantially all of the company’s financial
assets and Lisbilities that are fair valued on a recurring basis are
basad on observable prices and inputs and are classified m kevels
1 and 2 of the fur valwe hieraschy, Certain level 2 and level 3
financial assets and liabilities may require valuation adjusimenis
that a market participant would require to arrive a1 fair value for
factors such as counterparty and the company’s and GS Group's
credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, liquadity amd
bidiaffier spreads. Valuation adjustments are generally kased on
market evidence.
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Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
Valuation techniques and significant inpas for each level of the
Eair value hierarchy include:

Level 1

Level 1 instruments are valued using quoted prices for identical
unrestricted rstruments in active markets. The company defines
active markets for equity instruments based on the aversge daily
trading volume both in absolute terms and relative 1o the market
capitalisation for the instrument. The company defines active
markets for debt instruments based on both the average daily
trading volume and the number of days with trading activity.

Level 2

Level 2 instruments can be verified to quoted prices, recent
trading activity for identical or similar mstruments, broker or
dealer quotations or allernative pricing sources with reasonable
lewels of price transparency, Consideration s given 1o the nature
of the quetations (e g., indicative or firm) and the relationship of
recent market activity o the prices provided from alternative
Pricing sources,

Valuation adjustments are typically made to level 2 instruments
(i) if the instrument is subject to transfer restrictions and'or (i)
for other premiums and hguidity discounts that a market
participant would require to arrive at far value Valuation
adjwstments are generally based on market evidence.

Level 3

Level 3 mstruments have one or more significant valuation
inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the contrary,
level 3 instruments are mitally valued at transaction price,
which is considered 1o be the best initial estimate of fair value,
Subsequeritly, the company wses other methodologies 1o
determine fair value, which vary based on the tvpe of
imstrument. Valuation inputs and assumplions are changed when
comoborated by substantive observable evidence, including
values realised on sales of fnancial assets.

™
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Valuation techniques of level 3 instruments vary by instrument,
but are generally based on discounted cash flow technigues. The
valuation techniques and the nature of signifcant inputs used to
determine the fair values of each tvpe of level 3 irading cash
instrument, investments and loans are descnbed below:

« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securittes. Sipnificant inputs are pererally determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

« Market vields mplied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

« Tramsaction prices in both the wnderlving collateral and
instrumients with the same or similar underlving collmeral;

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recavery assumplions il a default sccurs; and

« Timing af expected future cash Nows (duration) which, in
cemain  cases, may mcorporate the impact of other
unobservable mputs (e g, prepayment speeds),

norpurate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations and Loans. Sigrificant inpuis are
generally determined based on relative value analyses, which
incorporate comparisons both o prices of credit default swaps
that reference the same or similar underlving instrument or
entity and 10 other debd instruments for the same or similar
issuer for which observable prices or broker quotations are
available. Sigraficant inputs include:

+ Market yvields implied by transactions of similar or related
assels,

+ Current levels and changes in market indices, such as the
iTraxx and CDX (indices that track the performance of
corporate credit);

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions if a default occurs;

« Maturity and coupon profile of the instrument, and

« Market and trarsaction multiples for corporate  debs
instruments with convertibility or participation options.

Equity Securities. Equity secunties consists of private
cquity securnties. Recent third-party completed or pending
transactions {eg, merger proposals, tender offers, debt
restructurings) are considerad 1o be the best evidence for any
change in fair value. When these are not available, the
following valuation methodologies are used, as appropriate:

» Industry multiples and public comparables,

+» Transactions in similar mstruments; and

+ Discounted cash flow techniques.
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Derivatives. Denvalives may be traded on an exchange
{exchange-traded) or they may be privately negotiated contracts,
which are usually referred to as OTC derivatives. Certain of the
company’s OTC derivatives are cleared and settled through
central clearing counterparties (07T C-cleared), while others are
bilateral contracts between two counterpartics (balateral OTC)

The company’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
dervative pricing models (e, discounted cash flow models,
commelation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methedologies, such as Monie Carle simulations). Price
tramsparency of derivatives can generally be charactermed by
product type, as described below.

« Interest Rate. In general, the key inputs wsed o value
nterest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated contracts, Interest rate swaps and options denom inated
in the cumrencies of leading indusirialised nations are
characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid/offer
spreads. Interest rate dertvatives that reference mdices, such as
an nflation ingdex, or the shape of the yield curve (e.g., 10-year
swap rle va 2vear swap rale) are more complex, bt the key
inputs are generally observable,

Credit. Price transparency For credin default sweaps, ineluding
both single names and baskets of credits, varies by market and
underlying reference entity or obligation. Credin default swaps
that reference indices, large corporates and major soversigns
generally exhibat the most price transparency. For credit
default swaps with other underliers, price transparency vanes
based on credit rating. the cost of borrowing the underlying
reference obligations, and the availability of the underlying
reference obligations for delvery upon the default of the
issuer. Credin default swaps that reference loans, asset-backed
securities and emerging market deb instruments tend 1o have
less price transparency than those that reference corporale
bonds. In addition, more complex credit derwvatives, such as
those sensitive to the comrelation between two or more
underlving reference obligations or to secured funding
spreads, generally have less price transparency.

Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrialised mations, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary  difference  between the price tramsparency  of
developed and emerging markel curency derivatives is that

emerging markets tend 1o be only observable for contracts
with shorter tenors.
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+ Equity. Price transparency for equity derivatives varies by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit the
most price wansparency. Equity denivatives generally have
observable market prices, except for contracts with long tenors
or reference prices that differ significantly from current market
prices. More complex equity derivatives, such as those
sensitive 10 the correlation between two or mese individual
stocks, generally have less price transparency,

Licuidity 15 essential 1o observability of all product tvpes. If
transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices and
other inputs may become unobservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may ot times have trading volumes
large encugh to provide observability of prices and other inputs,

Level 1

Level 1 derwatives mnclude short-term contracts for future
delivery of securitics when the underlying security & a level 1
mstrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traced and are valued at their quoted market price.

Level 2

Level 2 dervatives inchude OTC derivatives for whach all
significant valuation inputs are corroborated by market evidence
and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively traded
and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to market-
clearing levels of OTC derwvatives.  In evaluating the
significance of a valuation input, the company considers, among
other factors, a portfolio’s net nsk exposure 1o that input.

The selection of a particular model to valwe a derivative depends
on the contractual terms of and specific nisks mherent in the
instrument, a5 well as the availabaliny of pricing mformation in
the market, For denvatives that teade in ligquid markets, model
selection does not involve significant management judgement
because cutputs of models can be calibrated 1o market-clearmg
levels.

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as contractual
terms, market prices, yield curves, discount rates {including
these denved from interest rates on collateral received and
posted as  specified in credit support  agreements  for
collateralised denvatives), credit curves, measures of volatliy
and comrelations of such inpuls. Saficant inputs 1o the
valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified 1o market
tranzactions, broker or dealer quotations or other altermative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.
Corsideration 15 given 1o the nature of the gquotations (eg,
indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity
to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.
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Lavel 3

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which wtilise
observable level 1 and'or level 2 inputs, as well as unchservable
level 3 inputs. Unobservable inputs include centain comelations,
illiquid credit and secured funding spreads, recovery rates and
certain equity and interest rate volatilitics.

Subsequent to the mitial valuation of a level 3 denvative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 imputs to reflect
observable markel changes and any resulting gains and losses
are classified in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
corroboratad by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services and or broker or dealer quotateons or
other emparical market data [n circumstances where the
company cannot verify the model value by reference to market
trarsactions, it is possible that a different valuation medel could
produce a materially different estimate of far value. See below
for further information abow significant unobservable mputs
used in the valuation of level 3 denvatives,

Where there is a difference between the imtial transaction price
and the fuir value caleulated by internal models, & gain or less is
recognised after initial recognition only to the extent that it
arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price.

Valustion Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are mtegral 1o determining the fair value
of denvative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
valustions produced by denvative pricing models to the exat
price valustion, These adjustments mcorporate  bad/offer
spreads, the et of Lguidity, CVA and funding valwition
adjuwiments, which sccount for the credit and funding risk
inherent in the uncollateralised portion of derivative portfolios.
The company also makes funding valustion adjustments to
collateralised derivatives where the terms of the agreement do
not permit the company to deliver or repledge collateral
receved.  Market-based inputs are generally used when
calibrating valuation adjustments 1o market-clearing levels.

In additton, for denvatives that include sigmificant unobservable
mpuls, the company makes model or exat price adjustments 1o
aceount for the valuation unceriainty present in the transaction.

£l
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Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Valuton
techniques and significant inputs of other financial assets and
liabilities include:

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. The significant inpuls 1o the
valwation of resale and repurchase agreements and secumities
borrowed and loaned are funding spreads, the amount and
tming of expected future cash flows and interest rates.

« Other Asgets. Other assets measured at fair value consist of
an unsecured intercompany loan. The significant inputs to the
valwation of this unsecured ntercompany loan measured at fair
value are the amount and timing of expectad future cash flows,
interest rates and the credit spreads of GS Group,

+ Other Secured Financings. The sigrofican imputs to the
valwtion of secured debt securities ssued, other borrowings
and intercompany loans measused at fuir value are the amount
and timing of expected future cash Mows, interest rates,
funding spreads, the fair value of the collateral delivered by
the company {which 15 determined wsing the amount amd
tming of expested futwre cash flows, market prices, market
vields and recovery assumptions), the frequency of additional
collateral calls and commodity prices for prepaid commaodity
transactions.

Unsecured Borrowings. The smmificant mputs o the
valution of unsecured borrowings measured at fair value are
the amount and tming of expected future cash Mows, imerest
rates, the credit spreads of GS Group and commodity prices
for prepaid commedity transactions, The inputs used to value
the embedded derwative component of hyvbrid fnancial
irstruments are consistent with the inputs used to value the
company”s other derivative instruments.
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below presents, by level within the fair value
hierarchy, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair valwe
an @ recurring basis

Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Value Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
The table below presents level 3 trading cash instrument assets,
invesiments and loans and ranges and weighted averages of

Someon beml et Lewd I significant unobservable inpuls used to value level 3 trading
As of December 2081 .
Financial assets cash instruments, mvestments and loans.
Codatsrabsed agresments 5 - SI7E1E 5 1M 5 17EIM
[T TR r— X LR EL) L] A of December 2031 At of Decembar 2020
Dol iSRS 7 BIOGSE  A7EF  S35E46 % in milions, Amount or  Weighted Amountor  Wsighted
Trading assets TI8T  BERAET  SATe MRS sl inpats Range  Average Range  Average
Irvesimnents . w0 o Trading Cash Ivtnumsrts
Losny - M3 = e Morigages and other asset-backed boans. and securities
Cthar miveti — 00 - 100 Liwel 3 mssats $157 sz
Lotal STANVE SALIA) B AW S REOM Field L% RN ATH DAMtelaD% Bi%
;‘;‘_‘:_‘“'_'::‘::' S - SHSMSTS 308 M2 ;u:u;y rate 4?.nlnn-.';:. HA% 716 60N 3539;
—MET.#., P — ey =T TR ration {years) 04 1o 172 [¥] 1000 11.6 2
Divivalive insiruments B eI8AT) apE emaw g el e g i il Wegpirv g
Tradng abiRes Woie Barash 3y eeaEe Lerwel 3 misets o 48
Lrissu g Bert et - 75,053 14137 30,190 Yisld 1A% I 151% 5.5% 005 1o 23.6% S
Total SE1010  STOS.100 SIEIE0 5 EED 409 Resovery rabe 0% to 80.0°% 1 0L 1 6. 7% 50.4%
Duration {years) 1.8 to T84 ar 2010256 B3
Neet dervatives 5 (M § 12383 51,079 § 13436 e
A ol e 2020 Lol 3 mssids 5 52
Finsncial sssets Ciuration {years) 6,510 6% BS [y s,
Colaterabsed agresmants 5 =5 82818 § =% ®2E18 Total E1a b $504
Trading cach netrumants =T 035 503 EIT
(Dl el T E i BEZAGT 5619 E85MT Invgsimnens
Trading assets [ET TR [XF-I X 1T] Corporate debd instruments
Irvaaieninty e e 1w b [ p— 549 506
;:1"“ - - &;Isi m ﬁ:’f; Yieid ™ Wik B 06 B
e i — — R Recoverymate  B1% 10 78,0%  85.8% i, i,
=T 63,358 51,013,263 5 6365 51,008,008 Durstion tyears) i wn 29128 29
Financial Babilities
Colaterabsed fnancegs § -5 06863 5 M05 9700 Equity securkies
Tradieg cath nstruments 4B TE2 5.0 T Lol 3 miaety 558 5 38
|Dipstwation suats 55 BTEE45 A5 BED479 Wultiples Tl e T lx Tl 4.2 o 11 0w A
Trading babdites ATENT B Bad  Aho  Panand Total 108 5132
u o bt i - 19,774 9852 THADE
Tiatal 4T 00T & oo0a08 S13.sR0 1008 040 Lgans
Hit disrivantives £ 3§ E747 520805 7ET: Corporste
Lol 3 msnnts 555 i
Yield 41% 10 4.1% 1% 3% 1o 6,6% 56%
Rocovery rate  150% o 15.0% 1500 15.0P% 0 15.0% 16.0%

In the table above:

+ Ranges represent the sigmficant unchservable nputs that
were used in the valuation of each type of cash instrument and
weighted averages are calculated by weighting each input by
the relative fair value of the instrument
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« The ranges and weighted averages of these nputs are not
represendative of the appropriate nputs to use when
caleulating the fair value of any one trading instrument. For
example, the highest yield for morigages and other asset-
backed loans and securities is appropriate for valung a
specific mortgage but may not be appropriate for valuing any
other mortgages. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represend uncertmnty in, of possible ranges of, far value
measurements of level 3 rading cash instrumenits

» Increases in yvield or duration wed i the valuation of level 3
instruments would have resulted anoa lower fair value
measurertent, while increases in recovery mate of multiples
would have resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of
Drecember 2021 and December 20200 Due 1o the distinctive
natere of cach level 3 metrument, the interrelationshap of
inputs 15 not necessarily uniform withan each product type.

Morgapges and other asset-backed loans and securities,
corporate debt instruments and government and agency
oblizations and loans are valued wing discoumted cash Dows,
and equity securities are valued using market comparables and
discoumted cash Mows,

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple valuation technigues. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
to determine fair value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques.

« Duration was not signifscant 1o the valuation of level 3 equity
securities recopnised in trading cash irstruments as of
December 2020,

Yield and duration were not sigrificant to the valuation of
level 3 corporate debt mstruments recogrused in investments
as of December 2021,

Hecovery rate was nod significant to the valuation of level 3
corporate debl mstruments recogrused innvestments as of
Drecember 2020,
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Derivatives. The table below presents net level 3 denvatives
and ranges, averages and medians of significant unobservable
inputs used to value level 3 denvatives.

Aok of Decamber 3001 As of Decomber 2000
5 in g, Amount or  Aversgel Amount o Sragal
sxcen! inpatfs Range Pibevian Range Wdian
Inberest rates, el $ 954 3 414
Correlation 25N 10 % TR 0% fo 24 1IN
Wolatiity (Bet) 40 to 100 Eatkad 40 1o 63 ST
Credit, Fid Fam7 52305
Cradit spreads (bpa} Sto33F  HNE 2 bo B89 100053
Upfront cradit points A s 1910 200 n
Recovery mbes 20 oSy PRI 2F o ATRAD
Currencies, net E - 5 a7
Ciaarelation B e X IR 20 to 2P TR
Equities. et 1A HETn
Corrplation OIS WY (SN b Rar
“elatity Ao FEN RN e 10Z%  1ENAE%
Commoddities, net 5 - 5 4
Total $10M0 52.000

In the table above:

Met derivative assets are shown as pogitive amounts and net
derivative hiabilities are shown as negative amounts.

-

Ranges represent the significant unobservable inputs that were
used 1n the valmation of each type of derivative. Averages
represemt the anthmetic average of the mnputs and are not
weighted by the relative fair value or notional of the respective
financial imstruments. An average preater than the median
indicates that the majority of inputs are below the average.

-

The ranges, avernges and medins of these inpuls are not
represemtative of the appropriate mputs to wse when
calculating the fair value of any one denivative. For example,
the highest comelation for equity derivatives is appropriate for
valuing a .qmcil'ic equity derivative but may not be appropriate
for valuing any other equity derivative. Accordingly, the
ranges of inputs do not represent uncertainty in, or possible
ranges of, fur vahee measurements of level 3 derivatives.

Interest rates, carencies and equities dervatives are valued
using optien pricing models, and credit denivatives are valued
using option pricing., comelation and discounted cash flow
models

The fair value of any one instrument may be determined using
multiple valustion techriques. For example, oplion pricing
models and discounted cash flows models are tepically wsed
together to determine fair valwe, Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques.

« Correlation within currencies and eguities includes cross-
product type comelation.

« Upfront credit points were not significant to the valuation of
level 3 credit derivatives as of December 2021,
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Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs
The tollowing provides information about the ranges of

significant unobservable inputs used to value level 3 denvative
insiruments;

« Correlation. Ranges for corelation eover a variety of
underlzers both within one product type (2.2, equity index and
equity single stock names) and across product types (eg..
correlation of an inerest rate and a currency), as well as across
regons.

Volatility., Ranges for volatihty cover numerous underliers
across a vanety of markets, maturities and stnke prices. For
example, volatility of equity indices 15 generally lower than
volatlity of single stocks

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credn points and
recavery mtes cover a varwly of underliers (mdex and single
names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit gualities (high-
yield and investment-grade) and also includes secured funding
spreads. The broad range of this population gives nise to the
width of the ranges of significant uncbservable inputs,

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement fo Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The followmg is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measurements 1o changes n
significant unobservable mputs, in isolation, as of cach period-
end:

« Correlation. In gemeral, for contracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlying asset or index
prices (e, interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an IMkrease in
correlation results in & hagher faar value measurement.

« Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase mn
volatality results in a higher fr value measumement.

« Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. Ingeneral, the fair value of purchased credit profectson
mncreases as credit spreads or upfront credit pomis Increase or
recovery rates decrease, and the fair value of secured funding
capacity increases as secured funding spreads increase, Credit
spreads, upfront credit pomits and recovery rates are strongly
related to distinctive nisk factors of the underlving reference
obligations, which include reference entity-specific factors
such as leverage, volatility and industry, market-based risk
factors, such as borrowing costs or hoguadity of the underlying
reference obligation, and macroeconomic conditions.

Due o the distinetive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives, the mnterrelationship of mputs 1s ol necessanly
unifiorm within each product type.
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Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Swnificant
unobservable inpuis of other financial assets and liabalities
include:

+ Resale and Repurchase Agreements and Securities
Borrowed and Loaned. As of December 2021, the
significant unobservable inputs used to value kevel 3 resale
agreements are ncorposated into the trading cash instruments
disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See “Trading Cash
Instruments, Investments and Loans” and “Dervatives”
above. As of December 2021, there were no level 3 securiies
bosrowed, repurchass agreements and securiies loaned, As of
December 2020, there were no level 3 resale agreements,
securities bomrowed, repurchase agreements and secsitics
loaned

« Other Secured Financings. As of December 2021 amd
Drecember 2020, the significant unobservable inputs used to
value level 3 other secured financings are incorporated into the
denvatives and trading cash mstruments, nvestments amd
loans disclosures related to unobservable nputs. See “Tradmg
Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans™ and “Dernivatives™
above.

Unsecured Borrowings. As of December 2021 amd
Drecember 2020, the significant unchservable inputs used 1o
value level 3 unsecured bomawings are incorporated into the
denvatives and trading cash mstruments, investments amd
loans disclosures related to unobservable inputs. See “Tradmg
Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans™ and “Derivatives™
above,

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

During the period ended December 2021 and period ended
December 2020, there were no significant transfers between
level 1 and level 2 Ninancial assets and lisbilities measured at fair
value on & recurring basis.
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Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities Valued
Using Techniques That Incorporate Uncbservable
Inputs

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities may be
determined in whele or part using a valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on
available observable market dsta and  changing  these
assumptions will change the resultant estimate of fur value, The
potential impact of wsing reasonable possible alterrmtive
asmumptions  for  the wvaluations, including  sigmificant
unobserveble inputs, has been quantified as approximately 3333
million as of December 2021 and 5412 million as of December
2020 for favourable changes, and 5211 million as of December
2021 and 5186 mullion as of December 2020 for unfavowrable
changes. In determining reasomably  possible  alternative
unfavourable assumptions, a detailed business and position level
review has been performed to idennfy and quanufy instances
where potential uncertainty exasts. This has taken inle accoun
the positions’ fair value as compared o the range of available
market information, As of December 2021 and December 2020
the impact for favourable changes was pnmanly driven by
changes in the sssumptions around sscured funding spreads and
valuation adjustments in equity and fixed income denvatives,
and the impact for unfwvoursble changes was primarily driven
by changes in the assumptions around secured Tunding spreads,
volatlity and correlation inputs.

The table below presents the amounts not recognised m the
mcome statement relating 1o the difference between the fair
value of fnancial assets and liabalines at imtal recognition
uging the valuation techniques and the teansaction price (day 1
P&L).

Parind Ended Ducomber
$ in eiliang T T
Bggnning balsnce 5209 183
Huw transactions 125 L]
Arnzenls ecogieed n the Roeme wabensent
dunng the penod [ (138
Ending balance 5 100 )

85
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Level 3 Roliforward

The table below presenis a summary of the changes in farr value
for all level 3 fimancial assets and liabilittes measured at fair
vialue on a recurring basis.

Paeriad Ended Decembes

§ i\ mliag aan ]

Todal Nimancinl sveets

Beginning balancs $ BIES 5 53

Caiaiiosses) 636 2000

Purchases AT (2}

Zale [FA] (170
Setdements (739 (1,40
Traseslars inbs level 3 420 51

Trass fors out of level 3 i) (4T
Ending balance § 5760 % 64

Total Nnancial Nabillies

Baginning balancs B0430) 312308
Gadrallouses) Wi (1,757
Purchawes 15 17

atin wazp
IssuBnCes w2 2D
Satdements w028 12677

Traevs fars inte: el 3 1540 [ k]
Traeralars oo of vl 3 1,107 1,534

Ending balance S18,208) 513450
In the table above:

o ITa financial asset of Ginancial hability was wansferred 1o kevel
3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the period
15 classified in level 3. For level 3 financial assets, increases
are shown as pesitive amounits, while decreases are shown as
negative amounts, For level 3 financial lizbalities, increases are
shown as negative amounts, while decreases are shown as
posItive amounis.

« Tramafers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recognised at the beginning of the reporting period in which
they occur, Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or
losses for level 3 financial assets and labilities that were
transferred out of level 3 prior (o the end of the period.

Level 3 fmancea]l assets and labilities are frequently
coonomically hedged with level 1 and level 2 financial assets
andd lisbiliies. Accordingly, level 3 gains or lesses that are
reported for o particular ¢lass of financil asset or financial
leakality can be partially offset by gains o losses attributable
to level 1 or level 2 in the same class of financial asset or
financial liability or gains or losses attributable 1o level 1, level
2 or level 3 in a different class of firancial asset or financial
leabality. As a result, pams or losses included in the level 3
rollforward do not necessarily represent the overall impact on
the company’s resulls of eperations, hgudity or capital
MESOLMoes

-

Gains({lasses) are predominately attribatable o changes in
unrealised gains or loesses relating to level 3 Ananci] assets
and financial liabilities.
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« The net gams on level 3 Gnancial assets for the period ended
December 2021 and period ended December 2020 are reported
in “Met revenues” in the income statement

« The met losses on level 3 financial liabilities of 3477 million
for the period ended December 2021 meluded losses of 3475
million reported in “MNet revenues”™ in the ncome statement
and losses of 32 mullion reported n “Debt valwstion
adjustment”™ in the statement of comprehensive mcome. The
net lesses on level 3 financial habilities of $1.76 ballion for the
period ended December 2020 included losses of 31,63 billion
reported in “Net revenues™ in the income statement and losses
of 581 million reported in “Debt valwation adjustment” in the
statement of comprehensive income.

The table below di=aggregates, by the balance sheet line tems,
the information for financial assets included in the summany
table above.

Pariod Ended Oecember
§ n millong Ficl a0
Collateralited agresments
Baginning balance 5 = 5 -
Traeeilers inbo heved 3 12 -
Ending balance £ 1M £ -
Trading asseis
Eisgenin g Ealani e §8172  S50E8
Gains/iosses) &OE il ]
Purchaies T -+
Sees 21m (17
Settements .71 (1,400
Traenfers inba hevel 3 A o]
Trashars ol of vl 3 {318 (353
Ending balance 55479 S 6102
Inwestments
Beganning balance $ 1§ 148
Gainuifiosues) Fa 2
Sees &) -
Sedements [1E] &
Traevsfars inbo bevel 3 &1 -]
Travihars out of leval 3 ] )
Ending balance § 105 5 132
Lexams
Beginning balance 1M1 5 2
Cainuiievied) 1) i
Perchasos - 3
Geles i -
Seldamanty 5 (15
Traeelers out of level 3 e -
Ending balance 5 5 F
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The 1able below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for firancial liabilites included in the summary
table above.

Patiod Erded Decomber
£ in millons man o]
Collaterali i d Anandngs
Baginning balance: 5 (40 5 (1
Caai it} 128) 42
ISSUBnCes 175 -
Setements {2%) L F'l
Tt fiw 4 inthes binead 3 m -
Trases fors out of level 3
Ending balance 5 {380 5 (240

Tradng labilives

Baginning balancs {3,558 5 (3004
Gasnt/loases) (B8N (1,40
Purchases 15 17
Sales [T [
Satiements 1,754 1,053
Trae fors inbs vl 3 (o] ]
Traevfors ouft ol level 3 D 454
Ending balanses £ AFM 5 RSk
Unsecured bomowings
Bginning balance FEsEn F (BEg
G/ iosses) 444 (e
hiunnces 12,243 (1230
Setdements B860 10815
Traews fars into level 3 1263 et
Traevi hars ouf ol vl 3 w7 1,080
Endinyg balance Hi4,137) 5 (R

Transfers Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Transfers between level 2 and level 3 generally ocour due to
chamnges in the transparency of level 3 inputs. A lack of market
evidence leads to reduced transparency, whereas an increase in
the availability of market evidence leads 1o an merease

IrAnSParEncy.

Fimancial Assets.

Period Ended Decembor 2021

Collateralised Agreements. Trnsfers e level 3
collateralized agreements primarily reflected transfers of resale
agreements from level 2, due 1o a lack of transparency as a result
of a lack of market evidence in these irstruments.

Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 trading assets primarily
reflected transfers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
prancipally due 10 reduced transparency of cenain volatility amd
correlation inpads.

Transfers out of level 3 irading assets pnmarily refleciad
transfers of certain equity dervatives 1o kevel 2, principally dus
to increased transparency of certam volatility and correlation
inpats, and transfers of certamn cash instruments to level 2,
prncipally due to increased trarsparency of certain viekd inputs.
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Investments. Transfers into level 3 investments primanly
reflected transfers of investments from level 2, principally due
to reduced transparency of certain yvield products.

Tranafers out of level 3 investments primanly reflected transfers
of certain mwvestments into level 2, principally due to increased

trarsparency of certain yield products.

Loans. Transfers out of level 3 loans reflected transfers of
ceftain Joars o level 2. prncpally due 1o increased
trarsparency of certain yield products.

Paried Ended December 2020

Trading Assets. Translers mto level 3 trading assets prmanly
reflected tanslers of certain equity denvatives from level 2,
principally due 1o reduced wansparency of centain volatility and
cormelation inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments from
level 2, principally due to decreased transparency of certain
yield products.

Transfers out of level 3 trading assels primarily reflected
trarsfers of certan equity dervatives 1o kevel 2, principally duse
1o increased transparency of certam volatility and cosrelation
inputs, transfers of cemain credin derivatives 1o Jevel 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain credit spread
inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments anto level 2,
principally dws to increased trarsparency of certain vield inputs,

Investments. Transfers into level 3 investments primarnly
reflected transfers of certam  investmemnts from level 2,
principally due to reduced transparency of certain yield
products.

Transfers cut of level 3 investments primanly reflected transfers
of centain myestments into level 2, principally due 10 increassd
trarsparency of certain vield products,

Financial Liabilities.

Period Ended December 2021

Collateralised Financings. Trnsfers mlo level 3
collmsteralised financings were ot material,

Trading Liabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading habilities
primarily reflected transfers of certain equity dervatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of certain
volatlity and correlation inputs.

Transfers ot of level 3 trading habilities primanly reflected
trarsfers of certain equity denvatives 1o kevel 2, principally due
1o increased transparency of certam volatlity and correlation
inpLs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Transfers mio kevel 3 unsecured
borrowings primanly reflected transfers of certain hybrad
financial instruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
trarsparency of certain volatility and cormrelation inputs.

87
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Transfers out of level 3 unsecwred borrowings primarily
reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial instruments to
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs,

Period Ended December 2020

Trading Liabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading liabilities
primarily reflected transfers of certain equity derivatives from
level 2, prmecipally due to reduced transparency of certmin
volatility and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 wrading liabilities primanly refleciad
transfers of certain credn derivatives to kevel 2, principally due
to increased transparency of certain volatlity and correlation
inputs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Tramfers into level 3 unsecured
borrowings primanly reflected transfers of certain hybrid
financial mstruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
transparency of certamn volatlity and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 unsecured borrowings prnimarily
reflected transfers of certmn hybrd fnancial nstrumenls 1o
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatlity and corvelation inputs.

Fair Walue of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not
Measured at Fair Value

The company had financial assets of 321943 hillion as of
Diecember 2021 and 5183.57 hallion as of December 2020 that
are not measured at fair value, Given that substantially all of
these balances are short-term in nature, their carmying values in
the balance sheet are a reasonable approxamation of fair value.

The table below presents the company”s financial labilities that
are fot mensured ot fair value by expected matunty,

At of Ducemiber
$ s pellovas 02 020
Cutrert SIB7,014  5128.800
o ourment 56,615 3,047
Total $220820 51T 84T
In the table above:

« Current fimancial labilities are shori-term in nature and
therefore their carrving valwes in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

« Mon-current financial liabilities primarily related to long-term
intercompany loans and repurchase agreements. The interest
rates of these instruments are variable in natune  and
approximate prevailing market interest rates for mstruments
with similar terms and charsctenistics. As such, their carrying
values in the balance sheet are a reasonable approsimation of
fair value,
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Note 30.

Financial Risk Management and Capital

Management

Cenain disclesumes in relation o Ginancial nsk management and
capital management have been presented alongssde other risk
management and regulatory information in Part [ of this annual
report and are sdentified as audited, where relevant

Maturity of Financial Liabilities

The table below present an analysis of the cash flows of financial
liabilities by contractual maturity except for trading habalities,
which are classfied as trading’on demand. reflecting the
company’s role as o market maker,

Ini the table below

« Cagh fows by contractunl matuiy include interest that will
acerue on financial liabilities,
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» Financial liabalities, with the exception of those that are held
fior trading o designated at faar value through profit or loss,
are disclosed at their undiscounted cash Nows, The fair values
of firancial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss have been
disclosed as this 15 consistent with the values used in the
liguidiny risk management of these instruments.

Liquidity rek on denvatives is mitigated through master
netting agreements and cash collaeral arrangemens.
Unsegured borrowings include centmn delb securities 1ssued
that have trigger evenis thal are not in the control of the
company and could be repaid earlier than their contractual
maturities

Tracingl Less 3 Gmater
o than 13 months 1-5 than

§ in eilians demard 1 month months -1 yaar years & yuars Total
A3 of December 3031

Colatembied Enanargn § W68 § 59403 15,112 F30,841 SBD, 144 § 1257 § P57
Customar snd cthar payables 110,883 - - - - - 11EES
Trading kabiiges L1 - - - - - Lo X T
Unsecuned borrowings 1,083 3,348 4,002 0,122 30, Bk 3,7 FIE
Cthar lisbdtes 1,753 0,680 [ 26 L] il 4%
Tolal - on Calance shest 358,217 XE] 15,321 40,880 DL 35,148 [RLTE1N
= ised 0 . [ 18,812 3,368 (] 1,578 - 141800
Cthar 1188 - 1,080 184 408 1 4281
Total - o balance shes! 3,384 118,812 4 A5T 17,43 1085 1 145,561
Totdal - § 850,601 183,251 533,778 EEEEEL S04, 181 §35.150 §1,254, 163
Sl el 2020

Cotatprabied Enangrgn §  20.560 § 60,064 $T.7TR 20857 F1.478 § 1T R ERAERE]
Curtomar and other payablet 100,519 - - - - - 100519
Trading kabiEes 832414 - - - - = HE2LA4
Unsecured borr gwings 3,205 i3 8645 .803 e 15,420 0T
Gther lisbdtes 2006 1,437 14 13 L 14 4,480
Tolal - on balance shest 1,088,732 3,620 14,438 28873 Zn818 17,318 1233818
Colistersbiad ogr F] EEE1Z 82 FITH - - 61,502
Cther 3,007 - a4 a7 580 4 4542
Tetal - o Calance sheet 3458 T S 346 [ % )
Tolal 51,062,180 S122.752 $15,134 533,137 ] S17.322 51300543

BE
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Note 31.
Transferred Assets

Asszets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During the
penod ended December 2021, the company transferred certam
financial assets where the transfers fuled o meet the
derecognition critenia, as contained in [FES 9, and as a result of
which the company continues 1o recognise these assets in full in
the balance sheat

The company transfers assels owned W counterparties n the
ordinary course of business 1o collmeralise repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions, In these
traractions the transferred assets contimue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
require the fnanceal instruments to be repurchased at maturity
of the agreemen and the company remains exposed to the price,
credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When the
company receives cash proceeds from the ransfer of the assel. a
financial lability 15 recognised in respect of the consideration
received and recorded in colluteralised financings, When the
company receives non cash collateral {in the form of securities)
no hability is intaally recoprised. If collateral received s
subsequently sold, the obligation o reétum the collateral s
recognised as a lisbility in trading liabilites.

In sddition 1o repurchase agreements and securities lendimg
agreements, the company obtains furkding throwgh the wse of
other amangements that fail 1o meet the derecognition cniteria.
For example, sales of securities with related derivatives, such as
total retwn swaps, through which the company retains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the transferred assets,
A financial liabality is recognised i such cases for the proceeds
receved.

Other fmancial assets transferred that contime to be recognised
on balance sheet for sccounting purposes relate o pledges of
securities as collateral, primanily for derivative ransactions. The
obligations under such denvatives are recorded i trading
liabalities.

bt
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The table below presents financial assets which have been
transferred but which remain on balance sheet for accounting
purposes.

Az of Decambar
Lk mitns - it Fus
G and pgency obiig 2,007 $16.340
Morigage and other assel-backed loans and
sRUTBeE i a7
Conporats el imtlramenti T 604 7.880
Exuuity securtios 43,810 32454
Traethnig cash insbumants Tasar EE& B
Corporate delt instnaments 100 E]
Equity tscuriini 13 l
I it mesy "I A8
Total .70 557,208

The camying wvalue of the associated financial liabalities
generally  approximate the carmving value of the assels
transferred,

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. The
company has continuing invelvement in the form of derivative
transactions and puarantecs with certain  unconsolidated
structured entitties to which the company had transferred
financial assets, These derivatves may be credin-linked to the
asset transferred and result in the company retaining specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company 1o make
pavments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
assel i certain conlingent evenls oegur,

In addition, the company transfers [nancml sssels 1o
securitisation vehicles, The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets but may have continuing
invalvernent with the trarsferred assets, including ownership of
beneficial mterests in the securitised financial assets, primarnly
in the form of debt instruments. The company may also purchase
semior of subordinated securities issued by securitisation
vehcles in connection with secondary market-making activities.

Where the company’s contimuing invelvement n transferred
assels is through derivatives o guarantess, the maximum
exposge 10 loks s the notional amounts of the derivative of
guarantee. For retained or purchased imterests in securitised
assets, the company”s risk of loss is limited to the fair value of
these interests. In all cases these retained interests are camed at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer a1 farr value
and therefore does not tvpically recognise sigmficant gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
cominuing invelvement that could requrre the company o
repurchase derecognized financil assels
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The tables below present information aboul exposure through

continuing involvement and the gains or losses related 1o those

Trarsactions.
Maxrum
Caemang BEDIEUNE
§ in miliony valug o loss
A o Decembir SO
Assels
Trading cash isstrurrsnts | 3 $§ =
Dhriwalivgs. L 1,144
Tracing aviete 3 1,144
Total 588 1,144
Liakdtizirs
Tracing cath isttrurents 5 - 5 2
Dhistrafredes (k] 4
Trading babdtes [F1] 1]
Tolal $in L]
Saof Decembir 2020
Assels
Trading cash instruments 5 - 3 -
DChistrwafrett. ™ L1k
Treding astnts TE 618
Tiotml 506 5 618
“Labinzies
Dhistrwd vt 1% 5 90
Trwdhing habd g 1y S
Totml ETRE $ b
Incomal  Cumulative
{nnpanin) incemned
5 in milkong i the pariod  {axpanse)
Az of December 2031
L1t
Trading cah ity 5 - 5133
Drteatrees brd o]
Trading asseiu Er3 b
Total Ear Fibb
Liabingies
Trading cash instrurrents $ - $ -
Charierabivg 0 L
Trading inbiiget 0 F
Cushomar nd oher payabies = 1)
Total i F &
Aaol December 2020
Assels
Trading cash instrurments ¥ - 153
Chiwrwafrdt. 4 Fikl
Trading aunts = 34
Tetal 522 4
“Dabinties
Treding cath ity L 1 5 -
Drrivatives = #
Trading kabdes = )
Cuitomar and cther payables = 4]
Tl 33 5 (51

kol

363/415



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
2022
2022 12 31

2022 12 1.20 2021 12 596.2

1,305.7

GCLA 407.2
215.7

71.7
2022 12 1.16 2021 12 563.1

1,493.3

798.0
89.0
2022 12 422.1 2021 12 33.1
2022 12 40.3 Tierl AT1 749
2022 12 2021 12 47.3 57.6
2022 12 31 (6)
29
2022 12
4,889.0 4,549.5
IFRS

IFRS

364/415



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
2022 12 31 2022
2022 12
$ — $ 11,707 $ 11,707
1,200 234,596 235,796
— 78,967 78,967
- 872,810 872,810
269 11 280
220 2 222
1,251 2,008 3,259
$ 2,940 $1,200,101 $1,203,041
$38,521 $ 86,214 $ 124,735
- 110,983 110,983
— 844,313 844,313
56,180 20,025 76,205
1,097 3,499 4,596
$95,798 $1,065,034 $1,160,832
2021 12
$ - $ 52,422 $ 52,422
1,114 256,252 257,366
- 86,135 86,135
- 742,238 742,238
334 65 399
143 255 398
1,876 2,586 4,462
$ 3,467 $1,139,953 $1,143,420
$61,398 $ 143,141 $ 204,539
- 119,883 119,883
- 694,982 694,982
54,196 25,617 79,813
1,345 3,963 5,308
$116,939 $ 987,586 $1,104,525
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2021 10 29
1) 2018 10 29 3,858,000,000
S&P500
2022 25
2) 2019 23 3,200,000,000
S&P500
2022 29
3) 2019 29 2,900,000,000
S&P500
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2023 28
4) 2020 27 12,775,000,000
S&P500
2023 28
5) 2020 27 4,100,000,000
S&P500
2023 11 24
6) 2020 11 24 4,600,000,000
S&P500
2024
7 2021 10,000,000,000
S&P500
2024 11 27
8) 2021 11 26 2,835,000,000
S&P500
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225
S&P500
S&P500
2018 1 2019 2 2020 3 2021 2022
24,270.62 23,520.01 27,568.15 30,670.10 29,332.16
20,617.86 19,155.74 16,552.83 27,013.25 24,717.53
2022 2022 2022 2022 10 2022 11 2022 12
27,914.66 29,222.77 28,614.63 27,587.46 28,383.09 28,226.08
25,935.62 27,594.73 25,937.21 26,215.79 27,199.74 26,093.67
1 12 31 11 30 2018
2018 11 11
2 12 31 11 30 2019
2018 12 2019 11 12
3 11 30 12 31 2020
2019 12 2020 12 13
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S&P500 S&P500
2018 1 2019 2 2020 3 2021 2022
2,930.75 3,153.63 3,756.07 4,793.06 4,796.56
2,581.00 2,351.10 2,237.40 3,700.65 3,577.03
2022 2022 2022 2022 10 2022 11 2022 12
4,130.29 4,305.20 4,110.41 3,901.06 4,080.11 4,076.57
3,790.38 3,955.00 3,585.62 3,577.03 3,719.89 3,783.22
S&P500 S&P500
S&P500
S&P500
1 12 31 11 30 2018
2018 11 11
2 12 31 11 30 2019
2018 12 2019 11 12
3 11 30 12 31 2020
2019 12 2020 12 13
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Tierl % 2020 0.75% 355 2020 258

266 2020 194

COVID-19
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PwC

$355,000,000 (2020 : $258,000,000)

Tierl % 2020 Tierl 0.75%
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75% 2020 75% 266 2020 194
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Independent auditors’ report to the member of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at December 31, 2021 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK -adopted international accounting standards; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: balance sheet as at December
31, 2021; income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended; and the notes to the financia statements, which include a description of the significant accounting
policies.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

Asexplained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financia statements, the company, in addition to applying UK -adopted
international accounting standards, has also applied international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it appliesin the European Union.

In our opinion, the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with internationa financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it appliesin the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)"), International Standards
on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“1SAS") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statementsin the UK, which includes the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”)’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to
other listed entities of public interest, and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by either the FRC' s Ethical Standard or
Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.

Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope.

We perform a full scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole as a single component. The scope of

the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or
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error). In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant

accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters.

Vauation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value. Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Vaue Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

Materiality.
Overall materiality: $355,000,000 (2020: $258,000,000) based on 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources (2020: 0.75%).
Performance materiality: $266,000,000 (2020: $194,000,000).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
Statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resourcesin the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements asawhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Thisisnot acompletelist of all risksidentified by our audit.
The impact of COVID-19 on the financia statements, which was a key audit matter last year, is no longer included because of

the limited impact on the company’s operations and the markets in which it trades. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are
consistent with last year.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the financial
statements, the majority of financial assets and liabilities are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and changes in fair
value are recorded in net revenues. Total financial assets and
liahilities at fair value were $922.31 billion and $880.41 hillion,
respectively, as at December 31, 2021. The audit of the
valuation of financia assets and liabilities required significant
audit resources and is an area of estimation uncertainty and
therefore represents a key audit matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financia
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 29 *
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair vaue
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financia instruments are
calculated by financial models using avariety of inputs. Most of
the company's derivatives are traded in active markets and
external observable inputs are available to support
management's val uations.

The company aso enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3inthevaluation hierarchy. Level 3 financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value were $5.76 billion
and $18.24 billion, respectively, as at December 31, 2021.

We performed a risk assessment of the financia instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company's business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit and equity
derivative financial instruments classified as level 3. Within
credit derivatives, this included the valuation of a portfolio of
financial instruments sensitive to secured funding spreads, the
methodology for which involves a number of assumptions in
developing the estimate, and within equity derivatives, a
portfolio of financial instruments sensitive to correlations which
are unobservable.

We understood and evaluated the design and tested the
operational effectiveness of key controls over the valuation of
financial assets and liabilities. These controls included:

« Validation of new and existing models by a specialist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controls in respect of modelsin use;

« The price verification process performed by the Controller's
function using prices and model inputs sourced from third
parties; and

« Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We noted no significant exceptions in the design or operating
effectiveness of these controls, and we determined we could
rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit. In addition,
we performed the substantive testing described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue
asample of derivative and cash financial instruments, including
level 3 instruments, using independent models.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives in level 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to:

* Assess the appropriateness of fair value by identifying
aternative funding spreads using external sources and
evaluating the difference in valuation;

» Test management' s valuation inputs to external sources; and

* Reperform the valuation of a sample of positions using
management’ s inputs and our own model.

Additionally, we valued a sample of level 3 equity derivatives
and, to the extent available, independently sourced inputs, such
as correlation. For samples where we utilised management’s
inputs to revalue the instruments, we assessed the
reasonableness of the inputs used.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

Based on the work performed, we found management's
estimates of the fair value of financia assets and liabilities to be
supported by the evidence obtained.

We performed testing to validate that management had
alocated derivative financia instruments to the appropriate
level within the fair value hierarchy in line with the established
policy, and that the policy classifications were appropriate.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 29 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy and found them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides avariety of financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches
and representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africato provide financial services to clientsin those regions.
We consider the company and its branches to represent a single audit component. Traders based in overseas group locations
enter into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain internal controls relevant to financial reporting
operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company,
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., inthe U.S. or in group shared service centresin other locations that are relevant to the audit
of the company. We determined the scope of the work required in each of these locations and issued instructions to PwC
network firms. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of the audit. This
included reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the results of work in higher risk areas of the audit. We
concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financia statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall materiality $355,000,000 (2020: $258,000,000).

How we determined it 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources (2020: 0.75% of Tier 1 capital resources)

Rationale for benchmark The immediate and ultimate parent companies, management, certain creditors (e.g.
applied note holders) and the company's regulators are the primary users of the financial

statements. The level of Tier 1 capital resources is a key area of focus for these users.
We have increased the percentage threshold applied in 2021 to 1% as this is more
consistent with our normal approach when referencing net assets, which are closely
correlated to Tier 1 capital resources, as the benchmark. The actual threshold at the
year end is slightly below 1%, as materiality was calculated using the entity’s capital
resources at the planning stage of the audit.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2020: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to
$266,000,000 (2020: $194,000,000) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was

appropriate.

We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
$17,750,000 (2020: $12,900,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

Performing arisk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting;

Evaluating the company’s current financial position and financial forecasts;
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Understanding and evaluating the company’s current capital and liquidity position and reviewing the results of stresstesting

performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the stress scenarios
that were used;

Considering the results of procedures performed by the group auditor to support the going concern assessment for The
Goldman Sachs Group Inc.; and

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statementsin relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statementsis appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsihilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financia statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is amaterial misstatement of the financia
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended December 31, 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal reguirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Our responsibilities and the responsihilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilitiesin respect of the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statementsin accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
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that they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control asthey determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for presenting the financial statementsin compliance with the requirements set out in the
Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuranceis
ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will always
detect amateria misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of userstaken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) and
equivalent local laws and regulations applicable to other countries in which the company operates, and we considered the
extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and
regulations that have adirect impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate tax legislation.
We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including
the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to the posting of inappropriate journal
entries and management bias through the manipulation of the valuation of financial instruments held at fair value. Audit
procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management, including Internal Audit, andthose charged with governance in relation to known
orsuspected instances of non-compliance with laws andregulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness ofmanagement’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud
infinancial reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowinghelpline and the results of management’s investigation of
suchmatters;

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities(the FCA and the PRA);
Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journalentries posted by senior management;
Testing of information security controls relating to systemaccess and change management;

Challenging assumptions and judgments made bymanagement in their significant accounting estimates, inparticular in
relation to the valuation of financial assets andliabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/orextent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
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populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,

we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements in accordance with 1SAs (UK) islocated on
the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of thefinancial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
andperform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtainaudit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide abasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a materialmisstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
oneresulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
ofinternal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to theaudit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriatein the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing anopinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used andthe reasonableness of accounting estimates and
rel ateddisclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of thegoing concern basis of accounting and, based on the
auditevidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty existsrelated to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubton the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If weconclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required todraw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosuresin the financial statements or, if such disclosures
areinadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are basedon the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor
"sreport. However, future events or conditions may cause theGroup to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of thefinancial statements, including the disclosures, and whetherthe
financial statements represent the underlying transactionsand events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding thefinancial information of the entities or business activitieswithin
the company to express an opinion on the financialstatements. We are responsible for the direction, supervisionand
performance of the company audit. We remain solelyresponsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them al relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communi cated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

It is also our responsibility to assess whether the financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in
compliance with the requirements laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsihility for any other purpose or to any other person to whomthis report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
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We have not obtained all the information and explanations werequire for our audit; or

Adeqguate accounting records have not been kept by thecompany, or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceived
from branches not visited by us; or

Certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified bylaw are not made; or
Thefinancial statements are not in agreement with theaccounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We have checked the compliance of the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2021 with the relevant
statutory requirements set out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to financial statements. That is, for the company:

Thefinancial statements are prepared in avalid xHTMLformat.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2021, identified as gsinternational-12-31-21-
financial-statements.xhtml, have been prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the requirements laid down in the
ESEF Regulation.

Other matter
In the event that the English version of this report and atrandation of it into alanguage other than English differ, the English
version shall prevail.

Jonathan Holloway (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 22, 2022
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www . Frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Independent auditors’ report to the member of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at December 31, 2022 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at
December 31, 2022; the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Board Audit Committee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

Asexplained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financia statements, the company, in addition to applying UK -adopted
international accounting standards, has also applied international financia reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)"), International Standards
on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“1SAS") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statementsin the UK, which includes the Financial Reporting Council (“*FRC”)’'s Ethical Standard, as applicable to
other listed entities of public interest, and the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by either the FRC' s Ethical Standard or
Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.
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Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope.

We perform a full scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole as a single component. The scope of
the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or
error). In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters.

Vauation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value. Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Vaue Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

Materiality.

Overall materiality: $404 million (2021: $355 million) based on 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources.

Performance materiality: $303 million (2021: $266 million).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Thisisnot acomplete list of all risksidentified by our audit.

The key audit matters below are consistent with last year.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the financial
statements, the majority of financial assets and liabilities are
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and changes in fair
value are recorded in net revenues. Total financial assets and
liahilities at fair value were $1,025.21 hillion and $962.10
billion, respectively, as at December 31, 2022. The audit of the
valuation of financia assets and liabilities required significant
audit resources and is an area of estimation uncertainty and
therefore represents a key audit matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financia
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 29 *
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair vaue
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financia instruments are
calculated by financial models using avariety of inputs. Most of
the company’s derivatives are traded in active markets and
external observable inputs are available to support management’
svaluations.

The company aso enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3inthevaluation hierarchy. Level 3 financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value were $4.73 billion
and $7.88 hillion, respectively, asat December 31, 2022.

We performed a risk assessment of the financia instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company’s business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit and equity
derivative financial instruments classified as level 3. Within
credit derivatives, this included the valuation of a portfolio of
financial instruments sensitive to secured funding spreads, the
methodology for which involves a number of assumptions in
developing the estimate, and within equity derivatives, a
portfolio of financial instruments sensitive to correlations which
are unobservable.

We understood and evaluated the design and tested operational
effectiveness of key controls over the valuation of financia
assets and liabilities. These controls included:

« Validation of new and existing models by a specialist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controls in respect of modelsin use;

e The price verification process performed by the Product
Control function using prices and model inputs sourced from
third parties; and

« Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We noted no significant exceptions in the design or operating
effectiveness of these controls, and we determined we could
rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit. In addition,
we performed the substantive testing described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue
asample of derivative and cash financial instruments, including
level 3 instruments, using independent models and inputs to the
extent available.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives in level 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to:

* Assess the appropriateness of fair value by identifying
aternative funding spreads using external sources and
evauating the difference in valuation;

* Test management’s valuation inputs to external sources; and

* Reperform the valuation of a sample of positions using
management’ s inputs and our own model.

Additionally, we valued a sample of level 3 equity derivatives
and, to the extent available, independently sourced inputs, such
as correlation. For samples where we utilised management’s
inputs to revalue the instruments, we assessed the
reasonableness of the inputs used.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

Based on the work performed, we found management's
estimates of the fair value of financial assets and liabilitiesto be
supported by the evidence obtained.

We performed testing to validate that management had
alocated derivative financial instruments to the appropriate
level within the fair value hierarchy in line with the established
policy, and that the policy classifications were appropriate.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 29 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy and found them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides avariety of financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches
and representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africato provide financial services to clientsin those regions.
We consider the company and its branches to represent a single audit component. Traders based in overseas group locations
enter into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain internal controls relevant to financial reporting
operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company,
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Group Inc.”), in the U.S. or in group shared service centresin other locations that are
relevant to the audit of the company. We determined the scope of the work required in each of these |ocations and issued
instructions to PwC network firms. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of
the audit. Thisincluded reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the results of work in higher risk areas
of the audit. We concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the
company’s financia statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for any indicators of the impact
of climaterisk. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as aresult of climate risk on the company’s financial
statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall materiality $404 million (2021: $355 million).

How we determined it 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources

Rationale for benchmark The company is awholly owned subsidiary of Group Inc. We consider the primary users of the

applied financial statements to be Group Inc., regulators and market counterparties, who are focused on
whether the company has sufficient capital resources to meet minimum regulatory requirements,
fulfil its future market obligations and absorb any future losses should they arise.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2021: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to $303
million (2021: $266 million) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was
appropriate.

We agreed with the Board Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatementsidentified during our audit above

$40,400,000 (2021: $17,750,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
gualitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

Performing arisk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting;
Evaluating the company’s current financial position and financial forecasts;

Understanding and evaluating the company’s current capital and liquidity position and reviewing the results of stresstesting
performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the stress scenarios
that were used;

Considering the results of procedures performed by the group auditor to support the going concern assessment for The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.; and

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statementsis appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsihilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility isto read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. |If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended December 31, 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control asthey determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for presenting the financial statementsin compliance with the requirements set out in the
Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will always
detect a materia misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of userstaken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA™), and
we considered the extent to which noncompliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered
those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate
tax legislation. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to the posting of
inappropriate journal entries and management bias through the manipulation of the valuation of financial instruments held at
fair value. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management, including Internal Audit, and those charged with governance in relation to known or
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud in
financia reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of
such matters;

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (the FCA and the PRA);
Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management;
Testing of information security controls relating to system access and change management;

Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in
relation to the valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There areinherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of
noncompliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, therisk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
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resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,

or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sampleis selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statementsin accordance with ISAs (UK) islocated on
the FRC' s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
thefinancial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financia information of the entities or business activities within
the company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them al relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communi cated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
We have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

Adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

Certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or
The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We have checked the compliance of the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2022 with the relevant
statutory requirements set out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to financia statements. That is, for the company:

The financial statements are prepared in avalid xHTML format.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the company as at December 31, 2022, identified as gsinternational-12-31-22-
financial-statements.xhtml, have been prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the requirements laid down in the
ESEF Regulation.

Appointment

We were appointed by the directors on September 22, 1988 to audit the financial statements for the year ended November 24,
1989 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 34 years, covering the years ended
November 24, 1989 to December 31, 2022.

Goldman Sachs International is not a UK public-interest entity, and as such mandatory firm rotation requirements do not apply.
Other matter

In the event that the English version of this report and atranglation of it into alanguage other than English differ, the English
version shall prevail.

Nick Morrison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 27, 2023
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